EDGAROnline

GENOCEA BIOSCIENCES, INC.

FORM 10-K

(Annual Report)

Filed 02/27/15 for the Period Ending 12/31/14

Address

Telephone
CIK
Symbol
SIC Code
Fiscal Year

100 ACORN PARK DRIVE

CAMBRIDGE, MA 02140

617-876-8191

0001457612

GNCA

2836 - Biological Products, Except Diagnostic Substances
12/31

Powere 4 &y EDGAROnline

http://www.edgar-online.com
© Copyright 2015, EDGAR Online, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

Distribution and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Online, Inc. Terms of Use.


http://www.edgar-online.com

Table of Content

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
XI ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014

or
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934
For the transition period from to

Commission file number 001-36289

Genocea Biosciences, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its @rart

Delaware 51-0596811
(State or other jurisdiction « (I.LR.S. Employe
incorporation or organizatiol Identification No.)
100 Acorn Park Drive
Cambridge, Massachusett: 02140
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Registrant’s telephone number, including area c(@ler) 876-8191

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(bh@fct:

Name of each exchange on which
Title of each class registered

Common Stock, $0.001 par valu NASDAQ Global Market

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(gh@fct:None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 4050B#turities Act.0  Yes No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®acl5(d) of the Act. O Yes No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant €8 filed all reports required to be filed by Secti® or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of4188ring the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter periottti@registrant was required to file such repoesyl (2) has been subject to such filing requirgméor the past 90
days. Yes O No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiletrs pursuant to Iltem 405 of Regulation S-K i oontained herein, and will not be containedhte best of
registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or imfisation statements incorporated by reference ihIRaf this Form 10-K or any amendment to thisfol0-K. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant odésnitted electronically and posted on its corporvegbsite, if any, every Interactive Data File regdito be
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of R&gnl&-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the paing 12 months (or for such shorter period thatréfgistrant
was required to submit and post such file€l Yes O No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, m-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting comp&se
definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelégd filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rul@b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated fileid Accelerated filer O
Non-accelerated filer X] Smaller reporting companyd
(Do not check if a smaller reporting compa

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantseell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Bxgje Act). O Yes No

EXPLANATORY NOTE : Under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Aetregistrant qualifies as an “emerging growth comygaWe therefore incorporate the
scaled disclosures required of an emerging groathpany in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The aggregate market value of the voting and namg@ommon equity held by non-affiliates of thgistrant, based on the closing price for such stsck
reported on the NASDAQ Global Market on June 3042@ie last business day of the registrant's mextmtly completed second quarter, was: $67,992,844.

The number of shares outstanding of the regissamttnmon stock as of February 20, 2015 was 17,858,7
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwarddimg statements that involve substantial risks @amekrtainties. Forward-looking

statements are neither historical facts nor assesaaf future performance. Instead, they are basexlr current beliefs, expectations and
assumptions regarding the future of our businesgard plans and strategies, our clinical results@her future conditions. The words “anticipate”,

"o ” o ” o " ow "o

“believe”, “contemplate”, “continue”, “could”, “eshate”, “expect”, “forecast”, “goal”, “intend”, “m@’, “plan”, “potential”, “predict”, “project”,
“should”, “target”, “will”, “would”, or the negatie of these terms or other similar expressionsraemded to identify forward-looking statements,
although not all forward-looking statements conthiese identifying words.

The forward-looking statements in this Annual Reépeor Form 10-K include, among other things, stateimabout:

e the timing of results of our ongoing and plannedicél trials;

e our planned clinical trials for GEN-003 and GEN-004

e our estimates regarding the amount of funds weireq@ complete our clinical trials for GEN-003 a@&N-004;

e our estimate for when we will require additionahdiing;

e our plans to commercialize GEN-003 and our otheciee candidates;

< the timing of, and our ability to, obtain and maintregulatory approvals for our product candidates

« the rate and degree of market acceptance andatluritity of any approved product candidate;

« the potential benefits of strategic partnershigagrents and our ability to enter into strategi¢ngaship arrangements;

e our ability to quickly and efficiently identify andevelop product candidates;

e our commercialization, marketing and manufactudagabilities and strategy;

e our intellectual property position; and

e our estimates regarding expenses, future revenapial requirements, the sufficiency of our cutr@md expected cash resources and
our need for additional financing.

We may not actually achieve the plans, intentiansxpectations disclosed in our forward-lookingestaents, and you should not place
undue reliance on our forwatdeking statements. Actual results or events cdiffer materially from the plans, intentions angegtations disclose
in the forward-looking statements we make. We hagkided important factors in the cautionary staats included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, particularly in the “Risk Factors” sextj that we believe could cause actual resultwents to differ materially from the forwatdeking
statements that we make. Our forward-looking statésdo not reflect the potential impact of anyfatacquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint
ventures or investments we may make or collabaratay strategic partnerships we may enter into.

You should read this Annual Report on Form 10-K #reldocuments that we have filed as exhibits éoAhnual Report on Form 10-K
completely and with the understanding that ouraduture results may be materially different frarhat we expect. We do not assume any
obligation to update any forward-looking statemewisether as a result of new information, futurergg or otherwise, except as required by law.

3




Table of Contents
PART |
ltem 1. Business

Unless the context requires otherwise, referencékis Annual Report on Form 10-K to “Genocea”, “Wwéus” and “our” refer to
Genocea Biosciences, Inc.

Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company that discovetsiavelops novel vaccines and immunotherapieddoeas diseases with significant
unmet needs. We use our proprietary discovery@latf ATLAS, to rapidly design vaccines and immures#pies that act, in part, through T cell (or
cellular) immune responses, in contrast to appraaedines and immunotherapies, which are desigmedttprimarily through B cell (or antibody)
immune responses. We believe that by harnessirgdlIwe can develop first-in-class vaccines and imatherapies to address diseases where T
cells are central to the control of the disease.

We have two product candidates in Phase 2 cligieaélopment: GEN-003, an immunotherapy for thettneat of genital herpes and GEN-
004, a universal vaccine for the prevention of pnecoccal infections. We also have product candidiat@re-clinical development for diseases
including genital herpes, chlamydia and malaria.

GEN-003 — Phase 2 immunotherapy for genital herpes

Our lead program is GEN-003, a Phase 2 candidatapkutic vaccine, or immunotherapy, that we aveldeing to treat genital herpes
infections. Data from our double-blind, placebo4rolted, dose-escalating Phase 1/2a trial for GBR-@presented the first reported instance of a
therapeutic vaccine working against an infectioigease. We also believe it represents the first imti-viral efficacy has been observed for an
immunotherapy designed primarily to elicit T cedbponses to address an infectious pathogen fohwhaell immunity is considered central to the
control of the disease.

Final analysis of the data from the Phase 1/2hghiewed, that for the best performing 30pg doseigrthere was a sustained reduction in
the viral shedding rate. After completion of dosfagthis dose group, the viral shedding rate liglb2% versus baseline and, at six months after the
final dose, the shedding rate remained at 40% bbkmseline. At 12 months, the viral shedding raterned to baseline for this dose group. The
reduction in the genital lesion rate after completdf the third dose was greatest for the@@pse group at 48%. After six months, the reduadtiom
baseline in genital lesion rate for this dose graag 65% and, after 12 months, the genital lesit&was 42% lower than baseline. GEN-003 was
safe and well tolerated over the 12 months ofttias We believe the six-month duration of redue@dl shedding and genital lesion rates may be
clinically meaningful.

Having identified a dose that, according to compspgnsored market research, delivers clinicallymimegul efficacy in magnitude and
durability, we are now conducting a 310-subjectdehia dose optimization trial. The objective of tinial is to confirm the results of the best
performing dose in the Phase 1/2a trial and tosi@stther combinations of proteins and adjuvarddtermine the optimal dose for future trials and
potentially improve on the current profile of GERS This trial is fully enrolled and we expect tmaunce top-line data from this trial late in the
second quarter of 2015. If GEN-003 successfully gletes clinical development and is approved, weebelit would represent an important new
treatment option for patients with genital herpes.

GEN-004 — Phase 2 universal vaccine for the présemf pneumococcal infections

We are also developing a second T cell-stimulatexrine candidate, GEN-004, a potential univeSeptococcus pneumoniaer
pneumococcus, vaccine to protect against the Igaminse of infectious disease mortality worldwi@&N-004 is designed to stimulate T helper 17
(T 1 17) cells, arare cell type that provides imntyiait epithelial and mucosal surfaces, in the naggmx to prevent colonization by pneumococcus.

In June 2014, we announced top-line data from aéhalinical trial for GEN-004. This trial met #gafety, tolerability and immunogenicity
goals including measurable increases in the bléddd.dl7 cells. We initiated a Phase 2a trial in egtier 2014 to demonstrate that GEN-004 can
reduce the frequency, magnitude or duration ofrialttion of pneumococcus in the nasopharynx inthgadults. We expect to announce top-line
data from this trial in the fourth quarter of 2015.
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ATLAS Platform

Vaccines represent a major healthcare success boring eradicated or significantly reduced thebgl prevalence of many infectious
diseases. To date, all approved vaccines havedeatoped primarily to elicit B cell responses. Hwer, there remain many infections for which no
effective vaccines or only partially effective vates exist. A major reason is that the organisrasthuse these infections largely evade the antibod
immune response generated by B cells, which caargiy only address pathogens in the bloodstrearch 8rganisms may reside in host cells or
mucosal surfaces of the nose and throat. To adthress pathogens, vaccines targeting responsegtiemcell arm of the immune system may
present the solution.

We believe T cell target discovery has been pddituchallenging for two reasons. First, the dsigr of human T cell responses contrasts
with the generally uniform B cell responses in haméecond, the number of candidate targets f@llTesponses can be exponentially greater than
for B cell responses. These complexities reprefsentamental barriers that traditional vaccine disey tools, which rely largely on empirically
selecting the potential targets from the proteing pathogen and iteratively testing them in animabels, have not been able to address.

We have designed the ATLAS platform to overcomeehE cell target discovery challenges. We belieVeAS represents the most
comprehensive high throughput system for T celtirmeand immunotherapy discovery in the biopharmtical industry. ATLAS is designed to
mimic the T cell arm of the human immune systera laboratory setting. Using ATLAS, we are able ®asure T cell responses to the entire set of
protein targets for a specific pathogen in bloauglas from large, genetically diverse populati@gwing us to identify vaccine and
immunotherapy targets associated with protecticellresponses to disease. By comparing antigemmgifebd in individuals who naturally control
their infection with those who do not, we can sethe antigens that may have the best likelihoodddicing protective T cell immune responses.

We believe we are a leader in the field of T calteine and immunotherapy discovery and developn@ntmanagement and scientific
teams possess considerable experience in vacsimgrotherapy and anti-infective research, manufagjuclinical development and regulatory
matters.

Our Strategy

Our objective is to be the leading T cell vaccind anmunotherapy company. Key components of oatesyy are:

«  Continue to rapidly advance our lead vaccine candigte, GEN-003. GEN-003 is a potential first-in-class therapeugcaine
candidate we are developing to treat genital herdestions, for which we are currently conductm@hase 2 trial to optimize the
vaccine dose. Top-line data from this trial is ectpd late in the second quarter of 2015. We intermbmmence a Phase 2b trial in the
second half of 2015 to optimize the dosing reginwe.retain all rights to GEN-003 and plan to adwatiis program through
regulatory approval and, if approved, commercialige vaccine through a focused commercial effothe United States. Outside the
United States, we intend to evaluate partnerslip&EN-003 opportunistically.

e Continue to rapidly advance GEN-004.0ur second clinical-stage product candidate is GBHM- a vaccine candidate designed to
prevent infections caused by all strains of pnewuogs. We are currently conducting a Phase 2aalibiial to seek to demonstrate 1
GEN-004 can reduce colonization of pneumococcikemasopharynx in healthy adults. Top-line datenfthis trial is expected in the
fourth quarter of 2015. We believe this trial copldvide the first evidence in humans that a T eadcine, with potential to become a
universal vaccine, can reduce colonization by premoocus. We intend to commence a further Phasgialaf GEN-004 in toddlers il
2016. We retain all rights to this program, othert certain rights we have granted in developingqti@es, and intend to evaluate
partnerships for GEN-004 opportunistically.

e Advance our discovery stage and non-clinical novetaccine programs. We expect similarly to advance our novel non-chuhic
prophylactic vaccine and immunotherapy programénagahlamydia, HSV-2 and malaria through humaropod concept. We will
seek partnerships opportunistically for late-stdgeelopment and commercialization of such programs.

e Utilize ATLAS, our vaccine discovery platform, to develop additional T cell vaccine candidatesWe intend to continue to use
ATLAS to discover and advance novel T cell vaccirgiace we begin our vaccine candidate discoverggss by profiling human
populations exposed to a pathogen, and use thbget] own cells to comprehensively screen theeproteome of the pathogens, we
believe we have a better chance of identifying ireelikely to protect against pathogens of interé& intend to opportunistically
expand our pipeline using ATLAS to discover T agtcines against pathogens for which B cell vaccare ineffective or noaxistent
We will also continue to investigate, either alamehrough partnerships, the applicability of ATLAGcancer immunotherapies.
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Vaccine and Immunotherapy Overview

Vaccines represent a major healthcare success $toey have eradicated smallpox and dramaticatlyced the mortality and morbidity
associated with many other infectious disease$, aadiphtheria, measles, polio and tetanus. Tdtaye are vaccines approved to treat and protect
against approximately 30 infectious diseases. Tgitddal vaccine revenues in 2013 were $30.5 billion

Vaccines trace their roots to the smallpox vacding, tested in 1796 by Edward Jenner. Dr. Jedeenonstrated that he could protect
subjects against smallpox by inoculating them wittv pox, a similar virus. More than 200 years lattee concept of a vaccine remains the same:
training the immune system to respond to an indestipathogen by exposing it to that pathogen,camaponent of that pathogen, in a controlled v
Most vaccines are prophylactic, preventing an iinvgadrganism from causing disease. A vaccine csm laé¢ therapeutic, fighting an existing
infection.

How Vaccines and Immunotherapies Work

Vaccines rely on an ability of the human immunedesyscalled adaptive immunity to “remember” an inwgdorganism and develop an
immune response to it. When confronted with a negaieism, the immune system first seeks to elimittaepathogen through an initial response of
the so-called “innate immune system” and then ggesrimmunological memory, or adaptive immunitywinich the immune system recognizes and
“remembers” the invasive pathogen in order to cdritba the future. A vaccine introduces a pathogem specific portion of a pathogen to the
adaptive immune system in a controlled manner deioto invoke acquired immunity against the spe@#thogen it is designed to address.

The adaptive immune system consists of two mainpmorants: the B cell arm, and the T cell arm. Bscaiid T cells are types of white
blood cells, or lymphocytes. To date, vaccines Hmen thought to work primarily by harnessing theeB arm of the adaptive immune system. The
main function of B cells is to produce antibodi@special type of protein that identifies and ats processes to kill foreign organisms. Antibedie
bind to one or more structures on the pathogeraserfThese structures may be proteins or complgrspcalled polysaccharides, or other
molecules, which are specific to the organism. S8neells turn into so-called memory B cells follagiexposure to an organism, ensuring that the
immune system will recognize the same pathogehdrfuture.

Immunotherapies are designed to augment or boestrimune system to allow it to better protect tbdybagainst disease. In the case of
infectious disease, currently approved immunothiesgim to treat an infection rather than prever well-known example of an early
immunotherapy is the use of interferon-alfa 2aeat infections caused by hepatitis C virus, or HEvmunotherapy approaches against cancer have
also been developed, with limited success. As watttines, we believe immunotherapies that engag@ tell immune system may represent an
optimal solution to treat, and potentially prevetisease.

Current Target Discovery

Vaccines available today have been developedrwkiie the production of antibodies and therefootdgut against invading organisms that
are primarily controlled by the B cell arm of therhune system. This type of immunity is effectivaiagt organisms that mediate disease in
locations, primarily the bloodstream, that are asif#e to antibodies and/or cells that kill orgamsswith the help of antibodies.

Scientists have employed two alternative approafdredesigning vaccines to induce antibody respengke first approach has been to
present a modified version of the whole pathogethéammune system. In this approach, the vacamdther an inactivated, or killed, pathogen o
attenuated pathogen, where the pathogen is liveehdered far less infectious. The advantage sfdhproach is that it enables vaccine development
without knowing the specific surface structureta pathogen that antibodies target for responsénamadinological memory. There are also
significant disadvantages to this approach. Inattig or attenuating pathogens in a large-scapepdricible way is challenging, and there is a
concern that attenuated pathogens could reactwvateause the diseases they were designed to prévether limitation is the potential that side
effects of the vaccine may be more severe than whinpart of the organism is used as the vac@necent example is the pertussis, or whooping
cough, vaccine that was originally developed a$alevkilled vaccine, but later changed to a subumipurified protein, vaccine because of the rare
but severe side effects of the whole cell vacdhee to these challenges, and the resultant regylatodles, vaccines are increasingly designedgt
a second, and more targeted, approach.

The second approach to design vaccines to indueatiitody response is to immunize with specifidgerts, or immunogenic proteins, frc
the pathogen. Such antigens often are paired \titerg(1) an adjuvant that gives the immune system
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“danger signal” to enhance the ability of the immawwystem to recognize the proteins as foreign anbes or (2) a vector, such as a virus that is used
to deliver the antigens to the immune system t@eoé the response, or some combination of an adjavel vector are utilized. These so-called
subunit, or purified protein, vaccines, while geiigreasier to produce than whole pathogen vaccpese a different challenge: selecting the opt
antigen or antigens from the pathogen to elicitdésired immune response.

Modern vaccine antigen discovery largely consi§the search for the optimal antigens for immunalelj and primarily B cell, responses.
To date, this process has largely been empiricemimg that it has required the testing of eachmi@l antigen in animal models of disease to
determine its ability to be recognized by the immsgstem. There is considerable time and cost iassdavith testing each antigen, singly and in
various combinations, to determine which antigexsalicit the desired immune response. Howevesgtheirdles have been somewhat mitigated by
the fact that, for most pathogens currently adée sy vaccines, there is a small number of canelidatigens.

Limitations and Challenges of Current Target Discery

Despite more than 200 years of vaccine historyethemain many organisms for which effective or peehensive vaccines do not exist.
These include viruses such as HSV-2, cytomegalsyand Epstein-Barr virus, which causes mononuideasd bacteria that include
pneumococcusChlamydia trachomatisor chlamydia, andStaphylococcus aurey®r staphylococcus, which causes a wide rangefofissue,
organ and blood infections. Parasites suclPEsmodium falciparumwhich causes much of the world’s malaria, alseehget to be addressed with
vaccines. Collectively, these organisms are resplenfor millions of deaths and morbidity for mdlas more people annually.

Vaccines that elicit B cell responses generallypwdbwork for these pathogens, in part becausergensms evade B cell-mediated
immunity. Some pathogens, such as HSV-2 and chlangdend most of their life cycles sequesteretiwitost cells and are inaccessible to
antibodies that primarily reside in the bloodstreducosal surfaces of the nasopharynx (nose awm@thmastrointestinal tract and genitalia, are als
less accessible to antibodies in the bloodstreairharbor pathogens such as pneumococcus and stapbglis. To address these pathogens, vac
that engage the T cell immune system may repreiserdptimal solution.

T cells, like B cells, are a type of white bloodlcef the immune system. They are generally cfassias CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes, or
CTL, or killer T cells, and CD4+, or helper T celi§ller T cells recognize and eliminate pathogefected host cells. On the other hand, helper T
cells produce compounds called cytokines that détawother immune cells to help fight infection. if@iate T cell responses to an infection, another
type of specialized white blood cell, called antigeresenting cells, or APCs, engulf invading patrsy APCs process pathogen-derived protein
antigens into smaller pieces, or epitopes, andeplaem on their surface as epitopes for recogniiokiller T cells or helper T cells. Upon
recognition, T cells activate to help eliminate thiction. Activated T cells can also become Idingd memory T cells that respond to infection
should the host contact the infectious agent adfairs, providing long-term protective immunity.

As with B cell vaccine development, there are twteptial approaches to developing vaccines thatdad cell immune responses. The !
approach would be to develop an attenuated oriwrzdiet! pathogen vaccine. As discussed, such anaoeay present significant manufacturing,
safety and regulatory challenges. To date, no wpatbogen vaccine has been developed to induc# fiesponses.

The second potential approach would be to devekybanit vaccine. However, there have been relgtiesv advances toward identifying
target antigens that will elicit T cell responsasd, without the right antigen or antigens, a waeevill not elicit the optimal immune response.

Discovering T cell antigens is particularly chatigmg due to the human diversity of T cell respoasd to pathogen size. Humans can be
to one of nine different genetic supertypes théiiédmce how epitopes are presented to T cellshende the set of proteins that make up a pathogen
can range into the thousands. These challengesseirfundamental barriers to the development efinas against infectious organisms for whic
cell immunity is critical for effective control.

Challenge #1: Diversity of human T cell respons@&cell responses to a particular antigen are rgdigamore uniform across all humans
than T cell responses. As a result, a vaccine deditp elicit a B cell response generally work®sasibroad populations. However, the T cell arm of
the immune system poses a complexity challengeomtrast with a fairly uniform antibody responsacke person has one of nine human leukocyte
antigen, or HLA, supertypes that govern, amongratthiags, the specific targets of T cell respongeperson belonging to one supertype may mount
a T cell response to a different protein epitope-afoentirely different protein—than someone wittiféerent supertype. Given these different HLA
supertypes, modeling diseases in animals, whickypareally bred from a single genetic lineage, aatreffectively account for or produce a vaccine
candidate intended to address the human diversitydell responses.
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Challenge #2: Complexity of target selection dupathogen size.Antibodies produced by B cells typically targedteins on a pathogen’s
surface. For B cell vaccines targeting surfacegingt the number of potential targets has typidadlgn limited. For example, the hepatitis B virus,
addressable by two approved vaccines, consistauofpfroteins. Choosing the vaccine antigen frors simall candidate list required testing only tf
four proteins, singly and in combination to fine thnost protective formulation. Here again, the ITaen of the immune system works differently. It
is not just surface proteins of a pathogen thatheatargets for a vaccine, but rather every path@getein, collectively its full “proteome”, can lae
target of T cell responses. The number of candidatigens, therefore, increases substantially basetle genetic complexity of the pathogen. For
example, for HSV-2 the proteome comprises nearlpr@®eins, substantially increasing the compleaigociated with target antigen selection, as the
number of potential antigen combinations increasg®nentially. The chlamydia proteome exceeds 90&ns and the proteome fétlasmodium
falciparum, a parasite that causes malaria, exceeds 5,08€nmoln the case of such organisms, testing petkin in animals, singly and in various
combinations to identify candidate antigens, cdale® many years. For many organisms, the compdexéssociated with the pathogen size have
presented a fundamental barrier to discoveringcg¥fe T cell vaccines.

The combination of these two challenges rendexdery of T cell antigens by traditional empiricaéthods exceedingly difficult. We
believe these challenges explain why no approvedinas have been developed on the basis of Tesgbnses.

The ATLAS Discovery Platform: A Novel Approach to Vaccine and Immunotherapy Discovery

We have developed a proprietary technology platfirat is designed to overcome the challenges adsdcivith developing vaccines that
stimulate T cell immunity. We have engineered tihnology into a high throughput discovery platiore call ATLAS, our AnTigen Lead
Acquisition System. This system mimics part of loenan T cell immune systemx vivo, or outside the body. By comparing antigens idiewtiin
individuals who naturally control their infectioritivthose who do not, we can select the antigesusnitay have the best likelihood of inducing
protective T cell immune responses. We believettiiatenables ATLAS to rapidly identify targetsTotell responses that are applicable to broad
populations, over the range of HLA supertypes amiasents a comprehensive throughput system design@ cell antigen discovery in the
biopharmaceutical industry.

To use ATLAS, we collect T cells and APCs from hrgus of human donors who were naturally exposédealisease-causing pathogen of
interest. We segregate these donors into cohostsdban their clinical status. At one end of thectpen are those exposed subjects who remained
uninfected despite contact. At the other end oftectrum, we include subjects who were unabléetar ¢heir infection or control their disease
without significant intervention. If applicable, vaéso include subject cohorts between these entfeafpectrum, such as those with mild infections.

We also create a library of every protein in thetpome of the pathogen of interest. We express iedofidual protein in bacterial hosts,
which are cultured with APCs from each human doAsreach donor’'s APCs ingest the complete protedibmiary, they present peptide epitopes
from each protein on their surface. These epitapasbe recognized by T cells derived from the sdamor. If the T cell recognizes the epitope or
surface of the APC, which it will do if has seep t#pitope before and is a memory T cell for thatipalar epitope, it will be activated. The levél o
activation can be quantified by the amount of ifieem gamma, or IFN; a cytokine produced by the T cell. We use théepaiof responses for each
subject to infer which pathogen proteins are assediwith productive, non-productive or even deletes immune responses. The diagram below
illustrates the process by which we use ATLAS tniify pathogens to elicit a T cell response.
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We use ATLAS as a high throughput engine to comgmsively and rapidly screen human T cells to idgmtdtentially relevant T cell
vaccine antigens. Furthermore, ATLAS allows usd@en large proteomes in an efficient manner totifleantigens likely to best stimulate the T
cell immmune system, a process that is otherwisg aled labor intensive. By comparing antigens idiettiin individuals who control their infection
with those who do not, we can select the antigeatsrhay have the best likelihood of inducing protvecimmune responses. Since we discover the
target antigens from human responses rather tHemabhresponses, we believe we can use the targgt®tuce vaccine and immunotherapy
candidates that have a high probability of genegapirotective immunity in humans. To date, we happglied this platform to identify human T cell
antigens from several viral and microbial proteométh sizes ranging from several dozen, as witlVkSto a few thousand expressed proteins, as
with pneumococcus and chlamydia.

In summary, we believe that ATLAS offers all of io'lowing important advantages over other appreado vaccine design and discovery:

«  Enables vaccine and immunotherapy discovery for p&bgens that are generally inaccessible to antibodieFor pathogens that
reside in human cells or otherwise generally exad#ody responses, and which, as a result haveusgessfully been addressed by B
cell vaccines, ATLAS represents a means to ideteifgets of effective T cell responses. This pagimdgst includes dozens of bacteria,
viruses and parasites that collectively accountifitions of deaths and morbidity for millions mazanually.

» Decreases the risk of vaccine and immunotherapy disvery failure by identifying targets of T cell reponses in humans.By
comprehensively screening the T cell responsessioms who have mounted effective immune respdnsagectious disease
pathogens, and comparing these responses to thmsbave not, ATLAS identifies antigens that assecwdth protection in humans.
By identifying the targets of human T cell respans& vivo from human samples, rather than in animal modetshoth account for
diversity of human T cell responses and avoid beiigled by discovery in animals.

e Selects targets relevant to broad populationsWe believe ATLAS is highly efficient and can anayF cells from a large number of
individuals. Traditional analog vaccine antigencdigery necessarily focuses on the identificatiopmifopes that are able to be
presented by APCs for only a minority of the tangepulation. In contrast, we can process blood $srfpom hundreds of ethnically
diverse subjects and therefore can ensure, frotyzng across the range of HLA supertypes, thatastigens are broadly relevant. As
a result, we anticipate that both GEN-003 and GEM-®ill stimulate T cell responses across broad Hyjges.

e Reduces the time and cost of vaccine discovenjs we have demonstrated in both our HSV-2 and proeootus programs, after we
collect blood samples from human cohorts exposedpathogen, we believe we can identify vaccinalickes in less than one year
and for a few million dollars, compared to the iatity norms of up to 10 years and $100 million &cdiver B cell vaccines, according
GlaxoSmithKline.

We believe that our discovery platform can enablecine and immunotherapy discovery for a wide rasfgefectious disease pathogens, in
addition to our clinical stage vaccines and immbeadpies. We have identified antigens that apmeassociate with protective human responses in
our prophylactic HSV-2 and chlamydia programs aechdnstrated subsequently that these antigens otatpagainst disease in accepted animal
models. We have also embarked upon a program ¢odis protective T cell antigens froRlasmodium falciparuma causative agent of malaria
under a program funded in part by an investmemhfitee Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, or the Gafesindation. Many other pathogens evade
antibody responses and therefore may be tractalA@tAS, including those that cause tuberculos@)@rhea, and dengue fever.

We also believe ATLAS may offer utility in the dseery of new treatments for cancer. In recent ye@@w cancer immunotherapies such as
Yervoy (ipilimumab; Bristol-Myers Squibb) have sessfully delivered improved outcomes against cansech as melanoma by reversing the
inhibitive effect that cancer cells can have orell ktnmune responses. Recruiting T cells to drhe ¢ontainment of cancerous cells holds promise ac
a new approach to cancer treatment. Knowing thgeetar targets of the T cell responses may enableévelopment of next-generation
immunotherapies with greater specificity that,irdry, could offer further protection against cante March 2014, we announced a joint research
collaboration with the Dana-Farber Cancer Instiartd Harvard Medical School to characterize antiguT cell responses in melanoma patients.
This collaboration extends the use of our proprjetal LAS platform for the rapid discovery of T celhtigens to cancer immunotherapy approaches.
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Antigen Discovery Using ATLAS—A Vignette from theifgovery of GEN-003 to Treat Genital Herpes

Strong evidence for the role of T cells in conir@la genital herpes infection emerged when a rekenat the University of Washington,
Christine Posavad, Ph.D., identified a previousiknown and relevant patient population. These gewogre each in a sexual relationship with
someone who had a genital herpes infection, bunbaglidence of infection by culture of, or meableantibody response to, herpes simplex virus
2, or HSV-2, the virus which causes most case®pitgl herpes. However, these individuals had exddeof T cell memory against HSV-2,
indicating previous contact with HSV-2. In thesdigrats, Dr. Posavad concluded that T cells arelthesr of the protective response, but she could
not comprehensively screen for the specificity afells that drove this response.

Based in part on Dr. Posavad’s observations aret etimerging evidence of the role of T cells in collihg HSV-2 infection, we decided to
use ATLAS to identify T cell stimulating antigersr fHSV-2. We started by collecting blood from 1%®ple exposed to, or infected with, HSV-2.
For each person, we documented the infection dgusased on clinical records and assigned the stshje a cohort according to this. Crucially, we
included 43 subjects of the type identified by Posavad. We chose our sample size to enable istdtistmparisons within and across cohorts. We
also recruited genetically and ethnically diversgividuals to ensure broad HLA supertype coverage.table below provides further details on the
patients:

Presence of
Cohort H5V.2 Description "smb:tf
Increased Antibody
Mafural
”"’;gff'"" Eg;:ld / No In a sexwal relationship with a i
Al nE HSV-2* partner but no infection
Immunity
No clinical genital outbreak since
Asymptomatic Yes nitint diagnosts 41
Infrequent -
Baciiies Yes 1-3 clinical outbreaks/year 47
Frequent Iy
S Yes 24 clinical outbreaks/fyear 43
HSV-1 Positive No Genital outbreaks 11
Presumed
Nafre Mo Na known exposune to the virus 10

We also built two copies of a library consistingeafch protein in the HSV-2 proteome. Since botletkkdnd helper T cells are thought likely
to play a role in controlling an HSV-2 infectiongvelieved that measuring both T cell responseddiminecessary to optimize the design of a
candidate vaccine. Research has shown that onkirgt® cells use to defend against HSV-2 is f-N-herefore, for each subject in the study, we
separately measured the IFNesponses of helper T cell and killer T cellsacleHSV-2 protein. An example of the output from assay measuring
killer T cells for one subject is below. We genersimilar assays for all subjects for both killaddelper T cells.

Killer T Cell Profile for a Subject in ATLAS HSV-2 Screen

Magnitude of T Cell Response [IFNy)

L™ - ®
® .
* ”» L
. - ,"‘q o — L - *
- - & Y 2l # -

- N e e T wwe¥a vt ¥y

Individual HSV-2 Proteins

ATLAS enables the generation of the above outpntthis particular subject, the responses to mantems hovered at a low level, while
several proteins elicited relatively strong T ceponses.
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Analyzing the experimental results of the 195 athlty diverse subjects has enabled us to assotie¢dl responses to individual proteins
with better control or improved outcomes of HSVhfection. Using statistical analyses to identifyncoonalities and differences within the clinical
cohorts and across them, we identified a smallgadficandidate antigens associated with protedtigell responses to HS®-in humans. We furth:
produced and tested the selected antigens in aniimaéls to arrive at the two proteins to be inctlioteGEN-003. We believe that because we
collected samples from ethnically diverse subje8BN-003 should work across patients regardlesti éf supertype. The entire process, including
devising clinical cohorts, collecting the bloodrfrd 95 subjects, building two copies of the protirary, running proteins through ATLAS and
determining priority candidate antigens took 15 then

Our Product Candidate Pipeline

The following table describes our current developtpeograms:

Vaccine
Candidate Program Stage of Developmen Next Milestone Anticipated Timeline
GEN-003 Genital herpes Therapeutic Phase 2 Complete Phase 2 dose Late second quarter of 2015
optimization trial
GEN-004 Pneumococcus Prophyla Phase 2i Complete Phase 2a tri Fourth quarter of 201
GEN-001 Chlamydia Prophylaxi Pre-clinical File investigational new dru 2017
application (or IND)
GEN-002 HSV-2 Prophylaxis Pre-clinical File IND 2017
GEN-005 Malaria Prophylaxi Researcl Initiate pre-clinical studies Second half of 201

GEN-003 Market Opportunity
Genital Herpes

We are developing our lead product candidate, GBB|-f treat patients with genital herpes infeidBEN-003 consists of two protein
antigens. The first antigen is ICP4.2, a largerfragt of the protein ICP4 that we discovered in AB_écreens to be a T cell antigen associated with
protection from infection or with less severe irifen. The second antigen is glycoprotein D2, or g&B cell antigen that is the target of antibodies
that provide anti-viral activity during the time tihe life cycle of HSV-2 where the pathogen is spsible to inactivation by antibodies. gD2 was also
a target of T cells in our ATLAS screens and wdscied based on such ATLAS screens as ATLAS pizedtgD?2 as the B cell antigen most
associated with T cell responses. We pair the antigvith Matrix-M2, a novel adjuvant that we haieemsed exclusively for this indication from
Novavax, Inc., or Novavax. S¢“—Other Collaborations—Isconova AB”.

Genital herpes is a sexually transmitted diseaseait@ herpes infections have become an epidemieasing to approximately 16% of the
United States population between the ages of 148ndnd more than 400 million people worldwidesading to the World Health Organization, or
WHO.

For infected individuals, the disease can manifeatnumber of ways, with so-called viral sheddasghe common element. For some of the
virus’ life cycle, it lies dormant within nerve ¢ghear the spine. Although there may be no vissiga of infection, the virus lives within theseve
cells. Periodically, the virus reactivates and wittavels to skin cells of the genitalia where they released. The release of the virus is calledl v
shedding and can be detected by swabbing the arg&@and testing the swab for the presence af BINA. For reasons not completely understood,
reactivation of the virus within the nerve cellsynweccur, resulting in a large amount of virus shiegdrom skin and mucus membranes. If the
replication is maintained for a long enough pebtme and at a high enough level, the virus agstithe cells it inhabits and causes ulcers to form
on the skin. Patients experiencing such visiblengl@are considered symptomatic patients. It is gdigebelieved that the immune system responds to
episodes of genital herpes outbreaks by activatinglls that reduce viral replication and destmfgéted cells, allowing healing and resolution of
genital ulcers, usually after a few days, althofaghmany patients ulcers return at variable intervBatients may also experience periodic, low-
frequency viral shedding. Because the sheddinigesettimes does not lead to the development ofg,ltteese episodes are called asymptomatic
shedding. These asymptomatic patients continuede p disease transmission risk through sexuahcowhile shedding virus.

Some people, approximately 60% of those infectexlaaymptomatic or fail to recognize or seek médittantion for an initial mild
outbreak of ulcers. According to the New Englandrdal of Medicine, roughly 40% of persons infectdth HSV-2 experience visible symptoms. It
has been reported in the Annals of Internal Me@i¢hat approximately 70% of the people with visiyenptoms experience three or more outbreaks
per year, which we consider to be moderate-to-gedisease. Patients with HSV-2 experience sigmifidéstress because of the potential negative
impact on their ability to form and maintain sexual
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relationships. Infection with HSV-2 can involve stémtial risks in addition to the infection itsdfor example, persons with HSV-2 infection have a
threefold increased risk for human immunodeficienicys, or HIV, acquisition. Additionally, pregnawbmen can transmit HSV-2 to infants in
childbirth, which can result in severe brain damagdeath.

Shedding Profile from a Person Infected with HSV-2*

10,000,000
[ Asymptomatic shedding

1,000,000 B Symplomatic shidding

100,000

10,000
3 Days with no Days with no
1 000 shedding ahedding
: detectad ] datected
100

Swabs, over Time e
{Each bar represents a readoul, from 28 day/2x per day sampling)

Amount of HSV-2 Present per Swab

e mmma-
SR
e
o
lgcanccns
A

* Note: Each bar represents 1 swatwabs collected per day; the absence of a bar nmeasisedding was detected on the swab on a
particular day.

The total number of days during a month that HSW¥@s can be detected in the genital area withitdroumt visible ulcers is called the
shedding frequency. A pattern of shedding and eatbfor one person is illustrated in the graph abdiral shedding is measured by collecting
swabs of the genital area, following a protocot thes been used in decades of studies of HSV-Rshexdding. In the example shown above, the
subject collected swabs twice daily for 28 daysVHSDNA was detectable in approximately 66% of todlected swabs, meaning the patient’s
shedding frequency is 66% for the period measBethe swabs had no detectable viral DNA, meaningubgect did not shed virus at the time of
sample collection (exemplified by the blank arefthe above graph). The magnitude of viral sheddeaged widely from day to day and only
sometimes resulted in clinical symptoms such ableigenital ulcers. Ulcers generally appear afreral days of asymptomatic shedding and at
times when the magnitude of shedding is highest. &tient, frequency, and duration of shedding %@y person to person, but the pattern is
relatively consistent for each person.

Limitations of Current HSV-2 Treatment Options

There is no known cure for HSV-2. For patients étéel with HSV-2, oral antiviral drugs are the otrlgatment option. The most commonly
prescribed treatment is valacyclovir including Ve, marketed by GlaxoSmithKline. Other medicatiemailable are acyclovir (Zovirax, marketed
by GlaxoSmithKline) and famciclovir (Famvir, markdtby Novartis). These drugs all work by limitifge tability of the virus to replicate when it

emerges from latency. Sales for these oral antivicdaled $1.6 billion globally in 2012, includimgarly $700 million in the United States, accogdin
to IMS Health.

Some patients treat their disease episodicallghébnset of outbreaks, or in the case of somenatiat the onset of prodrome, a tingling
sensation that may precede an outbreak, patidrgsatativiral medication to reduce the duration aederity of the outbreak. According to the
approved Valtrex prescribing information, episoa@atment only reduces the duration of outbreaksybio 50% when compared to placebo. Pati
treating their symptoms episodically are not pregd@gainst asymptomatic viral shedding and, tbeeehave no reduced risk of transmission of
infection to an uninfected sexual partner whileragtomatic.

Some patients treat their infection with daily &inéil medication. This approach is called chronipgressive therapy, and has been shov
reduce—but not eliminatewviral shedding, the frequency of symptomatic owtkeeof genital ulcers, and the risk of transmissibthe infection to a
uninfected sexual partner. Even on chronic supjweserapy, based on the valacyclovir prescrilirigrmation, 35% of patients taking chronic
suppressive therapy suffer outbreaks within six th®after initiation of treatment and 46% of patsesuffer outbreaks within 12 months. Patients
taking chronic suppressive therapy reduce the@adis transmission risk only by as much as 52%.

A market research survey conducted on our behaifwincluded primary research with more than 3B@sgcians in the United States,
United Kingdom, Germany, France and Brazil andvéere of secondary sources, indicated that approtdétpd 1 million people in the U.S. are
diagnosed with genital herpes. Of those diagnasgpkoximately 7 million are treated with oral awitial medicines. This research also indicated that
approximately 2.5 million patients treat their @ise chronically with daily anti-viral
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pills, and approximately 4.5 million patients trepisodically to reduce the severity of outbreakemthey occur. Of those patients treated
chronically, approximately 30% continue to sufferele or more outbreaks of genital herpes per yahoéthose treated episodically, approximately
50% continue to suffer three or more outbreaksypar. This market research also indicated thaptaealence of genital herpes outside the United
States is similar to the United States.

Due to the limited effectiveness of oral antivittaérapy, there remains a significant unmet medieald, against both the symptoms of HSV-
2 and disease transmission risk from viral shedding

GEN-003: An Immunotherapy Candidate for HSV- 2

We have shown that GEN-003 is the first immunotpgianown to have demonstrated a statistically $icgmt reduction in viral shedding
rate and the signs of clinical genital herpes dises measured by genital lesion rates. See “—e@liBievelopment—GEN-003-001—Our
Phase 1/2a Clinical Tria". These data were presented in a podium presentatiiDWeek 2014™ . We believe that these initimical results
demonstrate that GEN-003 has the potential tofirstan-class immunotherapy to treat genital hatpe

We believe that, if approved for the treatmenterfital herpes infections, GEN-003 could addresaititeet needs of patients in several
ways. For patients taking episodic therapy, GEN-©@3d offer reduced symptomatic and asymptomatal 8hedding, potentially reducing disease
transmission risk. Since episodic therapy offerpraiection against disease transmission duringnpgymatic shedding, these patients and their
sexual partners are unprotected when the infecedgr is not taking anti-viral medication.

For patients on chronic suppressive therapy, wiel®IGEN-003 may provide both improved outcomesiaoased convenience. For
some patients, we anticipate that physicians wékpribe GEN-003 as baseline therapy. Such patieaysstill take oral antivirals in case of an
outbreak to further control symptoms. Replacindyddierapy may offer convenience to these patidfis.other patients, we anticipate that
physicians may prescribe GEN-003 alongside chremgpressive therapy. This combination therapy agdranirrors the treatment practice of other
chronic viral infections such as HIV and hepaf@isirus. We anticipate that, since the mechanishegtion for GEN-003 and oral antiviral
medication should complement each other, the cbag@inst symptoms and disease transmission rfgkeaf by the combination would exceed that
of either therapy alone.

In a second market research survey conducted obehalf with more than 400 patients with HSV-2 aifens in the United States, the
United Kingdom, France and Germany, and more tid@npBiysicians who treat patients with HSV-2 infext, 56% of patients on chronic
suppressive therapy indicated an intent to use ®@&Bin combination with other therapies and 37%uath patients indicated an intent to use GEN-
003 on its own, if it were approved; 30% of patiean episodic therapy indicated an intent to usdl®GE3 in combination with other therapies and
60% of such patients indicated an intent to use ®HBlon its own, if it were approved; and 15% diguats not taking any HSV-2 therapy indicated
an intent to use GEN-003 in combination with ottherapies and 65% of such patients indicated @minb use GEN-003 on its own, if it were
approved.

Taking together the results of the two market redeaurveys conducted on our behalf, we forecastt@ntial market share for GEN-003 in
the US of approximately 3 million of the 11 milliatlagnosed patients. We believe that this transiate a revenue opportunity in the US of over $1
billion. These were limited surveys and may or may/be representative of how patients might ultetyatise GEN-003, if at all, or how GEN-003
may be reimbursed if GEN-003 successfully compleliescal development and is approved by regulatarthorities.

Non-clinical Evaluation of Our GEN-003 Product Canddate

We tested GENBO3 in the guinea pig therapy model, the standaiia model of recurrent disease. Guinea pigs seel because the cou
of infection in the animal closely mirrors thattafmans, with an initial outbreak that resolvedpiokd by frequent and periodic recurrences that las
a few days. GEN-003 decreased ulcers over timeplip 85% versus placebo, measured over 63 daysigttal immunization. This is the standard
interval across which to measure impact on ulaethe guinea pig model. Additionally, the vaccieduced viral shedding significantly. In the pet
after completing immunization, from days 37-63, GEDB almost completely eliminated viral shedding ®We unaware of any other vaccine
demonstrating similar impact either on clinical §toms or on viral shedding in this model.
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Clinical Development
GEN-003-001—Our Phase 1/2a Clinical Trial

We have completed a Phase 1/2a trial, testingafedys T and B cell immunogenicity, and impact aralvshedding of GEN-003 in subjects
with documented recurrent HSV-2 infection. We atsmasured, as an exploratory endpoint, the effeGEN-003 on the genital lesion rate. The trial
was conducted at seven sites in the United Statdading some of the leading institutions for sttiic and clinical research of genital herpes. The
trial was double-blind, placebo-controlled and desealating. We enrolled subjects between 18 ange&6s of age. An independent Data Safety
Monitoring Board monitored the safety of subjeatsodled in the clinical trial.

This trial enrolled 143 otherwise healthy subjewith a history of three to nine genital herpes oedlixs per year when not on suppressive
therapy. Subjects were randomized into one of tHose cohorts. Within each cohort, subjects werdamized in a 3:1:1 ratio, whereby for every
three subjects receiving GEN-003, one would recpliaeebo and one would receive the ICP4.2 and gbinms without the Matrix-M2 adjuvant.

We included this last cohort to demonstrate thatrddd12 was necessary to achieve the desired bickdgesponses. There were three vaccine dose
groups, based on the amount of protein. The lodest group subjects received 10ug of each pratethg middle dose group, the protein doses
increased to 30ug, and in the high dose groupritteip dose was 100ug. For all subjects receivief@03 (proteins plus adjuvant), the Matrix M2
dose was 50ug. Subjects received three vaccinatongays zero, 21 and 42. The diagram below ifitis$ the dosing and swabbing regimen in the
trial and the points in time at which data was gegi.

Long Term Follow-up
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The primary objective of this trial was to monitbe safety profile of the proposed vaccine. OveHEN-003 was weltolerated. During th
seven days following each injection, side-effecesengenerally those considered typically associaiddvaccines, such as fatigue, site injection
pain, tenderness and swelling. Among all vaccirgedgoups, the frequency of adverse events, or &ffeared greater among those subjects given
the 10ug dose. In the 30pg and 100ug dose cottoeté\E rate was lower than that of the 10ug colinraddition, the frequency of AEs appeared to
diminish with subsequent doses. Beyond the wedtvfidhg vaccination with the GEN-003 immunotheraghe AE types and frequencies appeared
similar to those following vaccination with placeldde AEs have been transient, resolved over adfys and resulted in only two subjects
discontinuing further vaccinations: one for a conaltion of symptoms (myalgia and fatigue; and paith @nderness at the injection site) and one for
injection site pain.

Additionally, we measured the immunotherapy-induteztll and B cell immune responses. We structaretistatistically powered the trial
to measure the proposed immunotherapy’s impadienital shedding rate, an important marker of wmgtivity. We selected this endpoint because
of the connection between shedding, symptomatioreaks, and risk of transmission of virus by sexuaaitact. Every subject in the study swabbed
their genitalia twice per day for 28 days beforeeieing the first assigned treatment injection, aftdr treatment, using the standard protocol lihat
been used for many clinical trials of HSV-2 sheddin

We measured immunotherapy activity in two ways:ithpact on viral shedding and the impact on sigrdinical genital herpes disease as
measured by genital lesion rates, defined as thédays in which a patient reported the presefieevisible genital lesion during swabbing days,
divided by the total number of swabbing days. Thpact on viral shedding was determined by viral Dpt&sent in swabs from subjects over the 28-
day measurement period before receiving the assigpatment and immediately
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after completing the three-dose regimen and agaixanonths and 12 months after the final dose génital lesion rate was measured at the same
time points.

Final analysis of the data showed that for the pedbrming 30pg dose group, there was a sustainddtatistically significant reduction in
the viral shedding and genital lesion rates. Aftampletion of dosing for this dose group, the valaédding rate fell by 52% versus baseline (p<Q
and, at six months after the final dose, the shreddite remained at 40% below baseline (p<0.00tL)2Amonths, the viral shedding rate returned to
baseline for this dose group. The reduction ingtheital lesion rate after completion of the thiabd was greatest for the 30 g dose group, at 48%
(p<0.001). After six months, the reduction fromdlaee in genital lesion rate for this dose grous &% (p<0.001) and after 12 months the genital
lesion rate was 42% lower than baseline.

The following tables summarize the data demonsigdtie reduction in the frequency of viral sheddang the genital lesion rate observed
following administration of GEN-003 vaccine.

Viral Shedding Rate

Baseline After Dose 3 After 6 months After 12 months (1)
# of Change from # of Change from # of Change from
Treatment Group Rate subjects Rate Baseline subjects Rate Baseline subjects Rate Baseline
Placebc 12.4 26 12.¢ 3% 23 16.€ 34% 13 12. -1%
Proteins only 7.4 26 10.C 35% 22 8.€ 16% 15 14.4 95%
GEN-003 (10ug) 10.¢ 27 10.€ 0% 26 14.% 60% 0 — —
GEN-003 (30ug) 13.4 27 6.4 -52%* 19 8.C -40%* 20 12.5 -8%
GEN-003 (10Cug) 15.C 26 10.c -31%* 24 12.4 -17% 20 111 -2€%
Genital Lesion Rate
Baseline After Dose 3 After 6 months After 12 months (1)
# of Change from # of Change from # of Change from
Treatment Group Rate subjects Rate Baseline subjects Rate Baseline subjects Rate Baseline
Placebc 7.2 26 9.1 26% 23 9.2 28% 13 4.C -44%
Proteins only 9.8 26 6.7 -29% 22 6.7 -29% 15 2.€ -73%
GEN-003 (10ug) 14.7 27 9. -39% 26 11 24% 0 — —
GEN-003 (30ug) 9.7 27 5.C -A8%* 19 34 -65%* 20 5.€ -42%
GEN-003 (100ug) 6.8 26 3.7 -46%* 24 4.€ -32% 20 5.8 -15%

(1) No statistical testing was performed at 12 monttabse too few subjects contributed data. We didmticipate the magnitude or
durability of effect shown in this trial and theginal trial protocol did not envisage followingtnts out to 12 months. By the time a
protocol amendment was in place to allow collectbi2 month data some patients had been lostltonfaip.

We are unaware of any other vaccine that has demated the effects that we observed of GEN-003emitgl lesion rate or viral shedding
in humans. While we have not yet tested any boostgmen, based on the durability of response te,dee anticipate booster doses, if necessary,
would be administered at intervals of six monthsnore. Based on the market research conductedrdmebalf, a product profile consistent with the
data from the GEN-003 30pg dose group with a boaktse every six months was highly attractive tiepd survey participants. This was a limited
survey and may or may not be representative of petvents might ultimately or desire to use GEN-003f all, if GEN-003 successfully completes
clinical development and is approved by regulatarthorities.

Our data have also demonstrated that GEN-003 imbad®oad immune response in vaccinated subjeelsdase levels. T cell responses
increased from baseline 21-fold to ICP4.2 and 1840 gD2. Subjects also experienced strong ineasantibody response to ICP4.2 and gD2, as
measured by immunoglobulin G, or 1gG, a standardsuee of antibody response. The antibodies genkiratesponse to the vaccine are able to
prevent the virus from infecting new cells, as nuees by a standard assay for evaluating the alofithe virus to infect cellsn vitro . The chart
below shows the T cell immune response aggregatedsaall dose levels.
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Fold Increase in T Cell Response from Baseline byr&@atment Group
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Ongoing Phase 2 Dose Optimization Trial

The Phase 2 dose optimization study is fully eerbivith 310 subjects from 17 institutions in theitdd States. The objective of this trial is
to confirm the results of the best performing diosthe phase 1/2a trial, and to test other comlanatof protein and adjuvant to determine the
optional dose for future trials and potentially imoye on the current profile of GEN-003. This stwdi} test six combinations of two antigen doses
(30ug or 60pg) with each of three adjuvant dosBp@250p.g, or 75u9) alongside a placebo. All subjedl receive three doses of GEN-003 or
placebo at 21-day intervals. The primary end pfuinthe study is the change from baseline in \8tedding rate. The study is also designed to
evaluate the impact on percentage of days withtglemérpes lesions as reported by patients. Suhjectiving GEN-003 will be followed for 12
months after the last dose. We expect to annowpeérte data for the immediate post-vaccinationesbation period late in the second quarter of
2015.

Next Steps: Dose Regimen Trial for GEN-003

Following completion of the Phase 2 dose optim@zatrial, we intend to complete a Phase 2 dosemegitrial where we will seek to
optimize our dosing regimen, or the number of desekthe interval between doses. We anticipatectimatal trial enroliment criteria and endpoints
for this trial will be similar or identical to thesof the preceding trials.

Potential for GEN-003 to Treat HSV-1 Infection

We anticipate that GEN-003 may also help a pasentmune system fight herpes simplex virus typerHSV-1. HSV4 is most common
identified with cold sores and has infected apprmtely 60% of Americans, according to the CDC. éasingly, HSV-1 has been associated with
outbreaks of genital ulcers, though the frequemzy severity of such outbreaks generally is less thase associated with HSV-2. HSV-1 and H&V-
are related viruses and the proteins in GEN-00®gesent in, and nearly identical to, those fomH$V-1. Consequently, we believe that GEN- 003
may be active against HSV-1 and thus intend toystind potential for GEN-003 to combat HSV-1.

The Opportunity to Prevent HSV-2 Infections

In addition to treating HSV-2 infection with GEN-BOwe believe that ATLAS may help to develop a wa&cthat can prevent HSV-2 from
infecting healthy persons. We believe that a vactiat has therapeutic effect may be the founddtioa preventative vaccine. Since there will not
likely be pre-existing immune responses to buildrup uninfected subjects, the preventative vacoiag include additional or different antigens
than those in GEN-003 to be fully protective. Usifeda from the same ATLAS screening effort with ethive designed GEN-003, we identified
eight additional candidate antigens that coulddsed to GEN-003 or included in another vaccinepfophylaxis of HSV-2 infections. We have
already demonstrated that several of the eightidatelantigens can provide some protection agaifesttion in initial studies in mice. A
prophylactic vaccine may be an important step ltifgathe epidemic, and could be used to treatfected partners of HSV-2 infected subjects to
prevent them from acquiring the disease. The vaccould also be used more broadly as a preventadasure. We intend to pursue development of
a prophylactic HSV-2 vaccine and anticipate thatweeld partner this program at the appropriate fpaoirclinical development.
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GEN-004 Market Opportunity
Pneumococcal Disease

We are developing GEN-004 to prevent infectionssedlby all serotypes of pneumococcus. The Gatesdation has noted that
pneumococcus Kills more children under age fivdally than any other organism. GEN-004 consisthiafe whole Pneumococcal T cell protein
antigens, SP0148, SP1912 and SP2108, combinedheitidjuvant Alhydrogel, a form of alum that is @ned in several approved vaccines.

There are more than 90 serotypes, or strains, @fpococcus known to exist. Each strain differshéljygin the composition of the
polysaccharide capsule, a sugar-based componémoers the bacterial cell. These differences tikedy arisen as the organism has evolved to
evade human antibody responses. Pneumococcusiteaibm that often resides harmlessly in the moskthroat but can cause otitis media, or
middle ear infection, as well as pneumonia, ancitida in the lungs. Such consequences of infeaienconsidered non-invasive pneumococcal
disease, or NIPD.

Invasive pneumococcal disease, or IPD, arises ywhenmococcus enters the bloodstream and potergj@gads to other organs. The
consequences of IPD can be severe and, accordthg ©DC, 10% of patients with IPD die. IPD is slfisd into three categories. Bacteremic
pneumonia is an infection in one or both lungs witleumococcus also in the bloodstream. It is gdgeranore severe infection than pneumonia
is not invasive. Other examples of IPD include &efke presence of bacterial infection in the blatbng with symptoms such as fever, elevated
heart rate and respiratory rate, and high or lowentiood cell count, and meningitis, an inflamroatof the brain and spinal column.

Limitations of Current Pneumococcal Vaccines

Global revenue of current pneumococcal vaccineseded $5.8 billion in 2014, most of which came fierevnar-13, marketed by Pfizer,
which is named for the 13 capsular polysacchatigiess, derived from 13 strains of pneumococcududed in the vaccine. The Prevnar family
achieved global revenue of $4.5 hillion in 2014h@tPneumococcal vaccines include Synflorix, maddty GlaxoSmithKline, and Pneumovax-23,
marketed by Merck. These vaccines have dramatioadlyced IPD caused by the serotypes addresséut waccines.

The predecessor vaccine to Prevnar-13, Prevnadfplthe dramatic reduction of IPD caused by #wes vaccine serotypes of
pneumococcus that are addressed by the vaccinerding to the CDC, the hospitalization rates dubP infection from these strains fell after the
introduction of Prevnar-7, from 80 cases per 100&gildren in 2000 to less than 1 per 100,000 §72n pre-approval randomized trials, Previiar-
was demonstrated to be safe and highly efficacdgagnst IPD, moderately efficacious against pneuay@nd somewhat effective in reducing mic
ear infection episodes and related office visite €xpectation is that Prevnar-13, introduced t02@ill result in similar benefit against the seve
serotypes covered by Prevnar-7 plus the additismalerotypes included in that vaccine.

Nevertheless, significant limitations exist witlistand other pneumococcal vaccines. As noted puslyipthere are more than 90 known
serotypes of pneumococcus. Prevnar-13 covers éhtf these serotypes. Incidence of invasive diseassed by the 75+ serotypes not included in
that vaccine are rapidly increasing. As a consecgiefizer is believed to be working on a thirdgration Prevnar vaccine. Already a complex
vaccine, each of the polysaccharide shells includé€tevnar-13, representing 13 of the most comdisease-causing serotypes of pneumococcus, i
conjugated, or chemically linked, to a protein @arrlt is believed that there are limits to hownygolysaccharides that physically can be include
the vaccine. Moreover, the protective capacitygeeotype appears to diminish as new polysacchaaigeadded to the vaccine. Still, other large
companies, including GlaxoSmithKline, Merck, anch&aPasteur, are also believed to be working om waccines against pneumococcus. To our
knowledge, all of these companies’ product canéslate being developed to elicit a B cell response.

GEN-004: A Prophylactic Universal Vaccine Candidatéor Pneumococcus

We have designed GEN-004 to fight more than 90tgees of pneumococcus, and to do so through aldbased mechanism of action that
complements existing vaccines. Since 2009, we beNaborated with Rick Malley, M.D., of Boston Cthien's Hospital, a leading researcher on |
immunity to pneumococcus. He was the first persotetmonstrate that Pneumococci are rapidly clefaoed the nose, before they can get into the
lungs and bloodstream, by a type of helper T adled Ty 17 cells. This is important because beforeumococci can cause IPD, they need to take
up residence inside the nose, known as colonizafitime immune system could be taught to make T cells against pneumococci in sufficient
guantities, then the bacteria will not have thdigtto colonize, thus reducing or eliminating IRIBcurrence. There is strong evidence thatl7 cells
play an important role in protecting against pnecatgal infections, including that: Job syndromeguds lack CD4+/T; 17 cells and are highly
susceptible to pneumococcus; children with mutatiofithe IL-17A gene are more likely to be colonizgith pneumococcus; HIV patients are
predisposed to pneumococcal disease due to a Cloé# deficiency; and a low CD4+T cell count iskéd to reactivity to pneumococcal proteins
and the likelihood of colonization. Furthermores thajority of healthy adults are not colonized vwatfteumococcus, presumably dueto T 17
responses that they have generated through nattypasure. We believe a vaccine that stimulates Tcellg
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to reduce or prevent colonization of the nasophabynpneumococcus could be highly effective agaatidorms of pneumococcal disease including
IPD and NIPD infections.

Guided by this insight, we used ATLAS to desigroael pneumococcal vaccine, GEN-004. Since aduéigianerally “protected” against
colonization by pneumococcus, we screened the 1660 healthy, ethnically diverse adults using AR. We collected their APCs and T cells and
screened the entire pneumococcus proteome, whitdiste of more than 2,200 proteins, to identifytpires associated with a strongiT 17 T cell
response, as measured by their induction of thekey IL-17A, the predominant cytokine secretedlhyl7 cells. Based on these studies, we
identified three protein antigens that associagéliiwith a protective T cell response against pnecoccus in humans. Moreover, as these proteins
are conserved in all sequenced strains of Pneurnpeee believe GEN-004 may be able to help proagetinst invasive Pneumococcal disease
caused by any Pneumococcal serotype, includingetbogered by the Prevnar franchise.

We have demonstrated proof-of-concept of GEN-00# nmouse model of nasal colonization, as demosesttatlow. In this model, mice are
immunized with the antigens adsorbed to ahydrogelthen challenged intranasally with live pneumacogfter 10 days, the nasal cavity is washed
with saline, and the numbers of pneumococcal biactieat colonized the nose are counted. We andstieve shown that the prevention of
colonization in this model is due to IL-17A secoetifrom helper T cells.
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Clinical Development of GEN-004

In June 2014, we announced positive top-line data fa Phase 1 clinical trial in the United Statesvaluate the safety of, and immune
response to, GEN-004.

The Phase 1 clinical trial met its safety, toleligband immunogenicity goals, including measurahlkeeases in the blood of T 17 cells.
The Phase 1 clinical trial was a randomized, debbtel, dose-escalation, placebo-controlled clihtaal that enrolled 90 healthy adult volunteers.
Serum IgG titers increased in a dose-dependent enanreach of the antigens included in GEN-OO4rardsurable increases in peripheral T 17
responses were seen among subjects receivingghestidose (100pg) with adjuvant. There were nowseadverse events related to the vaccine.

Based on these data, we advanced GEN-004 intoseRaetrial in the third quarter of 2014. Subjéctthe clinical trial will receive either
100ug dose of GEN-004 with 3509 of adjuvant ocglen, and then be “challenged” intranasally witle [pneumococcus, much like in the mouse
colonization model. This means that pneumococciiswintroduced to the nasal cavity. We expedroll approximately 90 healthy adults in this
trial. We will monitor AEs, antibody and T-cell imme responses as determined by IgG and IL-17Ajreoidience of post-challenge colonization.
We will follow these patients for a year and weicpate top-line data from this trial in the foudbarter of 2015. If successful, we believe this ha
the potential to be the first time a protein subuvatccine will have directly demonstrated a redarcin nasopharyngeal colonization in humans.

Our Chlamydia Program

Chlamydia is the most commonly reported bactegalally transmitted disease in the United Statesofding to the CDC, an estimated
2.9 million infections occur annually in the Unit8thtes. Despite the widespread availability oitéotics that are effective again§&hlamydia
trachomatis, the pathogen that causes chlamydia infectiorglémce has increased at greater than 5%
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per year over the past decade, according to the. @Dy reason for this is that chlamydia is ofeanasymptomatic infection, so infected individt
do not seek treatment, which can result in sevensequences, particularly in women, such as péiflammatory disease, infertility and serious
neonatal infections.

Despite the need, vaccine development to combatgfdia has been virtually non-existent. There ldbaen a chlamydia vaccine clinical
trial since the 1960s, in which an attenuated pgthoraccine demonstrated no lasting protectionshoeved hints of disease exacerbation. Antibc
appear to be unlikely to protect against infectisrthe pathogen is intracellular for much of fis dycle. Additionally, as a large genome pathogen,
Chlamydia trachomatigepresents a large T cell antigen discovery chg#ie For these reasons, we believe that chlamgaigarticularly attractive
pathogen for use of ATLAS to identify a vaccine digate.

We have achieved promising non-clinical resultsrfrmandidates generated using ATLAS. We collecteddfrom 144 subjects spanning
multiple clinical cohorts, ranging from subjectsagle infections spontaneously cleared, represeatgative natural protection cohort, to subjects
with infertility caused by chlamydia infection. Fnathe more than 900 proteins in tllamydia trachomatigproteome, we identified 22 novel
proteins associated with a protective responsenfhese we have demonstrated that three protehes) given in an animal model of infection and
when paired with the Matrix-M2 adjuvant can sigesdintly reduce infection risk.

If the program were to reach the clinic, we beligwgould be the first vaccine against chlamydidéoin clinical trials in more than 50 yee
If it can successfully prevent chlamydia infectipwe believe it would address a major unmet clinieged. As resources permit, we intend to
opportunistically pursue development of this progra

Our Malaria Program

Malaria is one of the deadliest infectious diseaselse world. Approximately 400 thousand to 806uband people died in 2013 due to
malaria, primarily in the developing world. Thesenio vaccine to prevent malaria, an infection cdumiethe plasmodium parasites transmitted by
mosquitoes. We previously collaborated with the datedical Research Center, or NMRC, and recenttiaied a second collaboration with the
Gates Foundation for which malaria is a prioritiettious disease. When the parasite is injectedtire blood through the bite of an infected
mosquito, it rapidly travels to the liver whereaplicates exponentially, is released into the téheam, and causes sickness. T cells in thediwald
potentially be used to kill the cells in which tharasite is hiding, before the parasite is ableplicate itself, and could therefore protect agaiiooc
infection. Both the Gates Foundation and NMRC tep@nsored several studies investigating killedtnaated whole organism vaccines, which
induce immunity, but are impractical to manufactdoe to the fact that the vaccines are based adiated parasites grown within the salivary glands
of mosquitoes.

In September 2014, we announced the receipt of2arilion grant from the Bill & Melinda Gates Fodation for the identification of
protective T cell antigens for malaria vaccinesichifextends our collaboration through 2016 and sugpgomprehensive screening of the malaria
proteome to identify targets of protective T cebponses.

We are in the process of collecting blood sampies fsubjects immunized with the killed organism arie were either protected or not
protected after live parasite challenge to use A3LtA identify the protein antigens that are assediavith protective T cell responses. The
identification of the protein targets of the T aelsponses can enable the generation of a prdteragjuvant vaccine designed to induce liver T cel
responses and prevent malaria disease in a safabkcand affordable way.

Competition

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industriechegacterized by intense and rapidly changing etitipn to develop new technologies
and proprietary products. While we believe that pnaprietary patent portfolio and T cell vaccingewtise provide us with competitive advantages,
we face potential competition from many differeotisces, including larger and better-funded pharmiéeza companies. Not only must we compete
with other vaccine companies but any productsweamay commercialize will have to compete with 8rigtherapies and new therapies that may
become available in the future.

There are other organizations working to improvistig therapies or to develop new vaccines orapiess for our initially selected
indications. Depending on how successful thesetsffe, it is possible they may increase the darto adoption and success of our GEN-003 and
GEN-004 product candidates, if approved. Thesatsffoclude the following:

e HSV-2: The current standard of care for the treatment®¥+2 is valacyclovir, an oral antiviral medicineth@r currently approved
oral antiviral medications include acyclovir andnfgiclovir. AiCuris, a private company based in Gany, is developing a new oral
antiviral, pritelivir, and has advanced the compbinmio Phase 2 testing. We understand the compéhgwsue once-weekly dosing
with this drug. We believe that GEN-003 may offdvantages
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in terms of improved symptom control, reduced disegansmission risk and improved compliance wioenpared to oral antivirals.

There are also several companies attempting tda@gwew therapeutic vaccines against HSV-2, incigdhgenus Inc., Admedus Ltd,
Sanofi Pasteur and Vical Incorporated. GEN-008 isiore advanced clinical development than theseéyatccandidates being
developed by these companies. Furthermore, weviediiet GEN-003 has advantages against each @& fhieduct candidates based on
the screens of human protection that we have cdaedwsing ATLAS that include these competitorsigens, published reports of non-
clinical vaccine efficacy, announced clinical résuih the case of Agenus, Inc. and our own cliniealilts to date. However, there ca
no assurance that one or more of these compan@hercompanies will not achieve similar or supedlinical results in the future as
compared to GEN-003 or that our future clinicalsiwill be successful.

*  Pneumococcus:The current standard of care for the preventioprgfumococcus is Prevnar-7/Prevenar-13, marketétibgr. In
select countries, Synflorix, marketed by GlaxoSkiite, is also widely accepted. Additionally, Pneanrax-23, marketed by Merck, is
labeled by use for persons over 65. We believedhal of these companies is seeking to developoivepnents to their product. We
believe these represent incremental improvemedting a few additional strains to their coverageaddition, we are aware of a
pneumococcus vaccine that Sanofi Pasteur has takeRhase 1 trials. This is a protein subunit ireedesigned to cover all strains of
pneumococcus, but was designed to induce B cglbreses. For many pneumococcal strains with dergason their surface, the
protein targets of the antibodies induced by threeivee will be blocked by sugars that cover them.Wkeve that by covering all knov
pneumococcus serotypes, with a T cell-based mestmanii action that complements existing vaccinedN@®@B4 may offer broader
protection than existing vaccines. However, these fse no assurance that one or more of these céespamother companies will not
achieve similar or superior clinical results in fb&ure as compared to GEN-004 or that our ongaimd future clinical trials of GEN-
004 will be successful.

Many of our competitors, such as Merck, GlaxoSmiitdS and Sanofi Pasteur, either alone or withrtegategic partners, have substant
greater financial, technical and human resourcas e do and significantly greater experience éndiscovery and development of product
candidates, obtaining FDA and other regulatory eygls of vaccines and the commercialization of ¢hweasccines. Accordingly, our competitors may
be more successful than us in obtaining approvaldocines and achieving widespread market accept&®ur competitors’ vaccines may be more
effective, or more effectively marketed and sahért any vaccine we may commercialize and may remalevaccines obsolete or non-competitive.

Mergers and acquisitions in the biotechnology amarmaceutical industries may result in even maseurces being concentrated among a
smaller number of our competitors. These compsatiédso compete with us in recruiting and retairgoglified scientific and management personnel
and establishing clinical trial sites and patiegistration for clinical trials, as well as in a@ipg technologies complementary to, or necessairy f
our programs. Smaller or early-stage companiesatsayprove to be significant competitors, partidyléhrough collaborative arrangements with
large and established companies.

We anticipate that we will face intense and indregasompetition as new drugs enter the market awvdreced technologies become
available. We expect any vaccines that we devealdpcammercialize to compete on the basis of, anatingr things, efficacy, safety, convenience of
administration and delivery, price, the level ohgac competition and the availability of reimbursnt from government and other third-party
payors.

Our commercial opportunity could be reduced or ilated if our competitors develop and commercigimeducts that are safer, more
effective, have fewer or less severe side effecessmore convenient or are less expensive thapm@uycts that we may develop. Our competitors
also may obtain FDA or other regulatory approvaltfeir products more rapidly than we may obtaiprapal for our products, which could result in
our competitors establishing a strong market pmsitiefore we are able to enter the market. In exidibur ability to compete may be affected in
many cases by insurers or other third-party pageeking to encourage the use of generic products.
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Intellectual Property

We strive to protect and enhance the proprietarfyrtelogy, inventions and improvements that are censially important to our business,
including seeking, maintaining, and defending patights, whether developed internally or licengean third parties. We also rely on trade secrets
relating to our proprietary technology platform andknow-how, continuing technological innovatiordan-licensing opportunities to develop,
strengthen and maintain our proprietary positiothenvaccine field. We additionally rely on regolat protection afforded through data exclusivity,
market exclusivity and patent term extensions whaegglable. Still further, we utilize trademark tgotion for our company name, and expect to ¢
for products and/or services as they are marketed.

Our commercial success may depend in part on dlityab obtain and maintain patent and other prefary protection for commercially
important technology, inventions and know-how redato our business; defend and enforce our patergserve the confidentiality of our trade
secrets; and operate without infringing the vatifbeceable patents and proprietary rights of tpadties. Our ability to stop third parties from
making, using, selling, offering to sell or impaiour products may depend on the extent to whiethave rights under valid and enforceable pa
or trade secrets that cover these activities. VWitipect to both licensed and company-owned intebéproperty, we cannot be sure that patents will
be granted with respect to any of our pending patpplications or with respect to any patent agpiéns filed by us in the future, nor can we beesur
that any of our existing patents or any patentsrfay be granted to us in the future will be conuraly useful in protecting our commercial
products and methods of manufacturing the same.

We have developed or in-licensed numerous patewtpatent applications and possess substantial-kwowand trade secrets relating to
the development and commercialization of vaccirmgpcts. The term of individual patents depends uperiegal term of the patents in the countries
in which they are obtained. In most countries inclitwe file, the patent term is 20 years from th&edf filing the norprovisional application. In th
United States, a patent’s term may be lengthengehtsnt term adjustment, which compensates a patéot administrative delays by the United
States Patent and Trademark Office in grantingt@npaor may be shortened if a patent is termingibglaimed over an earlier-filed patent.

The term of a patent that covers an FDA-approved dray also be eligible for patent term extensignich permits patent term restoration
of a United States patent as compensation forakenpterm lost during the FDA regulatory reviewgass. The Hatch-Waxman Act permits a patent
term extension of up to five years beyond the etjgin of the patent. The length of the patent tertension is related to the length of time the ds
under regulatory review. A patent term extensiomeod extend the remaining term of a patent beyoiudeh of 14 years from the date of product
approval and only one patent applicable to an aguralrug may be extended. Moreover, a patent cihrbenextended once, and thus, if a single
patent is applicable to multiple products, it catyde extended based on one product. Similar piawé are available in Europe and other foreign
jurisdictions to extend the term of a patent tlmaters an approved drug. When possible, dependiag tige length of clinical trials and other fact
involved in the filing of a new drug applicatiorr, DA, we expect to apply for patent term extensior patents covering our product candidate:
their methods of use.

As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10slr patent portfolio includes the following:
ATLAS

Our discovery platform patent portfolio includeseth patent families, currently comprising four s$W.S. patents and two allowed U.S.
applications. We hold an exclusive license from Regents of the University of California to thesfipatent family, including U.S. Patent 6,004,815
and the related U.S. Patents 6,287,556 and 6,5897%(s first family includes claims to fundameraapects of the ATLAS platform, developed by
our scientific founder, Darren Higgins, Ph.D. while was employed at the University of Californigrigley. Patents in this family have a patent
term until August 2018. We hold a further excludieense from President and Fellows of Harvard €8l to the second patent family, which covers
methods related to the ATLAS discovery platformist$econd patent family includes an allowed U.liegtion and corresponding applications in
Europe, Canada and Australia. Patents issuing fhe@se applications are expected to expire in 20&87wholly own the third patent family, which is
specifically directed to the ATLAS platform as i#édd by us. This third patent family includes UPatent 8,313,894, an allowed U.S. patent
application, and corresponding pending applicatiorSsurope, Canada and Australia. Patents issuorg &pplications in this family are expected to
have a patent term until at least July 2029; iss&] Patent 8,313,894 has a term that includesnP&erm Adjustment and extends until
August 2030.

GEN-003 (HSV-2)

We wholly own a portfolio of patent applicationsetited to HSV-2 vaccines, including GEN3. This portfolio includes two patent famil
covering HSV-2 vaccine compositions and methodsnfoibiting or treating HSV-2 infections. The fingatent
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family includes U.S. Patent 8,617,564, a patemtgicin Mexico, and a patent granted in New Zeal&nd.S. application and applications in
Europe, Canada, Australia, Japan, Brazil, Russiéia) China and nine additional foreign jurisdiogcare pending in the first patent family. A U.S.
application and applications in Europe, Canadatralia and Japan are pending in the second fafdyents that issue from applications in these
families are expected to expire in 2030 and 208yed U.S. Patent 8,617,564 has a term that ircRdint Term Adjustment and extends until at
least January 2031. We own a further patent faoaisering follow-on HSV-2 vaccine compositions, wathplications pending in the U.S., Europe,
Australia and Japan. Patents issuing from thislfaane expected to expire 2032.

We hold a license from Isconova AB (now Novavax,)io two patent families covering Matrix-M2, thdjuvant used in GEN-003. Both
patent families include a pending U.S. applicadond issued patents in Europe, Canada, Austrafian)®razil, New Zealand and South Africa.
These issued patents have patent terms until sttJedy 2023 and July 2024. The second patent yaatgb includes issued U.S. Patent 8,821,881,
which has a term that extends until August 2026 Wiatent Term Adjustment.
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GEN-004 (Pneumococcus)

We co-own with Children’s Medical Center Corporatior Childrens, a portfolio of patent applicatiatisected to pneumococcus vaccines,
including GEN-004. This portfolio includes two patéamilies covering pneumococcal vaccine compasitiand methods for inhibiting or treating
pneumococcal infections. A U.S. application andiiappons in Europe, Canada, Australia, Japan, iBfiamssia, India, China and eight additional
foreign jurisdictions are pending in the first gatéamily. The first family also includes a granteatent in New Zealand. A U.S. application and
applications in Europe, Australia, Japan, Brazils§ia, India, China and nine additional foreigisjgictions are pending in the second patent family.
Patents that issue from applications in these péerilies are expected to have patent terms ahtéast 2030 and 2032, respectively. We hold an
exclusive license to Childrens’ interest in theatept rights. We co-own with Childrens one furthatent family covering follow-on pneumococcal
vaccine compositions, with pending applicationthim U.S., Europe, Australia and Japan. Childrentgrest in these patent rights is also exclusively
licensed to us.

GEN-001 (Chlamydia)

Our chlamydia patent portfolio includes four patimhilies (one of which overlaps with the ATLAS ffolio). We hold an exclusive license
from President and Fellows of Harvard College ®fitst three patent families. We notified the Rteat and Fellows of Harvard College of our
partial termination of the license agreement wéthard to chlamydia antigens covered by these pémiilies on December 8th 2014. Effective
March 8th 2015, the license agreement with thei@asand Fellows of Harvard College with regarditamydia antigens covered by these patent
families will be terminated and we will no longeolth a license to two of the three patent famil@sto a chlamydia antigen covered by the remaining
family. The remaining family covers certain aspexftthe ATLAS platform, as well as one chlamydidigen, and we maintain exclusive rights to
aspects of the ATLAS platform covered by this famiVe determined that the chlamydia antigens calbyethese patent families were not relevant
to the continued development of GEN-001. We whoikn the fourth patent family, which covers chlanaydaccine and immunogenic compositions
and methods for inhibiting or treating chlamydigettions. A U.S. application and applications irrdne, Canada, Australia and Japan are pending ir
this patent family. Patents issuing therefrom aqgeeted to expire in 2031.

In addition to the above, we have established diggeand development capabilities focused in tkasof preclinical research and
development, manufacturing and manufacturing pmseale-up, quality control, quality assuranceulagry affairs and clinical trial design and
implementation. We believe that our focus and etigeewill help us develop products based on ouppetary intellectual property.

In-License Agreements
University of California

In August 2006, we entered into an exclusive lieemgreement with The Regents of the Universityalff@nia, or UC, granting us an
exclusive, royalty-bearing sublicensable licensa patent family that includes claims to fundameaspects of the ATLAS platform, to make, use,
offer for sale, import and sell licensed productd aervices, and to practice licensed methodd fields of use in the United States. This patent
family consists entirely of issued United Statetepts with a patent term until August 2018. UCiretdhe right to practice and to allow other
educational and non-profit institutions to practite licensed intellectual property licensed urtleragreement for educational and research
purposes.

Until first commercial sale of a licensed producservice, we are obligated to pay UC an annuahbe maintenance fee in the low five
figures. Upon commercialization of our products aadvices covered by the licensed patents, weldigated to pay UC royalties in the low single
digits, subject to a minimum annual royalty in tbe five figures, on the net sales of such prodacis services sold by us or our affiliates forltfee
of any licensed patents covering the products ices. The royalties payable to UC are subjecethuction for any third party payments required to
be made, with a minimum floor in the low singleitigIn addition, we agreed to pay UC a flat roydit the low single digits on net sales of products
sold by us or our affiliates which include a polgpide, nucleotide sequence, biological organisrohemical entity identified in the practice of a
licensed method or service, but not otherwise ey the licensed patent for the life of theriwed patents. If we receive any revenue (cash or
non-cash) from any sublicensees, we must pay U&@eptage of such revenue, excluding certain catesgof payments but including royalties on
net sales by sublicensees, varying in the low-dodigits for any sublicense depending on the sobplee license. Under the terms of the agreement,
we are obligated to pay UC a specified developmalgistone payment and a specified commercial naitespayment up to $500 thousand in the
aggregate for the first licensed product coverethieylicensed patents, plus up to an additionaD$Bbusand if specified development and
commercial milestones are met for each subsegigcemsied product covered by the licensed patentsf Becember 31, 2014, we have not made
milestone payments.
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We are required to diligently develop and marketrised products, services and methods. If we adeleito meet our diligence obligations,
even after any extension thereof, UC has the ridggpgending on the number of years the agreemeriideseffective, to either terminate the
agreement or convert our exclusive license to aexatusive license.

Unless earlier terminated, the agreement with UCresinain in effect until the expiration of the tas-expire patent under the licensed
patent rights. We may terminate the agreementyatiare by giving UC advance written notice. Theesgnment may also be terminated by UC in the
event of a material breach by us that remains @ucafter a specified period of time.

Harvard University

In November 2007, we entered into an exclusivenbeeagreement with President and Fellows of Har@altege, or Harvard, granting us
exclusive, worldwide, royalty-bearing, sublicensalitense to three patent families, to develop,enhkve made, use, market, offer for sale, sell,
have sold and import licensed products and to perficensed services. This agreement was amendeceatated in November 2012. The Harvard
intellectual property covers methods related toAMeAS discovery platform, as well as certain chiatia immunogenic compositions and methods
for inhibiting or treating chlamydia infections. patents within this portfolio that have issuedray be issued will expire normally in 2027 and
2028. Harvard retains the right to make and usg taugrant licenses to other not-for-profit resbaseganizations to make and use, the licensed
intellectual property for internal research, teaghand other educational purposes. We notifiedPtiesident and Fellows of Harvard College of our
partial termination of the license agreement wéthard to intellectual property covering chlamydiéigens on December 8, 2014. Effective March 8,
2015, the license agreement with the Presidenfatidws of Harvard College with regard to intellesit property covering chlamydia antigens will
be terminated and we will no longer hold a licettsavo of the three in-licensed Harvard patent feasj or to a chlamydia antigen covered by the
remaining family. The remaining family covers certaspects of the ATLAS platform, as well as onkaetydia antigen. Note that we continue to
maintain exclusive rights to aspects of the ATLA&tform covered by this family.

We are obligated to pay Harvard an annual licens@tenance fee ranging from the low five figuresht® midfive figures depending on tl
type of product and the number of years after ffextive date of the agreement. For products acavéry the licensed patent rights, we are obligated
to pay Harvard milestone payments up to $1.8 mniliiothe aggregate upon the achievement of cedanelopment and regulatory milestones. For
products discovered using the licensed methodsre/ebligated to pay Harvard milestone payment® 600 thousand in the aggregate for each of
the first three products and up to $300 thousarideraggregate for each additional product undeatireement upon the achievement of certain
development and regulatory milestones. As of Deeerlh, 2014, we have paid $198 thousand in aggregidestone payments. Upon
commercialization of our products covered by therised patent rights or discovered using the leg:nsethods, we are obligated to pay Harvard
royalties on the net sales of such products andcssrsold by us, our affiliates and our sublicessd his royalty varies depending on the type of
product or service but is in the low single digifse royalty based on sales by our sublicensebe igreater of the applicable royalty rate or a
percentage in the high single digits or the lowldeuligits of the royalties we receive from suchlmensee depending on the type of product.
Depending on the type of commercialized produceasvice, royalties are payable until the expiratbthe last-to-expire valid claim under the
licensed patent rights or for a period of 10 ydeos first commercial sale of such product or segviThe royalties payable to Harvard are subject to
reduction, capped at a specified percentage, fpthard party payments required to be made. Intamidio the royalty payments, if we receive any
additional revenue (cash or non-cash) under anljcemise, we must pay Harvard a percentage of ®u@nue, excluding certain categories of
payments, varying from the low single digits totaghe low double digits depending on the scoptheficense that includes the sublicense.

We are required to use commercially reasonableteffo develop licensed products, introduce thetmtine commercial market and market
them, in compliance with an agreed upon developmlamt. We are also obligated to achieve specifeaebpment milestones. If we are unable to
meet our development milestones for any type oflpcbor service, absent any reasonable proposedsah or amendment thereof, Harvard has the
right, depending on the type of product or servioggrminate this agreement with respect to suotlyxts or to convert the license to a non-
exclusive, non-sublicensable license with respestith products and services.

Our agreement with Harvard will expire on a prodogtproduct or service-by-service and country-bywttoy basis until the expiration of
the last-to-expire valid claim under the licensatkept rights. We may terminate the agreement atiareyby giving Harvard advance written notice.
Harvard may also terminate the agreement in thateofea material breach by us that remains uncuretiite event of our insolvency, bankruptcy, or
similar circumstances; or if we challenge the vglidf any patents licensed to us. We notified Bmesident and Fellows of Harvard College of our
partial termination of the license agreement wéthard to intellectual property covering chlamydiéigens on December 8, 2014. Effective March 8,
2015, the license agreement with the Presidenfatidws of Harvard College with regard to intelleait property covering chlamydia antigens will
be terminated and we will no longer hold a licettsavo of the three in-licensed Harvard patent feasj or to a chlamydia antigen covered by the
remaining family. The remaining family covers certaspects of the ATLAS platform, as well as onkaetydia antigen. Note that we continue to
maintain exclusive rights to aspects of the ATLA&form covered by this family.
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University of Washington

In January 2010, we entered into a patent licegsseanent with the University of Washington, or Ulhich was subsequently amended
and partially terminated with respect to specifiadent rights in July 2012 and was further amendé&eptember 2012 and November 2013.
Effective October 27, 2014, our agreement with Udswerminated in its entirety. We determined thasé patent rights were not relevant to the
continued development of GEN-003.

The terminated agreement granted a worldwide, ceiidiable, c@xclusive license to certain patent rights, aneaiusive license to certa
other patent rights, to manufacture, have manufadtan our behalf, use, offer to sell or sell, offelease or lease, import, or otherwise offer to
dispose or dispose of licensed products to prememieat HSV-2. Patents within the licensed patighits included claims to compositions of certain
HSV-2 proteins and methods for treating HSV infeas, with a patent term until at least July 2028/ tétained the right for itself and the Fred
Hutchinson Cancer Research Center to make andradaqts and processes covered by the licensedtpaghts for academic research, teaching and
any other academic purpose.

Through December 31, 2014, we have paid $25 thaoLisamilestone payments. As of December 31, 201further rights or obligations
exist under the terminated agreement.

Other Collaborations
Dana-Farber Cancer Institute and Harvard Medical $ool

In March 2014, we announced a joint research coftktipn with Dana-Farber Cancer Institute and HahMedical School to characterize
anti-tumor T cell responses in melanoma patiertiss gollaboration is ongoing and extends the usauoproprietary ATLAS platform for the
potential rapid discovery of T cell antigens to @amimmunotherapy approaches.

Children’s Medical Center Corporation

In September 2008, we entered into a collabora&gearch agreement with Children’s Medical CentapGration, or Childrens, that was
funded by PATH Vaccine Solutions, or PATH. The abbrative research project led to the identifiaati certain highly conserved pneumococcal
antigens that are able to protect against colanizaThe intellectual property covering these amigis co-owned by us and Childrens and covers
pneumococcal vaccine compositions and methodsfaliting or treating pneumococcus infections. &bfuary 2010, we entered into an exclusive
license agreement with Childrens, which was ameiaeldrestated in March 2012. This agreement granés exclusive, worldwide, sublicensable
license under Childrens’ rights to the jointly-owinietellectual property to make, have made, udg,after for sale, import and export licensed
products and to practice licensed processes fqurneention and treatment of Streptococcus pneuseohildrens retains the right to practice and
use, and to allow academic non-profit researchrorgéions to practice and use, the licensed irdielbd property for research, educational, clinical
and charitable purposes. Under the terms of theemgent, our license from Childrens is subject tdRA separate non-exclusive, royalty-free
license from Childrens to develop pneumococcalllFlizesed protein vaccines worldwide and to market sell such vaccines in developing
countries.

For products covered by the licensed patent rigitsare obligated to pay Childrens milestone paymep to $390 thousand in the
aggregate upon the achievement of certain developame commercial milestones. As of December 3142&e have paid $140 thousand in
aggregate milestone payments. Upon commercializafi@ur products, we are obligated to pay Childreyalties in the low single digits on the net
sales of licensed products sold by us, our aféi§aind our sublicensees. The royalties payabléitdréns are subject to reduction for any thirdtpar
payments required to be made, with a minimum fladhe low single digits. Royalties are payabletfa term of the license agreement, which is
15 years from the effective date of the amendedrast@ted agreement or until expiration of the-fastxpire patent under the licensed patent rights,
whichever period is longer. If we receive any addil revenue (cash or non-cash) under any sulsi@&eme must pay Childrens a percentage of such
income varying from the mid-single digits to lowudde digits depending on the clinical stage of digwaent of the product, provided that such
percentage may increase to match our financiagatitins to third parties.

We are required to use commercially reasonableteffo bring at least one licensed product to meakesoon as reasonably practical,
consistent with sound and legal business practindgudgment and to accomplish the objectivesét fn an agreed upon development plan. If we
are unable to meet our diligence obligations, eaféar any extensions thereof, Childrens has tha tigterminate in this agreement in whole or in
part.
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Unless earlier terminated, the agreement with @il will remain in effect until the later of 15are from the effective date of the amended
and restated agreement or the expiration of thiddaexpire patent under the licensed patent righis may terminate the agreement in its entirety or
on a country-by-country and licensed product-bg#ged product basis, at any time by giving Childr@evance written notice. Childrens may
terminate the agreement in the event of our bankysolvency or similar circumstances; if we gsafidential information to formally challenge
Childrens’ joint ownership of the licensed pateaghts; or if we materially breach the agreement @mahot cure such breach within a specified time
period.

Isconova AB

In August 2009, we entered into an exclusive lieegisd collaboration agreement with Isconova ABwadsh company which has
subsequently been acquired by Novavax, Inc. Theesgent grants us a worldwide, sublicensable, eixélisense to two patent families, to import,
make, have made, use, sell, offer for sale andwtbe exploit licensed vaccine products contairangadjuvant which incorporates or is developed
from Matrix-A, Matrix-C and/or Matrix-M technologyn the fields of HSV and chlamydia, and the tirmeiled exclusive fields olNeisseria
gonorrhoeag, cytomegalovirus, or CMV, andycobacterium tuberculosisAfter a specified period of time, the licensergr® us in the time-limited
exclusive fields will convert to a non-exclusivednse with respect to all licensed intellectuapprty rights that were not jointly invented by usla
Novavax under the collaboration. Under the termthisfagreement, Novavax also grants us a worldveidelicensable, n-exclusive license under
such licensed intellectual property rights to imporake, have made, use, sell, offer for sale @heraise exploit licensed products in the field of
Streptococcus pneumonia®ur rights in the field oBtreptococcus pneumoniaee exclusive with respect to all intellectual prdp rights jointly
invented by us and Novavax under the collaborafidve agreement further grants us certain limitghts to use Novavax trademarks.

For licensed products in each unique disease tiedter the agreement, we are obligated to pay Novani@stone payments up to
approximately $3 million in the aggregate upondhbievement of certain development and commerdlaktones. As of December 31, 2014, we
have paid $275 thousand in aggregate milestone @atgmUpon commercialization of our products, weabligated to pay Novavax royalties on the
net sales of licensed products sold by us, ouligaéfs and our sublicensees. The royalties payaliNovavax are in the low single digits and varya
country-by-country and licensed product-by-licenpeatiuct basis based on the amount of net salethanthture and timing of the licensed produict’
development. The royalties payable to Novavax abgest to reduction if the licensed product is cméered by one or more valid claims of the
licensed patent rights, or if we are required ti&enany third-party payments. Royalties are pay&ild0 years from first commercial sale in any
particular country or until the date on which offer sale of a licensed product is no longer coddrg a valid claim of the licensed patent rights in
such country, whichever period is longer. In additio the royalty payments, if we receive any addél revenue (cash or non-cash) under any
sublicenses, we must pay Novavax a percentagechfrewrenue, up to the low double digits.

We are required to use commercially reasonabletsffo perform specified research activities incidance with an agreed-upon research
plan. We are also obligated to use commerciallgarable efforts consistent with prudent businedgment and business and market conditions to
research, develop and carry out the commerciatiaaif licensed products in HSV and chlamydia.

Our agreement with Novavax will expire on a coustigycountry and licensed product-bgensed product basis on the date of the expir.
of the royalty term with respect to such licenseatpct in such country. We may terminate the agesgran a country-by-country and licensed
product-by-licensed product basis or in its enfiggtany time by giving Novavax advance writtenicetBoth parties may also terminate the
agreement in the event of a material breach byther party that remains uncured or for bankrupttsolvency or similar circumstances. Novavax
may terminate this agreement if we challenge thiglitsof any patents licensed to us.

Fuiifilm

In February 2014, we entered into a supply agreemi¢gh FUJIFILM Diosynth Biotechnologies U.S.A.,dn or Fujifilm. The supply
agreement provides the terms and conditions untdahwrujifilm will manufacture and supply certaimcombinant protein antigens to us for our
Phase 2 clinical study for our lead product, GEN-Q0nder this agreement, we are obligated to pdilFumilestone payments up to the mid-seven
figures upon the achievement of certain manufacgumilestones. As of December 31, 2014, we have ggiproximately $2.0 million in aggregate
milestone payments. Additionally, raw materialsime and consumables purchased for the vaccineigtiod are invoiced separately as such costs
are incurred by Fujifilm. We pay Fuijifilm’s actuaebsts plus a percentage fee in the mid-singlegifgitthese raw materials, resins and consumables.
We also pay a reservation fee, which equals a ptrge of production fees in the low-double diditsteserve manufacturing slots in the production
timeframe as agreed upon under the agreement. \eaguired to use commercially reasonable effortgitely provide Fuijifilm with the technolog
materials and resources needed to produce andysingplecombinant protein antigen.
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Our agreement with Fuijifilm will expire on Februdt§, 2024. Subject to termination fees under appli circumstances, we may terminate
the agreement at any time by giving Fujifilm adwameitten notice. The agreement may also be teteinby either party due to a material uncured
breach by the other party.

Baxter

In October 2014, we entered a product developmehthnical supply agreement with Baxter PharmacauSolutions LLC, or Baxter. Tt
product development and clinical supply agreememntiges the terms and conditions under which Bawiformulate, fill, inspect, package, label
and test our lead product, GEN-003 for clinical@ypUnder this agreement, we are obligated toRaxter amounts up to the low six digits for each
batch of GEN-003 manufactured. Additionally, certsét-up fees and equipment purchased for the pespaf batch production will be invoiced
separately by Baxter. We will pay set-up fees anpdmment costs in the low six digits upon commeneenof batch production. We also pay a
monthly service fee in the low five digits for pesjf management services for the duration of trengement. As of December 31, 2014, we have not
made any payments under this agreement.

Our agreement with Baxter will expire on Octobey 2321. Subject to termination fees under appleablcumstances, we may terminate
the agreement at any time by giving Baxter advavritten notice. The agreement may also be termihlgeeither party due to a material uncured
breach by the other party.

Trade Secrets

We may rely, in some circumstances, on trade setweairotect our technology. However, trade seaatsbe difficult to protect. We seek to
protect our proprietary technology and processegart, by entering into confidentiality agreememith our employees, consultants, scientific
advisors and contractors. We also seek to preskeevimtegrity and confidentiality of our data analde secrets by maintaining physical security of
premises and physical and electronic security ofirformation technology systems. While we haveficiamce in these individuals, organizations
systems, agreements or security measures may dehles and we may not have adequate remediesyfdiraach. In addition, our trade secrets may
otherwise become known or be independently diseal/by competitors. To the extent that our constd{azontractors or collaborators use
intellectual property owned by others in their wéok us, disputes may arise as to the rights iateel or resulting know-how and inventions.

United States Government Regulation

Biological products such as vaccines are subjecgdalation under the Federal Food, Drug, and Ctasmet, or FD&C Act, and the Public
Health Service Act, or PHS Act, and other fedestdte, local and foreign statutes and regulatiBogh the FD&C Act and the PHS Act and their
corresponding regulations govern, among other fitige testing, manufacturing, safety, efficachelang, packaging, storage, record keeping,
distribution, reporting, advertising and other pagimnal practices involving biological productsirtital testing of biological products is subject to
FDA review before initiation. In addition, FDA amgal must be obtained before marketing of biologicaducts. The process of obtaining
regulatory review and approval and the subsequamptiance with appropriate federal, state, local fmmeign statutes and regulations require the
expenditure of substantial time and financial resesi and we may not be able to obtain the requéagdlatory approvals.

United States Biological Products Development Prese
The process required by the FDA before a biologicatiuct may be marketed in the United States gdlgenvolves the following:

«  completion of nonclinical laboratory tests and aalistudies according to good laboratory practioe§LPs, and applicable
requirements for the humane use of laboratory dsioraother applicable regulations;

«  submission to the FDA of an application for an Istigational New Drug, or IND, which must becomeeefive before human clinical
trials may begin;

« performance of adequate and well-controlled huntiaital trials according to the FDA's regulationsnemonly referred to as good
clinical practices, or GCPs, and any additionalinements for the protection of human researchesibjand their health information,
establish the safety and efficacy of the proposelbdical product for its intended use;
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e submission to the FDA of a Biologics License Apation, or BLA, for marketing approval that includasbstantive evidence of safety,
purity, and potency from results of nonclinicaltieg and clinical trials;

e satisfactory completion of an FDA inspection of thanufacturing facility or facilities where the ligical product is produced to
assess compliance with Good Manufacturing PracgtmeSMP, to assure that the facilities, method$ @ntrols are adequate to
preserve the biological product’s identity, stréngjuality and purity and, if applicable, the FDA&Srrent good tissue practices, or
GTPs, for the use of human cellular and tissue ymtsj

e potential FDA audit of the nonclinical and clinidghl sites that generated the data in suppottt@BLA; and
*  FDA review and approval, or licensure, of the BLA.

Before testing any biological product candidatéumans, the product candidate enters the predlisiicely stage. Preclinical studies, also
referred to as nonclinical studies, include labamatvaluations of product chemistry, toxicity eodmulation, as well as animal studies to assess th
potential safety and activity of the product camdiéd The conduct of the preclinical studies mustly with federal regulations and requirements
including GLPs.

The clinical trial sponsor must submit the resaftghe preclinical tests, together with manufactgrinformation, analytical data, any
available clinical data or literature and a progbsknical protocol, to the FDA as part of the INBome preclinical studies may continue even after
the IND is submitted. The IND automatically becoraffective 30 days after receipt by the FDA, unlihesFDA places the clinical trial on a clinical
hold within that 30-day time period. In such a ¢ake IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve anytanting concerns before the clinical trial can
begin. The FDA may also impose clinical holds driadogical product candidate at any time beforeuning clinical trials due to safety concerns or
noncompliance. If the FDA imposes a clinical hold,d&s may not recommence without FDA authorizatiod then only under terms authorized
the FDA. Accordingly, we cannot be sure that subkinis of an IND will result in the FDA allowing clical trials to begin, or that, once begun, issues
will not arise that suspend or terminate such studi

Clinical trials involve the administration of thelmgical product candidate to healthy voluntearpatients under the supervision of
qualified investigators, generally physicians nopéyed by or under the trial sponsor’s controlniChl trials are conducted under protocols
detailing, among other things, the objectives ef¢hnical trial, dosing procedures, subject sébecand exclusion criteria, and the parametersto b
used to monitor subject safety, including stoppinigs that assure a clinical trial will be stoppeckrtain AEs should occur. Each protocol and any
amendments to the protocol must be submitted t& B as part of the IND. Clinical trials must benclucted and monitored in accordance with the
FDA'’s regulations comprising the GCP requiremeimtsluding the requirement that all research subjpotvide informed consent. Further, each
clinical trial must be reviewed and approved byrestitutional review board, or IRB, at or serviciagch institution at which the clinical trial wile
conducted. An IRB is charged with protecting théfare and rights of trial participants and constdeuch items as whether the risks to individuals
participating in the clinical studies are minimizad are reasonable in relation to anticipatedfiitsn&€he IRB also approves the form and content of
the informed consent that must be signed by eanital trial subject or his or her legal represéimeaand must monitor the clinical trial until
completed.

Human clinical trials are typically conducted imal sequential phases that may overlap or be cemtbin

* Phase 1.The biological product is initially introduced ink@althy human subjects and tested for safetyndrcase of some products
severe or life-threatening diseases, especiallyntie product may be too inherently toxic to etlycadminister to healthy volunteers,
the initial human testing is often conducted ingras.

e Phase 2.The biological product is evaluated in a limitedigat population to identify possible adverse efeand safety risks, to
preliminarily evaluate the efficacy of the prodémt specific targeted diseases and to determinag#o®lerance, optimal dosage and
dosing schedule.

« Phase 3.Clinical studies are undertaken to further evald@isage, clinical efficacy, potency, and safetgrirexpanded patient
population at geographically dispersed clinicalltsites. These clinical studies are intended tabdéish the overall risk/benefit ratio of
the product and provide an adequate basis for ptddbeling.

Post-approval clinical studies, sometimes refetoeas Phase 4 clinical studies, may be conducted iaftial marketing approval. These
clinical studies are used to gain additional exgresé from the treatment of patients in the intertledapeutic indication, particularly for long-term
safety follow-up.
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During all phases of clinical development, regutaimgencies require extensive monitoring and auglitif all clinical activities, clinical data
and clinical trial investigators. Annual progresparts detailing the results of the clinical stsdieust be submitted to the FDA. Written IND safety
reports must be promptly submitted to the FDA,Nagional Institutes of Health, or NIH, and the istigators for serious and unexpected AEs, any
findings from other studies, tests in laboratoryraais or in vitro testing that suggest a significask for human subjects, or any clinically impont
increase in the rate of a serious suspected adregston over that listed in the protocol or imigetor brochure. The sponsor must submit an IND
safety report within 15 calendar days after thenspodetermines that the information qualifiesriporting. The sponsor also must notify the FD,
any unexpected fatal or life-threatening suspeatbetrse reaction within seven calendar days dftesponsor’s initial receipt of the information.
Phase 1, Phase 2 and Phase 3 clinical studies obde mompleted successfully within any specifiedqd, if at all. The FDA or the sponsor or its
data safety monitoring board may suspend a cliizalat any time on various grounds, includinfinaling that the research subjects or patients are
being exposed to an unacceptable health risk. &ilpjlan IRB can suspend or terminate approvaldingcal trial at its institution if the clinicdtial
is not being conducted in accordance with the IRBtpiirements or if the biological product has bassociated with unexpected serious harm to
patients.

Concurrent with clinical studies, companies usuediynplete additional animal studies and must aéselkbp additional information about
the physical characteristics of the biological pretcas well as finalize a process for manufactutiregproduct in commercial quantities in accorde
with GMP requirements. To help reduce the riskefintroduction of adventitious agents with uséiofogical products, the PHS Act emphasize:
importance of manufacturing control for productsos attributes cannot be precisely defined. Theufaaturing process must be capable of
consistently producing quality batches of the pmdandidate and, among other things, the sponsast develop methods for testing the identity,
strength, quality, potency and purity of the fibalogical product. Additionally, appropriate pagkag must be selected and tested and stability
studies must be conducted to demonstrate thatdhegiral product candidate does not undergo urgtiebde deterioration over its shelf life.

United States Review and Approval Processes

After the completion of clinical trials of a biolimgl product, FDA approval of a BLA must be obtalrieefore commercial marketing of the
biological product. The BLA must include resultsppbduct development, laboratory and animal stydieman studies, information on the
manufacture and composition of the product, propdeleeling and other relevant information. In aiddif under the Pediatric Research Equity Ac
PREA, a BLA or supplement to a BLA must containedat assess the safety and effectiveness of thegiial product for the claimed indications in
all relevant pediatric subpopulations and to supgosing and administration for each pediatric syfypation for which the product is safe and
effective. The FDA may grant deferrals for subniasif data or full or partial waivers. The testangd approval processes require substantial time
and effort and there can be no assurance thatDhewill accept the BLA for filing and, even if fith that any approval will be granted on a timely
basis, if at all.

Under the Prescription Drug User Fee Act, or PDU&#\amended, each BLA must be accompanied by #icign user fee. PDFUA also
imposes an annual product fee for biologics andrarual establishment fee on facilities used to faanture prescription biologics. Fee waivers or
reductions are available in certain circumstanicediding a waiver of the application fee for thestf application filed by a small business.

Within 60 days following submission of the applioat the FDA reviews the BLA to determine if itsgbstantially complete before the
agency accepts it for filing. The FDA may refusdil®any BLA that it deems incomplete or not prdpeeviewable at the time of submission and
may request additional information. In this evené BLA must be resubmitted with the additionabimhation. The resubmitted application also is
subject to review before the FDA accepts it fan§l Once the submission is accepted for filing, DA begins an imlepth substantive review of t
BLA. The FDA reviews the BLA to determine, amongetthings, whether the proposed product is sadepatent, or effective, for its intended use,
and has an acceptable purity profile, and wheteptoduct is being manufactured in accordance @ to assure and preserve the product’s
identity, safety, strength, quality, potency anditguThe FDA may refer applications for novel ligical products or biological products that present
difficult questions of safety or efficacy to an &ty committee, typically a panel that includesicians and other experts, for review, evaluaton
a recommendation as to whether the applicationldhmiapproved and under what conditions. The FPAot bound by the recommendations of an
advisory committee, but it considers such recomragads carefully when making decisions. During iedogical product approval process, the
FDA also will determine whether a Risk Evaluatiodaitigation Strategy, or REMS, is necessary ®ues the safe use of the biological product. If
the FDA concludes a REMS is needed, the sponstvedBLA must submit a proposed REMS; the FDA wit approve the BLA without a REMS
required.

Before approving a BLA, the FDA will inspect theilities at which the product is manufactured. RA will not approve the product
unless it determines that the manufacturing preseasd facilities are in compliance with GMP reguoients and adequate to assure consistent
production of the product within required specifioas. Additionally, before approving a BLA, the Rvill typically inspect one or more clinical
sites to assure that the clinical trials were cateltiin compliance with IND study
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requirements and GCP requirements. To assure GNIP,a8d GCP compliance, an applicant must incurifesgnt expenditure of time, money and
effort in the areas of training, record keepingdurction, and quality control.

Notwithstanding the submission of relevant dataiaf@mation, the FDA may ultimately decide thag¢ tBLA does not satisfy its regulatory
criteria for approval and deny approval. Data at#difrom clinical trials are not always conclusarel the FDA may interpret data differently than
we interpret the same data. If the agency decidemrapprove the BLA in its present form, the F#l issue a complete response letter that usually
describes all of the specific deficiencies in theABdentified by the FDA. The deficiencies iden¢ifl may be minor, for example, requiring labeling
changes, or major, for example, requiring additi@fiaical trials. Additionally, the complete respge letter may include recommended actions that
the applicant might take to place the applicatioa condition for approval. If a complete respdester is issued, the applicant may either resubmit
the BLA, addressing all of the deficiencies idaatfin the letter, or withdraw the application.

If a product receives regulatory approval, the apakmay be significantly limited to specific dises and dosages or the indications for use
may otherwise be limited, which could restrict tmenmercial value of the product. Further, the FDaymequire that certain contraindications,
warnings or precautions be included in the prothlmtling. The FDA may impose restrictions and ctads on product distribution, prescribing, or
dispensing in the form of a risk management plamtloerwise limit the scope of any approval. Initidd, the FDA may require post marketing
clinical trials, sometimes referred to as Phaskmndcal trials, designed to further assess a bilaligproduct’s safety and effectiveness, and tgstimd
surveillance programs to monitor the safety of appd products that have been commercialized.

One of the performance goals agreed to by the Fideuthe PDUFA is to review 90% of standard BLA4@months from filing and 90%
of priority BLAs in six months from filing, where@n a review decision is to be made. The FDA do¢seays meet its PDUFA goal dates for
standard and priority BLAs and its review goals subject to change from time to time. The revieacpss and the PDUFA goal date may be
extended by three months if the FDA requests oBlb& sponsor otherwise provides additional inforioator clarification regarding information
already provided in the submission within the thste months before the PDUFA goal date.
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Federal and State Fraud and Abuse, Transparency d@rivacy Laws

In the United States, our business activities abgest to numerous other laws by federal and statieorities, in addition to the FDA,
including but not limited to, the United States &ed Communications Commission, the United Stategatment of Health and Human Services, or
HHS, and its various divisions, including but natited to, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Seeg, or CMS. These laws are enforced by
various federal and state enforcement authoritiefiyding but not limited to, the United States Bement of Justice, and individual United States
Attorney offices within the Department of Justie#S’ various enforcement divisions, including bot fimited to, the Office of Inspector General,
or OIG, the Office for Human Research Protectian€QHRP, and the Office of Research Integrity, & and other state and local government
agencies.

The federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, amaiber things, knowingly and willfully offering, pag, soliciting, or receiving any
remuneration (including any kickback, bribe or tehadirectly or indirectly, overtly or covertlyn icash or in kind, to induce, or in return for,
purchasing, leasing, ordering, or arranging foremommending, the purchase lease, or order of aag,dacility, service or item for which payment
is made, in whole or in part, under a federal lmegédtre program, such as Medicare. The federal Kicktback Statute has been interpreted to apply to
arrangements between manufacturers on one hangresctibers, purchasers and formulary managerseoather. There are a number of statutory
exceptions and regulatory safe harbors protecémgaimn common activities from prosecution. Failtoeneet all of the requirements of a particular
applicable statutory exception or regulatory safebbr does not make the conduct per se illegalnhd@efederal Anti-Kickback Statute. Instead, the
legality of the arrangement will be evaluated arase-by-case basis based on a cumulative revied affits facts and circumstances.

The federal civil False Claims Act prohibits, amariber things, any person or entity from knowingihgsenting, or causing to be presented,
a false or fraudulent claim for payment to, or &t by, the federal government, or knowingly makiasing, or causing to be made or used, a false
record or statement material to a false or frauduttaim to the federal government. Recently, thié Ealse Claims Act has been used to assert
liability on the basis of kickbacks and impropefereals, improperly reported government pricing riestsuch as Medicaid Best Price or Average
Manufacturer Price, improper use of supplier ovjgter Medicare numbers when detailing a providesestices, improper promotion of drugs or off-
label uses not expressly approved by the FDA irug’d label, and misrepresentations with respethtecservices rendered or items provided.

Additionally, the civil monetary penalties statusenong other things, imposes fines against anyopesho is determined to have presented,
or caused to be presented, claims to a federahheale program that the person knows, or shoutavkis for an item or service that was not
provided as claimed or is false or fraudulent.

The federal Health Insurance Portability and Acc¢ahbility Act of 1996, or HIPAA, created new fedecaiminal statutes that prohibit
knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting é&xecute, a scheme to defraud or to obtain, by sebfalse or fraudulent pretenses,
representations or promises, any of the moneyapeasty owned by, or under the custody or contrphaly health care benefit program and
knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing oravering up by trick, scheme or device a materiei é& making any materially false, fictitious or
fraudulent statement in connection with the delivaf;, or payment for, health care benefits, itemsesvices relating to health care matters.

Many states have similar fraud and abuse statusegulations that apply to items and servicasbersed under Medicaid and other state
programs, or, in several states, private payors.

Additionally, the federal Physician Payments Sunshct within the Health Care and Education Redatmin Act, or Health Care Reform
Law, and its implementing regulations, require tetain manufacturers of drugs, devices, bioldgica medical supplies for which payment is
available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Childsedealth Insurance Program (with certain excepjitmseport to CMS, information related to
certain payments or other transfers of value madkstributed to physicians and teaching hospitaidp entities or individuals at the request of, o
designated on behalf of, the physicians and tegdaspitals and to report annually to CMS certaimership and investment interests held by
physicians and their immediate family members.

In addition, we may be subject to, or our marketiwtivities may be limited by, data privacy andwéyg regulation by both the federal
government and the states in which we conduct osiness.

If our operations are found to be in violation afyaf the health regulatory laws described aboveny other laws that apply to us, we may
be subject to penalties, including, without limibat civil, criminal, and administrative penaltie#gmages, monetary fines, disgorgement, possible
exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaidd other federdiealth care programs, contractual damages, repughtharm, diminished profi
and future earnings, and curtailment or restructudf our operations.
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Reimbursement

In both domestic and foreign markets, the commesciecess of any approved products will depengait, on the availability of coverage
and adequate reimbursement of such products frochparty payors, such as government health casgrams, commercial insurance and managed
care organizations. Patients who are provided wations, and providers providing vaccinations, galherely on third-party payors to reimburse all
or part of the associated health care costs. &ksy approved vaccines will therefore depend suitiglly, both domestically and abroad, on the
extent to which the costs of our approved vaccimése paid by third-party payors. These third4ggvayors are increasingly challenging the prices
charged for medical products and services and imga®ntrols to manage costs. The containment alftheare costs has become a priority of
federal and state governments and the prices gkdrave been a focus in this effort. Governmenis Baown significant interest in implementing
cost-containment programs, including price contnastrictions on reimbursement and requirementsdbstitution of generic products. Adoption of
price controls and cost-containment measures, dogt@n of more restrictive policies in jurisdiati® with existing controls and measures, could
further limit our net revenue and results. Thixakty payors may limit coverage to specific produan an approved list, or formulary, which might
include all of the FDA-approved products for a gatar indication. In addition, there is signifitcamcertainty regarding the reimbursement status of
newly approved health care products. Third-partyopsare increasingly examining the medical netgssid cost-effectiveness of medical products
and services, in addition to their safety and affic We may need to conduct expensive pharmacoggdorstudies in order to demonstrate the cost-
effectiveness of our products. If third-party paydo not consider our products to be cost-effectorapared to other therapies, the payors may not
cover our products after approved as a benefitutiadr plans or, if they do, the level of paymardy not be sufficient to allow us to sell our
products on a profitable basis.

Within the United States, if we obtain appropriapgroval in the future to market any of our curfertiduct candidates, we may seek
approval and coverage for those products under ddé&tliMedicare and the Public Health Service, oEPpharmaceutical pricing program and also
seek to sell the products to federal agencies.

Medicaid is a joint federal and state program ihadministered by the states for low income asdliled beneficiaries. Under the Medicaid
Drug Rebate Program, manufacturers are requirpdyta rebate for each unit of product reimbursethbystate Medicaid programs. The amount of
the rebate for each product is set by law and neayulbject to an additional discount if certain ipgdncreases more than inflation.

Medicare is a federal program administered by ¢uefal government that covers individuals age @boxver as well as those with certain
disabilities. Medicare Part D provides coveragertmlled Medicare patients for self-administereaigdr(i.e., drugs that do not need to be
administered by a physician). Medicare Part D miadstered by private prescription drug plans apptbby CMS and each drug plan establishes its
own Medicare Part D formulary for prescription dieayerage and pricing, which the drug plan may rfiyddom time-to-time.

Medicare Part B covers most injectable drugs gimean in-patient setting, and some drugs admiresitéry a licensed medical provider in
hospital outpatient departments and doctors’ offiddedicare Part B is administered by Medicare Adstiative Contractors, which generally have
the responsibility of making coverage decisiondj&ct to certain payment adjustments and limitsdigiere generally pays for Part B covered drugs
based on a percentage of manufacturer-reportedgeaales prices.

Drug products are subject to discounted pricingmigrchased by federal agencies via the Federglg@ehedule, or FSS. FFS
participation is required for a drug product todogered and paid for by certain federal agencidsfancoverage under Medicaid, Medicare Part B
and the PHS pharmaceutical pricing program. FSSngris negotiated periodically with the DepartmehYeterans Affairs. FSS pricing is intended
to not exceed the price that a manufacturer chargesost-favored nofederal customer for its product. In addition, pador drugs purchased by
Veterans Administration, Department of Defensel{iding drugs purchased by military personnel angeddents through the TRICARE retalil
pharmacy program), Coast Guard, and PHS are subjectap on pricing (known as the “federal ceilpmize”) and may be subject to an additional
discount if pricing increases more than inflation.

To maintain coverage of drugs under the MedicaidgtRebate Program, manufacturers are requirediém@xliscounts to certain
purchasers under the PHS pharmaceutical pricingrano. Purchasers eligible for discounts includephials that serve a disproportionate share of
financially needy patients, community health clinand other entities that receive health servicastg from the PHS.

The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 20@¥ides funding for the federal government to carepthe effectiveness of different
treatments for the same iliness. A plan for theaesh will be developed by the HHS, the AgencyHealthcare Research and Quality and the
National Institutes for Health, and periodic reparh the status of the research and related expessliwill be made to Congress. Although the re
of the comparative effectiveness studies are niehded to mandate
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coverage policies for public or private payorss ihot clear what effect, if any, the research wdle on the sales of any product, if any suchymbd
or the condition that it is intended to treat is #ubject of a trial. It is also possible that canagive effectiveness research demonstrating keriefa
competitor’s product could adversely affect theesalf any of our approved products. If third-pgréyors do not consider our products to be cost-
effective compared to other available therapiesy thhay not cover our products as a benefit undsr ghans or, if they do, the level of payment may
not be sufficient to allow us to sell our productsa profitable basis.

The United States and state governments continppfmse and pass legislation designed to redcedst of health care. In March 2010,
the United States Congress enacted the Affordaste Bct which has the potential to change healtd ftaancing by both governmental and private
payors. In the future, there may continue to betexhél proposals relating to the reform of the tédi States health care system, some of which coulc
further limit the prices we are able to chargetheramounts of reimbursement available for our weccandidates once they are approved.

Outside the United States, ensuring adequate ogeenad payment for our products will face challendie international markets,
reimbursement and health care payment systemssigarificantly by country, and many countries havgtituted price ceilings on specific products
and therapies. Pricing of prescription pharmacaigits subject to governmental control in many ¢oes. Pricing negotiations with governmental
authorities can extend well beyond the receipegtitatory marketing approval for a product and megyuire us to conduct a clinical trial that
compares the cost effectiveness of our productidates or products to other available therapies. ddnduct of such a clinical trial could be
expensive and result in delays in our commerciatimeefforts. Third-party payors are challenging firices charged for medical products and
services, and many third-party payors limit reingament for newly-approved health care productseRdoudgetary pressures in many European
Union countries are also causing governments tsidenor implement various cost-containment measwech as price freezes, increased price cuts
and rebates. If budget pressures continue, governsmeay implement additional cost-containment messsuCost-control initiatives could decrease
the price we might establish for products that way mevelop or sell, which would result in lower guet revenues or royalties payable to us. There
can be no assurance that any country that has goiteols or reimbursement limitations for pharmaiml products will allow favorable
reimbursement and pricing arrangements for anyuopooducts.

Foreign Regulation

In addition to regulations in the United States,wilbe subject to a variety of foreign regulatsogoverning clinical trials and commercial
sales and distribution of our product candidatebetlver or not we obtain FDA approval for a prodiasididate, we must obtain approval from the
comparable regulatory authorities of foreign coi@stor economic areas, such as the European Usedore we may commence clinical trials or
market products in those countries or areas. Theoapl process and requirements governing the agraficlinical trials, product licensing, pricing
and reimbursement vary greatly from place to placd,the time may be longer or shorter than ttetired for FDA approval.

Certain countries outside of the United States lzapeocess that requires the submission of a elitii@l application much like an IND pri
to the commencement of human clinical trials. Imdpe, for example, a clinical trial application,@FA, must be submitted to the competent nati
health authority and to independent ethics compstia each country in which a company intends taloot clinical trials. Once the CTA is appro
in accordance with a country’s requirements, céihtdal development may proceed in that countnyall cases, the clinical trials must be conducted
in accordance with good clinical practices, or GERd other applicable regulatory requirements.

Under European Union regulatory systems, a compaay submit marketing authorization applications@itunder a centralized or
decentralized procedure. The centralized proceidurempulsory for medicinal products produced tdghnology or those medicinal products
containing new active substances for specific iaitieis such as the treatment of AIDS, cancer, magenerative disorders, diabetes, viral diseases
and designated orphan medicines, and optionaltfear anedicines which are highly innovative. Under tentralized procedure, a marketing
application is submitted to the European Medicidgency where it will be evaluated by the CommitteeMedicinal Products for Human Use and a
favorable opinion typically results in the grantthe European Commission of a single marketingaigation that is valid for all European Union
member states within 67 days of receipt of the iopinThe initial marketing authorization is valiorffive years, but once renewed is usually valid fo
an unlimited period. The decentralized proceduc¥ipes for approval by one or more “concerned” merngtates based on an assessment of an
application performed by one member state, knowth@s$referencemember state. Under the decentralized approvakpige, an applicant subm
an application, or dossier, and related matergathé reference member state and concerned metabes.sThe reference member state prepares a
draft assessment and drafts of the related matevigthin 120 days after receipt of a valid appliwat Within 90 days of receiving the reference
member state’s assessment report, each concermetlenstate must decide whether to approve thesiases report and related materials. If a
member state does not recognize the marketing azdion, the disputed points are eventually refeno the European Commission, whose decision
is binding on all member states.
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Manufacturing

We do not have any manufacturing facilities. Weently rely, and expect to continue to rely, ondiparties for the manufacture of our
product candidates for non-clinical studies andicdil trials, as well as for commercial manufactfi@r product candidates receive marketing
approval. To date, we have obtained materials N®03 and GEN-004 from thirgarty manufacturers who are sole source supphbeus.tFor bot
product candidates, we intend to identify and dua&lontract manufacturers to provide the proteiocpss development, protein production and
adjuvant production and fill-and-finish servicesopto submission of an NDA to the FDA.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we had 57 full-time empks; Of these 57 employees, 44 employees are ehgagesearch and development
and 13 employees are engaged in finance, humaaroes) facilities and business and general manageiM@ have no collective bargaining
agreements with our employees and we have notiexjped any work stoppages. We consider our relatidth our employees to be good.

Our Corporate Information

We were incorporated under the laws of the Staf@edfiware in August 2006. Our principal executiffices are located at 100 Acorn Park
Drive, 5th Floor, Cambridge, Massachusetts 0214Dcam telephone number is (617) 876-8191. GenBtemd the Genocea logo are registered
trademarks.

Available Information

We maintain an Internet websitetdtp://www.genocea.comhere our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterlpétes on Form 10-Q,
Current Reports on Form 8-K and other documentsadiraimendments to those reports and documentvaikable without charge, as soon as
reasonably practicable following the time they fdesl with, or furnished to, the Securities and Eange Commission. References to our website
address do not constitute incorporation by refezeriche information contained on the website, tiedinformation contained on the website is not
part of this document.

The public may read and copy any materials thafileevith the Securities and Exchange CommissiothatSecurities and Exchange
Commission’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Stif,Washington, DC 20549. The public may obtaforimation on the operation of the Public
Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-08B®, the Securities and Exchange Commission taigis an Internet website that contains
reports, proxy and information statements, andrdtifermation regarding issuers, including the Camy that file electronically with the Securities
and Exchange Commission. The public can obtaindameyments that we file with the SEChdtp://www.sec.gov

Item 1A. Risk Factors
Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need foAdditional Capital

We have incurred significant losses since our foung in 2006 and anticipate that we will continue tocur significant losses for the foreseeable
future and may never achieve or maintain profitaibyl.

We are a clinical-stage biotechnology company,vaadhave not yet generated significant revenuesh&ve incurred net losses each year
since our inception, including net losses of $38ilBon, $20.8 million and $13.4 million for the ges ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. As of December 31, 2014, we had actated a deficit of $115.4 million. To date, we Bawot commercialized any products or
generated any revenues from the sale of produdthiave financed our operations primarily throughate placements of our preferred stock, debt
financing and our initial public offering completedFebruary 2014, and we do not expect to genarateproduct revenues in the foreseeable future.
We do not know whether or when we will generatedpit revenues or become profitable.

We have devoted most of our financial resourcesgearch and development, including our clinical mon-clinical technology
development and development activities. The amofiatr future net losses will depend, in part, loa tate of our future expenditures and our ability
to obtain funding through equity or debt financipgfsategic collaborations or additional grants. Wdge not completed pivotal clinical studies foy
product candidate and it will be several yearsy#r, before we have a product candidate readydimmmercialization. Even if we obtain regulatory
approval to market a product candidate, our futevenues will depend upon the size of any marketghich our product candidates have received
approval, our ability to achieve sufficient marketeptance, reimbursement from third-party payodsather factors.

We expect to continue to incur significant expereseincreasing operating losses for the foresedahire. We anticipate that our exper
will increase significantly if and as we:
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e continue our Phase 2 clinical trial of GEN-003, mwost advanced product candidate that we are daweldor the treatment of HSV-2
infections, and commence a planned Phase 2b dlimiabin mid-2015 to optimize the dosing regimen;

e continue our Phase 2a clinical trial of GEN-004r, second most advanced product candidate thatevéeameloping to prevent
infections caused by all strains of pneumococcog,c@ntinue to advance GEN-004 in development;

e initiate additional non-clinical, clinical or othstudies for our other product candidates;

. manufacture material for clinical trials and fomomercial sale;

» seek regulatory approvals for our product cand&ltitat successfully complete clinical trials;

« establish a sales, marketing and distribution stftacture to commercialize any products for whighmeay obtain marketing approval;
» seek to discover and develop additional productiickates;

* acquire or in-license other product candidatestaoknologies;

e make royalty milestone or other payments underiaigense agreements;

e maintain, protect and expand our intellectual priypgortfolio;

. attract and retain skilled personnel; and

e create additional infrastructure to support ourrapens as a public company and our product devedop and planned future
commercialization efforts.

The net losses we incur may fluctuate significafrtlyn quarter to quarter and year to year, suchahgeriod-to-period comparison of our
results of operations may not be a good indicadifoour future performance. In any particular quaociequarters, our operating results could be bt
the expectations of securities analysts or investehich could cause our stock price to decline.

To become and remain profitable, we must succeddweloping and eventually commercializing prodiletd generate significant revenue.
This will require us to be successful in a rangetwllenging activities, including completing nolimical studies and clinical trials of our product
candidates, discovering additional product candslatbtaining regulatory approval for these prodacdidates and manufacturing, marketing and
selling any products for which we may obtain re¢pdaapproval. We are only in the preliminary stagémost of these activities. We may never
succeed in these activities and, even if we do, neer generate revenues that are significant éntiugchieve profitability.

Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties@ssd with pharmaceutical product developmentareeunable to accurately predict the
timing or amount of increased expenses or wheif, we will be able to achieve profitability. If ware required by the FDA or the European
Medicines Agency to perform studies in additiortitose currently expected, or if there are any dellayompleting our clinical trials or the
development of any of our product candidates, apeases could increase.

Even if we do achieve profitability, we may notddae to sustain or increase profitability on a ¢gry or annual basis. Our failure to
become and remain profitable would depress theevaflwur company and could impair our ability teseacapital, expand our business, maintain our
research and development efforts, diversify oudpob offerings or even continue our operations eslige in the value of our company could also
cause you to lose all or part of your investment.
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We will require substantial additional financing tachieve our goals, and a failure to obtain thiseessary capital when needed would force us to
delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product degpment or commercialization efforts.

As of December 31, 2014, our cash, cash equivatendsnarketable securities were $47.1 million. Whkele that we will continue to
expend substantial resources for the foreseeatleefdeveloping GEN-003, GEN-004 and our non-céihiroduct candidates. These expenditures
will include costs associated with research anaigment, potentially acquiring new technologiasteptially obtaining regulatory approvals and
manufacturing products, as well as marketing atithggroducts approved for sale, if any. In aduiti other unanticipated costs may arise. Because
the outcome of our planned and anticipated clirticals is highly uncertain, we cannot reasonalsljneate the actual amounts necessary to
successfully complete the development and comniaii@n of our product candidates.

Our future capital requirements depend on manyfactncluding:

e the progress, results and costs of our currentePhawse optimization clinical trial and our pladrighase 2 dose regimen clinical trial
of GEN-003;

« the scope, progress, results and costs of norealidevelopment, laboratory testing and clinicali$rfor our other product candidates,
including our current Phase 2a clinical trial of &B04;

« the number and development requirements of otleelyat candidates that we pursue;

- the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtainiegulatory approvals for our product candidatediifical trials are successful and the
outcome of regulatory review of our product cantida

» the cost and timing of future commercializationiaties for our products, if any of our product cliaiates are approved for marketing,
including product manufacturing, marketing, saled distribution costs;

. the cost of our general and administrative funatjon
« the revenue, if any, received from commercial safesur product candidates for which we receivekating approval;

« the cost of manufacturing our product candidateslnical trials in preparation for regulatory appal and in preparation for
commercialization;

e our ability to establish and maintain strategidparships, licensing or other arrangements andithacial terms of such agreements;

« the costs involved in preparing, filing, prosecgtpatent applications, maintaining, defending amdreing our intellectual property
rights, including litigation costs and the outcoafesuch litigation;

« the timing, receipt, and amount of sales of, omattigs or milestone payments on, our future proglitany; and

« the extent to which we acquire or in-license oftv@ducts or technologies.

Based on our current operating plan, we believettteanet proceeds we received from our initialljuiffering completed in February 20
together with our existing cash, cash equivalentsraarketable securities and available future tvarrgs under our credit facility, will be sufficient
to fund our projected operating expenses and dapienditure requirements into the first quarte2@l6, by which time we anticipate that we will
have top-line data from our ongoing GEN-003 Phades& optimization trial and top-line data from ongoing GENG04 Phase 2a human challel
study. However, our operating plan may changeraswt of many factors currently unknown to us, amdmay need additional funds sooner than
planned. In addition, we may seek additional chpis@ to favorable market conditions or strateginsiderations even if we believe we have
sufficient funds for our current or future operagtplans. Additional funds may not be available whenneed them on terms that are acceptable to us
or at all. If adequate funds are not availablesevhen needed, we would be required to delay,,limiduce or terminate non-clinical studies, clihica
trials or other development activities for one arenof our product candidates or delay, limit, &lor terminate our establishment of sales and
marketing capabilities or other activities that niiynecessary to commercialize our product careidat
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Raising additional capital may cause dilution to pexisting stockholders, restrict our operations mquire us to relinquish rights to ou
technologies or product candidates on unfavorabderns to us.

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate sultisigproduct revenues, we expect to finance oghcegeeds through a combination of eq
offerings, debt financings and license and develpmagreements with strategic partnerships withl tharties. To the extent that we raise additional
capital through the sale of equity or convertibddsecurities, your ownership interest will baiditl, and the terms may include liquidation or pthe
preferences that adversely affect your rights steekholder. Debt financing, if available, may itneagreements that include covenants limiting or
restricting our ability to take certain actionsglas incurring additional debt, making capitalenglitures or declaring dividends. If we raise
additional funds through strategic partnershiphird parties, we may have to relinquish valualghts to our technologies or product candidates,
future revenue streams, research programs or proedadidates or grant licenses on terms that aréamorable to us. If we are unable to raise
additional when needed, we would be required taydedimit, reduce or terminate our product develeptror commercialization efforts for GEDG3,
GEN-004 or our non-clinical product candidatesgi@nt rights to develop and market product candiltitat we would otherwise prefer to develop
and market ourselves.

Risks Related to Clinical Development, Regulatory Bview and Approval of Our Product Candidates

Because our product candidates are in an early staf development, there is a high risk of failurend we may never succeed in develop
marketable products or generating product revenue.

Our early encouraging non-clinical and clinicalués for GEN-003 and our non-clinical results fOEK-004 are not necessarily predictive
of the final results of our ongoing or future ctial trials. Success in non-clinical studies mayb®predictive of similar results in humans during
clinical trials, and successful results from eanrysmall clinical trials of a vaccine candidate nmay be replicated in later and larger clinicadlsi If
the results of our ongoing or future clinical tsi@re inconclusive with respect to the efficacpwf product candidates or if we do not meet our
clinical endpoints with statistical significanceibthere are safety concerns or adverse eventeiassd with our product candidates, we may be
prevented or delayed in obtaining marketing apprfreour product candidates. Alternatively, evéwé obtain regulatory approval, that approval
may be for indications or patient populations @& not as broad as intended or desired or mayreelabeling that includes significant use or
distribution restrictions or safety warnings. Weyna¢so be required to perform additional or unapéted clinical trials to obtain approval or be
subject to additional post-marketing testing regimients to maintain regulatory approval. In addjtregulatory authorities may withdraw their
approval of the product or impose restrictionsterdistribution in the form of a modified risk euation and mitigation strategy.

If we do not obtain regulatory approval for our ctent and future product candidates, our businesdlwie adversely affectet

Our product candidates are subject to extensivergowental regulations relating to, among othergbimesearch, clinical trials,
manufacturing, import, export and commercializationorder to obtain regulatory approval for thentoercial sale of any product candidate, we
must demonstrate through extensive non-clinicalistuand clinical trials that the product candidateafe and effective for use in each target
indication. Clinical trials are expensive, time-saming and uncertain as to outcome. We may gaulatgy approval for GEN-003, GEN-004 or
our other non-clinical product candidates in someriot all of the territories available or some bat all of the target indications, resulting imiied
commercial opportunity for the approved vaccinewermay never obtain regulatory approval for thaseluct candidates for any indication in any
jurisdiction.

We may find it difficult to enroll patients in ouclinical trials, which could delay or prevent clinal trials of our product candidates.

Identifying and qualifying patients to participateclinical trials of our product candidates istical to our success. The timing of our clini
trials depends on the speed at which we can rquatigénts to participate in testing our productdidates. If patients are unwilling to participate i
our studies because of negative publicity from aslv@vents in the biotechnology industries or fbeoreasons, including competitive clinical trials
for similar patient populations, the timeline fecruiting patients, conducting studies and obtgimegulatory approval of potential products may be
delayed or prevented. These delays could resuicieased costs, delays in advancing our productldpment, delays in testing the effectiveness of
our technology or termination of the clinical tealltogether.

Additionally, in order to identify vaccine candigatusing our ATLAS platform, we need to collect anocess blood samples from human
cohorts exposed to a pathogen. If we are unakldeltect blood from a sufficient cohort for an indion we may be unable to identify additional
product candidates.
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We may not be able to identify, recruit and enaodiufficient number of patients, or those with iiezghor desired characteristics to achieve
diversity in a study, to complete our clinical Isign a timely manner. Patient enroliment is afelcby factors including:

- severity of the disease under investigation;

e design of the study protocaol;

e size of the patient population;

« eligibility criteria for the trial in question;

»  perceived risks and benefits of the product candidader study;

e proximity and availability of clinical trial sitefor prospective patients;

e availability of competing therapies and clinicals;

. efforts to facilitate timely enrollment in clinicadals;

e  patient referral practices of physicians; and

« ability to monitor patients adequately during aftératreatment.

We may not be able to initiate or continue clinig@ls if we cannot enroll a sufficient numberadigible patients to participate in the clini
trials required by regulatory agencies. If we hdifficulty enrolling a sufficient number of patiento conduct our clinical trials as planned, we may
need to delay, limit or terminate ongoing or plashaénical trials, any of which would have an adseeffect on our business.

We may not be able to comply with requirementsariign jurisdictions in conducting trials outsidefdhe United States.

To date, we have not conducted any clinical tiaitside of the United States. Our ability to sus@@ly initiate, enroll and complete a
clinical trial in any foreign country, should weernpt to do so, is subject to numerous risks untqumnducting business in foreign countries,
including:

- difficulty in establishing or managing relationstiwith contract research organizations, or CROg aysicians;

» different standards for the conduct of clinicadlsi

e our inability to locate qualified local consultanphysicians and partners;

« the potential burden of complying with a varietyfoffeign laws, medical standards and regulatoryireqnents, including the regulati
of pharmaceutical and biotechnology products aeatttnent; and

» the acceptability of data obtained from studiesdemted outside the United States to the FDA in stpgf a Biologics License
Application, or BLA.

If we fail to successfully meet requirements fa tonduct of clinical trials outside of the Unit8thtes, we may be delayed in obtaining, or
be unable to obtain, regulatory approval for owdpict candidates in the United States or in coemwutside of the United States.

We may encounter substantial delays in our clinidabls or we may fail to demonstrate safety andiedcy to the satisfaction of applicable
regulatory authorities.

Before obtaining marketing approval from regulatanghorities for the sale of our product candidatesmust conduct extensive clinical
trials to demonstrate the safety and efficacy efgtoduct candidates for the intended indicati@isiical testing is expensive, time-consuming and
uncertain as to outcome. We cannot guarantee lihatat trials will be conducted as planned or
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completed on schedule, if at all. A failure of @mremore clinical trials can occur at any stageestihg. Events that may prevent successful or yimel
completion of clinical development include:

e delays by us in reaching a consensus with regyl@gencies on trial design;
e delays in reaching agreement on acceptable terthsprospective CROs and clinical trial sites;
« delays in obtaining required Institutional Reviewasd, or IRB, approval at each clinical trial site;

« imposition of a clinical hold by regulatory agersfer any reason, including safety concerns rdigedther clinical trials of similar
vaccines that may reflect an unacceptable risk GEN-003 or after an inspection of clinical opesas or trial sites;

- failure to perform in accordance with the FDA’s dadinical practices, or GCP, or applicable reguigaiguidelines in other countries;
» delays in the testing, validation, manufacturing delivery of the product candidates to the clihgites;

e delays caused by patients not completing partigipan a trial or not returning for post-treatméoifow-up;

- clinical trial sites or patients dropping out dfrial or failing to complete dosing;

e occurrence of serious adverse events in cliniG@lbtthat are associated with the product candsdizt are viewed to outweigh its
potential benefits; or

« changes in regulatory requirements and guidandeehjaire amending or submitting new clinical pimuits.

Delays, including delays caused by the above factan be costly and could negatively affect oilitato complete a clinical trial. Our
IND for GEN-003 was subject to a clinical hold fraranuary 2012 to July 2012. In our original IND sussion, we described a finding of
osteonecrosis (microscopic evidence of bone and baarrow death) in a toxicity study of GEN-003 cocigd in mice. Because this finding was not
present in toxicity studies conducted in other g®ave reasoned that this was a mouse-specifimfinand did not indicate a risk to humans in
clinical trials. However, the FDA instituted a dtial hold and provided us with several options thatld resolve this issue to their satisfaction. We
selected the option to conduct an additional toxisiudy in a highly relevant species (nomman primate) that would be more representativarafk
to humans. The study was conducted, no bone or inan@w toxicity was observed, and the FDA subsetiydifted the clinical hold, allowing us 1
proceed with the first study in humans of GEN-003.

We cannot give any assurance that we will be abtegolve any future clinical holds imposed by BE¥A or other regulatory authorities
outside of the United States, or any delay caugeather factors described above or any other factor a timely basis or at all. If we are not able
successfully initiate and complete subsequentadirtrials, we will not be able to obtain regulgtapproval and will not be able to commercialize
product candidates.

Our product candidates, including GEN-003 and GEND4, are based on T cell activation, which is a nbapproach for vaccine,

immunotherapies and medical treatments. Consequgritimay be difficult for us to predict the timend cost of product development. Unforeseen
problems with the T cell approach to vaccines magvyent further development or approval of our prociicandidates. Because of the novelty

this approach, there may be unknown safety risks@sated with the vaccines and immunotherapies thet develop. Regulatory agencies such as
the FDA may require us to conduct extensive safesting prior to approval to demonstrate a low riskrare and severe adverse events caused by
the vaccines and immunotherapies. If approved, tim/el mechanism of action of the vaccines may adety affect physician and patient
perception and uptake of our product

We have concentrated our research and developrfierts@n T cell vaccine and immunotherapy techggland our future success is
highly dependent on the successful developmenta#lvaccines and immunotherapies in general,camgroduct candidates in particular. There
can be no assurance that any development problenes wthers researching T cell vaccines and imnianapies may experience in the future will
not cause significant delays or unanticipated ¢astthat such development problems can be solved.

Public perception of vaccine safety issues, incigdidoption of novel vaccine mechanisms of activay adversely influence willingness of
subjects to participate in clinical trials, or groved, of physicians to prescribe and of patiemteceive novel vaccines. For example, GEN-004 is
being developed for prevention of Pneumococcatiidas, and parental aversion to new
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vaccines or vaccines in general may adverselyenfte later stage clinical trials of this produatdidate or, if approved, its commercial success.

GEN-003 includes a novel vaccine adjuvant and ouher product candidates may include one or more abadjuvants, which may make it
difficult for us to predict the time and cost of pduct development as well as the requirements tiBAFor other regulatory agencies may impose
demonstrate the safety of the product candidate.

Novel vaccine adjuvants, included in some of owdprct candidates, may pose an increased safetiorfghtients. Adjuvants are compoul
that are added to vaccine antigens to enhancectivation and improve immune response and efficdoyaccines. Development of vaccines with
novel adjuvants requires evaluation in larger nuisbé patients prior to approval than would be ¢gbifor therapeutic drugs. Guidelines for
evaluation of vaccines with novel adjuvants havenbestablished by the FDA and other regulatorydsdnd expert committees. Our product
candidates, including GEN-003, may include one oremovel vaccine adjuvants. Any vaccine, becatiieegpresence of an adjuvant, may have
side effects considered to pose too great a riglatients to warrant approval of the vaccine. Tradally, regulatory authorities have required
extensive study of novel adjuvants because vactypésally get administered to healthy populatiangparticular infants, children and the elderly,
rather than in people with disease. Such exterstiwdy has often included long-term monitoring desain large general populations that has at
times exceeded 10,000 subjects. This contraststitifew thousand subjects typically necessargpproval of novel therapeutics. Although GEN-
003 is being developed as a treatment, and theréforot expected to be administered to uninfestisjects, regulators nonetheless may require us t
amass a prophylactic vaccine-like safety databEselate, the FDA and other major regulatory agenie@ve only approved vaccines containing five
adjuvants, which makes it difficult to determineahlong it will take or how much it will cost to aodin regulatory approvals for our product
candidates in the United States or elsewhere.

If we fail to obtain regulatory approval in jurisditions outside the United States, we will not béeaio market our products in those jurisdiction

We intend to market our product candidates, if appd, in international markets. Such marketing véifjuire separate regulatory approvals
in each market and compliance with numerous anginguregulatory requirements. The approval proceslwary among countries and may involve
requirements for additional testing, and the tieguired to obtain approval may differ from thatuiegd to obtain FDA approval. In addition, in
many countries outside the United States, a vacoing be approved for reimbursement before it @agproved for sale in that country. In some
cases, the price that we intend to charge for aacine is also subject to approval. Approval byRB&\ does not ensure approval by regulatory
authorities in other countries or jurisdictionsgdapproval by one foreign regulatory authority dnesensure approval by regulatory authorities in
other foreign countries or by the FDA. The foreiggulatory approval process may include all ofrtkks associated with obtaining FDA approval.
We may not obtain foreign regulatory approvals ¢im&ly basis, if at all. We may not be able te fibr regulatory approvals and may not receive
necessary approvals to commercialize our vaccimasy market.

Even if we receive regulatory approval for our prect candidates, such vaccines and immunotherapidé$ve subject to ongoing regulator
review, which may result in significant addition@&xpense. Additionally, our product candidates, goved, could be subject to labeling and ot
restrictions, and we may be subject to penaltiexé fail to comply with regulatory requirements experience unanticipated problems with our
products.

Any regulatory approvals that we receive for owrdurct candidates may also be subject to limitatenthe approved indications for which
the product may be marketed or to conditions of@ygd, or contain requirements for potentially ¢pgiost-marketing testing, including Phase 4
clinical trials, and surveillance to monitor théetg and efficacy of the vaccine or immunotherapgeptially over many years. In addition, if the F
approves any of our product candidates, the matwfag processes, labeling, packaging, distribytamverse event reporting, storage, advertising,
promotion and recordkeeping for the product willsodject to extensive and ongoing regulatory respénts. These requirements include
submissions of safety and other posrketing information and reports, registrationwadi as continued compliance with current good afacturing
practice, or cGMP, and GCP, for any clinical triddat we conduct post-approval.

Later discovery of previously unknown problems vathapproved product, including adverse eventsiahticipated severity or frequency,
or with manufacturing operations or processesaiture to comply with regulatory requirements, nmagult in, among other things:

e restrictions on the marketing or manufacturinghef product, withdrawal of the product from the nedylor voluntary or mandatory
product recalls;

. fines, warning letters, or holds on clinical trials
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« refusal by the FDA to approve pending applicationsupplements to approved applications filed hyoususpension or revocation of
product license approvals;

e product seizure or detention, or refusal to peth@timport or export of products; and

» injunctions or the imposition of civil, criminal dfor administrative penalties, damages, monetagsfidisgorgement, exclusion from
participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other fedédrealth care programs, and curtailment or resiring of our operations.

The FDA'’s policies may change and additional goment regulations may be enacted that could afeailatory approval that we have
received for our product candidates. We cannotigrdlte likelihood, nature or extent of governmesgulation that may arise from future legislation
or administrative action, either in the United Ssabr abroad. If we are slow or unable to adaphsmges in existing requirements or the adoption of
new requirements or policies, or not able to maintagulatory compliance, we may lose any marketipgroval that may have been obtained an
may not achieve or sustain profitability, which uedadversely affect our business.

Risks Related to Our Reliance on Third Parties

We rely on third parties to conduct non-clinicalglies and clinical trials for our product candidase and if they do not properly and successfully
perform their obligations to us, we may not be aleobtain regulatory approvals for our product cditates.

We rely on third party CROs and other third part@assist in managing, monitoring and otherwigeyaag out our GEN-003 and GEN-004
clinical trials. We expect to continue to rely dnird parties, such as CROs, clinical data managenrganizations, medical institutions and clinical
investigators, to conduct our clinical trials. Wangete with many other companies for the resouwt#sese third parties. The third parties on whom
we rely generally may terminate their engagemengsiatime, and having to enter into alternativaagements would delay development and
commercialization of our product candidates.

Our reliance on these third parties for researchdmvelopment activities will reduce our controkothese activities but will not relieve us
of our responsibilities. For example, the FDA aarkfgn regulatory authorities require compliancéhwegulations and standards, including GCP
designing, conducting, monitoring, recording, amalyg, and reporting the results of clinical trisdsassure that the data and results are credille an
accurate and that the rights, integrity and comiiiddity of trial participants are protected. Alingh we rely on third parties to conduct our clihica
trials, we are responsible for ensuring that ed¢hese clinical trials is conducted in accordawith its general investigational plan and protocol.

Furthermore, these third parties may also havéioekhips with other entities, some of which mayolie competitors. If these third parties
do not successfully carry out their duties undeirthgreements, if the quality or accuracy of tagadhey obtain is compromised due to their faito
adhere to clinical trial protocols or to regulatoeguirements, or if they otherwise fail to compligh clinical trial protocols or meet expected
deadlines, the clinical trials of our product catades may not meet regulatory requirements. Ifadirtrials do not meet regulatory requirements or
these third parties need to be replaced, non-alidievelopment activities or clinical trials maydsdended, delayed, suspended or terminated. If any
of these events occur, we may not be able to ob¢gjulatory approval of our product candidates timely basis or at all.

We also expect to rely on other third parties twesand distribute drug supplies for our clinic&ls. Any performance failure on the part of
our distributors could delay clinical developmenttarketing approval of our product candidatesammmercialization of our products, producing
additional losses and depriving us of potentiatpicd revenue.

We intend to rely on third parties to conduct someall aspects of our product manufacturing, andeke third parties may not perform
satisfactorily.

We do not have any manufacturing facilities or parel. We do not expect to independently condu@sglects of our product
manufacturing. We currently rely, and expect tg,reh third parties with respect to manufacturingluding under our agreements with Fuijifilm and
Baxter. For example, we rely on third party supgliend manufacturers to manufacture and supplyinveeéor our initial GEN-003 and GEN-004
clinical trials. This reliance on third parties irases the risk that we will not have sufficieramtities of our product candidates or productsuchs
guantities at an acceptable cost or quality, wmhid delay, prevent or impair our developmenta@anmercialization efforts.

Any of these third parties may terminate their eyggaent with us at any time. If we need to enter aiternative arrangements, it could
delay our product development activities. Our red@on these third parties for manufacturing aitisiwill reduce our control over these activities
but will not relieve us of our responsibility tosame compliance with all required regulations rdgay manufacturing.
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Reliance on third party manufacturers entails riskahich we would not be subject if we manufactutiee product candidates ourselves,
including:

« the inability to negotiate manufacturing agreemerith third parties under commercially reasonablens;

«  reduced control as a result of using third partyofacturers for all aspects of manufacturing atiéisj including regulatory complian
and quality assurance;

e termination or nonrenewal of manufacturing agreaseiith third parties in a manner or at a time tkatostly or damaging to us;

* the possible misappropriation of our proprietafpimation, including our trade secrets and know-twwnfringement of third party
intellectual property rights by our contract mamtdsers; and

e disruptions to the operations of our third partynfacturers or suppliers caused by conditions ated|to our business or operations,
including the bankruptcy of the manufacturer orpsigp.

Any of these events could lead to clinical trialays or failure to obtain regulatory approval, &eet our ability to successfully
commercialize future products. Some of these evanikl be the basis for FDA action, including irgtion, recall, seizure or total or partial
suspension of production.

Third party manufacturers may not be able to comgtih cGMP regulations or similar regulatory reguirents outside the United States.
Ouir failure, or the failure of our third party mdacturers, to comply with applicable regulationsildoresult in sanctions being imposed on us,
including clinical holds, fines, injunctions, cipknalties, delays, suspension or withdrawal of@gds, license revocation, seizures or recalls of
product candidates or products, operating restristand criminal prosecutions, any of which coidaigicantly and adversely affect supplies of our
products.

Our product candidates and any products that wedeaglop may compete with other product candidatesproducts for access to
manufacturing facilities. There are a limited numbemanufacturers that operate under cGMP reguiatand that might be capable of
manufacturing for us.

Any performance failure on the part of our existorguture manufacturers could delay clinical depahent or marketing approval. We do
not currently have arrangements in place for redahdupply or a second source for bulk drug substdfiour current contract manufacturers cat
perform as agreed, we may be required to replade manufacturers. Although we believe that theeesaweral potential alternative manufacturers
who could manufacture our product candidates, we imzaur added costs and delays in identifying andlifying any such replacement.

Our current and anticipated future dependence offoers for the manufacture of our product cand&lateproducts may adversely affect
our future profit margins and our ability to comiatize any products that receive marketing apgrouaa timely and competitive basis.

If we are unable to manufacture our products in didient quantities, or at sufficient yields, or arenable to obtain regulatory approvals for
manufacturing facility for our products, we may egpience delays in product development, clinicabts, regulatory approval and commercial
distribution.

Completion of our clinical trials and commerciatipa of our product candidates require accessrtdegelopment of, facilities to
manufacture our product candidates at sufficiesldgi and at commercial-scale. We have no experieaeeifacturing, or managing third parties in
manufacturing, any of our product candidates iniblames that will be necessary to support largdesclinical trials or commercial sales. Efforts to
establish these capabilities may not meet initipegtations as to scheduling, scale-up, reproditgibjield, purity, cost, potency or quality.

We expect to rely on third-parties for the manufaetof clinical and, if necessary, commercial qiteest of our product candidates. These
third-party manufacturers must also receive FDArapgal before they can produce clinical materiatommercial products. Our products may be in
competition with other products for access to tHas#ities and may be subject to delays in manuwiigcif third-parties give other products greater
priority. We may not be able to enter into any sseey third-party manufacturing arrangements opgeable terms, or on a timely basis. In addition,
we may have to enter into technical transfer agesgsnand share our know-how with the third-partyafacturers, which can be time-consuming
and may result in delays.

Our reliance on contract manufacturers may adweed&ct our operations or result in unforeseemylebr other problems beyond our
control. Because of contractual restraints andithieed number of third-party manufacturers witle thxpertise, required
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regulatory approvals and facilities to manufactue bulk vaccines on a commercial-scale, replaceémfesa manufacturer may be expensive and
time-consuming and may cause interruptions in teelyction of our vaccine. A third-party manufactumgay also encounter difficulties in
production. These problems may include:

« difficulties with production costs, scale-up andlgs;

e unavailability of raw materials and supplies;

< insufficient quality control and assurance;

e shortages of qualified personnel;

« failure to comply with strictly enforced federatate and foreign regulations that vary in each aguwhere product might be sold; and
e lack of capital funding.

As a result, any delay or interruption could haveaterial adverse effect on our business, finamgabition, results of operations and cash
flows.

We may not be successful in establishing and mainitag strategic partnerships, which could adversaffect our ability to develop and
commercialize products.

A part of our strategy is to evaluate and, as deemp@ropriate, enter into partnerships in the fituhen strategically attractive, including
potentially with major biotechnology or pharmaceaticompanies. We face significant competitiongaléng appropriate partners for our product
candidates, and the negotiation process is timetooimg and complex. In order for us to successfdistner our product candidates, potential
partners must view these product candidates a®etoally valuable in markets they determine to timative in light of the terms that we are
seeking and other available products for licensypgther companies. Even if we are successful irefforts to establish strategic partnerships, the
terms that we agree upon may not be favorable,tangswe may not be able to maintain such straegimerships if, for example, development or
approval of a product is delayed or sales of amagal product are disappointing. Any delay in @ngginto strategic partnership agreements related
to our product candidates could delay the developraed commercialization of our product candidated reduce their competitiveness even if they
reach the market.

In addition, our strategic partners may breachr thgieements with us, and we may not be able tquedely protect our rights under these
agreements. Furthermore, our strategic partnetdikeély negotiate for certain rights to controla&ons regarding the development and
commercialization of our product candidates, ifrappd, and may not conduct those activities insdrme manner as we would do so.

If we fail to establish and maintain strategic parships related to our product candidates, webg#ir all of the risk and costs related to the
development of any such product candidate, and senmeed to seek additional financing, hire addél@mployees and otherwise develop expertise
which we do not have and for which we have not leteid. This could negatively affect the developnuérany unpartnered product candidate.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If we are unable to obtain or protect intellectuploperty rights related to our product candidate®se may not be able to compete effectively in
markets.

We rely upon a combination of patents, patent apptins, know how and confidentiality agreementgrtmect the intellectual property
related to our platform technology and product adaigs. The patent position of biotechnology congmis generally uncertain because it involves
complex legal and factual considerations. The stedglapplied by the United States Patent and Trade®iffice, or U.S. PTO, and foreign patent
offices in granting patents are not always appliedormly or predictably. For example, there isurgform worldwide policy regarding patentable
subject matter or the scope of claims allowableiatechnology patents. The patent applicationsweabdwn or in-license may fail to result in issued
patents with claims that cover our discovery platf@r product candidates in the United States otler countries. There is no assurance that all
potentially relevant prior art relating to our pateand patent applications or those of our licenbas been found, and prior art that we have not
disclosed could be used by a third party to inzda patent or prevent a patent from issuing fiqgmending patent application. Even if patents do
successfully issue and even if such patents cawediscovery platform or product candidates, tipadties may challenge their validity, enforcealp
or scope, which may result in such patents beimgpwned or invalidated. Furthermore, even if thegy anchallenged, our patents and patent
applications, or those of our licensors, may n&cgately protect our platform
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technology, provide exclusivity for our product datates, prevent others from designing around atems with similar products, or prevent others
from operating in jurisdictions in which we did rirsue patent protection. Any of these outcomeddapair our ability to prevent competition
from third parties, which may have an adverse ihpaour business.

If patent applications we hold or havelicensed with respect to our platform or productdidates fail to issue, if their breadth or strénof
protection is threatened, or if they fail to prawicheaningful exclusivity for our product candidabeATLAS discovery platform, it could dissuade
companies from collaborating with us. We or ouetlisors have filed several patent applications @egespects of our product candidates. We
cannot offer any assurances about which, if angra will issue, the breadth of any such patentshether any issued patents will be found invalid
and unenforceable or will be challenged by thirdipa. Any successful opposition to these pateptiegtions, or patents that may issue from them,
or to any other patent applications or patents aWseor licensed to us, could deprive us of rigiesessary for the successful commercialization of
any product candidate that we may develop. Sintenpapplications in the United States and mosrotbuntries are confidential for a period of t
after filing, and some remain so until issued, wermt be certain that we or our licensors werditheto file a patent application relating to any
particular aspect of a product candidate. Furtheemibthird parties have filed such patent applaas, an interference proceeding in the United
States can be initiated by such third party, otheyU.S. PTO itself, to determine who was the fisshvent any of the subject matter covered by the
patent claims of our applications.

In the United States, for patent applications fiper to March 16, 2013, assuming the other resm@nts for patentability are met, the first
to invent is entitled to the patent, while outside United States, the first to file a patent aggilon is entitled to the patent. On March 16, 2048
United States transitioned to a ‘first to file’ g more like that in the rest of the world in ttia first inventor to file a patent applicatioreistitled
to the patent. Under either the prior system oranirone, third parties are allowed to submit paidrprior to the issuance of a patent by the
U.S. PTO, and may become involved in oppositionivd&on, reexaminationjnter partes review or interference proceedings challengingpatent
rights or the patent rights of others. An adversanination in any such submission, proceedingigation could reduce the scope of, or invalidate
our patent rights, which could adversely affect cumpetitive position with respect to third parties

In addition, patents have a limited lifespan. Instnmountries, including the United States, the ra@texpiration of a patent is 20 years from
the date it is filed. Various extensions of patentn may be available in particular countries, hasven all circumstances the life of a patent, el
protection it affords, has a limited term. If wecennter delays in obtaining regulatory approvdis,geriod of time during which we could market a
product under patent protection could be reducesl eWpect to seek extensions of patent terms wheee tare available in any countries where we
are prosecuting patents. Such possible extensichslie those permitted under the Drug Price Conipetand Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984
in the United States, which permits a patent textaresion of up to five years to cover an Fpproved product. However, the applicable authes;
including the FDA in the United States, and anyiesjent regulatory authority in other countries,ymet agree with our assessment of whether such
extensions are available, and may refuse to grdansions to our patents, or may grant more liméetgnsions than we request. If this occurs, our
competitors may be able to take advantage of agrsiiment in development and clinical trials by refieing our clinical and non-clinical data, and
then may be able to launch their product earliantimight otherwise be the case.

Any loss of, or failure to obtain, patent protentwould have a material adverse impact on our kgsine may be unable to prevent
competitors from entering the market with a prodbet is similar to or the same as our products.

We may become involved in lawsuits to protect ofoece our intellectual property, which could be eapsive, time consuming and unsuccessful.

Competitors may infringe our patents or misappwdpror otherwise violate our intellectual propeigihts. To counter infringement or
unauthorized use, litigation may be necessary forea or defend our intellectual property rightsptotect our trade secrets and/or to determine the
validity and scope of our own intellectual propaiights or the proprietary rights of others. Sutgdtion can be expensive and time consuming.
Many of our current and potential competitors htneeability to dedicate substantially greater resesi to litigate intellectual property rights thaa
can. Accordingly, despite our efforts, we may netble to prevent third parties from infringing apmr misappropriating our intellectual property.
Litigation could result in substantial costs andedsion of management resources, which could hambasiness and financial results. In addition, in
an infringement proceeding, a court may decidedhzdtent owned by or licensed to us is invalidreenforceable, or may refuse to stop the other
party from using the technology at issue on theigds that our patents do not cover the technologpestion. An adverse result in any litigation
proceeding could put one or more of our patentskiof being invalidated, held unenforceable aeipreted narrowly. Furthermore, because of the
substantial amount of discovery required in corninaalith intellectual property litigation, thereasrisk that some of our confidential information
could be compromised by disclosure during this typligation.
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Third-party claims of intellectual property infringment or misappropriation may prevent or delay a@velopment and commercialization efforts.

Our commercial success depends in part on outyatwlidevelop, manufacture, market and sell oudpeb candidates, and to use our or our
licensors’proprietary technologies without infringing the gratts and proprietary rights of third parties. Thiera substantial amount of litigation, b
within and outside the United States, involvinggmdtand other intellectual property rights in thgtdchnology and pharmaceutical industries,
including patent infringement lawsuits, interfereacoppositions, reexamination, aimder partes review proceedings before the U.S. PTO and
corresponding foreign patent offices. Numerous Erfsl foreign issued patents and pending patentcagiphs owned by third parties exist in the
fields in which we are developing and may developgroduct candidates. As the biotechnology andrpheeutical industries expand and more
patents are issued, the risk increases that odupt@andidates may be subject to claims of infingnt of the patent rights of third parties.

Third parties may assert that we are employing theiprietary technology without authorization. Téenay be third-party patents or patent
applications with claims for example to materiédsmulations, methods of manufacture, methods afyeis, and/or methods for treatment related to
the use or manufacture of our products or prodactilates. In some cases, we may have failed iifigeelevant such third-party patents or patent
applications. For example, applications filed beftlovember 29, 2000 and certain applications filiéelr that date that will not be filed outside the
United States remain confidential until patentsiégs€Except for the preceding exceptions, patenicgiions in the United States and elsewhere are
generally published only after a waiting periocapproximately 18 months after the earliest fililgerefore, patent applications covering our
platform technology or our products or product édates could have been filed by others withoutkmawledge. Additionally, pending patent
applications which have been published can, subjectrtain limitations, be later amended in a nesirthat could cover our platform technologies,
our products or product candidates and/or thearsaysis, and/or manufacture of our product caridida

If any third-party patents were held by a courtompetent jurisdiction to cover aspects of our migte formulations, methods of
manufacture, methods of analysis, and/or methadsdatment, the holders of any such patents wbeldble to block our ability to develop and
commercialize the applicable product candidatd sntih patent expired or unless we obtain a liceBaeh licenses may not be available on
acceptable terms, if at all. Even if we were ablelitain a license, the rights may be nonexclusivech could result in our competitors gaining
access to the same intellectual property. Ultigatge could be prevented from commercializing adpiet, or be forced to cease some aspect of our
business operations, if, as a result of actuah@atened patent infringement claims, we are urtatdater into licenses on acceptable terms.

Parties making claims against us may obtain injuacir other equitable relief, which could effeetiy block our ability to further develop
and commercialize one or more of our product caatdil Defending against claims of patent infringetinoe misappropriation of trade secrets could
be costly and time consuming, regardless of theamaé. Thus, even if we were to ultimately prewvatilio settle at an early stage, such litigationd
burden us with substantial unanticipated costadutition, litigation or threatened litigation coukesult in significant demands on the time and
attention of our management team, distracting tfrem the pursuit of other company business. Inethent of a successful claim of infringement
against us, we may have to pay substantial damagdsgling treble damages and attorneys’ fees ffulinfringement, pay royalties, redesign our
infringing products or obtain one or more licengem third parties, which may be impossible or riegsubstantial time and monetary expenditure.

We may face a claim of misappropriation if a thpatty believes that we inappropriately obtained ased trade secrets of such third party.
If we are found to have misappropriated a thirdypsitrade secrets, we may be prevented from funking such trade secrets, limiting our ability to
develop our product candidates, and we may benedjto pay damages. During the course of any patesther intellectual property litigation, there
could be public announcements of the results ofilgs, rulings on motions, and other interim pratiegs in the litigation. If securities analysts or
investors regard these announcements as negdivpetceived value of our products, programs, tetléctual property could be diminished.
Accordingly, the market price of our common stockyndecline.

We have in-licensed a portion of our intellectuatgperty, and, if we fail to comply with our obligains under these arrangements, we could lose
such intellectual property rights or owe damagestte licensor of such intellectual propert

We are a party to a number of license and colldlmoragreements that are important to our busiresswe may enter into additional
license or collaboration agreements in the futOnar. discovery platform is built, in part, aroundguas exclusively in-licensed from academic or
research institutions. Certain of our in-licenset@liectual property also covers, or may cover, GBS and other product candidates. See
“Business — In-License Agreements” and “Busines©ther Collaborations” for a description of our datgling license and collaboration
agreements with The Regents of the University dif@aia, President and Fellows of Harvard Colle@gjldren’s Medical Center Corporation, and
Isconova AB (now Novavax), and the Dana-Farber €ahtstitute and Harvard Medical School.

Our existing license agreements impose, and wecexipat future license agreements will impose,osidiligence, milestone payment,
royalty and other obligations on us. If there ig aonflict, dispute, disagreement or issue of nerfggmance
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between us and our licensing partners regardingighis or obligations under the license agreemamtfuding any such conflict, dispute or
disagreement arising from our failure to satisfyrpant obligations under any such agreement, weonsydamages, our licensor may have a rig
terminate the affected license, and our abilitytibize the affected intellectual property in ouud discovery and development efforts, and ouiitstbil
to enter into collaboration or marketing agreemémtsn affected product candidate, may be advweedécted.

Confidentiality agreements with employees and thpdrties may not prevent unauthorized disclosurepobprietary information.

In addition to the protection afforded by patemts,rely on confidentiality agreements to proteciietary know-how that may not be
patentable or that we may elect not to patent,geses for which patents are difficult to enforcé any other elements of our platform technology
and discovery and development processes that ieywiprietary know-how, information or technolodgt is not covered by patents. We seek to
protect our proprietary technology and processepart, by entering into confidentiality agreemenith our employees, consultants, and outside
scientific advisors, contractors and collaboratéithough we use reasonable efforts to protectkmaw-how, our employees, consultants,
contractors, or outside scientific advisors migiténtionally or inadvertently disclose our know-himformation to competitors. In addition,
competitors may otherwise gain access to our know-tr independently develop substantially equivaleformation and techniques.

Enforcing a claim that a third party illegally olitad and is using any of our know-how is expensine time consuming, and the outcome is
unpredictable. In addition, courts outside the ebhiStates sometimes are less willing than U.Stsdaprotect know-how. Misappropriation or
unauthorized disclosure of our know-how could impair competitive position and may have a matexiblerse effect on our business.

Risks Related to Commercialization of Our Product @ndidates

Our future commercial success depends upon attagignificant market acceptance of our product caddtes, if approved, among physicians,
patients, thirc-party payors and others in the medical community.

Even if we obtain marketing approval for GEN-O0ENs004 or any other products that we may develop quiae in the future, the produ
may not gain market acceptance among physiciaind;gharty payors, patients and others in the médicanmunity. For example, we currently
expect that GEN-003 will be required to be admenistl by injection initially and with boosters. Piloyans or patients may not accept this product as
a result of this anticipated dosing requirementddition, market acceptance of any approved pitsdiepends on a nhumber of other factors,
including:

» the efficacy and safety of the product, as dematetrin clinical trials;

« the clinical indications for which the product igpeoved and the label approved by regulatory aittesifor use with the product,
including any warnings that may be required onldhel;

e acceptance by physicians and patients of the pt@dua safe and effective treatment and the wilkisg of the target patient population
to try new therapies and of physicians to presanie therapies;

« the cost, safety and efficacy of treatment in fefato alternative treatments;

< the availability of adequate course and reimburserng third-party payors and government authorities

. relative convenience and ease of administration;

e the prevalence and severity of adverse side effects

« the effectiveness of our sales and marketing effard

e  the restrictions on the use of our products togetfitn other medications, if any.

Market acceptance is critical to our ability to geate significant revenue. Any product candiddtapproved and commercialized, may be
accepted in only limited capacities or not atlalany approved products are not accepted by thieh#o the extent that we expect, we may not be

able to generate significant revenue and our basim®uld suffer.
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If we are unable to establish sales, marketing agtidtribution capabilities, we may not be successfutommercializing our product candidates
and when they are approved.

We do not have a sales or marketing infrastruaaehave no experience in the sale, marketingsiriolition of pharmaceutical products.
To achieve commercial success for any product fickvwe have obtained marketing approval, we vatad to establish a sales and marketing
organization.
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In the future, we expect to build a focused salebsraarketing infrastructure to market or co-pronstime of our product candidates in the
United States, if and when they are approved. Tagreisks involved with establishing our own safearketing and distribution capabilities. For
example, recruiting and training a sales forcexgeasive and time consuming and could delay anglymolaunch. If the commercial launch of a
product candidate for which we recruit a salesdad establish marketing capabilities is delayedbes not occur for any reason, we would have
prematurely or unnecessarily incurred these comalezation expenses. This may be costly, and ouesiment would be lost if we cannot retain or
reposition our sales and marketing personnel.

Factors that may inhibit our efforts to commeraelour products on our own include:

« our inability to recruit, train and retain adequatenbers of effective sales and marketing personnel
« the inability of sales personnel to obtain accegshysicians;

« the lack of adequate numbers of physicians to pleseny future products;

« the lack of complementary products to be offeredgdlgs personnel, which may put us at a competiisedvantage relative to
companies with more extensive product lines; and

« unforeseen costs and expenses associated witingraeatindependent sales and marketing organization

If we are unable to establish our own sales, margetnd distribution capabilities and enter inttaagements with third parties to perform
these services, our product revenues and our @bdfiy, if any, are likely to be lower than if weere to market, sell and distribute any producas th
we develop ourselves. In addition, we may not lesssful in entering into arrangements with thiadtips to sell, market and distribute our product
candidates or may be unable to do so on termsthdavorable to us. We likely will have little dool over such third parties, and any of them may
fail to devote the necessary resources and attetgtisell and market our products effectively. & do not establish sales, marketing and distributio
capabilities successfully, either on our own ocatlaboration with third parties, we will not becsessful in commercializing our product candidates.

Coverage and reimbursement may be limited or undadalie in certain market segments for our productradidates, which could make it difficult
for us to sell our products profitably

Market acceptance and sales of any approved paktdepend significantly on the availability aflequate coverage and reimbursement
from third-party payors and may be affected by tixisand future health care reform measures. Tpédy payors, such as government health care
programs, private health insurers and health maamtee organizations, decide which drugs they will/jmle coverage for and establish
reimbursement levels. Coverage and reimbursemeigides by a third-party payor may depend uponraber of factors, including the third-party
payor’'s determination that use of a product is:

. a covered benefit under its health plan;
« safe, effective and medically necessary;
- appropriate for the specific patient;

. cost-effective; and

e neither experimental nor investigational.

Third-party payors, whether foreign or domesticgovernmental or commercial, are developing indnegys sophisticated methods of
controlling health care costs. Coverage and reisguent can vary significantly from payor to payss.a result, obtaining coverage and
reimbursement approval for a product from each gowent and other third-party payor will requiretagprovide supporting scientific, clinical and
cost-effectiveness data for the use of our prodiacesich payor separately, with no assurance teatilvbe able to provide data sufficient to gain
acceptance with respect to coverage and reimburgelivMe cannot be sure that coverage or adequatduesement will be available for any of our
product candidates. Also, we cannot be sure thairage determinations or reimbursement amountswilfeduce the demand for, or the price of,
our products. If reimbursement is not availablés@vailable only to limited levels, we may notdlge to commercialize certain of our products. In
addition, in the United States third-party payaesiacreasingly attempting to contain health cargt< by limiting both coverage and the level of
reimbursement of new drugs. As a result, significarcertainty exists as to whether and how mudaidparty payors will reimburse patients for their
use of newly approved drugs, which in turn will pu¢ssure on the pricing of drugs.
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Price controls may be imposed, which may adversdfgct our future profitability.

In international markets, reimbursement and hezdtle payment systems vary significantly by courdnd many countries have instituted
price ceilings on specific products and theradiesome countries, particularly member states efEbropean Union, the pricing of prescription
pharmaceuticals is subject to governmental conimdhese countries, pricing negotiations with goweental authorities can take considerable time
after receipt of marketing approval for a prodlictaddition, there can be considerable pressugolgrnments and other stakeholders on coverage,
prices and reimbursement levels, including as glacbst containment measures. Political, econométragulatory developments may further
complicate pricing negotiations, and pricing negiitns may continue after coverage and reimbursehsnbeen obtained. Reference pricing used
by various European Union member states and phdikeibution, or arbitrage between low-priced drighpriced member states, can further rec
prices. In some countries, we may be required talgot a clinical trial or other studies that congptire cost-effectiveness of our product candidates
to other available vaccines in order to obtain aimain coverage, reimbursement or pricing apprdeablication of discounts by third-party payors
or authorities may lead to further pressure orptiees or reimbursement levels within the counfrpublication and other countries. There can be no
assurance that our vaccine candidates will be dersil cost-effective by third-party payors, thatdaquate level of reimbursement will be available
or that the third-party payors’ reimbursement geBowill not adversely affect our ability to sellroproducts profitably. If reimbursement of our
products is unavailable or limited in scope or antpar if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levedsy business could be adversely affected.

The impact of recent health care reform legislati@amd other changes in the health care industry ammchealth care spending on us is currently
unknown, and may adversely affect our business nlode

In the United States, and in some foreign jurisoid, the legislative landscape continues to evalue revenue prospects could be affected
by changes in health care spending and policyarhited States and abroad. We operate in a higiglylated industry and new laws or judicial
decisions, or new interpretations of existing lawslecisions, related to health care availabitite, method of delivery or payment for health care
products and services could negatively impact asirtess, operations and financial condition. Thesignificant interest in promoting health care
reform, as evidenced by the enactment in the UiStatks of the Patient Protection and Affordablee@ect, as amended by the Health Care and
Education Reconciliation Act in 2010. It is likelyat federal and state legislatures within the éthibtates and foreign governments will continue to
consider changes to existing health care legisiatide cannot predict the reform initiatives thatyrba adopted in the future or whether initiatives
that have been adopted will be repealed or modifibe continuing efforts of the government, inse@nompanies, managed care organizations and
other payors of health care services to contaneduce costs of health care may adversely affect:

e the demand for any drug products for which we miatgio regulatory approval;
e our ability to set a price that we believe is fair our products;

e our ability to obtain coverage and reimbursemeptayal for a product;

e our ability to generate revenues and achieve ontaiai profitability; and

« the level of taxes that we are required to pay.

We face substantial competition, which may resultathers discovering, developing or commercializipgpducts before, or more successfully,
than we do.

The development and commercialization of new dmaglpcts is highly competitive. Our future succespeahds on our ability to
demonstrate and maintain a competitive advantatferespect to the design, development and comnligatian of our product candidates. Our
objective is to design, develop and commercialie® products with superior efficacy, conveniencéerability and safety. In many cases, the
products that we commercialize will compete witlisérg, market-leading products.

Oral antivirals, such as valacyclovir and famcidépsare products currently approved to treat pasievith genital herpes. GEN-003, our lead
product candidate, will compete with these produé&pproved. In addition, one or more productsawrently approved for the treatment of genital
herpes, including pritelivir (AiCuris) and HerpV g&nus) and other vaccines in development by Admeddsand Vical Incorporated may in the
future be granted marketing approval for the tremtiof genital herpes or other conditions for wHgfaN-003 might be approved.
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Many of our potential competitors have significgrgteater financial, manufacturing, marketing, ddeyelopment, technical and human
resources than we do. Large pharmaceutical companiparticular, have extensive experience ind@dintesting, including recruiting patients,
obtaining regulatory approvals, recruiting patieantsl in manufacturing pharmaceutical products. &€augd established companies such as
Merck & Co., Inc., GlaxoSmithKline plc, Novartis)d., Sanofi Pasteur, SA, Pfizer Inc. and MediImmiuh& (a subsidiary of AstraZeneca PLC),
among others, compete in the vaccine market. Iticodar, these companies have greater experientexpertise in securing government contracts
and grants to support their research and developefifemts, conducting testing and clinical triabdtaining regulatory approvals to market products,
manufacturing such products on a broad scale amkietirag approved products. These companies alse sigwificantly greater research and
marketing capabilities than we do and may also Ipawducts that have been approved or are in lagestof development, and have collaborative
arrangements in our target markets with leadingpamies and research institutions. Established phaentical companies may also invest heavily to
accelerate discovery and development of novel camg® or to inicense novel compounds that could make the prothattwe develop obsolete. .

a result of all of these factors, our competitoes/raucceed in obtaining patent protection and/oh Bpproval or discovering, developing and
commercializing products before we do. In additiamy new product that competes with an approveduymtomust demonstrate compelling
advantages in efficacy, convenience, tolerabilitgi aafety in order to overcome price competitiod Bmbe commercially successful. If we are not
able to compete effectively against potential cotibqes, our business will not grow and our finahcandition and operations will suffer.

Our products may cause undesirable side effecthave other properties that delay or prevent theegulatory approval or limit their commercial
potential.

Undesirable side effects caused by our producésy@n competing products in development that utdiz@mmon mechanism of action ca
cause us or regulatory authorities to interruptgyler halt clinical trials and could result in thenial of regulatory approval by the FDA or other
regulatory authorities and potential product ligpitlaims. We are currently conducting a Phasércal trial for GEN-003 and a Phase 2a clinical
trial for GEN-004. Serious adverse events deemée tcaused by our product candidates could havaterial adverse effect on the development of
our product candidates and our business as a whodemost common adverse events to date in thiealittial evaluating the safety and tolerability
of GEN-003 have been fatigue, myalgia (muscle pgiain tenderness and induration (inflammatory éairty of the skin). Our understanding of the
relationship between GEN-003 and these eventselisiwour understanding of adverse events inéutiinical trials of other product candidates,
may change as we gather more information, andiaddltunexpected adverse events may be observed.

If we or others identify undesirable side effeasged by our product candidates either beforeter edceipt of marketing approval, a
number of potentially significant negative consetes could result, including:

e our clinical trials may be put on hold;

* we may be unable to obtain regulatory approvabfarvaccine candidates;

e regulatory authorities may withdraw approvals of wvaccines;

e regulatory authorities may require additional wags on the label;

« amedication guide outlining the risks of such ®ffects for distribution to patients may be reqdir
e we could be sued and held liable for harm causgeatients; and

e our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us from achiewvingnaintaining market acceptance of our products@uld substantially increase
commercialization costs.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

Our level of indebtedness and debt service obligiasi could adversely affect our financial conditioand may make it more difficult for us to fund
our operations.

In November 2014 we entered into a secured cradilitfy consisting of a working capital term loaacflity with Hercules Technology
Growth Capital, Inc. providing for term loans of tqpan aggregate of $27.0 million. On NovemberZi,4, we drew down an initial $12.0 million
under our secured credit facility and paid off then-existing secured credit facility. All obligattis
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under our secured credit facility are secured tpstntially all of our existing property and assetsluding our intellectual property and licensed-
technology. This indebtedness may create additiimahcing risk for us, particularly if our busirsesr prevailing financial market conditions are not
conducive to paying off or refinancing our outstewgddebt obligations at maturity. This indebtednemsld also have important negative
consequences, including:

« we will need to repay our indebtedness by makingrgts of interest and principal, which will redube amount of money available
to finance our operations, our research and dewadop efforts and other general corporate actiyiaes!

e our failure to comply with the restrictive covensirt our secured credit facility could result inerent of default that, if not cured or
waived, would accelerate our obligation to repay thdebtedness, and the lender could seek to@nity security interest in the assets
securing such indebtedness.

To the extent additional debt is added to our curdebt levels, the risks described above coulcbase.

We may not have cash available to us in an amouurfisient to enable us to make interest or principgayments on our indebtedness when due.

Failure to satisfy our current and future debt gditions under our secured credit facility couldutes an event of default and, as a result,

our lender could accelerate all of the amounts tluthe event of an acceleration of amounts dueuodr secured credit facility as a result of an
event of default, we may not have sufficient fundsnay be unable to arrange for additional finagdmrepay our indebtedness. In addition, our
lender could seek to enforce its security intergsthe assets securing such indebtedness.

We are subject to certain restrictive covenants efiif breached, could have a material adverse effen our business and prospects.

Our secured credit facility imposes operating atiborestrictions on us. Such restrictions wileaff and in many respects limit or prohibit,
our ability and the ability of any future subsidido, among other things:

. dispose of certain assets;
e change our lines of business;
e engage in mergers or consolidations;
. incur additional indebtedness;
. create liens on assets;
e pay dividends and make distributions or repurclmasecapital stock; and
e engage in certain transactions with affiliates.
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

If we fail to attract and keep senior managementdkey scientific personnel, we may be unable tocssfully develop our products, conduct ¢
clinical trials and commercialize our product candttes.

We are highly dependent on members of our senioagement, including William Clark, our Presidentl @hief Executive Officer, Seth
Hetherington, M.D., our Chief Medical Officer, Jdinan Poole, our Chief Financial Officer, Eric Hoim our Chief Business Officer, Jessica
Flechtner, Ph.D., our Senior Vice President of Rese and Paul Giannasca, Ph.D., our Vice Presi@opharmaceutical Development and
Production. The loss of the services of any ofélgersons could impede the achievement of our idsedevelopment and commercialization
objectives. We have employment agreements with efttfese members of senior management and we airamkeyman insurance policy on
Mr. Clark for $2.0 million.

Recruiting and retaining qualified scientific, ¢tial, manufacturing, sales and marketing persowilelso be critical to our success. The
loss of the services of our executive officers thieo key employees could impede the achievemeontiofesearch, development and
commercialization objectives and seriously harmatility to successfully implement our businesatsmy.
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Furthermore, replacing executive officers and kepleyees may be difficult and may take an extermuiribd of time because of the limited number
of individuals in our industry with the breadthsHills and experience required to successfully bgyegain regulatory approval of and commercie
products. Competition to hire from this limited p@intense, and we may be unable to hire, tra@tain or motivate these key personnel on
acceptable terms given the competition among nuansgpbarmaceutical and biotechnology companiesiiuiss personnel. We also experience
competition for the hiring of scientific and climicpersonnel from universities and research irntits. In addition, we rely on consultants and
advisors, including scientific and clinical advispto assist us in formulating our research an@ldgwment and commercialization strategy. Our
consultants and advisors may be employed by emmtber than us and may have commitments undeuttorg or advisory contracts with other
entities that may limit their availability to ug.Wwe are unable to continue to attract and retah uality personnel, our ability to pursue ounwth
strategy will be limited.

Our employees, independent contractors, principatéstigators, consultants, commercial partners, arehdors may engage in misconduct or
other improper activities, including noncompliancgith regulatory standards and requirements and idsr trading.

We are exposed to the risk of fraudulent or othegal activity by our employees, independent cacttrs, principal investigators,
consultants, commercial partners, and vendors.dvidact by these parties could include intentioreadkless and/or negligent conduct that fails: to
comply with the laws of the FDA and similar foreigggulatory bodies; provide true, complete and esteuinformation to the FDA and similar
foreign regulatory bodies; to comply with manufatig standards we have established; to comply feitleral, state and foreign health care fraud
abuse laws and regulations; to report financialrimiation or data accurately; or to disclose unaighd activities to us. In particular, the promatio
sale and marketing of health care items and sexvazwell as certain business arrangements inethiéh care industry are subject to extensive laws
and regulations intended to prevent misconduchidicg fraud, kickbacks, self-dealing and othersibe practices. These laws and regulations may
restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, disoting, marketing and, structuring and commissiprg@rtain customer incentive programs and other
business arrangements. Activities subject to these also involve the improper use of informatidniained in the course of patient recruitment for
clinical trials. It is not always possible to idéptand deter such misconduct, and the precauticntake to detect and prevent this activity maybe
effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged riskdosses or in protecting us from governmenteggtigations or other actions or lawsuits
stemming from a failure to be in compliance witlelslaws or regulations. If any such actions arétinted against us, and we are not successful in
defending ourselves or asserting our rights, tlasens could have a significant impact on our bess, including the imposition of civil, criminal
and administrative penalties, damages, monetaeg fidisgorgement, possible exclusion from parttmpan Medicare, Medicaid and other federal
health care programs, contractual damages, repoghthnarm, diminished profits and future earniraggj curtailment or restructuring of our
operations, any of which could adversely affectahility to operate our business and our resultspefations.

Our relationships with health care professionalsistitutional providers, principal investigators, osultants, customers (actual and potential) and
third-party payors are, and will continue to be, Igject, directly and indirectly, to federal and stahealth care fraud and abuse, false claims,
marketing expenditure tracking and disclosure, gomment price reporting, and health information pracy and security laws. If we are unable to
comply, or have not fully complied, with such lawse could face penalties, including, without limitan, civil, criminal, and administrative
penalties, damages, monetary fines, disgorgemeossible exclusion from participation in Medicare, &dlicaid and other federal health ca
programs, contractual damages, reputational harnimihished profits and future earnings, and curtailemt or restructuring of our operations

Our business operations and activities may be tfiirec indirectly subject to various federal andtstfraud and abuse laws, including,
without limitation, the federal Anti-Kickback Statuand the federal False Claims Act. If we obtddAFRapproval for any of our product candidates
and begin commercializing those products in thedéhStates, our potential exposure under such\alvimcrease significantly, and our costs
associated with compliance with such laws are léitsty to increase. These laws may impact, amohgrothings, our current activities with principal
investigators and research subjects, as well gmpeal and future sales, marketing and educatiarams. In addition, we may be subject to patient
privacy regulation by the federal government amdesgovernments in which we conduct our busindss.ldws that may affect our ability to operate
include, but are not limited to:

- the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibisnong other things, knowingly and willfully solicig, receiving, offering or paying
any remuneration (including any kickback, briberelvate), directly or indirectly, overtly or cougrtin cash or in kind, to induce, or in
return for, either the referral of an individual,the purchase, lease, order or recommendationyofjaod, facility, item or service for
which payment may be made, in whole or in partauradfederal health care program, such as the Mexland Medicaid programs;

- federal civil and criminal false claims laws andilcmonetary penalty laws, which prohibit, amongert things, individuals or entities
from knowingly presenting, or causing to be preséntlaims for payment or approval from Medicaredidaid, or other third-party
payors that are false or fraudulent or knowinglykimg a false statement to improperly avoid, de@easconceal an obligation to pay
money to the federal government;
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« the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accahility Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which created neederal criminal statutes that
prohibit knowingly and willfully executing, or attgting to execute, a scheme to defraud any heaithlzenefit program or obtain, by
means of false or fraudulent pretenses, represeméabr promises, any of the money or propertyevioy, or under the custody or
control of, any health care benefit program, regamsiof the payor (e.g., public or private) andwimgly and willfully falsifying,
concealing, or covering up by any trick or deviaaaterial fact or making any materially false sta¢@ts in connection with the delivi
of, or payment for, health care benefits, itemsewices relating to health care matters;

« HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Techgglfor Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009aheir respective
implementing regulations, which impose requirememtgertain covered health care providers, heddthsp and health care
clearinghouses as well as their respective busirssciates that perform services for them thatltevthe use, or disclosure of,
individually identifiable health information, reiag to the privacy, security and transmission dfividually identifiable health
information without appropriate authorization;

« the federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act, ateaider Section 6002 of the Patient ProtectionAffardable Care Act, as amend
by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation@@&010, collectively, ACA, and its implementinggulations requires
manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologicals andica supplies for which payment is available uridiedicare, Medicaid or the
Children’s Health Insurance Program (with certaioeptions) to report annually to the United St@epartment of Health and Human
Services information related to payments or ottersfers of value made to physicians (defined ¢ctudte doctors, dentists, optometri
podiatrists and chiropractors) and teaching holspiés well as ownership and investment interesi iy physicians and their
immediate family members, with data collection rieeg beqinning August 1, 2013 and reporting toGeaters for Medicare &
Medicaid Services required by March 31, 2014 anthieyo0 h day of each subsequent calendar year;

« federal consumer protection and unfair competitiavs, which broadly regulate marketplace activitieg activities that potentially
harm consumers;

« federal government price reporting laws, changed®® to, among other things, increase the minimuedMaid rebates owed by
most manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug RebaigrBm and offer such rebates to additional pojariaf that require us to
calculate and report complex pricing metrics toggament programs, where such reported prices magdet in the calculation of
reimbursement and/or discounts on our marketedsdjparticipation in these programs and complianitle thie applicable requirements
may subject us to potentially significant discoumisour products, increased infrastructure cosid ptentially limit our ability to offer
certain marketplace discounts);

e the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, a United Stiteswhich regulates certain financial relationshigth foreign government officials
(which could include, for example, certain medimaifessionals); and

. state law equivalents of each of the above fedavad, such as anti-kickback, false claims, consuymnatection and unfair competition
laws which may apply to our business practicesuding but not limited to, research, distributisaJes and marketing arrangements as
well as submitting claims involving health caraniteor services reimbursed by any third-party payatuding commercial insurers;
state laws that require pharmaceutical companiesntply with the pharmaceutical industry’s volugtaompliance guidelines and the
relevant compliance guidance promulgated by therfddjovernment that otherwise restricts paymérasray be made to health care
providers; state laws that require drug manufactuto file reports with states regarding marketinfprmation, such as the tracking i
reporting of gifts, compensations and other remaiien and items of value provided to health casfgssionals and entities
(compliance with such requirements may requirestment in infrastructure to ensure that trackingagormed properly, and some of
these laws result in the public disclosure of wasitypes of payments and relationships, which cpaténtially have a negative effect
our business and/or increase enforcement scrufioyroactivities); and state laws governing thegey and security of health
information in certain circumstances, many of whddtfier from each other in significant ways, witlffering effects.

In addition, the regulatory approval and commeizadion of any of our product candidates outsideUiited States will also likely subject
us to foreign equivalents of the health care lawstioned above, among other foreign laws.

Efforts to ensure that our business arrangemetitsamply with applicable health care laws may ilmeosubstantial costs. It is possible that
governmental and enforcement authorities will codelthat our business practices may not comply eithent or future statutes, regulations or case
law interpreting applicable fraud and abuse or oliealth care laws and regulations. If our operetiare found to be in violation of any of the laws
described above or any other governmental regulatioat apply to us, we may be subject to penaltiekiding, without limitation, civil, criminal,
and administrative penalties, damages, monetaeg fin
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disgorgement, possible exclusion from participatioMedicare, Medicaid and other federal healtleqaograms, contractual damages, reputational
harm, diminished profits and future earnings, amdai/ment or restructuring of our operations.

We may encounter difficulties in managing our grolwvand expanding our operations successfully.

As we seek to advance our product candidates throligical trials and commercialization, we willegtto expand our development,
regulatory, manufacturing, marketing and sales lodipas or contract with third parties to provitteese capabilities for us. As our operations expand
we expect that we will need to manage additionaki@nships with various strategic partners, sugpland other third parties. Future growth will
impose significant added responsibilities on memlsémanagement. Our future financial performammk@ur ability to commercialize our product
candidates and to compete effectively will depemgbart, on our ability to manage any future growtfectively. To that end, we must be able to
manage our development efforts and clinical tréddectively and hire, train and integrate additiomanagement, administrative and, if necessary,
sales and marketing personnel. We may not be atdedomplish these tasks, and our failure to actismany of them could prevent us from
successfully growing our company.

If product liability lawsuits are brought againstsj we may incur substantial liabilities and may kequired to limit commercialization of ou
product candidates

We face an inherent risk of product liability aseault of the clinical testing of our product cateties and will face an even greater risk if we
commercialize any products. For example, we maguael if any product we develop allegedly causesynjr is found to be otherwise unsuitable
during product testing, manufacturing, marketingale. Any such product liability claims may incdudllegations of defects in manufacturing,
defects in design, a failure to warn of dangergiiaht in the product, negligence, strict liabibityd a breach of warranties. Claims could also be
asserted under state consumer protection act& tfannot successfully defend ourselves againstptdidbility claims, we may incur substantial
liabilities or be required to limit commercializati of our product candidates. Even a successfehdefwould require significant financial and
management resources. Regardless of the meritentual outcome, liability claims may result in:

» decreased demand for any product candidates ougpiothat we may develop;

* injury to our reputation and significant negativedia attention;

«  withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

e significant costs to defend the related litigations

. a diversion of management’s time and our resources;

e substantial monetary awards to trial participamtpatients;

e product recalls, withdrawals, or labeling, markgtor promotional restrictions;

. loss of revenue;

« the inability to commercialize any product candégathat we may develop; and

e adecline in our stock price.

Failure to obtain and retain sufficient producblidy insurance at an acceptable cost to protgetirest potential product liability claims col
prevent or inhibit the commercialization of produate develop. We currently carry product liabilitgurance covering our clinical trials in the
amount of $5.0 million in the aggregate. Although mraintain product liability insurance, any claimatmay be brought against us could result in a
court judgment or settlement in an amount thabtscovered, in whole or in part, by our insurancéhat is in excess of the limits of our insurance
coverage. Our insurance policies also have vagaabisions, and we may be subject to a produdtitiablaim for which we have no coverage. We
will have to pay any amounts awarded by a courtegjotiated in a settlement that exceed our covdiaifations or that are not covered by our

insurance, and we may not have, or be able torgkgafficient capital to pay such amounts.
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We must comply with environmental laws and regutats, and failure to comply with these laws and réafions could expose us to significant
liabilities.

We use hazardous chemicals and radioactive andgidall materials in certain aspects of our busiaessare subject to a variety of federal,
state and local laws and regulations governingitfee generation, manufacture, distribution, staragadling, treatment and disposal of these
materials. We cannot eliminate the risk of accidkimjury or contamination from the use, manufagfwistribution, storage, handling, treatment or
disposal of hazardous materials. In the event ofasnination or injury, or failure to comply withx\@ronmental, occupational health and safety and
export control laws and regulations, we could bie hable for any resulting damages and any suahility could exceed our assets and resource:
are uninsured for third-party contamination injury.

We may not be able to win government, academiciin§on or non-profit contracts or grants.

From time to time, we may apply for contracts args from government agencies, non-profit enteied academic institutions. Such grants
have been our only source of revenue to date. Sotracts or grants can be highly attractive bez#usy provide capital to fund the ongoing
development of our technologies and product camelidaithout diluting our stockholders. However rehis often significant competition for these
contracts or grants. Entities offering contractg@nts may have requirements to apply for or hewtise be eligible to receive certain contracts or
grants that our competitors may be able to satfsfyywe cannot. In addition, such entities may nedétrary decisions as to whether to offer
contracts or make grants, to whom the contractganmts will be awarded and the size of the corgracgrants to each awardee. Even if we are able
to satisfy the award requirements, there is noajuae that we will be a successful awardee. Thexefee may not be able to win any contracts or
grants in a timely manner, if at all.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

We are eligible to be treated as an “emerging grbowbmpany” as defined in the Jumpstart Our BusineStartups Act of 2012, and we cannot be
certain if the reduced disclosure requirements ajgpble to emerging growth companies will make ownemon stock less attractive to investors.

We are an “emerging growth company”, as definethénJOBS Act. For as long as we continue to benagrging growth company, we may
take advantage of exemptions from various reporéngirements that are applicable to other puldioganies that are not emerging growth
companies. These exemptions include:

* being permitted to provide only two years of autlifi@ancial statements, in addition to any requinedudited interim financial
statements, with correspondingly reduced “Managém&iscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditeomd Results of Operations”
disclosure;

* not being required to comply with the auditor atiien requirements in the assessment of our iat@ontrol over financial reporting;

e not being required to comply with any requiremésaittmay be adopted by the Public Company Accour@wersight Board providing
for supplemental auditor’s reports for additiomgbrmation about the audit and the financial statets;

« reduced disclosure obligations regarding executdrapensation; and

« exemptions from the requirements of holding a nodinig advisory vote on executive compensation &adeholder approval of any
golden parachute payments not previously approved.

We have taken advantage of reduced reporting barigethis prospectus. For example, we have notided all of the executive
compensation related information that would be ieqgLif we were not an emerging growth company. dafenot predict whether investors will find
our common stock less attractive if we rely on ¢hesemptions. If some investors find our commouglstess attractive as a result, there may be a
less active trading market for our common stock @mdstock price may be more volatile. In addititre JOBS Act provides that an emerging grc
company can take advantage of an extended tramgiginod for complying with new or revised accongtstandards. This allows an emerging
growth company to delay the adoption of these autog standards until they would otherwise applptivate companies. We have irrevocably
elected not to avail ourselves of this exemptiod, dimerefore, we will be subject to the same newewvised accounting standards as other public
companies that are not emerging growth companies.
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We could be an emerging growth company for upue fiears, although circumstances could cause losédhat status earlier, including if
the market value of our common stock held by ndifists exceeds $700.0 million as of any June 8@t that time or if we have total annual gross
revenue of $1.0 billion or more during any fiscaby before that time, in which cases we would mgés be an emerging growth company as of the
following December 31 or, if we issue more tharOddillion in non-convertible debt during any thrgear period before that time, we would cease to
be an emerging growth company immediately. Eveer afe no longer qualify as an emerging growth camgpave may still qualify as a “smaller
reporting company” if the market value of our coomstock held by non-affiliates is below $75.0 noiflias of June 30 in any given year, which
would allow us to take advantage of many of theesagemptions from disclosure requirements, inclgdiat being required to comply with the
auditor attestation requirements of Section 40thefSarbanes-Oxley Act and reduced disclosure afiiigs regarding executive compensation in our
periodic reports and proxy statements.

We cannot predict what the market price of our commstock will be and, as a result, it may be ditficfor you to sell your shares of our commc
stock.

An inactive market may impair our ability to raicapital by selling shares of our common stock aagl impair our ability to enter into
strategic partnerships or acquire companies orymsdy using our shares of common stock as cordide. We cannot predict the prices at which
our common stock will trade. It is possible thabime or more future periods our results of openatimay be below the expectations of public market
analysts and investors and, as a result of thedsether factors, the price of our common stock ffiadly
If our stock price is volatile, our stockholders alal incur substantial losses

Our stock price is likely to be volatile. The stautlarket in general and the market for biopharmacautompanies in particular have
experienced extreme volatility that has often bemrmelated to the operating performance of particctenpanies. As a result of this volatility, our
stockholders could incur substantial losses. Thketgrice for our common stock may be influencgdrtany factors, including:

« the success of competitive products or technolggies

e results of clinical trials of our product candidgte

« the timing of the release of results of our clihicels;

e results of clinical trials of our competitors’ practs;

*  regulatory actions or legal developments with respeour products or our competitors’ products;

« developments or disputes concerning patent apjaitatissued patents or other proprietary rights;

« the results of our efforts to discover, develomuae or in-license additional product candidateproducts;

« actual or anticipated fluctuations in our finanaahdition and operating results;

e publication of research reports by securities atalgbout us or our competitors or our industry;

e our failure or the failure of our competitors toehanalysts’ projections or guidance that we orammpetitors may give to the market;

e additions and departures of key personnel;

e strategic decisions by us or our competitors, fischcquisitions, divestitures, spin-offs, joint weas, strategic investments or changes
in business strategy;

« the passage of legislation or other regulatory igreents affecting us or our industry;
« fluctuations in the valuation of companies percdileg investors to be comparable to us;
. sales of our common stock by us, our insiders oother stockholders;
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e speculation in the press or investment community;
e announcement or expectation of additional finaneifigrts;
e changes in accounting principles;
e terrorist acts, acts of war or periods of widesgreigil unrest;
*  natural disasters and other calamities;
» changes in market conditions for biopharmaceustatks; and
e changes in general market and economic conditions.

In addition, the stock market has recently expeeersignificant volatility, particularly with resgieto pharmaceutical, biotechnology and
other life sciences company stocks. The volatditpharmaceutical, biotechnology and other lifeeaces company stocks often does not relate to the
operating performance of the companies represdmteéide stock. As we operate in a single industry ane especially vulnerable to these factors to
the extent that they affect our industry or ourdurets, or to a lesser extent our markets. In tisé gacurities class action litigation has oftearbe
initiated against companies following periods ofatility in their stock price. This type of litigain could result in substantial costs and divert ou
management’s attention and resources, and cowdedgire us to make substantial payments to ggtigfjments or to settle litigation.

Our executive officers, directors and principal sicholders own a significant percentage of our stoaikd will be able to exert significant control
over matters subject to stockholder approval.

As of February 15, 2015, our executive officers dimdctors, combined with our stockholders who odvim®re than 5% of our outstanding
common stock, beneficially own shares represergpmgoximately 64.2% of our capital stock. Accordynghese stockholders will be able to exert a
significant degree of influence over our managenaentaffairs and over matters requiring stockho#ggaroval, including the election of our boar:
directors and approval of significant corporatesections. This concentration of ownership coultehtae effect of entrenching our management
and/or the board of directors, delaying or prevent change in our control or otherwise discourggipotential acquirer from attempting to obtain
control of us, which in turn could have a matesiatl adverse effect on the fair market value ofommmon stock.

We have had a material weakness in internal contooker financial reporting in the past and cannotsasre you that additional material
weaknesses will not be identified in the future. Ofailure to implement and maintain effective intaal control over financial reporting could
result in material misstatements in our financiatatements which could require us to restate finaalkcstatements, cause investors to lose
confidence in our reported financial information ah have a negative effect on our stock price.

As reported in our Quarterly Report on Form 104@dfiwith the SEC on May 9, 2014, during the quaetedted March 31, 2014,
management and our independent registered puldauating firm identified a material weakness in ouernal control over financial reporting (as
defined in the Public Company Accounting OversiBbard’'s Auditing Standard No. 5) related to theaastting for a non-cash stock compensation
expense for a milestone-based stock option awasdh&Ve remediated this material weakness, by imgiding corrective measures as described in
our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quartetesl March 31, 2014.

We cannot assure you that additional material wesdes or significant deficiencies in our interradtool over financial reporting will not
be identified in the future. Any failure to maimair implement required new or improved controtsamy difficulties we encounter in their
implementation, could result in additional mateviedaknesses or significant deficiencies, cause {&ltto meet our periodic reporting obligations o
result in material misstatements in our financiatesments. Any such failure could also adversdigcathe results of periodic management
evaluations regarding the effectiveness of ourriratiecontrol over financial reporting. The existeraf a material weakness or significant deficiency
could result in errors in our financial statemethtst could result in a restatement of financialesteents, cause us to fail to meet our reporting
obligations and cause investors to lose confidémeerr reported financial information, leading tdecline in our stock price.
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We incur significant costs as a result of being algic company and our management expects to degotestantial time to public company
compliance programs.

As a public company, we incur significant legakurance, accounting and other expenses that wsotlidcur as a private company. In
addition, our administrative staff are requiregp&sform additional tasks. For example, in antidgrabf becoming a public company, we adopted
additional internal controls and disclosure corstamhd procedures and bear all of the internal atetreal costs of preparing and distributing perodi
public reports in compliance with our obligationsder the securities laws. We invest resources igpbowith evolving laws, regulations and
standards, and this investment could result ireiased general and administrative expenses and in&y mhanagement’s time and attention from
product development activities. If our efforts mply with new laws, regulations and standardedififom the activities intended by regulatory or
governing bodies due to ambiguities related totpracregulatory authorities may initiate legal ggedings against us and our business may be
harmed. In connection with our initial public offfeg, we increased our directors’ and officers’ irmce coverage, which increased our insurance
cost. In the future, it will be more expensive fisrto obtain director and officer liability insu@m and we may be required to accept reduced ags
or incur substantially higher costs to obtain cager These factors could also make it more diffimrlus to attract and retain qualified members of
our board of directors, particularly to serve om audit committee and compensation committee, aradifeed executive officers.

In addition, in order to comply with the requirentgenf being a public company, we have and may heeddertake various actions,
including implementing new internal controls andgedures and hiring new accounting or internaltasidif. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that
we maintain effective disclosure controls and pdotes and internal control over financial reportie are continuing to develop and refine our
disclosure controls and other procedures thatesgded to ensure that information required toibelased by us in the reports that we file with the
SEC is recorded, processed, summarized and repaittgid the time periods specified in the SEC’semibind forms, and that information required to
be disclosed in reports under the Securities Exghdct of 1934 as amended, or the Exchange Aet;dgamulated and communicated to our
principal executive and financial officers. Anyléae to develop or maintain effective controls ebativersely affect the results of periodic
management evaluations. In the event that we arabie to demonstrate compliance with the Sarb&hdsy Act, that our internal control over
financial reporting is perceived as inadequatehat we are unable to produce timely or accurat@nitial statements, investors may lose confidence
in our operating results and the price of our cadirshares could decline. In addition, if we arahla to continue to meet these requirements, we
not be able to remain listed on the NASDAQ Globalrkét.

Since becoming a public company, we are requireioply with certain of the SEC's rules that imprhSection 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, which require management to certify fin@l and other information in our quarterly andaal reports and provide an annual
management report on the effectiveness of ourriaterontrol over financial reporting commencinghwatur second annual report. This assessment
must include the disclosure of any material weakegdn our internal control over financial repagtidentified by our management or our
independent registered public accounting firm. Toi@ve compliance with Section 404 within the prisd period, we engage in a process to
document and evaluate our internal control ovearfaial reporting, which is both costly and challegg In this regard, we will need to continue to
dedicate internal resources, potentially engagsideiconsultants and adopt a detailed work plassess and document the adequacy of internal
control over financial reporting, continue stepsniprove control processes as appropriate, valideiteigh testing that controls are functioning as
documented and implement a continuous reportingrapdovement process for internal control over ficial reporting. Despite our efforts, there
risk that we will not be able to conclude, withiretprescribed timeframe or at all, that our inteaoatrol over financial reporting is effective as
required by Section 404. If we identify one or moraterial weaknesses, it could result in an advexaetion in the financial markets due to a loss of
confidence in the reliability of our financial statent.

Our independent registered public accounting firithwot be required to formally attest to the etfeeness of our internal control over
financial reporting until the later of our seconthaal report or the first annual report requiretvédiled with the SEC following the date we are no
longer an “emerging growth company” as definechimdJOBS Act. We cannot assure you that there wilbe material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies in our internal controls in the future

Provisions in our charter documents and under Delare law have an-takeover effects that could discourage an acqusitof us by others, even
if an acquisition would be beneficial to our stocklders, and prevent attempts by our stockholdersejplace or remove our current management.

Provisions in our amended and restated certifichtecorporation and amended and restated by-lamtam provisions that may have the
effect of discouraging, delaying or preventing arale in control of us or changes in our managenidmse provisions could also limit the price that
investors might be willing to pay in the future firares of our common stock, thereby depressinmérket price of our common stock. In addition,
because our board of directors is responsiblegpoiting the members of our management team, {hresgsions may frustrate or prevent any
attempts by our stockholders to replace or remavecorrent management by making it more difficolt $tockholders to replace members of our
board of directors. Among other things, these wiowis:
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» authorize “blank check” preferred stock, which abhbk issued by our board of directors without shadtter approval and may contain
voting, liquidation, dividend and other rights stipeto our common stock;

» create a classified board of directors whose mesndeve staggered three-year terms;

» specify that special meetings of our stockholdersize called only by our board of directors, thairgderson of our board of directors,
our chief executive officer or our president;

« prohibit stockholder action by written consent;

» establish an advance notice procedure for stockh@pprovals to be brought before an annual meefingr stockholders, including
proposed nominations of persons for election tobmard of directors;

e provide that our directors may be removed onlyciuse;

e provide that vacancies on our board of directorg brefilled only by a majority of directors thenadffice, even though less than a
quorum

« specify that no stockholder is permitted to cunwilaites at any election of directors;
« expressly authorize our board of directors to madifter or repeal our by-laws; and

e require supermajority votes of the holders of ammon stock to amend specified provisions of oulas.
These provisions, alone or together, could delgyrevent hostile takeovers and changes in controhanges in our management.

Moreover, because we are incorporated in Delawegegre governed by the provisions of Section 20B®Delaware General Corporation
Law, which prohibits a person who owns in excess586 of our outstanding voting stock from mergimgombining with us for a period of three
years after the date of the transaction in whiehgérson acquired in excess of 15% of our outstanedting stock, unless the merger or combina
is approved in a prescribed manner.

Any provision of our amended and restated certificd incorporation, our amended and restated Wg-lar Delaware law that has the effect of
delaying or deterring a change in control couldtlifme opportunity for our stockholders to receaspremium for their shares of our common stock,
and could also affect the price that some investogwilling to pay for our common stock.

Our ability to use net operating losses to offseture taxable income may be subject to certain liations.

In general, under Section 382 of the Internal ReeeBode of 1986, as amended, or the Code, a ctigpothat undergoes an “ownership
change” is subject to limitations on its abilityutlize its pre-change net operating losses, oL ®@o offset future taxable income. Our existing
NOLs may be subject to substantial limitationsiagdrom previous ownership changes, and if we mgpa@n ownership change in connection v
or after this offering, our ability to utilize NOLlsould be further limited by Section 382 of the €obh addition, future changes in our stock
ownership, many of which are outside of our controlld result in an ownership change under Se&gof the Code. Our NOLs may also be
impaired under state law. Accordingly, we may netble to utilize a material portion of our NOLsirfhermore, our ability to utilize our NOLs is
conditioned upon our attaining profitability andhgeating U.S. federal taxable income. We have mclinet losses since our inception and anticipate
that we will continue to incur significant losses the foreseeable future; thus, we do not knowtldreor when we will generate the U.S. federal
taxable income necessary to utilize our NOLs.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporatidesignates the state or federal courts locatethie State of Delaware as the sole and
exclusive forum for certain types of actions andogmeedings that may be initiated by our stockholdewhich could limit our stockholders’ ability
to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputesith us or our directors, officers or employees.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpamatirovides that, subject to limited exceptions, state and federal courts located in the
State of Delaware will be the sole and exclusiverfofor (1) any derivative action or proceedingugbt on our behalf, (2) any action asserting a
claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by anyoof directors, officers or other employees to uswrstockholders, (3) any action asserting a claim
against us arising pursuant to any provision oM@b&ware General Corporation Law, our amendedresizted certificate of incorporation or our
amended and restated by-laws or (4) any otherraaserting a claim
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against us that is governed by the internal affdactrine. Any person or entity purchasing or otfise acquiring any interest in shares of our chpita
stock shall be deemed to have notice of and to bamsented to the provisions of our amended artdtegiscertificate of incorporation described
above. This choice of forum provision may limittackholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicifdrum that it finds favorable for disputes with us
or our directors, officers or other employees, Whitay discourage such lawsuits against us andimeotdrs, officers and employees. Alternatively,
if a court were to find these provisions of our ashed and restated certificate of incorporation jpligpble to, or unenforceable in respect of, one or
more of the specified types of actions or procegslive may incur additional costs associated weiiolving such matters in other jurisdictions,
which could adversely affect our business and fifedrcondition.

Because we do not anticipate paying any cash dimtkeon our capital stock in the foreseeable futumapital appreciation, if any, will be th
source of gain for our stockholder:

You should not rely on an investment in our commstmek to provide dividend income. We do not antitgpthat we will pay any cash
dividends to holders of our common stock in the$eeable future. Instead, we plan to retain anyirggs to maintain and expand our operations. In
addition, our ability to pay cash dividends is emtty prohibited by the terms of our debt financargangement, and any future debt financing
arrangement may contain terms prohibiting or lingtthe amount of dividends that may be declarguh@ on our common stock. Accordingly,
investors must rely on sales of their common stfdr price appreciation, which may never occuthasonly way to realize any return on their
investment. As a result, investors seeking casideinds should not purchase our common stock.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
Item 2. Properties

Our principal executive offices are located at 28@rn Park Drive, 3 floor, Cambridge, Massachus@#140, where we occupy
approximately 23,666 square feet of laboratory @ffide space. Our lease term expires on Februarg@B7. We believe that our existing facilities
are sufficient for our present and future operatj@nd we currently have no plans to lease additipace.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time we are subject to various legatpedings and claims that arise in the ordinaysmof our business activities. Although
the results of litigation and claims cannot be jted with certainty, as of the date of this AnnRalport on Form 10-K, we do not believe we are
party to any claim or litigation, the outcome ofioth if determined adversely to us, would indivitlpar in the aggregate be reasonably expected to
have a material adverse effect on our businesaamegs of the outcome, litigation can have an esdvinpact on us because of defense and
settlement costs, diversion of management resoargsther factors.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Sto&holder Matters and Issuers Purchases of Equity Sexities
Market Information
Our common stock has been publicly traded on th&DNAQ Global Market under the symbol “GNCA” sincebReary 5, 2014. Prior to that

time, there was no public market for our commorrlstd he following table sets forth, for the periaddicated, the high and low sales prices for our
common stock as reported on the NASDAQ Global Miarke

Year ended December 31, 201 High Low

First quarter (1 $ 23.9¢ $ 10.9(
Second quarte $ 23.9¢ $ 16.7¢
Third quartel $ 20.0C $ 8.9C
Fourth quarte $ 944 % 7.0C

(1) Represents the period from February 5, 2014, ttee@awhich our common stock first began to tradé¢he NASDAQ Global
Market after the pricing of our initial public offag, through March 31, 2014, the end of our fiistal quarter.

Holders

As of February 20, 2015, there were approximatdialders of record of our common stock. This nuntlmes not include beneficial owners
whose shares are held by nominees in street name.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ooa@umon stock, and we do not expect to pay anly dasdends on our common stock in
the foreseeable future.

61




Table of Contents
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

The following table contains information about eguity compensation plans as of December 31, 2014.

Column A Column B Column C (2)
Number of securities
Weighted- remaining available
Number of securities average exercise for future issuance
to be issued upon price of under equity
exercise of outstanding compensation plans
outstanding stock options, (excluding securities
options, warrants warrants and reflected in column
Plan Category and rights rights A)
Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrsigl) 2,290,33° % 7.2€ 268,16
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechotglers — — —
Total 2,290,33. % 7.2€ 268,16

Q) Includes information regarding our 2007 Equity Imidee Plan and our 2014 Equity Incentive Plan.

2 Includes 83,015 shares of our Common Stock availfislissuance under our 2014 Equity Incentive Rlzah 185,154 shares of our
Common Stock available for issuance under our Zxhployee Stock Purchase Plan.

Performance Graph

The following performance graph and related infaiorashall not be deemed to be “soliciting matéraalto be “filed” with the SEC, nor

shall such information be incorporated by referante any future filing under the Securities Actcept to the extent that we specifically incorperat
it by reference into such filing.

The following graph compares the performance ofaaummon stock to the NASDAQ Composite Index antheoNASDAQ Biotechnology
Index from February 5, 2014 (the first date thatrel of our common stock were publicly traded)dgitoDecember 31, 2014. The comparison

assumes $100 was invested after the market clas€eloruary 5, 2014 in our common stock and in @di¢he foregoing indices, and it assumes
reinvestment of dividends, if any.

COMPARISONOF 1 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURNY
AMONG GENOCEABIOSCIENCES INC.,THE NASDAQ COMPOSITE INDEX,
S AND THE NASDAQ BIOTECHNOLOGY INDEX

w4, bl - RASTIALT Coimipoits o o BRI Bt sl iy

*

$100 invested on 2/5/2014 in stock or index, inclgdeinvestment of dividends. Fiscal year endirmg&nber 31, 2014.

Cumulative Total Return Comparison

2/5/14 2/14 3/14 4/14 5/14 6/14 7/14 8/14 9/14 10/14 11/14 12/14
Genocea Biosciences, Ini 100.0( 133.3¢ 165.3¢ 176.3¢ 172.3¢ 170.4¢ 158.2% 116.4¢ 82.2i 79.8: 82.4¢ 63.6¢
NASDAQ Composite 100.0( 107.3¢ 104.67 102.57 105.7¢ 109.8¢ 108.9: 114.1¢ 112.01 115.4¢ 119.4¢ 118.0¢
NASDAQ Biotechnology 100.0( 111.6: 99.6¢ 96.9¢ 101.0¢ 108.4¢ 105.9( 116.77 115.41 125.2¢ 128.3¢ 128.2¢

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

Set forth below is information regarding securitsedd by us during 2014 that were not registeredkutthe Securities Act. Also included is

the consideration, if any, received by us for theusities and information relating to the sectidthe Securities Act, or rule of the Securities and
Exchange Commission, under which exemption fronistegfion was claimed.
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Issuances of securitie

Hercules issuances

On November 20, 2014, contemporaneously with otergrg into our loan agreement for a term loanlifgaivith Hercules Technology
Growth Capital, Inc., we issued 223,463 sharesuiocommon stock to Hercules for an aggregate psecpace of approximately $2.0 million on the
closing date, November 20, 2014, at a price pereshia$8.95.

The shares were issued pursuant to an exemptieidprbby Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act. éatingly, the shares will be subject to
resale limitations and may be resold only purst@uain effective registration statement or an ex@ngtom registration.

On November 20, 2014, in connection with our logreement for a term loan facility with Hercules firology Growth Capital, Inc., we
issued to Hercules a warrant to purchase sharesrafommon stock. The warrant is exercisable fo¥ 23 shares of our common stock (equal to
$607,500 divided by the exercise price of $8.24e €xercise price and the number of shares arediubjadjustment upon a merger event,
reclassification of the shares of common stockdsugion or combination of the shares of commortistor certain dividends payments. The Warrant
is exercisable at any time until November 20, 2Gt®i will be exercised automatically on a net isseebasis if not exercised prior to the expiration
date and if the then-current fair market valueré share of common stock is greater than the eseeprice then in effect.

The issuance of the warrant was exempt from registr pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of the Securiies

Series C preferred stock issuances

On June 24, 2013, we issued 26,293,103 sharegiesSe preferred stock at a price per share of@fnbtotal consideration of $15,250,000
to 21 investors.

Issuances of preferred stock were exempt pursoan exemption provided by Section 4(a)(2) of teeusities Act.

Effective upon the closing our initial public offeg on February 10, 2014, each share of our S€rigeferred stock converted into or
common stock on a 1-t0-0.08 basis in connectioh thi¢ 1-for-11.9 reverse stock split of our comrstotk effected on January 21, 2014.

Ares issuances

On September 30, 2013, in connection with the wayldapital term loan facility with Ares Capital @aoration, we issued a warrant to
purchase 689,655 shares of our Series C prefetweld at an exercise price of $0.58 per share t@ A=pital Corporation.

Sale of the warrant was exempt pursuant to Ruleab@6Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act.

No underwriters were involved in the foregoing salé securities. The securities were issued tositors in reliance upon the exemption
from the registration requirements of the Secigifiet, as set forth in Section 4(a)(2) under theusides Act, including in some cases, Regulation D
promulgated thereunder, relative to transactionarbissuer not involving any public offering, t@taxtent an exemption from such registration was
required. All purchasers of shares of common styghreferred stock, as described above, represémtesiin connection with their purchase that
they were accredited investors and were acquitiegshares for their own account for investment gsep only and not with a view to, or for sale in
connection with, any distribution thereof. The phasers received written disclosures that the dgsitiad not been registered under the Securities
Act and that any resale must be made pursuantegistration statement or an available exemptiomfsuch registration.

Stock option and other equity awart

In 2014, we granted options to purchase a tota|@$4,640 shares of our common stock to employegsan-employees, at a weighted
average price of $12.79 per share. During the gzaried, we issued 282,450 shares of common stook tige exercise of options to purchase such
shares of common stock at a weighted average pfi$2.42 per share. In addition, we issued 15,882es of common stock upon the exercise of
options to purchase such shares of common stodupot to our 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Planvatghted average price of $5.95 per share.
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In connection with our IPO, we registered shareslable for issuance under our 2007 Equity IncenBNan, our 2014 Equity Incentive Plan
and our 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan on FeBrmP8or to our IPO, option grants and the issearaf common stock upon exercise of such
options were exempt pursuant to Rule 701 and Sed(@)(2) of the Securities Act. All recipientshait received adequate information about us o
access, through employment or other relationshipsiych information.

Purchase of Equity Securities
We did not purchase any of our registered equityistes during the period covered by this AnnuapBrt on Form 10-K.
Use of Proceeds from Equity Securities

In February 2014, we completed an initial publiteahg of 5,500,000 shares of our common stock@iae of $12.00 per share for an
aggregate offering price of $66.0 million. The oféed sale of all of the shares in the offeringemegistered under the Securities Act pursuant to a
registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333a43), which was declared effective by the Seasitind Exchange Commission on February 4,
2014 and, filed pursuant to Rule 462(b) of the S@tes Act. Citigroup Global Markets, Inc. and Cawand Company, LLC acted as joint book-
running managers of the offering and as repredeataof the underwriters. Stifel, Nicolaus & Compamcorporated and Needham & Company,
LLC acted as co-managers for the offering. Therofeecommenced on February 4, 2014 and did notitext® until the sale of all of the shares
offered.

We received net proceeds from the offering of apipnately $61.4 million, after deducting approxingt$4.6 million in underwriting
discounts and commissions, excluding offering cpaigable by us. None of the underwriting discoams commissions or other offering expenses
were incurred or paid to directors or officers af®or their associates or to persons owning 10%are of our common stock or to any affiliates of
ours.

As of December 31, 2014 we have used approxim&tey2 million of the net proceeds primarily to furdrking capital, capital expenditure
purchases of marketable securities and other getmzorate purposes. We have not used any oféhproceeds from the offering to make
payments, directly or indirectly, to any directorafficer of ours, or any of their associates, hg person owning 10 percent or more of our common
stock or to any affiliate of ours. We have invedtesl balance of the net proceeds from the offanrgvariety of capital preservation investments,
including short-term, investment grade, interestrivey instruments and U.S. government securitiberd has been no material change in our plannec
use of the balance of the net proceeds from treginff as described in our final prospectus filethwlie Securities and Exchange Commission
pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act.

ltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected statements of operations data for&dble three years in the period ended Decembe2@®4 and the balance sheet data at
December 31, 2014 and 2013 have been derived froraugited financial statements included elsewhetkis Annual Report on Form 10-K. The
selected balance sheet data at December 31, 281#bka derived from our audited financial statesaot included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. Our historical results for any prior jperare not necessarily indicative of results t@kpected in any future period.

The information set forth below should be readdnjanction with the “Management’s Discussion andilysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” section of this Annual Re¢por Form 10-K and with our financial statementd antes thereto included elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. The selected finand&th in this section are not intended to replaedittancial statements and are qualified in their
entirety by the financial statements and relataésimcluded elsewhere in this Annual Report omd0-K.
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Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Grant revenu $ 30¢ $ 731 $ 1,97
Operating expense

Research and developme 23,72% 15,69¢ 11,24(

General and administrative 9,74 4,96 3,69(

Total operating expens 33,47¢ 20,65¢ 14,93(
Loss from operations (33,16¢) (19,929 (12,959
Other expense

Change in fair value of warrar (725) (222) 93

Loss on debt extinguishme (43%) (200 —

Interest expense, n (970 (45¢) (507)

Other expense (2,130 (887) (414
Net loss $ (35,296 $ (20,800 $ (13,367
Comprehensive los $ (35,309 $ (20,8060 $ (13,367
Reconciliation of net loss to net loss applicabledmmon stockholde
Net loss $ (35,29%) $ (20,80¢) $ (13,367
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stockedemption valu (180) (1,605) (1,787
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $ (35,476 $ (22,41) $ (15,149
Net loss per share attributable to common stocldre- basic and diluted (1 $ (227 $ (75.46) $ (51.3%)
Weighted-average number of common shares used Insgeper share attributable t

common stockholder- basic and dilute 15,61¢ 297 29¢

As of December 31

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Balance Sheet Data
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable secu $ 47,07¢ $ 12,20¢ $ 11,51¢
Working Capital 42,20: 8,38: 7,93:
Total asset 50,43: 15,76: 13,53:
Preferred stock warrant liabilit — 65€ 24¢€
Preferred stoc — 81,56: 64,70°
Common Stock and additional p-in capital 147,94: — —
Total stockholder’ equity (deficit) 32,50" (80,13)) (58,40:)

(1) See Note 2 within the notes to our financial staets appearing elsewhere in this Annual ReportarmF.0-K for a description of the
method used to calculate basic and diluted netdessommon share.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial @dition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and anslgsour financial condition and results of opeeats together with the section entitled
“Selected Financial Data” and our financial statents and related notes appearing in this Annual Repo Form 10-K. Some of the information
contained in this discussion and analysis or sghfelsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10#€Juding information with respect to our plans
and strategy for our business and related financingludes forward-looking statements that invaig&s and uncertainties. As a result of many
factors, including those factors set forth in “Risk Factors” section of this Annual Report on Forl0-K, our actual results could differ materially
from the results described in or implied by thexfard-looking statements contained in the following désion and analysis.
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Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company that discovetsiavelops novel vaccines and immunotherapieddoeas diseases with significant
unmet clinical needs. We use our proprietary discpylatform, ATLAS, to rapidly design vaccines aminunotherapies that act, in part, through T
cell (or cellular) immune responses, in contrastgproved vaccines and immunotherapies, which esigded to act primarily through B cell (or
antibody) immune responses. We believe that bydsaing T cells we can develop first-in-class vaesiand immunotherapies to address infectious
diseases where T cells are central to the contribleodisease.

We have two products in Phase 2 clinical develogm@BEN-003, an immunotherapy for the treatmentefital herpes and GEN-004, a
universal vaccine for the prevention of pneumocbitdactions. We also have products in pre-clinidavelopment for diseases including genital
herpes, chlamydia and malaria.

GEN-003 — Phase 2 immunotherapy for Genital Herpes

Our lead program is GEN-003, a Phase 2 candidatagkutic vaccine, or immunotherapy, that we aveldping to treat genital herpes
infections. Data from our double-blind, placebo4rolted, dose-escalating Phase 1/2a trial for GBR-@®presented the first reported instance of a
therapeutic vaccine working against an infectiogease. We also believe it represents the first timti-viral efficacy has been observed for an
immunotherapy designed primarily to elicit T celbponses to address an infectious pathogen fohwhaell immunity is considered central to the
control of the disease.

Final analysis of the data from the Phase 1/2hshiawed that, for the best performing 30ug dosegythere was a sustained reduction in
the viral shedding rate. After completion of dosfagthis dose group, the viral shedding rate liglb2% versus baseline and, at six months after the
final dose, the shedding rate remained at 40% bbkseline. At 12 months, the viral shedding raterred to baseline for this dose group. The
reduction in the genital lesion rate after completdf the third dose was greatest for the@@pse group at 48%. After six months, the redadtiom
baseline in genital lesion rate for this dose graag 65% and, after 12 months, the genital lesit&was 42% lower than baseline. GEN-003 was
safe and well tolerated over the 12 months ofttias We believe the six-month duration of redue#adl shedding and genital lesion rates may be
clinically meaningful. If GEN-003 successfully colaes clinical development and is approved, weelvelit would represent a first-in-class vaccine
for patients with genital herpes.

Having identified a dose that, according to compspgnsored market research, delivers clinicallymimegul efficacy in magnitude and
durability, we are now conducting a 310-subjectdeha dose optimization trial. The objective of tinial is to confirm the results of the best
performing dose in the Phase 1/2a trial and tosi@stther combinations of proteins and adjuvardeatermine the optimal dose for future trials and
potentially improve on the current profile of GERS This trial is fully enrolled and we expect tmaunce top-line data from this trial late in the
second quarter of 2015. If GEN-003 successfully gletes clinical development and is approved, weebelit would represent an important new
treatment option for patients with genital herpes.

GEN-004 — Phase 2 universal vaccine for the présemf pneumococcal infections

We are also developing a second T cell-stimulatexrine candidate, GEN-004, a potential univeS&eptococcus pneumoniaer
pneumococcus, vaccine to protect against the Igaztinse of infectious disease mortality worldwi@&N-004 is designed to stimulate T helper 17
(T 1 17) cells, arare cell type that provides imntyiait epithelial and mucosal surfaces, in the naggmx to prevent colonization by pneumococcus.

In June 2014, we announced top-line data from aéhalinical trial for GEN-004. This trial met gafety, tolerability and immunogenicity
goals including measurable increases in the bléddd.dl7 cells. We initiated a Phase 2a trial in egtier 2014 to demonstrate that GEN-004 can
reduce the frequency, magnitude or duration ofrialttion of pneumococcus in the nasopharynx inthgadults. We expect to announce top-line
data from this trial in the fourth quarter of 2015.

Products in research and non-clinical development

We have ongoing non-clinical development programshiamydia and HSV-2 prophylaxis and a researofgnam funded by the Bill and
Melinda Gates Foundation in malaria. Additionallse have an ongoing immuno-oncology collaboratiothilana Farber Cancer Institute and
Harvard Medical School.

We commenced business operations in August 2006aiey our operations have been limited to orgagiand staffing our company,
acquiring and developing our proprietary ATLAS tealogy, identifying potential product candidates amdertaking preclinical studies and clinical
trials for our product candidates. All of our reuerto date has been grant revenue. We have notagedeny product revenue and do not expect to
do so for the foreseeable future. We have primdirignced our operations through the issuance péquity securities, debt financings and amounts
received through grants. As of December 31, 20B4had received an aggregate of $172 million ingpeceeds from the issuance of equity
securities and gross proceeds from debt facilities
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and an aggregate of $7.9 million from grants. At®eber 31, 2014, our cash and cash equivalentmariktable securities were $47.1 million.

Since inception, we have incurred significant opegalosses. Our net losses were $35.3 million,$20illion and $13.4 million for the
years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 tegbgcand our accumulated deficit was $115.4 iomllas of December 31, 2014. We expe(
incur significant expenses and increasing operatisges for the foreseeable future. Our net lossssfluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter
and year to year. We will need to generate sigaificevenue to achieve profitability, and we mayenealo so.

On January 20, 2014, the board of directors arckbtdders approved a 1-for-11.9 reverse stock eptihe Company’s Common Stock,
which was effected on January 21, 2014. Stockhsldstitled to fractional shares as a result of#verse stock split received a cash payment in lieu
of receiving fractional shares. The Company’s histd share and per share information has beeoastively adjusted to give effect to this reverse
stock split. Shares of Common Stock underlying tamiding stock options were proportionately redumed the respective exercise prices
proportionately increased. Shares of Common Stes&rved for future issuance were presented on eonagrted basis and the financial statements
disclose the adjusted conversion ratios.

In February 2014, we completed an initial publifeahg, or IPO, of 5.5 million shares of our Comnftock at a price of $12.00 per share
for an aggregate offering price of $66.0 millione\Weceived net proceeds from the offering of apipnately $61.4 million, after deducting
approximately $4.6 million in underwriting discoarand commission, excluding offering costs payalles. In November 2014, we entered into a
loan and security agreement with Hercules Techryot&gwth Capital, Inc., (“Hercules”), which provideip to $27.0 million in debt financing in
three separate tranches. As of December 31, 20avwedrawn down $12.0 million under this agreement

We believe that our cash, cash equivalents, marketzcurities and available future borrowings urwde credit facility at December 31,
2014 will enable us to fund our operating expersekcapital expenditure requirements into the fjttrter of 2016, by which time we expect to
have top-line data from our ongoing Phase 2 dotimmation clinical trial and commenced our Phasio&e regimen clinical trial for GEN-003 for
genital herpes and have top-line data from ourecurPhase 2a clinical trial for GEN-004 for pneupums. However, costs related to clinical trials
can be unpredictable and therefore there can lgpia@ntee that our current balances of cash, aidezrpuivalents and marketable securities and any
proceeds received from other sources will be gefficto fund these studies or our operations thndbgs period. These funds will not be sufficiemt t
enable us to conduct pivotal clinical trials foeek marketing approval for or commercially laundaNs003, GEN-004 or any other product
candidate. Accordingly, to obtain marketing apptdoaand to commercialize these or any other pobdandidates, we will be required to obtain
further funding through public or private equityferfngs, debt financings, collaboration and licegsarrangements or other sources. Adequate
additional financing may not be available to usacneptable terms, or at all. Our failure to ra@pital when needed would have a negative effect on
our financial condition and our ability to pursugr dusiness strategy.
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Financial Overview
Revenue

Grant revenue consists of revenue earned to condactne development research. We have receivedsgirmm private not-for-profit
organizations and federal agencies. These gramtsretated to the discovery and development ofrs¢eé our product candidates, including proc
candidates for the prevention of pneumococcusnydiéa, and malaria. Revenue under these grants@gnized as research services are performed.
Funds received in advance of research serviceg Ipeiriormed are recorded as deferred revenue. Betplcontinue to pursue grant funding, but
there can be no assurance we will be successfdtaining such grants in the future.

We have no products approved for sale. We willreoeive any revenue from any product candidateésatbalevelop until we obtain
regulatory approval and commercialize such prodoctmtil we potentially enter into agreements withid parties for the development and
commercialization of product candidates. If ourelepment efforts for any of our product candidatesilt in regulatory approval or we enter into
collaboration agreements with third parties, we meagerate revenue from product sales or from shiath parties.

We expect that our revenue will be less than opeases for the foreseeable future and that weswierience increasing losses as we
continue our development of, and seek regulatopy@gals for, our product candidates and begin taroercialize any approved products. Our ak
to generate revenue for each product candidatetiah we receive regulatory approval will dependnoimerous factors, including competition,
commercial manufacturing capability and market ptaece of our products.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses consist prim@lysts incurred to advance our preclinical dimdaal candidates, which include:
» personnel-related expenses, including salariegflienstock-based compensation expense and travel;

« expenses incurred under agreements with contragareh organizations, or CROs, contract manufagfuiganizations, or CMOs,
consultants and other vendors that conduct ouicelitrials and preclinical activities;

e costs of acquiring, developing and manufacturimgicdl trial materials and lab supplies; and

- facility costs, depreciation and other expensesghvimclude direct and allocated expenses for aadt maintenance of facilities,
insurance and other supplies.

We expense internal research and developmentiwogerations as incurred. We expense third parsysdor research and development
activities, such as conducting clinical trials, &&®n an evaluation of the progress to completf@pecific tasks such as patient enrollment, céihic
site activations or information, which is providedus by our vendors.

The following table identifies research and deveiept expenses on a program-specific basis for maygt candidates for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):

Years ended December 3:

2014 2013 2012
HSV-2 (GEN-003)(1) $ 15,147 % 7,73C % 5,60¢
Pneumococcus (GE-004)(1) 4,77¢ 5,84¢ 4,24
Other research and development 3,802 2,11 1,38¢
Total research and developm $ 23,720 $ 1569 § 11,24
1) Includes direct and indirect internal costs an@émdl costs such as CMO and CRO costs.
2) Includes costs related to other product candidatestechnology platform development costs reladedTtLAS.
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We expect our research and development expenddasavédase as we continue the manufacture of pnécal and clinical materials and
manage the clinical trials of, and seek regulasggroval for, our product candidates.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist pafigipf salaries and related costs for personneluding stock-based compensation and
travel expenses, in executive and other adminiggrétinctions. Other general and administrativeesges include facility-related costs,
communication expenses and professional fees assdavith corporate and intellectual property legglenses, consulting and accounting services.

We anticipate that our general and administratigeases will increase in the future to supportdtwetinued research and development of
our product candidates and to operate as a putniipany. These increases will likely include incezhsosts for insurance, costs related to the hiring
of additional personnel and payments to outsideaibents, lawyers and accountants, among othemeggeAdditionally, if and when we believe a
regulatory approval of our first product candidappears likely, we anticipate that we will increase salary and personnel costs and other expense:
as a result of our preparation for commercial ofpema.

Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net consists primarily of inteexpense on our long-term debt facilities and oash interest related to the amortization of
debt discount and issuance costs, partially offgenterest earned on our cash and cash equivalents

Other (Expense) Income

Other (expense) income consists of fair value adjasts on warrants to purchase preferred stocknidpmpletion of our IPO on
February 10, 2014, warrants to purchase prefetoaik svere converted to warrants to purchase comstark and as a result, the Company no longer
recorded fair value adjustments for its warranthie®(expense) income also consists of loss onaldlrtguishment.

Accretion of Preferred Stock

Certain classes of our preferred stock were redblenieeginning in 2017 at the original issuanceepplus any declared or accrued but
unpaid dividends upon written election of the prefd stockholders in accordance with the termsuofasticles of incorporation. Accretion of
preferred stock reflects the accretion of issuanusgs and, for Series B preferred stock, cumulativielends based on their respective redemption
values. On February 10, 2014, we completed ourdR@all shares of preferred stock were convertedlifh,466,479 shares of our Common Stock.
No accretion of preferred stock is recorded afier date as no shares of preferred stock are odisg

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgmats and Estimates

Our management’s discussion and analysis of oanéial position and results of operations is basedur financial statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with U.S. generallgped accounting principles, or GAAP. The preparatf financial statements in conformity with
GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptiahgffect the amounts reported in the finanditesnents and accompanying notes. On an
ongoing basis, we evaluate estimates, which in¢lodeare not limited to, estimates related toictihtrial accruals, prepaid and accrued reseanct
development expenses, stduksed compensation expense, common stock warvearntgnts to purchase redeemable securities, andtegiamount
of revenues and expenses during the reported p&lledbase our estimates on historical experiendeottrer market-specific or other relevant
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable uheaircumstances. Actual results may differ matlgrifrom those estimates or assumptions.

While our significant accounting policies are désed in more detail in the notes to our financtatesments appearing elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, we believe the follogrisccounting policies to be most critical to theégments and estimates used in the preparation
of our financial statements.

Prepaid and Accrued Research and Development Exgsns

As part of the process of preparing our finandialesnents, we are required to estimate our pregaidaccrued research and development
expenses and other current liabilities. This predegolves reviewing open contracts and purchadersy communicating with our personnel to
identify services that have been performed forndsestimating the level of service performed amdassociated cost incurred for the service when
we have not yet been invoiced or otherwise notifiethe actual cost. The majority of our serviceyiers invoice us monthly in arrears for services
performed or when contractual milestones are met. W
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make estimates of our prepaid and accrued resaactdevelopment expenses and other current liabibits of each balance sheet date in our
financial statements based on facts and circumesakimown to us at that time. We periodically canfthe accuracy of our estimates with the service
providers and make adjustments, if necessary. Ebegb estimated prepaid and accrued researcharedapment expenses and other current
liabilities include fees paid to CROs in connectiith clinical trials, CMOs with respect to pre+dkial and clinical materials and intermediaries and
vendors in connection with preclinical developmactivities.

We base our expenses related to clinical trialswrestimates of the services performed pursuatntracts with clinical sites that conduct
clinical trials on our behalf. The financial terimfsthese agreements are subject to negotiatiog,fk@m contract to contract and may result in umeve
payment flows. Payments under some of these cdsti@pend on factors such as the successful emmtlof subjects and the completion of requ
data submission. In accruing service fees, we astithe time period over which services will befgened, enroliment of subjects, number of sites
and services performed in each period. Additionally accrue 10% of the earned amounts at eacleallisite, which is payable upon completion of
the required data submission for the clinical tiiabur estimates of the status and timing of E&w performed differs from the actual status and
timing of services performed we may report amotimds are too high or too low in any particular pdriTo date, there has been no material
differences from our estimates to the amount algtiradurred.

Stock-Based Compensation

We have applied the fair value recognition provisiof Financial Accounting Standards Board Accoyntandards Codification, or FASB
ASC, Topic 718Compensation — Stock CompensationASC 718, to account for stock-based compemsdtir employees and ASC 718 and
FASB ASC Topic 505Equity, or ASC 505, for non-employees. We recognize coragion costs related to stock options grantednipl@yees
based on the estimated fair value of the awardb@date of grant. Stock compensation related teamoployee awards is re-measured at each
reporting period until the awards are vested. Diedrbelow is the methodology we have utilized masuring stock-based compensation expense.

Determining the amount of stock-based compens#didre recorded requires us to develop estimatdsedhir value of stock-based awards
as of their measurement date. We recognize stos&ebeompensation expense over the requisite seyeioed, which is the vesting period of the
award. Calculating the fair value of stock-basedras requires that we make highly subjective astiomgp We use the BlacReholes option pricin
model to value our stock option awards. Use of thisiation methodology requires that we make assiomgas to the volatility of our common
stock, the fair value of our common stock on thesueement date, the expected term of our stockmgtthe risk free interest rate for a period that
approximates the expected term of our stock op@omsour expected dividend yield. Because of anitdid operating history as a publicly traded
entity, we utilize data from a representative grotipublicly traded companies to estimate expestedk price volatility. We selected representative
companies from the biopharmaceutical industry withracteristics similar to us. We use the simglifieethod as prescribed by the SEC Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 107Share-Based Paymeas we do not have sufficient historical stock ap@ativity data to provide a reasonable basis
upon which to estimate the expected term of stgtlons granted to employees. For non-employee gram use an expected term equal to the
remaining contractual term of the award. We utiizéividend yield of zero based on the fact thataee never paid cash dividends and have no
current intention of paying cash dividends. Thi&-fige interest rate used for each grant is basgti@U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at timeeti
of grant for instruments with a similar expectdd.li

Under ASC 718, we are required to estimate thd levierfeitures expected to occur and record stbaked compensation expense only for
those awards that we ultimately expect will vest: &l periods presented, our estimated annuatitore rate was 10.52%.

Stock-based compensation expense includes optiangegl to employees and non-employees and hagégerted in our statements of
operations and comprehensive loss as follows inghnds):

Years ended December 3:

2014 2013 2012
Research and developme $ 1511 $ 32z % 10z
General and administrati 1,39 35C 20E
Total $ 2,90t $ 672 $ 307

We estimated the fair value of stock options ofheamployee stock award at the grant date usingrgstfans regarding the fair value of the
underlying common stock on each grant date anébtlmving additional assumptions:
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Years ended December 3:

2014 2013 2012
Expected Volatility 86.2%-103.6% 97.1% 99.2%
Risk-free interest rat 1.75%-2.00% 0.59%-1.83% 0.99%
Expected term (in year 6.25 6.25 6.25
Expected dividend yiel 0% 0% 0%

At December 31, 2014, we had approximately $7.%anibof total unrecognized compensation expensepheelated forfeiture estimates,
which we expect to recognize over a weighted-averagiaining vesting period of approximately threarg. Our stock-based compensation expense
for stock options has grown in 2014 due to incred@sehe value of our common stock and an incréaiee number of stock options granted due to
increases in our overall headcount.

We utilized significant estimates and assumptiondatermining the fair value of our common stoakgderiods prior to the closing of our
IPO. We granted stock options at exercise pricé$ess than the fair market value of our commoglsts determined by the board of directors, with
input from management. The board of directors deitezd the estimated fair value of our common stoeked on a number of objective and
subjective factors, including external market ctinds affecting the biotechnology industry sectod ¢he prices at which we sold shares of
redeemable convertible preferred stock, the supeghts and preferences of securities senior tocommon stock at the time and the likelihood of
achieving a liquidity event, such as an initial liwbffering or sale of our company.

For periods prior to the closing of our IPO, ouatmbof directors determined the fair value of ommenon stock considering, in part, the
work of an independent third-party valuation spkstiaThe board determined the estimated per shadrgalue of our common stock at various dates
considering valuations performed in accordance thighguidance outlined in the American InstituteCeftified Public Accountants Practice Aid,
Valuation of Privately-Held Company Equity Secestissued as Compensatiolso known as the Practice Aid. We engaged agpiexdent third-
party valuation specialist to perform contemporarsegaluations as of December 31, 2011, Decembe2@®D, December 31, 2013, July 25, 2013,
August 12, 2013 and October 21, 2013 and a retotispevaluation as of March 6, 2013. In conducting valuations, the independent third-party
valuation specialist considered all objective ambjective factors that it believed to be relevamtdach valuation conducted in accordance with the
Practice Aid, including our best estimate of ousihass condition, prospects and operating perfocmaheach valuation date. Significant changes to
the key assumptions used in the valuations coutd hesulted in different fair values of common &tateach valuation date.

Following the closing of our IPO, the fair valueamfr common stock is determined based on the quogellet price of our common stock
the NASDAQ Global Market.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2014 Badember 31, 2013

Years Ended

December 31 Increase

(in thousands) 2014 2013 (Decrease’
Grant revenue $ 306 $ 731 $ (423
Operating expense

Research and developme 23,727 15,69¢ 8,032

General and administrati 9,741 4,961 4,78¢

Total operating expenses 33,47 20,65¢ 12,81¢
Loss from operation (33,16¢) (29,925 (13,24)
Other expense

Other expense, n (1,260 (422) (73¢)

Interest expense, n (970 (459 (517)

Other expense (2,130 (881) (1,249
Net loss $ (35,29 $ (20,8060 $ (14,490
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Grant Revenue

Grant revenue decreased $0.4 million to $0.3 mnilfir the year ended December 31, 2014 from $0llomfor the year ended
December 31, 2013. The decrease was due to thdetionpf a grant to fund research for our pneuncoas program during 2013. In

September 2014, we received $1.2 million from ageatered into with the Bill & Melinda Gates Foatidn. We recognized $0.3 million in rever
under the agreement in the fourth quarter of 2014.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expense increased $8dhrtol $23.7 million for the year ended Decembgy 3014 from $15.7 million for the
year ended December 31, 2013. The increase wiritdble to: an increase of $2.4 million in R&Drpennel costs, including $1.2 million in ste-
based compensation; an increase of $0.4 millidicémsing milestones related to the start of GEIS-80d GEN-004 Phase 2 clinical studies; an
increase of $2.8 million in GEN-003 external costflecting increased manufacturing costs andadinirial costs; and an increase of $2.4 million in
GEN-004 external costs, reflecting manufacturingte@nd clinical trial costs .

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expense increased $dlidmio $9.7 million for the year ended DecemiBd;, 2014 from $5.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2013. The increase wasaiisirdue to additional personnel costs in 201820 million, including $1.0 million ir
increased stock-based compensation due to thengesftcertain performance-based common stock ogiti®h.1 million in increased audit, legal and
consulting expenses; and $0.7 million in public pamy overhead costs.

Other Expense, Net

Other expense increased $0.8 million to $1.2 mmilfior the year ended December 31, 2014 from $0lbmfor the year ended
December 31, 2013. The increase was due to aresela the fair value of warrants to purchase prediestock as a result of an increase in the fair

value of the underlying stock both before and andhte of the completion of our IPO on February2D4. Additionally, an increase of $0.2 million
related to the loss on debt extinguishment of i teote.

Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net increased $0.5 million t0 #dillion for the year ended December 31, 2014 f&hb million for the year ended
December 31, 2013. The increase was due primarifygher average principal balances related tdexan loan in 2014 as compared to 2013.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2013 Badember 31, 2012

Years Ended December 31 Increase

(in thousands) 2013 2012 (Decrease’
Grant revenu $ 731 % 1977 $ (1,24¢€)
Operating expense

Research and developm 15,69¢ 11,24( 4,45k

General and administrative 4,961 3,69( 1,271

Total operating expens 20,65¢ 14,93( 5,72¢
Loss from operations (19,925 (12,959 (6,972)
Other (expense) incom

Other (expense) incon (422) 93 (51%)

Interest expense, net (459) (507)

Other expens (881) (414) (467)
Net loss $ (20,806 $ (13,367 $ (7,439

Grant Revenue

Grant revenue decreased $1.2 million to $0.7 miilfiar the year ended December 31, 2013 from $2l@dmfor the year ended
December 31, 2012. The decrease was due to thdetionpof a grant to fund research for our pneuncoas program during 2012.
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Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses increased $Hob noi $15.7 million for the year ended DecemBg&r 2013 from $11.2 million for th
year ended December 31, 2012. The increase wisugtrle to: an increase of $2.9 million in G-004 external costs reflecting increased
manufacturing costs, an increase of $0.3 millioGEN-003 costs, reflecting clinical trial costs,inarease of $0.4 million in GEN-004 costs,
reflecting clinical trial costs, an increase of&fillion in R&D personnel costs and an increas8@fl million in consulting costs.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increasednilliGn to $5.0 million for the year ended DecemBér 2013 from $3.7 million for the
year ended December 31, 2012. This increase wasply due to: additional overhead and personnstscof $0.3 million, $0.8 million in increas
audit, legal and tax expenses, and $0.2 milliootirer general and administrative costs.

Other (Expense) Income

Other (expense) income decreased $0.5 million té B0llion in (expense) for the year ended Decen#ier2013 from $0.1 million in
income for the year ended December 31, 2012. Theedse in other (expense) income was due to an§illi@n increase in the fair value of our
warrants to purchase preferred stock as a resalt aicrease in the fair value of the underlyingf@med stock and a $0.2 million loss on debt
extinguishment recorded during the third quarte2@f3 with no comparable activity in the prior year

Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net decreased $48 thousand3arfiion for the year ended December 31, 2013 f&ihd million for the year ended
December 31, 2012. The decrease was primarilyattable to lower average principal balances foryger ended December 31, 2013 from the year
ended December 31, 2012.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview

Since our inception through December 31, 2014, awehieceived an aggregate of $172 million in gpysseeds from the issuance of eq|
securities and gross proceeds from debt faciléresan aggregate of $7.9 million from grants. At@aber 31, 2014, our cash and cash equivalents
and marketable securities were $47.1 million, casipg cash and cash equivalents of $20.1 millioth marketable securities of $27.0 million. In
February 2014, we completed an IPO of 5.5 millibares of our Common Stock at a price of $12.0Gpare for an aggregate offering price of $i
million. We received net proceeds from the offeriigapproximately $61.4 million, after deductingpagximately $4.6 million in underwriting
discounts and commission, excluding offering cpstgable by us.

Debt Financings

On November 20 2014, the Company entered into alo@wand security agreement, which provided u§2t.0 million in debt financing i
three separate tranches (“2014 Term Loan”). Tt fianche of $17.0 million is available througind0, 2015. The second tranche of up to $5.0
million may be drawn, at the Company’s option, ompor to December 15, 2015, subject to the Companeiving favorable data from its ongoing
GEN-003 Phase 2 dose optimization trial and eifléhe commencement of the Company’s next clinidal for GEN-003 or (ii) the receipt of at
least $40.0 million in net proceeds from an eqfiitgncing and/or a strategic corporate partnershig. third tranche of up to $5.0 million may be
drawn, at the Company’s option, on or prior to Deber 15, 2015, subject to the Company receivingrave data from its ongoing Phase 2a human
challenge study for GEN-004.

The 2014 Term Loan matures on July 1, 2018. Iigibility requirements for the second tranche e, the maturity date may be
extended to December 31, 2018 at the Company’sebedtion.

Each advance accrues interest at a floating ratarpgim equal to the greater of (i) 7.25% or (i§ sum of 7.25% plus the prime rate mi
5.0%. The 2014 Term Loan provides for interest-grdyments until December 31, 2015, which may bereded for a six month period if the
eligibility requirements for the second tranche raet. Thereafter, payments will be made monthlgQdrequal installments of principal and interest
(subject to recalculation upon a change in priniesja

Upon closing the 2014 Term Loan, the Company drewrd$12.0 million under the first tranche of tharicand security agreement using
approximately $9.8 million of the proceeds to repHyutstanding indebtedness under the 2013 TesamLIn
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connection with the 2014 Term Loan, the Companyadsa common stock warrant to Hercules on Nove@®g2014. The warrant is exercisable for
73,725 shares of the Company’s Common Stock (¢qu&807,500 divided by the exercise price of $8.24)

Operating Capital Requirements

Our primary uses of capital are, and we expectaaititinue to be for the near future, compensatiahralated expenses, manufacturing ¢
for pre-clinical and clinical materials, third padlinical trial research and development servitasoratory and related supplies, clinical cogtgal
and other regulatory expenses and general oveduessl

We believe that our cash, cash equivalents, marketzcurities and available future borrowings urde credit facility at December 31,
2014 will enable us to fund our operating expersekcapital expenditure requirements into the fjtstrter of 2016, by which time we expect to
have top-line data from our ongoing Phase 2 dotimm@ation clinical trial and commenced our Phasi#o&e regimen clinical trial for GEN-003 for
genital herpes and have top-line data from ourecurPhase 2a clinical trial for GEN-004 for pneupumis. We expect that these funds will not be
sufficient to enable us to seek marketing approvalommercialize any of our product candidates.

We have based our projections of operating capgtlirements on assumptions that may prove todmrect and we may use all of our
available capital resources sooner than we exBecfuse of the numerous risks and uncertaintiexiassd with research, development and
commercialization of pharmaceutical products, wewrable to estimate the exact amount of our aperaapital requirements. Our future funding
requirements will depend on many factors, including not limited to:

« the timing and costs of our ongoing Phase 2 dosmization clinical trial and planned Phase 2 dasgimen trial for GEN303 and ou
ongoing Phase 2a clinical trial for GEN-004;

« the progress, timing and costs of manufacturing @BR and GEN-004 for current and planned clinigalg;

« the initiation, progress, timing, costs and resoftpreclinical studies and clinical trials for cather product candidates and potential
product candidates;

e the outcome, timing and costs of seeking regulaapprovals;

« the costs of commercialization activities for GEBBOGEN-004 and other product candidates if weiveamarketing approval,
including the costs and timing of establishing praidsales, marketing, distribution and manufactudapabilities;

« the receipt of marketing approval, revenue recefuath commercial sales of our product candidates;
- the terms and timing of any future collaboratiagr®nts, licensing, consulting or other arrangemtrgswe may establish;

« the amount and timing of any payments we may beired to make, or that we may receive, in conneatigth the licensing, filing,
prosecution, defense and enforcement of any paterther intellectual property rights, includingiestone and royalty payments and
patent prosecution fees that we are obligated ygpasuant to our license agreements;

« the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting paggplications, maintaining and protecting ouelileictual property rights and
defending against intellectual property relatedneta and

« the extent to which we in-license or acquire oftr@ducts and technologies.

We expect that we will need to obtain substantiaittonal funding in order to commercialize GEN-QGEN-004 and our other product candidates
in order to receive regulatory approval. To theeakthat we raise additional capital through tHe sacommon stock, convertible securities or other
equity securities, the ownership interests of aisting stockholders may be materially diluted éimel terms of these securities could include
liquidation or other preferences that could advgra#fect the rights of our existing stockholddrsaddition, debt financing, if available, wouldstdt

in increased fixed payment obligations and may Ivevagreements that include restrictive covendrdslimit our ability to take specific actions,
such as incurring additional debt, making capitglemditures or declaring dividends, that could aslely affect our ability to conduct our business. |
we are unable to raise
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capital when needed or on attractive terms, wedcbalforced to significantly delay, scale backiscdntinue the development or commercialization
of GEN-003, GEN-004 or our other product candidasesk collaborators at an earlier stage thanwibemwould be desirable or on terms that are
less favorable than might otherwise be availabid,ralinquish or license, potentially on unfavoeatdrms, our rights to GEN-003, GEN-004 or our
other product candidates that we otherwise wouktt & develop or commercialize ourselves.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our sources and akeash for the years ended December 31, 2012@1h8 (in thousands):

Years ended December 3!

2014 2013

Net cash used in operating activit $ (27,609 $ (19,879
Net cash used in investing activiti (28,579) (389)
Net cash provided by financing activiti 64,02’ 20,95¢
Net increase in cash and cash equival $ 7,85 $ 692

Operating Activities

Net cash used in operations increased $7.7 miitidgg27.6 million for the year ended December 31.20om $19.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2013. The increase was duergyiteaan increase in the net loss of approxima®d4.5 million, partially offset by an increase
of $0.2 million on loss on debt extinguishmentjraerease in stock based compensation of $2.2 mjlho increase in change in fair value of warrant
liability of $0.5 million, an increase in nazash interest expense of $0.2 million, an incréaskepreciation expense of $0.2 million and anéase o
$3.4 million in our working capital accounts.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities increasedZg8llion to $28.6 million for the year ended Dedger 31, 2014 from $0.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2013. The increase wdamigdy to the purchase of marketable securitie®23t1 million and an increase in cash use
purchase property and equipment of $1.1 million.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities increa$éd.0 million to $64.0 million for the year endbdcember 31, 2014 from $21.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2013. The increasalue largely to the net proceeds from our IP@0i4 of $60.0 million, net proceeds from the
issuance of longerm debt of $11.8 million, net proceeds from tsuance of common stock of $2.0 million, an inaeeagproceeds from the exerc
of stock options and warrants of $0.6 million, amdincrease in proceeds from the issuance of constock under the ESPP of $0.1 million, which
was partially offset by the issuance of preferredis of $15.3 million in 2013, the issuance of lelegm debt of $10.0 million in 2013, and an
increase in repayments of long-term debt of $6IBanj which was due to the debt refinancing in mber 2014.

The following table summarizes our sources and aseash for the years ended December 31, 2012@h2 (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012
Net cash used in operating activit $ (19,879 $ (12,68:)
Net cash used in investing activiti (389) (460)
Net cash provided by financing activiti 20,95¢ 18,91¢
Net increase in cash and cash equival $ 69z § 5,77¢

Operating Activities

Net cash used in operations increased $7.2 milticg19.9 million for the year ended December 31,2@rom $12.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2012. The increase was duerpyitwean increase in the net loss of approximatel
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$7.4 million and a decrease of $0.6 million in tiange in our working capital accounts, partiaffget by an increase in stock based compensation
expense of $0.4 million, an increase in changainvialue of warrants of $0.3 million and an inaean loss on debt extinguishment of $0.2 million.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities decreaset $fllion to $0.4 million for the year ended Deceeni31, 2013 from $0.5 million for the
year ended December 31, 2012. The decrease wde dwtecrease in cash used for the purchase oémycgnd equipment to facilitate our resee
and development activities and headcount.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities increa$2dL million to $21.0 million for the year endeéd@mber 31, 2013 from $18.9 million
for the year ended December 31, 2012. The inciwasalue largely to an increase of $0.2 millionén proceeds from the issuance of preferred <
and an increase of $1.9 million in net proceedmftbe issuance of long term debt.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.
Net Operating Loss Carryforwards

At December 31, 2014, we had United States fedehistate net operating loss carryforwards of apprately $105.0 million and
$90.5 million, respectively, which may be availatdeoffset future income tax liabilities and expitevarious dates through 2034. At December 31,
2014, we had federal and state research and dewetdgax credit carryforwards of approximately $&ilion and $1.7 million available,
respectively, to reduce future tax liabilities whigxpire at various dates through 2034. Net opeyatiss and tax credit carryforwards are subject to
review and possible adjustment by the Internal RegeService and state tax authorities and may becaject to an annual limitation in the event
of certain cumulative changes in the ownershipragtieof significant stockholders over a three-ymaiod in excess of 50%, as defined under
Sections 382 and 383 of the United States IntdReaknue Code of 1986, as amended, as well as sstal@ provisions. This could limit the amount
of tax attributes that can be utilized annuallpffset future taxable income or tax liabilities.efamount of the annual limitation is determinededas
on the value of our company immediately prior te tiwnership change. Subsequent ownership changeturttzer affect the limitation in future
years. At December 31, 2014, we recorded a 100%atiah allowance against our net operating lossraséarch and development tax cr:
carryforwards, as we believe it is more likely thaot that the tax benefits will not be fully re&i In the future, if we determine that a portioralb
of the tax benefits associated with our tax camyfrds will be realized, net income would increasthe period of determination.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our outstanding @witial obligations as of payment due date by geatdecember 31, 2014 (in
thousands):

Total Less Than 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years More than 5 Years
Long-term debt(1’ $ 1259: $ — % 9,40t $ 3,18¢ $ —
Operating leases(. 2,15¢ 97€ 1,18 — —
Manufacturing agreements( 3,90t 3,58¢ 321 — —
$ 18,657 $ 456( $ 10,90¢ $ 3,18¢ $ —

Q) As of December 31, 2014, we had a total of $12l0amniin long-term debt due consisting of amounte dinder the 2014 Term Loan. We
are obligated to pay an end of term charge of 4.868%e balance drawn when the principal balaneepsid. $0.6 million is included in th
table for the end of term charge.

(2) In July 2012, we leased office and laboratory sac0 Acorn Park Drive, Cambridge, MA that expiie February 2017.
3) Consists of payments of approximately $4.0 millietated to supply agreements to contract manufaxtdor the production of clinical
materials.

In February 2014, the Company entered into a supgigement with Fujifilm for the manufacture angy of certain antigens for its GEN-
003 clinical program. Under the agreement, the Gomgps obligated to pay Fujifilm manufacturing nsilenes, in addition to reimbursement of
certain production related costs. Additionally, @@mpany is responsible for the payment of a
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reservation fee, which will equal a percentagéhefexpected production fees, to reserve manufacgtsiots in the production timeframe. The
Company has incurred expenses of $3.5 million uttdsragreement for the year ended December 314.201

In October 2014, the Company entered a productidewesnt and clinical supply agreement with Baxteafhaceutical Solutions LLC, or
Baxter. The product development and clinical suggeement provides the terms and conditions uwwbHih Baxter will formulate, fill, inspect,
package, label and test our lead product, GEN-008linical supply. The Company is obligated to [Baxter for each batch of GEN-003
manufactured. Additionally, certain set-up fees agdipment purchased for the purposes of batchuptmoh will be invoiced separately by Baxter.
The Company is also responsible for the paymeatrabnthly service fee for project management sesvior the duration of the arrangement. The
Company has not incurred any expenses under thégmgnt as of December 31, 2014.

We also have obligations to make future paymentkitd party licensors that become due and payaibléne achievement of certain
development, regulatory and commercial milestoés have not included these commitments on our balaheet or in the table above because the
achievement and timing of these milestones isiretfor determinable. These additional contractoahmitments include the following:

License Agreement with The Regents of the UniyaskiCalifornia. Under our license agreement with The RegentsefJniversity of
California, or UC, in respect of UC patent rightsvering aspects of our ATLAS discovery platform, aggreed to pay UC low single digit royalties
net sales by us of vaccine products comprisinggans identified through use of the ATLAS discovplgtform covered by licensed UC patent rig
If we sublicense UC patent rights, we will owe U@aacentage of sublicensing revenue, includingraggilty paid to us on net sales by sublicensees.

License Agreement with HarvardUnder our license agreement with President afidw® of Harvard College, or Harvard, in respect of
Harvard patent rights covering certain chlamyditigems, we agreed to pay Harvard royalties in iga kingle-digits on worldwide net sales by us or
our sublicensees of vaccine products comprising sitamydia antigens. In addition, we are requicepay Harvard specified milestone payments
for development of the first such chlamydia vaccldeder the same license agreement, in respecttehprights covering aspects of our antigen
discovery platform, we agreed to pay Harvard régslin the low single-digits on worldwide net sabgsus or our sublicensees, for a period of
10 years from first commercial sale, of vaccinedoicis comprising antigens (other than chlamydigyans above) identified through use of the
antigen discovery platform covered by licensed ldedpatent rights. In addition, we are requiregday Harvard specified milestone payments for
development of such vaccines. We estimate thatr#asonably likely that we will make milestone ipayts in the low six figures through 2015 ur
this agreement. If we sublicense Harvard patehtsigve will owe Harvard a percentage of sublicepsevenue, excluding payments we receive
based on the level of sales or profits. We notiftesl President and Fellows of Harvard College ofgautial termination of the license agreement:
regard to the chlamydia antigens on December 8}.2Bffective March 8, 2015, the license agreematit the President and Fellows of Harvard
College with regard to the chlamydia antigens balterminated and we will no longer hold a licetts&vo of the three in-licensed Harvard patent
families, or to a chlamydia antigen covered byrégraaining family. The remaining family covers cértaspects of the ATLAS platform, as well as
one chlamydia antigen, and we continue to mairgaaiusive rights to aspects of the ATLAS platforavered by this family.

License Agreement with Novavaxinder our license agreement with Isconova AB, Nawavax, Inc., in respect of Novavax patent rights
and trademarks covering adjuvant Matrix-M, we adreepay Novavax tranched royalties in the low Erdjgits on worldwide net sales by us or our
sublicensees of vaccine products comprising ougams and MatriXv. In addition, we are required to pay Novavax $igt milestone payments f
development and commercialization of the first waedn each unique disease field. We estimateitlateasonably likely that we will make
milestone payments in the low six figures through2under this agreement. If we sublicense Novaeadent rights, we will owe Novavax a
percentage of the initial signing or upfront subtising fees we receive.

License Agreement with Children’s Medical Centergooation. Under our license agreement with Children’s Mab@enter Corporation,
or Childrens, in respect of Childrens rights imji-owned patent rights covering certain Streptats antigens, we agreed to pay Childrens low
single digit royalties on worldwide net sales byou®ur sublicensees of vaccine products comprisiray Streptococcus antigens. In addition, we are
required to pay Childrens specified milestone payéor development and commercialization of suatcines. We estimate that it is reasonably
likely that we will pay milestone payments in tloevisix figures through 2015. If we sublicense thiatjy-owned patent rights, we will owe Childre
a percentage of sublicensing revenue, excludingpays we receive based on the level of sales ditgro

We also enter into contracts in the normal coufdmisiness with CROs for clinical trials and cliaisupply manufacturing and with vend
for preclinical safety and research studies, resesnpplies and other services and products faratipg purposes. These contracts generally provide
for termination on notice and do not include anypimium purchase commitments, and therefore are tabieecontracts and not included in the table
above.
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JOBS Act

In April 2012, the JOBS Act was enacted in the BahiBtates. Section 107 of the JOBS Act providesathdemerging growth compangan
take advantage of the extended transition periodiged in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities AE11933, as amended, for complying with new or
revised accounting standards. Thus, an emergingtgrcompany can delay the adoption of certain actiog standards until those standards would
otherwise apply to private companies. We have acably elected not to avail ourselves of this edéghtransition period and, as a result, we will
adopt new or revised accounting standards on theamt dates on which adoption of such standardsgisired for non-emerging growth public
companies.

ltem 7A. Qualitative and Quantitatie Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk related to changesgarest rates. As of December 31, 2014 and 20&3ad cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities of $47.1 million and $12.8iom, respectively, consisting primarily of monmarket funds and U.S Treasury securities. The
investments in these financial instruments are nidecordance with an investment policy approvedtr board of directors, which specifies the
categories, allocations and ratings of securitiesway consider for investment. The primary objextf our investment activities is to preserve
principal while at the same time maximizing thedme we receive without significantly increasingriSome of the financial instruments in which
we invest could be subject to market risk. This msehat a change in prevailing interest rates naange the value of the instruments to fluctuate. For
example, if we purchase a security that was issuittda fixed interest rate and the prevailing iedrrate later rises, the value of that security wi
probably decline. To minimize this risk, we inteledmaintain a portfolio that may include cash, caghivalents and investment securities available-
for-sale in a variety of securities, which may imi# money market funds, government and non-goverhdebt securities and commercial paper, all
with various maturity dates. Based on our curremgéstment portfolio, we do not believe that ounhessof operations or our financial position would
be materially affected by an immediate change &b I@interest rates.

We do not hold or issue derivatives, derivative oaydity instruments or other financial instrumemsdpeculative trading purposes.
Further, we do not believe our cash equivalentsimvestment securities have significant risk ofadéf or illiquidity. We made this determination
based on discussions with our investment adviswisaareview of our holdings. Although we believe cash equivalents and investment securities
do not contain excessive risk, we cannot providmhite assurance that in the future our investmeititeot be subject to adverse changes in market
value. All of our investments are recorded at Vaiue.

We are also exposed to market risk related to aghémfpreign currency exchange rates. We contrétt eertain vendors that are located in
Europe which have contracts denominated in foreigrencies. We are subject to fluctuations in fgmeturrency rates in connection with these
agreements. We do not currently hedge our foreighange rate risk. As of December 31, 2014 and ibbee 31, 2013, we had minimal liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies.

Item 8. Financial Statements arBupplementary Data

Our financial statements, together with the repbdur independent registered public accounting fiappear on pages F-1 through F-31 of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreents with Accountants and Accounting and Financial Dsclosure

Not applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresatetlesigned to ensure that information requisdektdisclosed in the reports that we
or submit under the Securities and Exchange A&B8# is (1) recorded, processed, summarized, gudtesl within the time periods specified in the
SEC'’s rules and forms and (2) accumulated and camuated to our management, including our princgpacutive officer and principal financial
officer, to allow timely decisions regarding readrdisclosure.

Our management, with the participation of our ppatexecutive officer and principal financial affir, evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of Decenthe2® 4 (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d}18(der the Securities and Exchange Act of
1934). Our management recognizes that any corgrmlgprocedures, no matter how well designed anchtgzk can provide only reasonable
assurance of achieving their objectives, and managenecessarily applies its judgment in evaluatiegcost-benefit relationship of possible
controls and procedures. Our principal executife®f and principal financial
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officer have concluded based upon the evaluatieorideed above that, as of December 31, 2014, sgtadiure controls and procedures were
effective at the reasonable assurance level, hanipemented the remediation measures relatingeonaterial weakness identified in the first
quarter of 2014 as described below.

A “material weakness” is defined under SEC rulea dgficiency, or a combination of deficienciesiniternal control over financial
reporting such that there is a reasonable podgittilat a material misstatement of a company’s ahauinterim financial statements will not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis by the emyip internal controls. As of March 31, 2014, assult of management’s evaluation of our
disclosure controls and procedures, and othemateeviews and evaluations that were completest #fie quarter ended March 31, 2014,
management concluded that we had a material weslkmesir control environment and financial repagtprocess regarding our disclosure controls
and procedures related to accounting for a milestmsed stock option award. Specifically, non-casbk compensation expense relating to a
milestone-based option granted to our Chief Exgeufifficer on July 25, 2013 was incorrectly caltethat “mark-to-market” on the vesting date
rather than the grant date fair value.

This error was corrected prior to the filing of ddwarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period enbfiedich 31, 2014 as filed with the SEC
on May 9, 2014, and has no impact on the finamesults disclosed in prior periods. We do not lvelithe material weakness described above cause
any meaningful or significant misreporting of oimancial condition and results of operations fa ylear ended December 31, 2014.

Managemen's Remediation Initiatives

Management has implemented corrective measurefdtess the material weakness described above.édff@hto remediate the identified
material weakness and enhance our internal contwelfiave completed the following series of measure

* Improved the technical capabilities of the accauntiroup through training and the retention of ekpensultants to assist in the
analysis and recording of complex accounting trefisas;

* Replaced the accounting software used to calcatatk compensation expense and completed testisigpcif compensation
expense calculations in the new system througHlpboperation and reconciliation of new and oldtgyns;

* Improved segregation of duties related to datayearid review of information in stock compensatigatems; and
» Improved the process for the review and monitoahgomplex accounting matters.

We believe the measures described above have rateeédhe material weakness we identified and sthemgd our internal control over
financial reporting. We are committed to continuiogmprove our internal control processes and edghitinue to diligently and vigorously review i
financial reporting controls and procedures.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Controls Ove Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over ourriitial reporting. Internal control over
financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(ifdl5d-15(f) under the Exchange Act as the prodesigned by, or under the supervision of, our
Chief Executive Officer, and effected by our boafdlirectors, management and other personnel,avge reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of our financial reporting and the paption of our financial statements for externajpmses in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and includes those polieied procedures that:

(1) pertain to the maintenance of records thate@sonable detail, accurately and fairly refleetttiansactions and dispositions of assets;

(2) provide reasonable assurance that transadi@enecorded as necessary to permit preparatifinasfcial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, andréegipts and expenditures are being made onlydardance with the authorizations of manager
and directors; and

(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding theptien or timely detection of unauthorized acqigsit use or disposition of assets that
could have a material effect on our financial stegats.

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our Chief Executive €ffj we conducted an evaluation of
the effectiveness of our internal control over fioial reporting based on the framework providethiernal Control—
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Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpong Organizations of the Treadway Commissi®@921Framework). Based on this
evaluation, our management concluded that ourriaterontrol over financial reporting was effectae of December 31, 2014.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the year ended December 31, 2014, there be@e no changes in our internal control over firreporting, as such term is defir
in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f) promulgated urttle Securities Exchange Act of 1934, that haveerialy affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over findaaeporting.
Item 9B. Other Information

Not applicable.
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PART llI
Item 10. Directors, Executive Offegrs and Corporate Governance
Executive Officers, Significant Employees and Dirdors

Below is a list of the names, ages as of Febru@n2@15 and positions, and a brief account of tieness experience of the individuals v
serve as our executive officers and directors dsenflate of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Name Age Position

William Clark 46 President and Chief Executive Officer; Directorg& I11)
Seth Hetherington, M.L 62 Chief Medical Officel

Jonathan Pool 40 Chief Financial Office

Eric Hoffman, Ph.D 45 Chief Business Office

Robert E. Farrell Jr., CP 49 Vice President of Finance and Administrat

Jessica Baker Flechtner, Ph 43 Senior Vice President of Resea

Paul Giannasca, Ph.| 51 Vice President, Biopharmaceutical Development &dRmion
Kenneth Bate 64 Director (Class I

Kevin Bitterman, Ph.D 38 Director (Class I

Katrine Bosley 46 Director (Class II'

Michael Higgins 52 Director (Class II

Stephen J. Hoffman, M.D., Ph. 60 Director (Class II

George Siber, M.C 70 Director (Class IlI)

William Clark has served as our President and Chief Execufifiee®since February 2011. Previously he servedua<Chief Business
Officer from August 2010 to February 2011. Mr. QRl&was served on our board of directors since Fep2@L1. Prior to joining our Company, he
served as Chief Business Officer at Vanda Pharntizeds) Inc., or Vanda, a biopharmaceutical compgaago-founded in 2004. While at Vanda, he
lead the company’s strategic and business develoipactvities, and played a central role in raisingre than $220 million in multiple public and
private financings. Prior to Vanda, Mr. Clark wagracipal at Care Capital, LLC, a venture capiitath investing in biopharmaceutical companies,
after serving in a variety of commercial and sgateoles at SmithKline Beecham (now GlaxoSmithi)inMr. Clark holds a B.A. from Harvard
University and an M.B.A. from The Wharton Schootte University of Pennsylvania. We believe that Mliark’s operation and historical
experience with our Company gained from servinguasChief Executive Officer, President and membeyu board of directors, combined with his
prior experience at Vanda and in the venture chipiiistry focusing on biopharmaceutical compaujeslify him to serve as a member of our board
of directors.

Seth Hetherington, M.D. has served as our Chief Medical Officer sincaijgg our Company in January 2011. Prior to joiniug
Company, Dr. Hetherington served as Senior VicsiBeat of Clinical and Regulatory Affairs at Icagémc., or Icagen, from May 2006 through
December 2010. Prior to Icagen, Dr. Hetheringtamextas Vice President, Clinical Development anteOMedical Officer at Inhibitex Inc. from
June 2002 through April 2005 and held various parsst of increasing responsibility in clinical drdgvelopment at GlaxoSmithKline from 1995
through June 2002. Dr. Hetherington has also seasedfaculty member at the University of Northdlian School of Medicine and held
appointments at several leading academic medicét® including the University of Tennessee, &leJChildren’s Research Hospital in Memphis
and Albany Medical College. Dr. Hetherington earhelB.S. at Yale University and his M.D. at theilémsity of North Carolina, Chapel Hill. He
completed his postgraduate training in pediatrius gediatric infectious diseases at the Univeitiorth Carolina and the University of Minnesota,
respectively. Dr. Hetherington has published extehs in medical and scientific literature, andoisard certified in both pediatrics and pediatric
infectious diseases. He also served as the indregtrgsentative to the Vaccines and Related BlaodwRts Advisory Committee of the FDA. He
currently serves as the industry representativinemNational Vaccine Advisory Committee of the UD@partment of Health and Human Services.

Jonathan Poole has served as our Chief Financial Officer simieifig our Company in April 2014. Prior to joinigir Company,
Mr. Poole served as Senior Vice President of FiadacPipeline and Technical Operation at Shire(fitire”) from June 2013 through March 20:
leading finance support for Shire’s global busimdsgelopment, research and development and tedloieeations activities. Mr. Poole previously
served as divisional Chief Financial Officer of @HGT, Shire’s rare disease division, from May @@irough June 2013 and held various positions
of increasing responsibility in finance at Shirenfr 2006 through May 2010. He began his careeraruthited Kingdom in investment banking at
UBS Warburg and ING Barings and also worked aswaestment manager for Avanti Capital plc, a Unkéagdom private equity investment firm.
Mr. Poole has a MBA from London Business School aifc in biological sciences from Durham Univgrgitthe United Kingdom.
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Eric Hoffman, Ph.D has served as our Chief Business Officer sinicénjp our Company in December 2014. Prior to jogngur Company
Mr. Hoffman served as Vice President of Corporaig Business Development where he also oversaw &rolytanagement and Commercial
Operations at Idenix Pharmaceuticals, Inc. fronudan2012 until its acquisition by Merck & Co. irugust 2014. Mr. Hoffman also held a role
overseeing investor relations and corporate comaations while at Idenix from January 2011 to Decen911. Prior to Idenix, Mr. Hoffman spent
nearly five years, from 2006 to 2011, at Biogercldeinvestor relations and business developméasand spent nearly six years from 2001 to Z
on Wall Street as an equity research analyst alMloRyan, Schwab Soundview Capital Markets and B¢earns. Before starting on Wall Street in
2001, he was a post-doctoral research scienttheilbepartment of Immunobiology at Guy’s HospitaLondon, studying T cell development from
1999 to 2000. He has authored several book chagmerpeereviewed papers, including in Cell, Immunity, andr@s & Development. Mr. Hoffm:
has a Ph.D. in Immunobiology from Yale Universitydaa B.S. in Biology from Trinity University.

Robert E. Farrell Jr., CPA has served as our Vice President of Finance amdiristration since joining our Company in May 2069%ior
to joining our Company, he served as Senior Diregtd-inance at Magen Biosciences, Inc., or Magem September 2008 to May 2009. In that
position, he was responsible for all finance anmhiadtrative functions and he played a key roléhim acquisition of Magen by PPD, Inc. Prior to
Magen, Mr. Farrell held senior level financial gsis at Oscient Pharmaceuticals Corp. and Neo@eRésrmaceuticals, Inc. where he built and
directed all financial reporting efforts and helgrdde the company through an initial public offeri Mr. Farrell is a licensed certified public
accountant and holds a B.S. degree in Accountimg 8Bentley University.

Jessica Baker Fletchtner, Ph.D. has held multiple scientific roles since joinimgr Company in March 2007 and has served as ouoiSen
Vice President of Research since February 2014 Riesident of Research from January 2010 to FabR@d4 and Senior Director of Research
from March 2007 to January 2010. Prior to joining @ompany, Dr. Flechtner was an Immunology Coastilat BioVest International, Inc. from
June 2006 to March 2007, where she guided the dewednt of assays to evaluate the success of thpasgris autologous Follicular (Non-
Hodgkin’s) Lymphoma vaccine in patients. As a reslear at Mojave Therapeutics, Inc., or Mojave, Antigenics Inc. (now Agenus), which
acquired Mojave’s intellectual property, from 2012005, Dr. Flechtner developed protein and pegidsed vaccines and immunotherapies for
cancer, infectious disease, autoimmunity and alleBfpe is an inventor on 10 pending or issued paiamd has multiple peer-reviewed scientific
publications. Dr. Flechtner performed her post-dmdtwork in the laboratory of Dr. Harvey Cantoitla¢ Dana Farber Cancer Institute and Harvard
Medical School and holds a Ph.D. in Cellular Immlogy and B.S. in Animal Science from Cornell Unisigy. She is a member of the American
Association of Immunologists and the American Stycier Microbiology.

Paul Giannasca, Ph.D. has served as our Vice President, Biopharmaed@evelopment & Production since joining our Compéan
January 2010. Prior to joining our Company, Dr.rB@sca served as Vice President, Development ahisgnow Sanofi Pasteur) from 2004 to
2010. He also served as Project Leader of the @lasn difficile program and R&D Franchise Head fdosocomials at Acambis/Sanofi Pasteur.
Prior to Acambis, he was a senior scientist at @saivom 1995 to 1999, where he contributed to ttragany’s research initiatives for several
vaccines, focusing on evaluating vaccine adjuvantselucidating mechanisms of vaccine-induced ptiote. Dr. Giannasca holds multiple patents
covering active and passive immunization againesttidium difficile disease and has published nthexn 25 papers in the areas of infectious
diseases, vaccine-induced protection and vaccinelagment. Dr. Giannasca received his B.S. in Bjglfsom Fairleigh Dickinson University and
his Ph.D. in Molecular and Cellular Biology fronetkuniversity of Massachusetts-Amherst. He complétsghost-doctoral training at Harvard
Medical School/Children’s Hospital Boston.
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Kenneth Batehas served as a member of our board of directoce September 2014. Mr. Bate is currently chairofahe board of Cubist
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and is a director of BioMdharmaceuticals, AVEO Pharmaceuticals and CdaaBaarmaceuticals. Mr. Bate previously
served as president and chief executive officexrohemix Corp. and NitroMed Inc., chief financidfioer of Millennium Pharmaceuticals Inc. and
Biogen Inc., and co-founded JSB Partners LLC, &iognand advisory services firm for biopharmacealtend life sciences companies. He holds a
MBA from the Wharton School of the University ofrPsylvania and a BA from Williams College. We beéeghat Mr. Bate's experience as a chief
executive officer of multiple biotechnology compesiias well as his experience as a director of attrapanies, qualifies him to serve as a member
of our board of directors.

Kevin Bitterman, Ph.D. has served as a member of our board of direstocg August 2006. Dr. Bitterman serves as a pastieolaris
Partners, or Polaris, where he has been emploged 8004 and where he focuses on investmentsisdiEnces companies. Prior to joining Polaris,
Dr. Bitterman completed his Ph.D. in genetics atvided Medical School. His doctoral research focusethe molecular regulation of caloric
restriction and on modulation of a novel classrot@n deacetylases. Dr. Bitterman is a cofound@&irdris Pharmaceuticals, Inc. acquired by
GlaxoSmithKline and was the founding CEO at Vistdnc. and Editas Medicine Inc. In additional tpresenting Polaris as a director of our
Company, he currently represents Polaris as atdire€ Editas Medicine Inc., InSeal Medical, KalagPmaceuticals, Neuronetics, Inc., Visterra, |
TARIS Biomedical, and Vets First Choice. He recdigePh.D. in Genetics from Harvard Medical Schoal a Bachelor’s in Biology from Rutgers
College. We believe that Dr. Bitterman’s extengwperience investing in, guiding and leading stigrand early phase companies, as well as his
experience as a director of other companies, dgeslifim to serve as a member of our board of dirsct

Katrine Bosley has served as a member of our board of direstocg March 2013 and as our chairperson since A@§lis3. Ms. Bosley
the Chief Executive Officer of Editas Medicine Inar Editas, a position to which she was appoiimetline 2014. Prior to Editas, Ms. Bosley was
Entrepreneur-in-Residence at The Broad InstitumfSeptember 2013 to May 2014. She served as Ekegfutive Officer of Avila Therapeutics
Inc., or Avila, from May 2009 to March, 2012, whawila was acquired by Celgene Corporation. Beforilal she was Vice President, Strategic
Operations at Adnexus, a Bristol-Myers Squibb Comypend was Vice President, Business Developmeitiagéxus Therapeutics Inc., or Adnexus,
before that. She joined Adnexus from Biogen Ideengtshe held roles in business development, consheperations, and portfolio strategy in the
United States and Europe and led the in-licensfrigyeabri (natalizumab) among a number of otherdaations. Earlier, she was part of the
healthcare team at the venture firm Highland Capigaitners from 1993 to 1995. In addition to segvés a director of our Company, Ms. Bosley
currently serves as a director of Galapagos NVpBelRock LLC, and Coco Therapeutics Ltd. Ms. Bpgleaduated from Cornell University with a
Bachelor of Arts degree in biology. We believe thitst Bosley’s experience as a chief executive effif a biotechnology company and her breadth
of experience in creating strategic and businegeldpment value qualifies her to serve as a membeur board of directors.

Michael Higgins has served as a member of our board of directoce $iebruary 2015. In January 2015, Mr. Higgiirsgd Polaris Ventul
Partners as an entrepreneur-in-residence. Prjoirtimg Polaris Venture Partners, Mr. Higgins sghas Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial
Officer at Ironwood Pharmaceuticals from 2003 tlgto@014, playing a key role in Ironwood’s evolutivom a privately-funded discovery
organization through its initial public offering éihe launch of its first commercial product. Unbis leadership, the company was able to raise
more than one billion dollars to help support tegelopment of the business during that periodorRoi his work at Ironwood, from 1997 through
2003, Mr. Higgins worked at Genzyme Corporatiom ivariety of leadership roles including Vice Presitj Corporate Finance and Vice President,
Business Development. While at Genzyme, he wadved with multiple businesses including the Céiefapy, Gene Therapy, and Orphan Disease
business units. Previously, Mr. Higgins serve€hief Financial Officer of Procept, Inc., from 19821997 and led the company through its initial
public offering. Mr. Higgins began his pharmaceaitticareer as a sales representative for Schetingy® Corporation in 1986. Mr. Higgins earned
his Bachelor of Science degree from Cornell Unikg@nd holds a Masters in Business Administrafrom the Amos Tuck School of Business at
Dartmouth College. We believe that Mr. Higgin'sdirtial and business expertise, including his difiecsbackground as an executive officer in
public pharmaceutical companies, qualifies himeixwe as a member of our board of directors.

Stephen J. Hoffman, M.D., Ph.D. has served as a member of our board of direstoce December 2010. Dr. Hoffman has been a Senior
Advisor to PDL BioPharma, Inc. since February 2@#or to that, Dr. Hoffman served as a managimgatior at Skyline Ventures, a venture capital
firm, since May 2007. From January 2003 to MarcAZ2®r. Hoffman was a general partner at TVM Cdp#aenture capital firm. Prior to that, he
served as President, Chief Executive Officer aditector of Allos Therapeutics, Inc., or Allos, mpharmaceutical company, from 1994 to 2002,
as Chairman of the Board until 2012. From 19909841 Dr. Hoffman completed a fellowship in clinicaicology and a residency/fellowship in
dermatology, both at the University of Colorado. Boffman was the scientific founder of Somatogen,la biotechnology company that was
acquired by Baxter International, Inc., a globabimeal products and services company, in 1998, whereeld the position of Vice President of
Science and Technology from 1987 until 1990. Inigmluto serving as a director of our Company, beently serves as a director of several
biopharmaceutical companies, including AcelRx, |@oncert Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Collegium Pharmigzads, Inc., Dicerna Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
and Proteon Therapeultics, Inc. Previously, Dr. Meffi served on the board of directors of SirtrisrRla@euticals, Inc., a pharmaceutical company
that was acquired by GlaxoSmithKline, in 2008. Boffman holds a Ph.D. in bio-organic chemistry frblorthwestern University and an M.D. from
the University of Colorado School of Medicine. Waibve that Dr. Hoffman’s scientific, financial abdsiness expertise, including his diversified
background as an executive officer and investquinlic pharmaceutical companies as well as a diradta public pharmaceutical company,
qualifies him to serve as a member of our boamdirectors.

George Siber, M.D.has served as a member of our board of direstocg 2007. From 1996 to 2007, Dr. Siber serveexasutive Vice
President and Chief Scientific Officer of Wyeth ¢awes, or Wyeth. While at Wyeth, Dr. Siber oversherdevelopment and approval of multiple
widely-used childhood vaccines, including Previagpneumococcal vaccine which has achieved muithiliollar revenues; Acdtnune, an acellul:
pertussis vaccine; and Meningitec, a meningocaoealingitis vaccine. Prior to Wyeth, Dr. Siber wasebtor of the Massachusetts Public Health
Biologic Laboratories and a Harvard Medical Schadséociate Professor of Medicine at Dana Farber @almstitute. During this time, Dr. Siber led
the research and manufacturing of multiple vaccaresimmune globulins including Respigam, a hunmamine globulin against respiratory
syncytial virus. Since 2007, Dr. Siber has servedhe boards of directors of several vaccine congsaimcluding Crucell, Selecta Biosciences,
Vedantra Pharmaceuticals and Affinivax Inc., and asnsultant or scientific advisory board membeClearPath Vaccines Company, of which he is
currently the Chief Scientific Officer, PaxVax, s Technologies, Inc., the Bill & Melinda Gatesikaation, PATH, the Wellcome Trust, the
European Commission (on vaccinations), the Natitmgtltutes of Health, or NIH, and the Korean FIDX. Siber serves as a member of the Boal
Trustees of the International Vaccine Institute. Siber holds an MD degree from McGill UniversityCanada, received p-doctoral training ir



Internal Medicine at Rush-Presbyterian HospitaClricago and Beth Israel Hospital in Boston anddtibeis Disease and vaccinology training at
Children’s Hospital and Beth Israel Hospital, Had/Medical School Boston. We believe that Dr. Sbexperience in life sciences and vaccine
industries and his experience overseeing the dpredat of multiple vaccines qualifies him to sergeaanember of our board of directors.
Board Composition and Election of Directors

Board Composition

Our board of directors is currently comprised ofesemembers. Our board of directors has deterntimgtceach of Mr. Bate, Dr. Bitterman,
Ms. Bosley, Mr. Higgins and Dr. Hoffman is indepentifor NASDAQ purposes. Our directors hold offic#il their successors have been elected
and qualified or until their earlier death, resitjma or removal. There are no family relationshapsong any of our directors or executive officers.
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Our amended and restated certificate of incorpamesind amended and restated by-laws provide teauthorized number of directors may
be changed only by resolution of our board of doesc Our amended and restated certificate of pm@tion and amended and restated by-laws also
provide that our directors may be removed onlyctuse by the affirmative vote of the holders déast 75% of the votes that all our stockholders
would be entitled to cast in an annual electiodicéctors, and that any vacancy on our board @fctlirs, including a vacancy resulting from an
enlargement of our board of directors, may beditbaly by vote of a majority of our directors thieroffice.

In accordance with the terms of our certificaténobrporation and by-laws that, our board of dioestare divided into three classes, class I,
class Il and class lll, with members of each ckessing staggered three-year terms. The membéhe alasses are divided as follows:

. the class | directors are Mr. Bate and Dr. Bittemmahose terms expire in 2015;
. the class Il directors are Ms. Bosley, Mr. Higgiasd Dr. Hoffman, whose terms expire in 2016; and

e the class Il directors are Mr. Clark and Dr. Sjbehose terms expire in 2017.

Upon the expiration of the term of a class of diweg, directors in that class will be eligible t® &lected for a new three-year term at the
annual meeting of stockholders in the year in whihr term expires.

We have no formal policy regarding board diversyr priority in selection of board members is itiication of members who will further
the interests of our stockholders through his erdstablished record of professional accomplishpiaetability to contribute positively to the
collaborative culture among board members, knovdenfgour business and understanding of the commeténdscape.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compdince

Our directors, executive officers and beneficiaheve of more than 10% of our common stock are requinder Section 16(a) of the
Exchange Act, to file reports of ownership and gemin ownership of our securities with the Semgiand Exchange Commission. To our
knowledge, based solely on review of these filiagd written representations from the certain répggersons, we believe that during the year
ended December 31, 2014, our officers, directodshameficial owners of more than 10% of our commsimtk have filed the appropriate forms ur
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act except (a) JamBoole was delinquent in filing a Form 4 to répmtions acquired upon becoming an officer of
the Company and (b) S.R. One Limited, a more ti&# $tockholder of our common stock, was delinquirefiting a Form 3 with the pricing of our
IPO on February 4, 2014; each of which have beaferafithe time of filing our Annual Report on Fot@+K.

Board Committees

Our board of directors has three standing comnsittée audit committee, the compensation commétekthe nominating and corporate
governance committee. Our board of directors mé&ghdéish other committees from time to time.

Audit Committee

Our audit committee is composed of Mr. Bate, MssIBg, and Dr. Hoffman, with Dr. Hoffman serving@dsirman of the committee. Our
board of directors has determined that each menpftiee audit committee meets the independencenagents of Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange
Act and the applicable listing standards of NASDARur board of directors has determined that MreBits. Bosley and Dr. Hoffman are “audit

committee financial expert” within the meaning & tSecurities and Exchange Commission regulatindspplicable listing standards of NASDAQ.
The audit committee’s responsibilities include:

e appointing, approving the compensation of, andssisg the qualifications, performance and indepeoel®f our independent
registered public accounting firm;

e pre-approving audit and permissible non-audit ejiand the terms of such services, to be provigienlir independent registered
public accounting firm;

« reviewing the internal audit plan with the indepentregistered public accounting firm and membé&raanagement responsible for
preparing our financial statements;

« reviewing and discussing with management and ttiegandent registered public accounting firm ounahand quarterly financial
statements and related disclosures as well asadrittccounting policies and practices used by us;

«  reviewing the adequacy of our internal control dgancial reporting;
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establishing policies and procedures for the ré@eig retention of accounting-related complaints @oncerns;

recommending, based upon the audit committee’weaind discussions with management and the indepénegistered public
accounting firm, whether our audited financial staénts shall be included in our Annual Report om+b0-K;

monitoring our compliance with legal and regulatmeguirements as they relate to our financial statés and accounting matters;
preparing the audit committee report required leyrtiles of the SEC to be included in our annuakypstatement;
viewing all related party transactions for poteintianflict of interest situations and approvingsdch transactions; and

reviewing and discussing with management and alegendent registered public accounting firm ouniegs releases and scripts.

Compensation Committee

Our compensation committee is composed of Mr. BateDr. Bitterman, with Mr. Bate serving as chainnefthe committee. Our board of
directors has determined that Mr. Bate and DreBittan are “independent” as defined under the agplkdisting standards of NASDAQ. The
compensation committee’s responsibilities include:

annually reviewing and approving corporate goats @jectives relevant to the compensation of oigfaxecutive officer;

evaluating the performance of our chief executiffieer in light of such corporate goals and objees and determining and approving
the compensation of our chief executive officer;

reviewing and approving the compensation of oueo#dxecutive officers;

appointing, compensating and overseeing the wodngfcompensation consultant, legal counsel or@ttieisor retained by the
compensation committee;

conducting the independence assessment outlindd8DAQ rules with respect to any compensation ctiast legal counsel or other
advisor retained by the compensation committee;

annually reviewing and reassessing the adequattyeafommittee charter in its compliance with tiséilig requirements of NASDAQ);
reviewing and establishing our overall managementpensation philosophy and policy;
overseeing and administering our equity compensaiia other compensatory plans;

reviewing and approving our equity and incentivégies and procedures for the grant of equity-basedrds and approving the grant
of such equity-based awards;

reviewing and making recommendations to the bo&directors with respect to director compensatimg

reviewing and discussing with management the cosgi@n discussion and analysis to be included ireonual proxy statement or
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

Our nominating and corporate governance commigieemposed of Dr. Bitterman, Ms. Bosley and Dr.frbai, with Ms. Bosley serving
as chairman of the committee. Our board of direchars determined that each member of the nominatidgorporate governance committee is
“independent” as defined under the applicablengsstandards of NASDAQ. The nominating and corgogatvernance committee’s responsibilities

include:
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e developing and recommending to the board of dirsatateria for board and committee membership;
e establishing procedures for identifying and evahgaboard of director candidates, including nomgéescommended by stockholders;
« identifying individuals qualified to become membefghe board of directors;
« recommending to the board of directors the persmhe nominated for election as directors and th ed the board’s committees;
« developing and recommending to the board of direcicset of corporate governance principles;

» articulating to each director what is expectediuding reference to the corporate governance ppiesiand directors’ duties and
responsibilities;

e reviewing and recommending to the board of direcfactices and policies with respect to directors;

«  reviewing and recommending to the board of dirextbe functions, duties and compositions of therodtees of the board of
directors;

e reviewing and assessing the adequacy of the copergttarter and submitting any changes to the bafatiectors for approval,

e consider and report to the board of directors amgstions of possible conflicts of interest of boafdirectors members;

- provide for new director orientation and continuegdycation for existing directors on a periodicisias

« performing an evaluation of the performance ofdcbemittee; and

e overseeing the evaluation of the board of direcami management.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a code of business conduct arab eftfzit applies to all of our employees, officard directors, including those officers
responsible for financial reporting. A current cagythe code is posted on the “Investor Relation€erporate Governance” section of our website,
which is located at ir.genocea.com. In additioa,have posted on our website all disclosures tieateguired by law, the rules of the Securities and
Exchange Commission or NASDAQ stock market lisstendards concerning any amendments to, or walinars any provision of the code.
Item 11. Executive and Director Copensation
Overview

The following discussion relates to the compensatioour President and Chief Executive Officer, li&fih Clark, and our two most highly
compensated executive officers (other than our f@hiecutive Officer), Seth Hetherington, M.D., dCihief Medical Officer, and Jonathan Poole,
Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Poole commenced emphent with us, and became our Chief Financial Offioa April 7, 2014. These three executi
are collectively referred to in this Annual Repomt Form 10-K as our named executive officers. Begar, the compensation committee of our board
of directors and our board of directors review datermine the compensation of our named execuftficecs.
Elements of Executive Compensation

The compensation of our named executive officersists of base salary, annual cash bonuses anty equdrds as well as employee
benefits that are made available to substantidillsedaried employees. Our named executive offiegeesalso entitled to certain compensation and

benefits upon certain terminations of employmeit emange of control transactions pursuant to enmpéy letter agreements.
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Base Salaries. Base salaries for our named executive officeegeviewed annually by our compensation committekaae set by our
board of directors. When making its base salargmenendations to our board of directors, our comaims committee takes factors into account
such as each executive’s experience and indivigerdibrmance, the Company’s performance as a whate, from surveys of compensation paid by
comparable companies, cost of living increasesgame:ral industry conditions, but does not assignsaecific weighting to any factor. Our board of
directors determines each named executive offiters® salary after reviewing the compensation carees recommendation with respect to such
salaries. In fiscal 2014, on the recommendatioounfcompensation committee, our board of direcip@oved a base salary of $399 thousand for
Mr. Clark and $369 thousand for Dr. Hetheringt@presenting an increase of 19.1% and 11.1%, régelctfrom the base salary for each such
executive in 2013. Mr. Poole’s employment lettereggnent, which became effective on April 7, 201drupommencement of his employment with
us, provides for an initial base salary of $32Q#and.

Annual Cash Bonuses. Our annual cash bonus program promotes and revizedachievement of key strategic business goals a
individual performance goals. For fiscal 2014, tdwget annual bonus as a percentage of base saksyg0% for Mr. Clark, and 35% for each of
Dr. Hetherington, and Mr. Poole. In the case of ®lark, 100% of his annual bonus was based ondhieement of pre-established corporate
performance goals and, in the case of Dr. Hethesingnd Mr. Poole, 50% of the executive’s respectimnual bonus was based on the achievement
of pre-established corporate performance goalb8ftiwas based on a quantitative and qualitativesassent of pre-established individual
performance goals.

At the beginning of fiscal 2014, our compensatiommittee established the corporate performancesdoaR014, each having a designated
weighting. These corporate performance goals irduey strategic and financial goals related tortass development and grant funding,
maintenance of a certain level of cash reservesi¢velopment and commencement of certain climiselcommercial programs, the completion of
research reports, and other strategic objectivateceto our clinical pipeline. Also at the begimgiof fiscal 2014, our chief executive officer, \kioig
with Dr. Hetherington, established Dr. Hetheringsandividual performance goals and their weighsintn the case of Mr. Poole, individual and
corporate performance goals and their weightingewstablished by Mr. Clark upon the commencemghiscemployment with us in April 2014.
These goals included, to the extent applicablagcekecutive, objectives related to oversight wiichl activities for compliance with laws,
developing and conducting clinical programs andistsl research and development, managing studiesdicg to schedule and within budgets,
business and corporate development and demongttatidership with respect to direct reports.

In February 2015, our compensation committee mdetermine the level of performance achieved fappses of making its recommendation to our
board of directors regarding the amount of the ahoash bonus to be paid to each of our named &xeafficers for performance in fiscal 2014.
The compensation committee evaluated our performagainst the pre-established corporate performgoais for 2014, taking into consideration
Mr. Clark’s evaluation of our performance in 2014. With respe the individual performance goals applicabl®t. Hetherington and Mr. Poole,
compensation committee also considered Mr. Clatktermination that Dr. Hetherington and Mr. Podd hchieved 95% and 97%, respectively, of
each such executive’s individual performance gdier determining that 90% of the corporate pearfance goals were achieved in fiscal 2014, and
after considering Mr. Clark’s determination regagithe level of achievement of individual performamgoals, our compensation committee
recommended, and our board of directors approv2@14 cash bonus of $179,744 for Mr. Clark, $118 8t Dr. Hetherington, and $78,540 for

Mr. Poole. Mr. Poole’s annual cash bonus for fit#l4 reflects an amount that was pro-rated fop#red from April 7, 2014 (the day he
commenced his employment with us) to December 8142

In addition to the annual cash bonus for fiscal®£0r. Poole received a one-time signing bonus5df thousand upon the commencement
of his employment with us on April 7, 2014.

Equity Awards. Our named executive officers are eligible to ipgrate in the Genocea Biosciences, Inc. 2014 Edoientive Plan, which
we refer to as the “2014 Equity Plan”. Our 2014 iBgBlan was adopted by our board of directorsanrection with our initial public offering.
Mr. Clark and Dr. Hetherington have also each lgranted equity awards under the Genocea BiosciehtesAmended and Restated 2007 Equity
Incentive Plan, which we refer to as the “2007 BgRian”. Following the adoption of the 2014 Equitlan and our initial public offering, all equity-
based awards have been and will be granted und&0d4 Equity Plan and no future awards will be enadder the 2007 Equity Plan.

In April 2014, in connection with the commencemehhis employment with us, Mr. Poole received amuahof time-vesting stock options
to purchase 200,726 shares of our common stock tihe®014 Equity plan that vests as to 25% ofstheres subject to stock option 12 months from
the date of grant, and thereafter vests in equalthfpinstaliments over the following 36 monthsngeally subject to his continued employment. No
other equity awards were granted to our named ¢ixecofficers in fiscal 2014.

Stock option awards serve to align the interestsuofnamed executive officers with our shareholtesause no value is created unless the
value of our common stock appreciates after g@toick option awards also encourage retention throlg use of time-based vesting conditions. We
have in the past also granted stock options tlasabject to performance-based vesting
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conditions, thereby incentivizing the achievemetitay strategic goals. Pursuant to agreements auitmamed executive officers, their stock option
awards will vest automatically upon certain terntimas of employment following a change of contrbbar Company. See “—Employment Letter
Agreements” below for additional details about thagreements.

Benefits. We provide modest benefits to our named executifieers, which are limited to participation inro401(k) plan and basic health
and welfare benefit coverage. These benefits aaadle to substantially all of our salaried empesy.

Employment Letter AgreementsWe have entered into an employment letter agraemi¢h each of our named executive officers that,
each case, includes severance and change of cpritettions. Our named executive officers are sildgect to restrictive covenants, covering
noncompetition, nonsolicitation and confidentiality

Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth information aboutrgmensation awarded or paid to our named executfieeis for fiscal years 2014, in the
case of all of our named executive officers, anti®(@n the case of Mr. Clark and Dr. Hetherington.

Option Nonequity incentive
Salary Bonus awards plan compensation Total

Name and principal position Year ($)(2) ($)(3) ($)(4) ($)(5) ($)
William Clark, 2014 393,56: — — 179,74« 573,30!

President and Chief Executive Offic 201: 334,28( — 413,84 107,32( 855,44.
Seth Hetherington, M.D 201< 366,07 — — 119,61: 485,68t

Chief Medical Officel 201z 331,45¢ — 176,61t 88,98¢ 597,06«
Jonathan Poolt 2014 235,15.  50,00( 2,904,50! 78,54( 3,268,191

Chief Financial Officer (1
1) Mr. Poole was not a named executive officer indigear 2013 and, as a result, no amounts withectgp fiscal year 2013 have been

included for Mr. Poole in the table above. Amountthe table represent Mr. Poole’s compensatiortferperiod since he commenced
employment with the Company in April 2014.

(2) Salaries include amounts contributed by the namedwive officer to our 401(k) plan.
3) Amount reflects the signing bonus paid to Mr. Panleonnection with the commencement of his empleytwith us.
4) Amounts shown reflect the aggregate grant datevédire of time-vesting stock options awarded indl2013 and fiscal 2014, computed in

accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718 and excludevtiige of estimated forfeitures. Assumptions usetthéncalculation of these amounts
are included in Note 12 to our financial statemémttuded elsewhere in this Annual Report on Fo@¥K1 Mr. Clark was also granted a
performance-vesting stock option in 2013. The gdaté fair value of the performance-vesting stgafiom granted to Mr. Clark in fiscal
year 2013 was based on the probable outcome qfettiermance conditions associated with the stotlongas of the date of grant. No
amount was included in 2013 in the table aboveHisrstock option since the performance conditase not considered probable of
occurring on the date of grant in 2013. The aggeegeant date fair value of this performance-vegsitock option assuming the highest
levels of performance conditions are acheived &2%81. This performanoeesting stock option awarded to Mr. Clark in 20E3ted in ful
upon the completion of our IPO on February 10, 2014

(5) Amounts shown reflect the cash amount paid to #reed executive officer that was earned based oadhievement of Company
performance goals, in the case of Mr. Clark, anth@any and individual performance goals, in the cdger. Hetherington and Mr. Poole.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The following table sets forth information regamgliequity awards held by our named executive offieex of December 31, 2014. Our
named executive officers do not hold any equityrawather than stock options.
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OPTION AWARDS

Equity incentive

plan awards:
Number of Number of number of
securities securities securities
underlying underlying underlying Option
unexercised unexercised unexercised Exercise Option
options (#) options (#) unearned Price Expiration
Name exercisable) unexercisable options (#) ($)(5) Date(6)
William Clark 24,71¢1) — — 2.8¢€ 12/17/202
— — 39,801(2)$ 2.8¢€ 12/17/2021
326,37(1) 14,19(1) — % 2.0z 2/17/202:
64,01¢3) 69,58¢(3) — % 3.4¢ 7125/202.
81,67((2) = — % 3.4¢ 7/25/202.
Seth Hetherington, M.L 72,42%4) 1,54%4) — % 2.0z 2/17/202:
14,55(2) — — % 2.02 2/17/202:
27,3243) 29,69¢(3) — % 3.4¢ 7125/202.
Jonathan Pool — 200,72(4) — % 17.8¢ 4/7/202¢
1) Reflects time-based stock options to purchase shudreur common stock that vest in 48 equal moritigyallments following the date of
grant, generally subject to the executive’s corgthemployment.
2) Reflects performance-based stock options to puecklares of our common stock that vest as to 1da#eshares subject to the stock

option, in the case of Mr. Clark, upon the comparachievement of specified strategic financingerafopment milestones, and in the case
of Dr. Hetherington, upon the company’s achievenoérat milestone related to the initiation of a @l trial, in each case, generally subject
to the executive’s continued employment. The penorce-based stock option awarded to Mr. Clark &n2iki 2013 vested in full upon the
completion of our IPO on February 10, 2014. Thdgrerance-based stock option awarded to Dr. Heth@imvested in full in fiscal 2012.

3) Reflects time-based stock options to purchase slwdreur common stock that vested as to 1/8the@ftiares subject to the stock option on
the date of grant and that continue to vest in kopeeathly installments over 42 months following tih@te of grant, generally subject to the
executive's continued employment.

4) Reflects time-based stock options to purchase sludreur common stock that vest as to 25% of tlaeeshsubject to the stock option on the
vesting commencement date (approximately 12 mdntins the grant date) and thereafter vest in equalthly installments over the
following 36 months, generally subject to the exta@ls continued employment.

(5) The exercise price of the stock options is not thas the fair market value of a share of our comistock, as determined by our board of
directors based, in part, on an independent thartypvaluation. For stock options granted followmg IPO, the exercise price is the closing
price of a share of our common stock on the datganfit of the stock option.

(6) All stock options have a 10-year term measured fiteendate of grant.
Retirement Benefit:

We do not maintain any qualified or non-qualifiegfided benefit plans or supplemental executiveaetent plans that cover our named
executive officers. We offer a tayualified retirement plan, which we refer to as 401 (k) plan, to eligible employees, including mamed executi
officers. Our 401(k) plan permits eligible emplogae defer their annual eligible compensation suttifethe limitations imposed by the Internal
Revenue Service. We may, but are not required &ixendiscretionary profit-sharing contributions ahalf of eligible employees under this plan. We
did not make any contributions on behalf of eligiBmployees in fiscal year 2014.

Employment Letter Agreements

We have entered into employment letter agreemeititseach of our named executive officers. On Janiéy 2014, we entered into an
amended and restated employment letter agreem#neach of Mr. Clark, and Dr. Hetherington, eackvbifch became effective prior to the
completion of our IPO. We also entered into an @ymplent letter agreement with Mr. Poole, who begawmisg as our Chief Financial Officer on
April 7, 2014. Each employment letter agreementigles for an initial base salary of $399,433, ia tlase of Mr. Clark, $369,458 in the case of
Dr. Hetherington, and $320,000 in the case of Mol®, as well as a discretionary performance-baseds, with a target, as a percentage of base
salary, of 50% for Mr. Clark and 35% for each of Betherington and Mr. Poole. In addition, pursuantr. Poole’s employment letter agreement,
he was entitled a cash signing bonus of
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$50,000, payable within 30 days of the commencemkhis employment, and a stock option to purct2i&726 shares of our common stock (wl
was equal to 1% of the total number of shares otommon stock outstanding on a fully diluted basighe date of grant) under the 2014 Equity
Plan. Each agreement also provides for severancegrdas and benefits upon certain terminations eftkecutive’s employment as described below.

Termination of Employment without Cause or for Godtkeason Following a Change of Controllf, within 12 months after a change of
control (as defined in the executive’s employmetier agreement), the executive’s employment iaiteated by us without cause or the executive
terminates his employment for good reason (as &rafis are defined in the executive’'s employmeteletgreement), all stock options or other
equity awards then held by the executive will fulgst. In addition, the executive will be entitladreceive base salary and payment of COBRA
premiums for 18 months, in the case of Mr. Clarkl® months, in the case of Dr. Hetherington and®ole, following such termination of
employment.

Termination of Employment without Cause or for Godrkeason. If the executive’s employment is terminated bywithout cause or the
executive terminates his employment for good redasrsuch terms are defined in the executive’s eynpént letter agreement) other than following
a change of control as described above, the execwill be entitled to receive base salary and paynof COBRA premiums for 12 months, in the
case of Mr. Clark, or nine months, in the case ofHetherington and Mr. Poole, following such temation of employment.

Termination of Employment Due to Death or Disabilit If the executive’s employment is terminated bydue to the executive’'disability
or is terminated due to the executive’s death, Wepay the executive a portion of the executivieigyet annual cash bonus for the year in which suct
termination of employment occurs, prorated basethemumber of days the executive was employeddwiich year until the date of such
termination.

Severance Subject to Release of Claim®ur obligation to provide the executive with agverance payments or other benefits under the
executive’'s employment letter agreement is conaitibon the executive signing and not revoking &cefe release of claims in our favor.

Other Termination of Employment. If the executive’s employment is terminated foy @aeason other than by us without cause, by the
executive for good reason, or due to the execuwttigeath or disability, the executive will only b&ided to receive earned but unpaid base salady an
any accrued but not used vacation as of the tetinmdate.

280G Better-of Provision In the event of a change in ownership or cordfaur Company under Section 280G of the InterratdRue
Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, and th&atiegs thereunder, if any portion of the paymenggie pursuant to the executive’s employment
letter agreement (or otherwise) constitutes anésg@arachute payment” within the meaning of Se@g0G of the Code, the executive will be
entitled to receive an amount of such paymentsaedigo that no portion of the payments would cartstian excess parachute payment, or the
amount otherwise payable to the executive undeertiy@loyment letter agreement (or otherwise) redingeall applicable taxes, including the excise
tax, whichever amount results in the greater ampapable to the executive.

Employment Conditioned on Restrictive Covenantés a condition to the executive’s employment wigh the executive was required to
sign and must comply with the terms of an At-WithBEloyment, Confidential Information, Invention Agsiment and Non-Competition Agreement,
pursuant to which the executive has agreed natrgpete with us for a period of 12 months followthg termination of his employment and not to
solicit our employees or independent contractorafperiod of 36 months following the terminatidrhés employment. Each executive has also
agreed to covenants relating to the use and diselad confidential information and the assignmahinventions.

2014 Director Compensation

The following table sets forth information concexgnithe compensation earned by our directors d@@igt. From and after the completion
of our IPO in February 2014, all of our non-empleykrectors were compensated for service on ourdbafadirectors under our non-employee
director compensation policy. Prior to the comiplef our IPO, Dr. Siber and Ms. Bosley were tingyalirectors who were compensated for ser
on our board of directors. Mr. Clark receives ddiional compensation for his service as a dirgetnd, consequently, is not included in this table
The compensation received by Mr. Clark as our oiefcutive officer during 2014 is included in tigummary Compensation Table” above.
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D irector Compensation

Fees Earned o1 Option

Paid in Cash awards Total
Name ®@) $)(2) ®
Kenneth Bat¢ 15,97¢ 96,94((3) 112,92.
Kevin Bitterman, Ph.D 41,45¢ — 41,45¢
Katrine Bosley 71,71( — 71,71(
Stephen Hoffman, M.D., Ph.I 47,407 — 47,40
George Siber, M.C 156,00¢ — 156,00¢
Q) Amounts represent annual director fees and, icdise of Dr. Siber, consulting fees, for servicesleeed. Consulting fees paid to Dr. Siber

were paid in equal bi-monthly installments andotifler fees were paid quarterly in arrears.

(2) As of December 31, 2014, our directors held thifghg aggregate number of options to purchaseeshairour common stock: Mr. Bate

held options to purchase 10,084 shares of our canstozk, Ms. Bosley held options to purchase 369&6es of our common stock, and

Dr. Siber held options to purchase 133,672 sherearocommon stock. As of December 31, 2014, MssI®pheld 16,840 restricted shares,

which she received upon the exercise of the oggjianted to her on February 4, 2013.

3) Amount represents the aggregate grant date faiewafl awards of time-vesting stock options grantellr. Bate in September 2014, upon
his election to our Board of Directors, pursuandbt non-employee director compensation policysTmount was computed in accordance

with FASB ASC Topic 718 and excludes the valuegtineated forfeitures. Assumptions used in the dat@n of this amount are included
in Note 12 to our financial statements include@wlsere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. No stopkions were granted to our non-

employee directors in fiscal 2014 other than to Bate.

Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy

In connection with our IPO, our board of directadopted a non-employee director compensation pthiatis designed to enable us to
attract and retain, on a long-term basis, highlglifjed non-employee directors. Under the polidynan-employee directors will be paid cash

compensation from and after the completion of ®&@,las set forth in the following table:

Board of Directors:

All non-employee membe!
Additional retainer for chai
Audit Committee:
Members

Additional retainer for chai
Compensation Committee:
Members

Additional retainer for chai
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
Members

Additional retainer for chai

Annual
Retainer

35,00(
25,00(

7,50(
7,50(

5,00(
5,00(

3,50(
3,50(

& © A @ B © A

Under our non-employee director compensation ppbegh individual who is not an employee who iiafly appointed or elected to our

board of directors will be eligible to receive agt of stock options to purchase 10,084 sharesro¢@mmon stock under our 2014 Equity Plan at the
time of his or her initial appointment or electimnour board of directors, which will vest annuahllyequal installments over a three-year period. In
addition, each continuing non-employee directot bél eligible to receive, on the first business ttdpwing January Bt of each calendar year, an

annual stock option grant to purchase 5,042 stwdresr common stock, which will vest in full on tfiest anniversary of the grant date. The stock

options will be granted with an exercise price édgoighe fair market value of a share of our commatack on the date of grant and have a 10-year

term.
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Director Agreements
Dr. Siber

We entered into a consulting agreement with DreSiated May 16, 2007, as amended on June 30, P@@@mber 16, 2010, June 15, 2|
and June 5, 2013, providing for a consulting fe&Xd thousand per month, for consulting service®pmed by Dr. Siber related to strategic
scientific and business development as well akifoservice as the chairman of our board of dimsctdr. Siber was also entitled to receive grafits o
restricted stock and stock options in connectiath Wis service to us. All stock options grantedto Siber pursuant to the consulting agreement will
fully vest if, within 12 months following a changé control of our Company, either we (or our suscesterminate the consulting agreement without
cause (as such term is described in the conswdgingement), or we (or our successor) do not offextend the term of the agreement.

Dr. Siber has agreed not to solicit our employeestractors, and customers for a period of 12 nofatiowing the termination of the
consulting agreement and is subject to covenatasng to the use and disclosure of confidentigdimation and the assignment of inventions.
Unless extended or earlier terminated, the terthetonsulting agreement will expire on June 11520

Ms. Bosley

We entered into a letter agreement with Ms. Bodley,chair of our board of directors, dated aseadfrbary 4, 2013, the date she was
appointed to serve on our board of directors. Rursto the letter agreement, Ms. Bosley was edtitlean annual fee for board meeting attendan
$30,000 per year (which annual fee was subsequientigased to $50,000 per year) and was alsoahtitl certain equity rights. Effective as of the
completion of our IPO, this letter agreement temat®a and Ms. Bosley is eligible to participate im non-employee director compensation policy
described above on the same terms as other disector

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Partipation

None of our executive officers serves as a membgreoboard of directors or compensation committe@ther committee serving an
equivalent function, of any other entity that has @r more of its executive officers serving aseamier of our board of directors or compensation
committee. Our compensation committee is compo§&tt oBate and Dr. Bitterman, with Mr. Bate serviag chairman of the committee. None of
the members of our compensation committee hastmear employed by us. For a description of transastbetween us and members of our
compensation committee and affiliates of such meslpease see the section of this Annual RepoRarm 10-K titled “Certain Relationships and
Related Party Transactions”.

Compensation Committee Report

The compensation committee has reviewed and disduke Compensation Discussion and Analysis withagament and recommends to
the board of directors that the Compensation Dsionsand Analysis be included in this Annual Report~orm 10-K for filing with the Securities
and Exchange Commission.

In accordance with the rules of the Securities Bxchange Commission, this report is not to be deemwaliciting material”, or deemed to
be “filed” with the Securities and Exchange Commaissor subject to the Securities and Exchange Casion’s Regulation 14A or Regulation 14C,
other than as provided in Item 407 of Regulatiol, ®+ to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Exclgge Act, except to the extent the Company
specifically requests that the information be &dads soliciting material or specifically incorpsit by reference in documents otherwise filed.

February 27, 201
Members of the Compensation Committee:

Kenneth Bate, Chair
Kevin Bitterman

The Compensation Committee Report shall not be eig@msorporated by reference by any general stateimeorporating by reference this Annual
Report on Form 1-K into any filing under the Securities Act of 19388 amended, or the Exchange Act, except to teatakat the Company
specifically incorporates this information by refece, and shall not otherwise be deemed filed uswien Acts.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andvianagement and Related Stockholder Matters
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

See “Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Brg@idmpensation Plans” in Item 5 of this Annual Reépo Form 10-K.
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andvlanagement

The following table sets forth information relatitgthe beneficial ownership of our common stockfaBebruary 15, 2015, by: each pers
or group of affiliated persons, known by us to biiely own more than 5% of our outstanding shazsesommon stock; each of our directors; each
of our named executive officers; and all directmnsl executive officers as a group.

The percentage of shares beneficially owned is ebetpon the basis of 17,858,705 shares of our cansturk outstanding as of
February 15, 2015. The number of shares bendfi@alned by each entity, person, director or exseubfficer is determined in accordance with the
rules of the Securities and Exchange Commissiashtfaa information is not necessarily indicativebeheficial ownership for any other purpose.
Shares of our common stock that a person hasghetd acquire within 60 days of February 15, 2@ deemed outstanding for purposes of
computing the percentage ownership of the perstirtgpsuch rights, but are not deemed outstandingéirposes of computing the percentage
ownership of any other person, except with resgettie percentage ownership of all directors aretetive officers as a group. Unless otherwise
indicated below, the address for each beneficialesisted is c/o Genocea Biosciences, Inc., CaigbrDiscovery Park, 100 Acorn Park Drive,
Cambridge, MA 02140
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Number of Percentage of Share

Name and Address of Beneficial Owne Shares Beneficially Ownec Beneficially Owned
5% or greater stockholders:
FMR LLC, and related funds(:

245 Summer Stre:

Boston, MA 0221( 2,641,52. 14.£%
Polaris Venture Partners, and related fund

650 East Kendall Street, 4th Flc

Cambridge, MA 0214 2,055,23I 11.5%
S.R. One, Limited(3

c/o Corporation Service Compa

2595 Interstate Drive, Suite 1

Harrisburg, PA 1711 1,671,66: 9.4%
Johnson & Johnson Development Corporatio

410 George Stre:

New Brunswick, NJ 0890 1,431,521 8.C%
Skyline Venture Partners V, L.P.(

525 University Avenue, Suite 6.

Palo Alto, CA 9430: 1,292,41! 7.2%
CVF, LLC(6)

222 N. LaSalle Street, Suite 20

Chicago, IL 6060: 1,218,741 6.8%

Lux Ventures, and related fundsi
295 Madison Avenue, 24th Flo

New York, NY 10017 1,072,61 6.C%
Directors and Named Executive Officers
William Clark(8) 559,12¢ 3.1%
Seth Hetherington, M.D.(¢ 130,40: *
Jonathan Poole(1( 41,56¢ *
George Siber, M.D.(11 103,30( @
Kevin Bitterman, Ph.D.(1Z 2,055,23i 11.5%
Katrine Bosley(13 44,18 *
Stephen Hoffman, M.D., Ph.D. (1 1,292,41! 7.2%
Kenneth Bat¢ — —
All executive officers and directors as a group &2sons)(15 4,386,68 24.€%
* Represents beneficial ownership of less than oreepeof our outstanding common stock.

Q) Consists of 2,641,523 shares of common stock heleMiR LLC. Edward C. Johnson 3d, Chairman of FMRJ, lhas sole power to dispt
of the 2,641,523 shares owned by FMR LLC. Membéthefamily of Edward C. Johnson 3d, Chairman BfRFLLC, are the predominant owners,
directly or through trusts, of Series B voting coomshares of FMR LLC, representing 49% of the \ppower of FMR LLC. For information
regarding FMR LLC and its affiliates, we have rdlen the Schedule 13G filed by FMR LLC with the S&CFebruary 13, 2015.

2) Consists of (i) 1,983,164 shares of common stoddk by Polaris Venture Partners V, L.P., (ii) 38,&t&ares of common stock held by
Polaris Venture Partners Entrepreneurs’ Fund, I(iif.13,585 shares of common stock held by Pslafénture Partners FoundeRind V, L.P., an
(iv) 19,833 shares of common stock held by PoMeisture Partners Special Founders’ Fund V, L.Rjdtioer with Polaris Venture Partners V, L.P.,
Polaris Venture Partners Entrepreneurs’ Fund, &nl.Polaris Venture Partners Founders’ Fund V,, lthle. Polaris Funds). North Star Venture
Management 2000, LLC directly or indirectly provsdavestment advisory services to various ventapstal funds, including the Polaris Funds.
Jonathan Flint and Terrance McGuire, managing mesnifeNorth Star Venture Management 2000, LLC, eiservoting and investment power w
respect to North Star Venture Management, 2000h Bathe Polaris Funds has the sole voting andsimvent power with respect to the shares o
Company directly held by the applicable Polarisdrurhe respective general partners of the Polansl§ may be deemed to have sole voting and
investment power with respect to the shares helsuioh funds. The respective general partners disdlaneficial ownership of all the shares hel
the Polaris Funds except to the extent of theipprtionate pecuniary interests therein. The membkiorth
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Star Venture Management 2000, LLC (the Polaris Mangnt Members) are also members of Polaris VeMareagement Co., V, L.L.C. (the
general partner of each of the Polaris Funds).thanaFlint and Terrance McGuire, managing membgPotaris Venture Management Co. V,
L.L.C., exercise voting and investment power wéhpect to Polaris Venture Management Co. V, L.A€members of the general partner and
North Star Venture Management 2000, LLC, the Pslsl@anagement Members may be deemed to share \astthinvestment powers for the shares
held by the Polaris Funds. The Polaris Managemesthbkrs disclaim beneficial ownership of all sucarsh held by the funds except to the extent
of their proportionate pecuniary interests therievin Bitterman, a director of the Company, hagasignee interest in Polaris Venture
Management Co. V, L.L.C. To the extent that hegisrded to share voting and investment powers witheret to the shares held by the Polaris
Funds, Dr. Bitterman disclaims beneficial ownersifigll the shares held by the funds except taettient of his proportionate pecuniary interest
therein.

3) Consists of 1,671,668 shares of common stock hel8.B. One, Limited, an indirect, wholly-owned sidiery of GlaxoSmithKline plc.

4) Consists of 1,431,520 shares of common stock heltbbhnson & Johnson Development Corporation. Horimation regarding Johnson &
Johnson Development Corporation, we have relietherSchedule 13G filed by Johnson & Johnson Dewedopt Corporation with the SEC on
February 5, 2015.

(5) Consists of 1,292,415 shares of common stock helBklgline Venture Partners V, L.P. The generalmmarbf Skyline Venture Partners V,
L.P. is Skyline Venture Management V, LLC. JohnF&und and Yasunori Kaneko are Managers of Ski¥gmure Management V, LLC and
hereby disclaim beneficial ownership of all thersiseheld by Skyline Venture Partners V, L.P. exteplhe extent of his respective proportionate
pecuniary interest therein. Stephen Hoffman haasaignee interest in Skyline Venture Partners @, Lo the extent that he is deemed to share
voting and investment powers with respect to treeshheld by the Skyline Venture Funds, Dr. Hoffrdatlaims beneficial ownership of all the
shares held by the funds except to the extentsopitiportionate pecuniary interest therein.

(6) Consists of 1,218,740 shares of common stock. RicHaRobb, manager of CVF, LLC, exercises voting avestment power with
respect to shares held by CVF, LLC. Mr. Robb disttabeneficial ownership of all shares held by CVEC except to the extent of his pecuniary
interest therein.

) Consists of (i) 1,025,835 shares of common stoddk bye Lux Ventures II, L.P. (“LV-II") and (ii) 46,76 shares of common stock held by
Lux Ventures Il Sidecar, L.P. (“Sidecar”) (togethath LV-1l and Sidecar, the “Lux Funds”). Lux Vame Partners Il, L.P. (“LVP-II") is (i) the
general partner of the Lux Funds, Robert Paullhdad/Nolfe and Peter Hebert are the individual maregf LCM LLC (the “Individual
Managers”). LVP Il and LCM LLC disclaim beneficianership of such shares, except to the extertadf pecuniary interest therein. LCM LLC,
as sole member, may be deemed to share votinghaastiment powers for the shares held by the Luxif.ufis one of three individual managers,
each of the Individual Managers disclaims bendfmrenership over the shares reported herein, aadl #vents disclaims beneficial ownership
except to the extent of his pecuniary interesteimer

(8) Consists of 39,807 shares of common stock, 506;688es of common stock that can be acquired ugpaxércise of outstanding options
and 12,663 shares of common stock that can berachupon the exercise of options within 60 dayBedfruary 15, 2015.

9) Consists of 11,000 shares of common stock, 117%02a6es of common stock that can be acquired ugpaxércise of outstanding options
and 2,375 shares of common stock that can be achupon the exercise of options within 60 daysedfrkary 15, 2015.

(10) Consists of 1,423 shares of common stock, 40,14festof common stock that can be acquired upoaxeecise of options within 60 days
of February 15, 2015.

(11) Consists of 2,016 shares of common stock, 100,688es of common stock that can be acquired upoaexéeise of outstanding options
and 1,283 shares of common stock that can be &ctjupon the exercise of options within 60 daysedfrkary 15, 2015.

(12) Consists of shares held by Polaris Venture Partrerslated funds. By virtue of the relationshigscribed in footnote 2 above,
Dr. Bitterman may be deemed to share beneficialesship in the shares held by Polaris Venture Pextmerelated funds. Dr. Bitterman disclaims
beneficial ownership of the shares referred tmotriote 2 above.

(13) Consists of 31,092 shares of common stock, 11,68&s of common stock that can be acquired upoexérsise of outstanding options
and 1,540 shares of common stock that can be &ctjupon the exercise of options within 60 daysedfrkary 15, 2015.

(14) Consists of shares held by Skyline Venture PartdetsP or related funds. By virtue of the relathips described in footnote 5 above,
Dr. Hoffman may be deemed to share beneficial osmprin the shares held by Skyline Venture PartietsP. or related funds. Dr. Hoffman
disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares refeto in footnote 5 above.

(15) Consists of (i) 3,434,864 shares of common stock%1,823 shares of common stock that can be amhupon the exercise of outstand
options and the exercise of options within 60 dafySebruary 15, 2015.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactioa and Director Independence

The following is a description of transactions sidanuary 2014, to which we have been a partyhinhwthe amount involved exceeded or
will exceed $120 thousand, and in which any relgiedon had a direct or indirect material interest.

Participation in Initial Offering

In February 2014, we issued and sold an aggred&®@0,000 shares of our common stock in our IP®@xice of $12.00 for an aggregate
purchase price of $66.0 million. Citigroup GlobaaNets, Inc. and Cowen and Company, LLC actediatshook-running managers of the offering
and as representatives of the underwriters. Shfieblaus & Company, Incorporated and Needham & gamy, LLC acted as co-managers for the
offering. The following table sets forth the numbéshares of our common stock that were purchbgesuir 5% stockholders and their affiliates:

Number of Shares

Investor of Common Stock

Polaris Venture Partne 232,82(
S.R. One, Limitec 250,93:
CVF, LLC 132,09¢
Johnson & Johnson Development Corpora 167,90¢
Skyline Venture Partne! 250,93:

Indemnification Agreements

In connection with our IPO, we entered into indefisation agreements with each of our directors executive officers. These agreements
will require us to indemnify these individuals amicertain cases, affiliates of such individuétsthe fullest extent permissible under Delawave la
against liabilities that may arise by reason ofrteervice to us or at our direction, and to adeaexpenses incurred as a result of any proceeding
against them as to which they could be indemnified.

Registration Rights Agreement

We are a party to a registration rights agreemeéht @ertain holders of common stock, including sasheur directors, executive officers
and 5% stockholders and their affiliates and esdtisiffiliated with our directors. The registratitghts agreement provides these holders the right t
demand that we file a registration statement ouestjthat their shares be covered by a registratetement that we are otherwise filing.

Transactions with Our Executive Officers, Directorsand 5% Stockholders

On May 16, 2007, we entered into a consulting agese with Dr. George Siber, a member of our bodmirectors. The consulting
agreement was amended on each of June 30, 2008mbec 16, 2010, June 15, 2011 and June 5, 2013 améffect through June 17, 2015.
Pursuant to the consulting agreement, Dr. Sibdopas various consulting services for us, includitggermining our general scientific and business
direction, recruitment of scientific advisory boam#mbers and consultants, recruitment of full-tmemagement and scientific personnel and
identifying and reviewing scientific developmentslantellectual property. Since the beginning 0£20Dr. Siber has been paid approximately $10
thousand per month under the consulting agreerSest:'Executive and Director Compensation — Direéigreements — Dr. Siber” for further
details on compensation paid to Dr. Siber underctresulting agreement.

Related Person Transactions Policy

We have adopted a related person transaction agipvolicy that will govern the review of relatedrpen transactions following the closing
of this offering. Pursuant to this policy, if we mao enter into a transaction with a related peimoan affiliate of a related person, our Viceditent
of Finance and Administration will review the pragal transaction to determine, based on applicahRMQ and Securities and Exchange
Commission rules, if such transaction requiresgpproval by the audit committee and/or board cdaors. If pre-approval is required, such matters
will be reviewed at the next regular or specialibadmmittee and/or board of directors meeting. M&y not enter into a related person transaction
unless our Vice President of Finance and Admirtistnehas either specifically confirmed in writinigatt no further reviews are necessary or that all
requisite corporate reviews have been obtained.
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Director Independence

Our board of directors has determined that Mr. Bate Bitterman, Ms. Bosley and Dr. Hoffman aredépendent directors” as defined
under applicable NASDAQ rules. In making such deteation, our board of directors considered thati@hships that each such non-employee
director has with our Company and all other fadid eircumstances that our board of directors deamlegtant in determining his or her
independence, including the beneficial ownershipwfcapital stock by each non-employee directar. Gfiark is not an independent director under
these rules because he is our Chief Executive @ftiad Dr. Siber is not an independent directoeutitese rules because of his consulting
relationship with us. See — “Transactions with @wecutive Officers, Directors and 5% Stockholders”.

There are no family relationships among any ofditgctors or executive officers.
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
Audit Fees

The following table summarizes the fees of Ernstd@ung LLP, our independent registered public actiogrfirm, billed to us for each of the
last two fiscal years.

Fee Category 2014 2013

Audit Fees $ 559,11° $ 1,197,12.
Audit-Related Fee — —
Tax Fees — —
All Other Fees — —
Total Fees $ 559,11° $ 1,197,12.

Audit FeesConsists of fees billed for professional serviegsdered for the audit of our annual financial stests, the review of interim
financial statements and services provided in cotiore with our registration statement on Form S-1.

Audit-Related Fee€onsist of fees billed for assurance and relatedcss that are reasonably related to the perfoceman the audit or
review of our financial statements and are not reggounder Audit Fees.

Tax FeesConsists of fees billed for tax compliance, taxieehand tax planning and includes fees for taxrrefueparation.
All Other FeesConsists of all other fees billed other than thdsscribed above under Audit Fees, Audit-Related bed Tax Fees.

All such accountant services and fees were presapprby our audit committee in accordance with*Bre-Approval Policies and
Procedures” described below.

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

Our Audit Committee has adopted policies and procesirelating to the approval of all audit and ot services that are to be performed
by our registered public accounting firm. Thisipplgenerally provides that we will not engage mgistered public accounting firm to render audit
or non-audit services unless the service is spadlfi approved in advance by our Audit Committe¢harengagement is entered into pursuant to one
of the pre-approval procedures described below.

From time to time, our Audit Committee may pre-aper specified types of services that are expectée {provided to us by our registered
public accounting firm during the next 12 monti#gy such pre-approval is detailed as to the pdeicservice or type of services to be provided and
is also generally subject to a maximum dollar antoL®0% of audit fees were approved by the AudinGuttee.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
Financial Statements
The following financial statements and supplemsntiata are filed as a part of this Annual ReporForm 10-K.
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfiinm
Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013
Statements of Operations for each of the threesyiaghe period ended December 31, 2014
Statements of Comprehensive Loss for each of tlee tyears in the period ended December 31, 2014

Statements of Redeemable Convertible Preferreck@od Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) for each oétthree years in the period ended
December 31, 2014

Statements of Cash Flows for each of the threesyiaahe period ended December 31, 2014
Notes to Financial Statements
Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules are omitted bsedhbey are not applicable or the required infoionas included in the financial statements
or notes thereto.

Exhibits

Those exhibits required to be filed by Item 60Refyulation S-K are listed in the Exhibit Index indiaely preceding the exhibits hereto and
such listing is incorporated herein by reference.
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Genocea Biosciences, Inc.

Index to Financial Statements
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Genocea Biosciences, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying balance she@srudcea Biosciences, Inc. as of December 31, 20d2@13, and the related
statements of operations, comprehensive loss, meglgle convertible preferred stock and stockholdegsity (deficit) and cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 20feke financial statements are the responsibilithed Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesarftial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBaUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet éndbtain reasonable assurance about whethdintecial statements are free of material
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform aih @futhe Company’s internal control over financdiaporting. Our audits included consideration
of internal control over financial reporting asasls for designing audit procedures that are apjatepin the circumstances, but not for the purp:
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of thm@any’s internal control over financial reportidgcordingly, we express no such opinion. An
audit also includes examining, on a test basislemde supporting the amounts and disclosures ifirthecial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made ayagement, and evaluating the overall financidéstant presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredlbove present fairly, in all material respedts,financial position of Genocea
Biosciences, Inc. at December 31, 2014 and 201Btrenresults of its operations and its cash flw®ach of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2014, in conformity with U.S. gengraltcepted accounting principles.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 27, 2015
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Genocea Biosciences, Inc.
Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except per share data)

December 31

December 31

2014 2013
Assets
Current assett
Cash and cash equivale $ 20,05¢ $ 12,20¢
Marketable securitie 27,02: —
Restricted cas — 157
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 963 51C
Total current assets 48,04: 12,87¢
Property and equipment, r 1,95¢ 86&
Restricted cas 31€ 15¢
Other asset 117 1,86
Total asset $ 50,43 $ 15,76
Liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stockand stockholders equity (deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 269z $ 2,17¢
Accrued expenses and other current liabili 2,48¢ 1,41¢
Deferred revenu 55k 12
Current portion of lon-term debt — 861
Current portion of deferred rent 107 26
Total current liabilities 5,84( 4,49:
Non-current liabilities:
Long-term debt, net of current portic 11,48¢ 8,93¢
Accrued interest payab — 11
Deferred rent, net of current porti 16€ 237
Warrant to purchase redeemable secur — 65€
Deferred revenue, net of current port 35C —
Other norcurrent liabilities 78 —
Total liabilities 17,92« 14,33(
Commitments and contingencieNote 9)
Redeemable convertible preferred stc
Seed convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par v:
Authorized — 0 shares at December 31, 2014; Isanddutstanding 6 and 4,615 shares at December 31, .

and December 31, 2013, respectively; aggregatalhtjon preference of $0 and $3,000 at December 31,

2014 and December 31, 2013, respecti' — 3,00
Series A redeemable convertible preferred stoclkiGHOpar value

Authorized- 0 shares at December 31, 2014; Issued and outste- 0 and 35,577 shares at December

2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively; aggréigaidation preference of $0 and $23,125 at Deaamb

31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respecti — 23,12t
Series B redeemable convertible preferred stocki®0Opar value

Authorized — 0 shares at December 31, 2014; Isanddutstanding — 0 and 34,581 shares at Decentber 3

2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively; aggréigatdation preference of $0 and $24,937 at Deaamb

31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respecti — 24,937
Series C redeemable convertible preferred stock030par value

Authorized- 0 shares at December 31, 2014; Issued and outste- 0 and 52,586 shares at December

2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively; aggrédigatdation preference of $0 and $30,500 at Deaamb

31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respecti — 30,50(
Stockholder equity (deficit):

Common stock, $0.001 par valt
Authorized — 175,000 shares at December 31, 2@%d4pH — 17,869 and 327 shares at December 31 apd1-

December 31, 2013, respectively; outstanding —57¢hd 303 at December 31, 2014 and December 3:

2013, respectivel 18 —
Additional paic-in-capital 147,92 —
Accumulated other comprehensive Ii @ —
Accumulated defici (115,42) (80,137)
Total stockholder’ equity (deficit) 32,507 (80,13)
Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferstdck and stockholders’ equity (deficit) $ 50,43. $ 15,76

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Genocea Biosciences, Inc.
Statements of Operations

(In thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Grant revenu $ 30¢ $ 731 $ 1,97
Operating expense

Research and developme 23,727 15,69¢ 11,24(

General and administrative 9,741 4,96 3,69(

Total operating expens 33,47¢ 20,65¢ 14,93(
Loss from operations (33,16¢) (29,929 (12,959
Other expense

Change in fair value of warrar (725) (222) 93

Loss on debt extinguishme (43%) (200 —

Interest expense, n (970 (459 (507)

Other expense (2,130 (881) (414)
Net loss $ (35,296 $ (20,8000 $ (13,3679
Reconciliation of net loss to net loss applicabledmmon stockholde
Net loss $ (35,29 $ (20,80¢) $ (13,367
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stoctedemption value (180 (1,605 (1,789
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $ (35,476 $ (22,41) $ (15,149
Net loss per share attributable to common stockdre-basic and diluted $ (227 $ (75.46) $ (51.39
Weightect-average number of common shares used in net loshaee attributable 1

common stockholder- basic and dilute 15,61¢ 297 29¢

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Net loss
Other comprehensive income (los
Unrealized loss on availal-for-sale securitie

Comprehensive los

Genocea Biosciences, Inc.
Statements of Comprehensive Loss

(In thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
$ (35,296 $ (20,800 $ (13,36
) — =
$ (35,309 $ (20,800 $ (13,36))

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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Genocea Biosciences, Inc.
Statements of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Sth@nd Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

(In thousands)

Series A Redeemab Series B Redeemab Series C Redeemab

Seed Convertible
Preferred Share:

Convertible
Preferred Shares

Convertible
Preferred Shares

Convertible
Preferred Shares

Additional

Common Shares

Shares  Amount

Shares

Amount Shares

Amount

Shares  Amount

Shares Amount

Paid-In
Capital

Other
Comprehensive Accumulated

Income Deficit

Total
Stockholders’
Equity
(Defi Cit)

Balance at
December 31,
2011
Issuance of

Series C
Preferred
stock, net of
issuance
costs of
$172
Accretion of
dividends ol
redeemable
convertible
preferred
stock
Exercise of
stock
options
Stock-based
compensati
expense
Net loss

4,61t $ 3,00(

35,577 $ 23,12t

34,58 $ 21,72

1,60¢

26,29: 15,25(

29§ —$

—$

(172

(136)

(43,562

(1,479

(13,367

$ (43,569

(172

(1,609

307
(13,369

Balance at
December 31,
2012
Issuance of

Series C
Preferred
stock
Accretion of
dividends ol
redeemable
convertible
preferred
stock
Exercise of
stock
options
Vesting of
restricted
stock
Stock-based
compensatia
expense
Net loss

4,61¢ 3,00(¢

35,571 23,12t

34,58 23,33:

1,60t

26,29: 15,25(

26,29: 15,25(

29t

(682)

672z

(58,40

(929)

(20,800

(58,40

(1,605

672
(20,806

Balance at
December 31,
2013
Accretion of

dividends ol
redeemable
convertible
preferred
stock
Exercise of
warrants for
cash
Cashless
exercise of
warrants
Conversion of
redeemable
convertible
preferred
stock into
common
stock
Reclassificatio
of warrants
to additiona
paid-in
capital

4,61 3,00(¢

(4,615 (3,000

Issuance of
common
stock upor

35,571 23,12t

98

(35,949

(23,25¢) (34,58Y)

34,58 24,931

18C

(25,117 (52,58¢)

52,58¢ 30,50(

(30,500

30¢

54

11,46¢ 11

(180)

81,76!

1,381

(80,13)

(80,13)

(180

81,77¢

1,381



IPO, net of
issuance
costs of
$2,403

Issuance of
common
Stock upon
ESPP
purchase

Issuance of
common
Stock upon
private
placement
offering, nel
of issuance
costs of $3¢

Issuance of
warrants, ne
of issuance
costs of $¢

Exercise of
stock
options

Vesting of
restricted
stock

Stock-based
compensatio
expense

Unrealized los:
on
marketable
securities

Net loss

— — — —| 5,50(

— — — —| 22z

— — — —| 28

6 58,97:

— 1,96¢

— 2,90¢

@)

— 58,977

— 1,96¢

— 334

— 682

— 2,90¢

(7)
(35,290 (35,290

Balance at

December 31,
2014

— $ = — $ — | _17,85:

$

18$ 147,920 $

s

(115,42)$ 32,50

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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Genocea Biosciences, Inc.
Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

Years ended December 3:

2014 2013 2012
Operating activities
Net loss $ (35,29¢ $ (20,806 $ (13,3679
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activitie:
Depreciatior 46¢ 31¢€ 30C
Stocl-based compensatic 2,90t 672 307
Amortization of premium on investmer 26 — —
Change in fair value of warrants liabili 72t 222 (93
Gain on sale of equipme (18) — —
Non-cash interest expen 254 22 46
Loss on debt extinguishme 43t 20C —
Changes in operating assets and liabili
Restricted cas — 97 (31%)
Prepaid expenses and other current a: (442) 27 (145
Other lon¢-term asset 782 (1,539 (237)
Accounts payabl 51€ 724 51k
Deferred revenu 89S 12 (23)
Accrued expenses and other liabilit 1,13¢ 46¢€ (297
Deferred ren 12 (155) 37¢€
Accrued interest payable — (135) 14€
Net cash used in operating activit (27,602 (19,879) (12,687
Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipm (1,520 (389 (460)
Purchase of availat-for-sale securitie (27,057) — —
Net cash used in investing activiti (28,579) (389) (460C)
Financing activities
Proceeds from IPO, net of issuance c 59,97 —
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock — 15,25( 15,07¢
Proceeds from issuance of l-term debt, net of issuance co 11,78¢ 9,96¢ 5,00(
Repayment of lor-term debt (20,40 (4,245 (1,169
Proceeds from sale of common stock, net of issuansts 1,96¢ — —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under 93 — —
Proceeds from exercise of stock optir 683 42 1
Proceeds from the exercise of warre 33 — —
Payments for debt issuance cc (103) (58) —
Net cash provided by financing activiti 64,027 20,95 18,91¢
Net increase in cash and cash equival $ 7,85C $ 69z $ 5,77¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 12,20¢ 11,51¢ 5,742
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $ 20,05¢ $ 12,20¢ $ 11,51¢
Supplemental cash flow information
Cash paid for interest $ 81t $ 42¢ $ 322
Supplemental disclosure of no-cash investing and financing activitie:
Conversion of preferred stock to common stock ugosing of IPO $ 81,77 $ — $ =
Reclassification of prepaid IPO closing costs freom-current assets to additional
paic-in capital $ 997 $ — $ —
Reclassification of warrants to additional paiczapital $ 1,381 $ — $ —
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stockedemption valu $ 18C $ 1,608 $ 1,781
Vesting of restricted stock $ 10 $ 1 $ =
Leasehold improvements financed by landl $ — 3 — 3 237
Cashless exercise of warrants $ 98 $ — $ =
Issuance of common stock warr: $ 34C 3 —  $ —
Equipment purchased under capital lease $ 21 $ — $ —

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Genocea Biosciences, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
1. Organization and operations
The Company

Genocea Biosciences, Inc. (the “Company”) is addinstage biopharmaceutical company that was parated in Delaware on August 16,
2006 and has a principal place of business in Cigigsr Massachusetts. The Company has two productical development:

*  GEN-003, which has completed a Phase 1/2a clitiigdland is currently in a Phase 2 dose optimizatlinical trial, to treat
patients with genital herpes, and

GEN-004, which is being developed to prevent infert caused by pneumococcus. The Company has cetglé’hase 1 clinical
trial and is currently conducting a Phase 2a dihigal.

The Company also has other product candidatesthaturrently in preclinical development. The Compdeveloped GEN-003, GEN-004
and its preclinical product candidates using itsppietary platform technology called the AnTigeradeAcquisition System (“ATLAS™”). The
ATLAS™ proprietary technology platform mimics tharhan immune response in the laboratory, potentiadproving the effectiveness of vaccine
discovery and reducing the time needed to creatmiging vaccines.

The Company is devoting substantially all of iteoas to product research and development, initiatket development, and raising capital.
The Company has not generated any product revetated to its primary business purpose to datesasdbject to a number of risks similar to those
of other clinical stage companies, including deeree on key individuals, competition from other pamies, the need for development of
commercially viable products, and the need to obtgiequate additional financing to fund the develept of its product candidates. The Compar
also subject to a number of risks similar to otmnpanies in the life sciences industry, includiegulatory approval of products, uncertainty of
market acceptance of products, competition fronssuute products and larger companies, the neebitin additional financing, compliance with
government regulations, protection of proprietaghinology, dependence on third parties, produlilitia, and dependence on key individuals.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had an acaietutleficit of approximately $115.4 million. T@empany had cash, cash
equivalents and marketable securities of $47.lianilhs of December 31, 2014. The Company beliehegsts existing cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities and available future borrgainnder the Company'’s credit facility, will be ficiEnt to fund projected operating expenses and
capital expenditure requirements into the firstregreof 2016.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
Initial Public Offering

On February 10, 2014, the Company completed itaimublic offering (“IPO”) of its common stock04001 par value per share (“Common
Stock”), pursuant to a registration statement om8-1, as amended. An aggregate of 5,500,000sb&@ommon Stock registered under the
registration statement were sold at a price of per share. Net proceeds of the IPO were $61lbmiexcluding offering expenses of $2.4 mill
payable by the Company. In conjunction with th@gaction, all shares of the Company’s redeemalnieectible preferred stock were converted into
11,466,479 shares of common stock, and 96,988 sepland nonemployee performance-based optionsdveste

Basis of presentation and use of estimates

The accompanying financial statements have begraped in conformity with accounting principles geally accepted in the United States
of America (“GAAP”). Any reference in these notesapplicable guidance is meant to refer to theaittitive United States generally accepted
accounting principles as found in the Accountingngards Codification (“ASC”) and Accounting StardfaltUpdate (“ASU”) of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”). The prepanmaid financial statements in conformity with GAA&quires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the amounts reportttkifinancial statements and accompanying notesarCongoing basis, the Company’s
management evaluates its estimates, which inclugegre not limited to, estimates related to preépaid accrued research and development exp
stock-based compensation expense, the valuatioomimon stock warrants and warrants to purchasenealgle securities, and reported amounts of
revenues and expenses
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during the reported period. The Company basesiinates on historical experience and other masgetific or other relevant assumptions that it
believes to be reasonable under the circumstaActisal results may differ from those estimates ssusnptions.

For periods prior to the closing of the IPO, ther@any utilized significant estimates and assumptiardetermining the fair value of its
common stock (“Common Stock”). The Company utilizedious valuation methodologies in accordance thiéhframework of the 2004 and 2013
American Institute of Certified Public Accountaitschnical Practice Aid$/aluation of Privately-Held Company Equity Secestissued as
Compensationto estimate the fair value of its Common Stockclievaluation methodology includes estimates asdragtions that require the
Company’s judgment. These estimates and assumgticlosle a number of objective and subjective fesstmcluding external market conditions
affecting the biotechnology industry sector, thiegs at which the Company sold shares of prefesteck, the superior rights and preferences of
securities senior to the Company’s Common Sto¢ketime and the likelihood of achieving a liguydévent, such as an initial public offering or a
sale of the Company. Significant changes to thedesyimptions used in the valuations could resuliffarent fair values of Common Stock at each
valuation date and materially affect the finanstatements.

Following the closing of the IPO, the fair valueoofmmon stock is determined based on the quotekeatnprice of the common stock.
Segment information

Operating segments are defined as componentsaitarprise about which separate discrete informasi@vailable for evaluation by the
chief operating decision maker, or decision-malgraup, in deciding how to allocate resources arassessing performance. The Company and the
Company’s chief operating decision maker view tlen@anys operations and manage its business in one apgggment, which is the busines:
developing and commercializing vaccines. The Comignerates in only one geographic segment.

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities

The Company considers all highly liquid investmenith maturities of 90 days or less from the pusghdate to be cash equivalents. Cash
and cash equivalents are held in depository ancegnorarket accounts and are reported at fair value.

Marketable securities consist of U.S. treasury sees with maturities of more than 90 days. Ther@any has determined the appropriate
balance sheet classification of the securitiesuant since they are available for use in curogrrating activities, regardless of actual maturity
dates. Marketable securities are classified adablaifor-sale pursuant to FASB ASC Topic 32fyestments — Debt and Equity Securiti€®SC
320") and are recorded on the balance sheet atdhie with unrealized gains and losses (excludihgr-than-temporary impairments) reported as a
separate component of accumulated other comprefeeimsiome (loss). Realized gains and losses, dsawelther-than-temporary impairments, are
recognized in the statement of operations basdadeapecific identification method.

The Company reviews its marketable securities floethan-temporary impairment whenever the faiv@®f a marketable security is less
than the amortized cost and evidence indicatesathedrketable security’s carrying amount is nobvecable within a reasonable period of time.
Other-thantemporary impairment of marketable securities ao®gnized in the statements of operations if the@any has experienced a credit I«
has the intent to sell the marketable securities,ibis more likely than not that the Companyliviie required to sell the marketable securitiefotze
recovery of the amortized cost basis.

Concentrations of credit risk and off-balance she&tk

Financial instruments that potentially subject@@npany to concentrations of credit risk are primaash, cash equivalents and market
securities. The Company’s cash, cash equivalemtsramketable securities are held in accounts withamcial institution that management believes
is creditworthy. The Companyinvestment policy includes guidelines on the igpalf the institutions and financial instrumentsladefines allowab
investments that the Company believes minimizeg#p@sure to concentration of credit risk. Thesewamts at times may exceed federally insured
limits. The Company has not experienced any cteg#fes in such accounts and does not believeipesed to any significant credit risk on these
funds. The Company has no financial instrumenth wit-balance sheet risk of loss.

Deferred initial public offering costs

Deferred public offering costs, which primarily aist of direct, incremental legal and accountiresfeelated to the IPO, were capitalized
within other assets as of December 31, 2013. Thepg@aoy incurred $2.4 million in IPO costs and in ifeloy 2014, these public offering costs were
offset against the proceeds upon completion ofRia
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Fair value of financial instruments

The Company is required to disclose informatiorabrassets and liabilities reported at fair valuat tenables an assessment of the inputs
used in determining the reported fair values. FASEC Topic 820Fair Value Measurement and Disclosurg8ASC 820”) established a hierarchy
of inputs used in measuring fair value that maxesithe use of observable inputs and minimizessbketiunobservable inputs by requiring that the
observable inputs be used when available. Obsenaplits are inputs that market participants wausle in pricing the financial instrument based on
market data obtained from sources independenteo€tmpany. Unobservable inputs are inputs thaeaethe Company’s assumptions about the
inputs that market participants would use in pddihe financial instrument and are developed basetie best information available in the
circumstances. The fair value hierarchy appliey émthe valuation inputs used in determining tgorted or disclosed fair value of the financial
instruments and is not a measure of the investoredit quality. Fair value measurements are clieaskénd disclosed in one of the following three
categories:

» Level 1—Valuations based on unadjusted quoted piitactive markets for identical assets or liiesi that the Company has the
ability to access at the measurement date.

e Level 2—Valuations based on quoted prices for sirmalssets or liabilities in markets that are ntivaor for which all significant
inputs are observable, either directly or indingctl

e Level 3—Valuations that require inputs that refldlet Company’s own assumptions that are both sgmif to the fair value
measurement and unobservable.

To the extent that valuation is based on modeisprts that are less observable or unobservalifeeimarket, the determination of fair ve
requires more judgment. Accordingly, the degrepidgment exercised by the Company in determiniimgvialue is greatest for instruments
categorized in Level 3. A financial instrument’sééwithin the fair value hierarchy is based on lthgest level of any input that is significant teet
fair value measurement.

Financial instruments measured at fair value cecanring basis include cash equivalents and masketscurities (Note 3) and warrants
(Note 8).

An entity may elect to measure many financial imsients and certain other items at fair value atifipd election dates. Subsequent
unrealized gains and losses on items for whichaimesalue option has been elected will be repoitedet loss. The Company did not elect to
measure any additional financial instruments oepitems at fair value. The Company is also reguicedisclose the fair value of financial
instruments not carried at fair value. The faineabf the Company’s long-term debt (Note 7) is debeed using current applicable rates for similar
instruments as of the balance sheet dates andsassesof the credit rating of the Company. Theyiag value of the Company’s long-term debt
approximates fair value because the Company’sdsteate yield is near current market rates. Thagamy'’s long-term debt is considered a Level 3
liability within the fair value hierarchy.

Except for the valuation methodology utilized tdueathe warrants to purchase redeemable secuitae 8), there have been no change
the valuation methods utilized by the Company duthe years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and Z8&@2ZCompany evaluates transfers betv
levels at the end of each reporting period. Thezeewno transfers of financial instruments betwesls during the years ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012.

Derivative Instruments

The Company occasionally issues financial instrusi@nwhich a derivative instrument is “embeddéddpon issuing the financial
instrument, the Company assesses whether the etonbaracteristics of the embedded derivative baarty and closely related to the economic
characteristics of the remaining component of tharfcial instrument (i.e., the host contract) arthier a separate, non-embedded instrument with
the same terms as the embedded instrument wouldtheedefinition of a derivative instrument. Wheisidetermined that (1) the embedded
derivative possesses economic characteristicatbatot clearly and closely related to the econarharacteristics of the host contract and (2) a
separate, stand-alone instrument with the samestesonld qualify as a derivative instrument, the edded derivative is separated from the host
contract and carried at fair value with any charigdair value recorded in current period earnings.

In connection with the issuance of the 2014 TerrarL{Note 7), the Company evaluated all featurehe@ftigreement noting none that
required bifurcation under FASB ASC Topic 8rivatives and HedginfASC 815").
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Property and equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost, lessvadettied depreciation. Maintenance and repairsdbatot improve or extend the lives of
the respective assets are expensed to operatiamsuaed, while costs of major additions and bretents are capitalized. Upon disposal, the related
cost and accumulated depreciation is removed fl@matcounts and any resulting gain or loss is detuin the statements of operations. Depreci
is recorded using the straight-line method overestanated useful lives of the respective asséighare as follows:

Asset Estimated useful life
Laboratory equipmer 5 years

Furniture and office equipme 5 years

Computer equipment and softwz 3-5 years

Leasehold improvemen Shorter of the useful life or remaining lease t

Impairment of long-lived assets

The Company evaluates long-lived assets for pateintipairment when events or changes in circums&indicate the carrying value of the
assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability ssored by comparing the book values of the assetetexpected future net undiscounted cash
flows that the assets are expected to generagachf assets are considered to be impaired, therimgyat to be recognized is measured by the amount
by which the book value of the assets exceed taiivalue. The Company has not recognized any impnt losses in any reporting periods thro
December 31, 2014.

Reverse stock split

On January 20, 2014, the Board of Directors anckstolders approved a 1-for-11.9 reverse stock eptihe Company’s Common Stock,
which was effected on January 21, 2014. Stockhsldstitled to fractional shares as a result of#verse stock split received a cash payment in lieu
of receiving fractional shares upon the completibour IPO. The Compang’historical share and per share information wett@actively adjusted
give effect to this reverse stock split. Share€@fimon Stock underlying outstanding stock optionen@oportionately reduced and the respective
exercise prices proportionately increased. Shar€ommon Stock reserved for future issuance weesented on an as converted basis and the
financial statements disclose the adjusted cormersitios.

Revenue recognition

The Company has generated revenue solely throsglareh and development grants with private nopfofit organizations and federal
agencies for the development and commercializatfgrroduct candidates.

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance W8BFASC Topic 605Revenue RecognitidhASC 605"). Accordingly, revenue is
recognized for each unit of accounting when atheffollowing criteria are met:

e persuasive evidence of an arrangement exist

e delivery has occurred or services have been reddere

* the fee is fixed or determinable

e collectability is reasonably assured

Amounts received prior to satisfying the revenumagmition criteria are recorded as deferred revémdlee Company’s balance sheets.
Amounts expected to be recognized as revenue wtikeii2 months following the balance sheet datelassified as a current liability. Amounts not
expected to be recognized as revenue within thedrhs following the balance sheet date are cladsifs a non-current liability.

Grant revenue

The Company has received grants from private nepfofit organizations and federal agencies. Graménue consists of revenue earned
from grants to conduct vaccine development rese&iahds received in advance of services being pegd are
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recorded as deferred revenue. Revenue under theasis ¢s recognized as research services are perfbrThe Company recognized a total of $308
thousand, $731 thousand, and $2.0 million in 2@D43, and 2012, respectively, related to thesetgran

In September 2014, the Company received $1.2 miliche form of a grant entered into with the BilMelinda Gates Foundation for the
identification of protective T cell antigens for laaa vaccines. The grant will allow for the contéd expansion of the Company’s malaria antigen
library and aid in the identification of novel peat antigens to facilitate the development of hygéfficacious anti-infection malarial vaccines. The
Company recognized revenue of $308 thousand uhdexgreement in the fourth quarter of 2014.

Multiple-element arrangements

The Company analyzes multiple-element arrangentergsd on the guidance in FASB ASC Topic 605R8enue Recognition—Multiple-
Element Arrangemen(“ASC 605-25"). The Company applies this guidarz@éw arrangements as well as existing arrangerttattsontain
multiple deliverables. The Company determines taments, or deliverables, included in the arrangerard allocates consideration under the
arrangement to the various elements based on ézoert’s relative selling price. The identificatiohindividual elements in a multiple-element
arrangement and the estimation of the selling pfeeach element involves significant judgment|uding consideration as to whether each deliv
element has stand-alone value to the collaborator.

The Company determines the estimated selling foicdeliverables within the arrangement using versfiecific objective evidence
(“VSOE”) of selling price, if available, or thirdgpty evidence of selling price if VSOE was not #alalie or the Company’s best estimate of selling
price, if neither VSOE nor third-party evidence veasilable. The Company uses its best estimatesefliag price to estimate the selling price for
licenses for its technology, know-how, and tradémaince it does not have VSOE or third-party ewgdeof selling price for these deliverables. In
order to determine the best estimate of sellinggpthe Company considers market conditions, alsasedntity- specific factors, including those
factors contemplated in negotiating the agreemastsyell as internally developed estimates thdtideassumptions related to the market
opportunity, estimated development costs, proligitwfi success, and the time needed to commerciaigays. In validating its best estimate of se
price, the Company evaluates whether changes ikeh@ssumptions used to determine best estimatellofg price would have a significant effect
on the allocation of arrangement consideration betwdeliverables. The Company recognizes considerallocated to an individual element when
all other revenue recognition criteria are mettf@t element, which generally occurs upon deliv@rgver the period in which services are provided.

License agreement

In 2012, the Company entered into a license agreewi¢h a not-for-profit entity whereby the not-fprofit entity could utilize certain
programs discovered or developed by the Compaogriain developing countries. The Company did aoeive any ugront consideration related
this agreement; however, the Company is entitle@d¢eive reimbursement of a pro rata share of ayynents, including milestone payments, tha
Company is required to make under license agreeswdttt third parties that comprise these prograkssof December 31, 2014, the licenses from
third parties that comprise these programs havéeen determined yet as these programs are eitliee iearly stages of development or have nc
been identified. As a result, the Company is notenily eligible to receive any milestone paymamsder this arrangement.

Concurrent with the execution of the license agenthe not-for-profit entity also purchased 4,388 shares of the Company’s Series C
Preferred Stock (Note 10).

At the inception of the agreement, the Companyuatetl whether each potential milestone paymentthad be received from the not-for-
profit entity for reimbursement of a portion of estones owed to third parties from existing licemgeeements that could comprise these programs i
substantive and at risk to both parties on theshafsihe contingent nature of the milestone. Thawation included an assessment of whether (a) the
consideration is commensurate with either (i) thitgs performance to achieve the milestone grtfie enhancement of the value of the delivered
items as a result of a specific outcome resultingifthe entity’s performance to achieve the milestdb) the consideration related solely to past
performance; and (c) the consideration was reasemelative to all of the deliverables and paymenis within the arrangement. The Company
evaluated factors such as the scientific, reguatmd other risks that must be overcome to achieyeespective milestone, the level of effort and
investment required to achieve the respective moitess and whether the milestone considerationsea®nable relative to all deliverables and
payment terms in the arrangement in making thissssaent. Substantive, at-risk milestones are réoedas revenue when the milestone is
achieved.

As there was no up-front consideration, there vmeramounts to allocate to the various deliveraliiae. milestones under the arrangement
related to reimbursement for milestone paymenthbyCompany owed to third parties for existingrise agreements that could comprise these
programs are considered to be substantive andka&mid will be recognized when earned. Since
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the licenses from third parties that could comptieese programs have not been determined yetpmberg and timing of such milestones cannot be
determined at this time.

Research and development expenses

Research and development costs are charged tosexpsrincurred in performing research and developawtivities. The costs include
employee compensation costs, facilities and overhdmical study and related clinical manufactgroosts, regulatory and other related costs.

Nonrefundable advanced payments for goods or sv@be received in the future for use in reseanchdevelopment activities are
deferred and capitalized. The capitalized amou®apensed as the related goods are deliverde @etrvices are performed.

Stock-based compensation expense

The Company accounts for its stock-based compe@msatvards to employees and directors in accordaitheFASB ASC Topic 718,
Compensation-Stock CompensatfohSC 718”). ASC 718 requires all stock-based pagta¢o employees, including grants of employeekstoc
options and restricted stock, to be recognizetiénstatements of operations and comprehensivédésesl on their grant date fair values.
Compensation expense related to awards to empléyeesognized on a straight-line basis based emthnt date fair value over the associated
service period of the award, which is generallywbsting term. Share-based payments issued to mpiogees are recorded at their fair values, and
are periodically revalued as the equity instrumests and are recognized as expense over thedaateice period in accordance with the provis
of ASC 718 and FASB ASC Topic 50Bquity, (“ASC 505”) and are expensed using an acceleratgdwion model.

The Company estimates the fair value of its stqutioos using the Black- Scholes option pricing mpoddich requires the input of
subjective assumptions, including (a) the expeetdatility of the Company’s stock price, (b) thepexted term of the award, (c) the risk-free interes
rate, (d) expected dividends and e) the estimateddlue of the Company’s common stock on the mweasent date. Due to the limited operating
history of the Company as a public entity and & lafccompany specific historical and implied vdiatidata, the Company has based its estimate of
expected volatility on the historical volatility afgroup of similar companies that are publiclgéd When selecting these public companies on
which it has based its expected stock price vitlgtihe Company selected companies with comparetideacteristics to it, including enterprise va
risk profiles, position within the industry, andtivhistorical share price information sufficientri@et the expected term of the stock-based awards.
The Company computes historical volatility datangsihe daily closing prices for the selected congmrshares during the equivalent period of the
calculated expected term of the stock-based awardsCompany will continue to apply this processlansufficient amount of historical
information regarding the volatility of its own stoprice becomes available. Due to the lack of Camypspecific historical option activity, the
Company has estimated the expected term of its@maplstock options using the “simplified” methodeseby, the expected term equals the
arithmetic average of the vesting term and theimaigcontractual term of the option. The expectadtfor non-employee awards is the remaining
contractual term of the option. The risk-free iprrates are based on the U.S. Treasury secuwrities: maturity date commensurate with the
expected term of the associated award. The Comipasipever paid, and does not expect to pay divilenthe foreseeable future. RefeB@asis of
presentation and use of estimain Note 2 for a discussion of the Compangstimated fair value of its common stock prioth® IPO. Following th
closing of the Company’s IPO, the fair value of ecoam stock is determined based on the quoted mpricet of the common stock.

The Company is also required to estimate forfegtatethe time of grant, and revise those estiniategbsequent periods if actual forfeitures
differ from its estimates. The Company uses histbrilata to estimate forfeitures and records shaded compensation expense only for those
awards that are expected to vest. To the extehattaal forfeitures differ from the Compasyéstimates, the differences are recorded as alativa
adjustment in the period the estimates were reviSextk-based compensation expense recognizee iimmcial statements is based on awards that
are ultimately expected to vest.

F-13




Table of Contents
Income taxes

Income taxes are recorded in accordance with FASB Aopic 740,Income Taxe§'ACS 740"), which provides for deferred taxes using
asset and liability approach. Under this methoékrled tax assets and liabilities are determinestthan the difference between the financial
reporting and the tax reporting basis of assetdiahilities and are measured using the enactedatizs and laws that are expected to be in effect
when the differences are expected to reverse. Dnep@ny provides a valuation allowance against efdrced tax assets unless, based upon the
available evidence, it is more likely than not ttiet deferred tax assets will be realized. The Gomhas evaluated available evidence and conc
that the Company may not realize the benefit ofiéferred tax assets; therefore a valuation allo@dras been established for the full amount of the
deferred tax assets.

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positiorectordance with the provisions of ASC 740. Wheceutain tax positions exist, the
Company recognizes the tax benefit of tax positiorthe extent that the benefit will more likehathnot be realized. The determination as to whe
the tax benefit will more likely than not be realizis based upon the technical merits of the taitipa as well as consideration of the availabtada
and circumstances. As of December 31, 2014 and,208Xompany does not have any significant unicerdx positions. The Comparsypractice i
to recognize interest and/or penalties relateddorne tax matters in income tax expense.

Net loss per share attributable to common stockleskl

Basic net loss per share attributable to commoekbtaders is calculated by dividing net loss atitéble to common stockholders by the
weighted average shares outstanding during thegyesiithout consideration for common stock equimtdeNet loss attributable to common
stockholders is calculated by adjusting the net lighe Company for cumulative preferred stockd#imds and accretion of preferred stock issuance
costs. During periods of income, the Company atkgaarticipating securities a proportional shdrie@me determined by dividing total weighted
average participating securities by the sum otolted weighted average common shares and partiegpaécurities (the “two-class method”). The
Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stodkrastricted stock participate in any dividendslaied by the Company and are therefore
considered to be participating securities. Pawiiiiyg securities have the effect of diluting bo#tsic and diluted earnings per share during pebds
income. During periods of loss, the Company allesato loss to participating securities because lthgg no contractual obligation to share in the
losses of the Company. Diluted net loss per shittibwable to common stockholders is calculatecbjyisting weighted average shares outstanding
for the dilutive effect of common stock equivaleatgstanding for the period, determined using teadury-stock and if-converted methods. For
purposes of the diluted net loss per share ataidatto common stockholders calculation, prefestedk, stock options, unvested restricted stoc#t
warrants are considered to be common stock equitaleit have been excluded from the calculatiotilafed net loss per share attributable to
common stockholders, as their effect would be dittitive for all periods presented. Therefore, basid diluted net loss per share were the same for
all periods presented.

Comprehensive loss
Comprehensive loss consists of net income or lodshanges in equity during a period from transastiand other events and
circumstances generated from momner sources. For all periods presented other pelmepsive income (loss), if any, consists of utizedlgains an

losses on the Company’s investments.
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Recent accounting pronouncements

Standard

Description Date of adoption

Effect on the financial statements or other signifiant matters

Standards that are nt
yet adopte

ASU 201409, Revenut
from Contracts witt
Customers (Topic 606)

ASU No. 201~15,
Disclosures o
Uncertainties about an
Entity's Ability to
Continue as a Going
Concern(*ASU 2014-
15).

Standards that wer
adopted

ASU No. 2014-10,
Elimination of Certair
Financial Reporting
Requirements, Includir
an Amendment to
Variable Interest
Entities Guidance i
Topic 810,
Consolidation(*ASU
2014-107)

The standard will replace existil
revenue recognition standards and
significantly expand the disclosure
requirements for revenue
arrangements. It may be adopted
either retrospectively or on a modifi
retrospective basis to new contracts
and existing contracts with remaining
performance obligations as of the
effective date

January 1, 201

The standard requires a compan' January 1, 201
evaluate whether there are conditions
or events, considered in the aggreg
that raise substantial doubt about the
entity’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Substantial doubt about an
entity’s ability to continue as a going
concern exists when relevant
conditions and events, considered in
the aggregate, indicate that it is
probable that the entity will be unable
to meet its obligations as they become
due within one year after the date that
the financial statements are issu

The standard eliminates the
requirements for development stage
entities to (1) present inception-to-
date information in the statements of
income, cash flows, and shareholder
equity, (2) label the financial
statements as those of a development
stage entity, (3) disclose a description
of the development stage activities in
which the entity is engaged, and

(4) disclose in the first year in which
the entity is no longer a development
stage entity that in prior years it had
been in the development sta

June 30, 2014

Subsequent events

The Company considers events or transactions ttatr @fter the balance sheet date but prior tal#te the financial statements are issued

for potential recognition or disclosure in the ficél statements.

3. Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities

At this time, the Company has not decided on whiehhod
it will use to adopt the new standard, nor hagiedmined
the effects of the new guidelines on its resulteggrations
and financial position. For the foreseeable futtire,
Company’s revenues will be limited to grants reedifrom
government agencies or nonprofit organizations,thad
Company is evaluating the effects of the new stahda
this type of revenue.

The Company is evaluating the effects of the nemdsrd,
but does not expect it will have a material impatits
financial conditions, results of operations, orfrclisws.

The Company adopted ASU 2014-10 on June 30, 20it4, a

the adoption did not have a material impact offirigncial
statements.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, cash, cash dgotgaand, in the case of December 31, 2014, neblesecurities comprised funds in
depository, money market accounts and U.S. treamaoyrities.
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The following table presents the cash, cash eceitaland marketable securities carried at fairevallaccordance with the hierarchy defi
in Note 2 (in thousands):

Significant
Quoted prices other Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
December 31, 201
Cash $ 1,066 $ 1,066 $ — —
Money Market funds, included in cash equivale 18,99: 18,99: — —
Marketable securitie- U.S. treasurie 27,02 27,02: — —
Total $ 47,07¢ $ 47,07¢ $ — $ —
December 31, 201:
Cash $ 24¢  $ 24¢  $ — —
Money Market funds, included in cash equivale 11,95¢ 11,95¢ — —
Total $ 12,20¢ $ 12,20¢ $ — $ o

Cash equivalents and marketable securities haveiblly valued at the transaction price andsedpently valued, at the end of each
reporting period, utilizing third party pricing séres or other market observable data. The prisergices utilize industry standard valuation models
including both income and market based approaagh@®bservable market inputs to determine value.tmpany validates the prices provided by
its third party pricing services by reviewing thpiicing methods and obtaining market values fraheopricing sources. After completing its
validation procedures, the Company did not adjogtfair value measurements provided by the prisieyices as of December 31, 2014 and 2013.

Marketable securities at December 31, 2014 coaobiste following (in thousands):

Contracted Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Maturity Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Current
U.S. Treasurie 16€-365 days $ 27,02¢  $ — $ 7 $ 27,02.
Total $ 27,02¢ $ — 3 7 $ 27,02:

At December 31, 2014, the aggregate fair value arketable securities in an unrealized loss positiaa $24.0 million with unrealized
losses of $8 thousand. At December 31, 2014, theeggte fair value of marketable securities in mrealized gain position was $3.0 million with
unrealized gains of $1 thousand. The Company etallts securities for other-than-temporary impaintnand considered the decline in market
value for the securities to be primarily attribdéato current economic and market conditions. ftas more likely than not that the Company will be
required to sell the securities, and the Compamg dmt intend to do so prior to the recovery ofahmrtized cost basis. Based on this analysisethes
marketable securities were not considered to berdttan-temporarily impaired as of December 314201

The Company did not hold any marketable securittesf December 31, 2013.
4. Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets cohglist following (in thousands):
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December 31

2014 2013
Prepaid tenant improvement co $ — 8 237
Prepaid insuranc 90 7
Prepaid research and development c 664 19C
Interest receivabl 21 —
Other 18€ 76
Total $ 96 $ 51C

5. Property and equipment, net

Property and equipment, net consist of the follga{im thousands):

December 31

2014 2013
Laboratory equipmer $ 251C $ 1,694
Furniture office equipmer 18€ 14
Computer equipment and softwz 257 142
Leasehold improvemen 79¢ 344
Total property and equipme 3,75z 2,19/
Accumulated depreciatic (1,796 (1,329
Property and equipment, r $ 195 $ 86<

Depreciation expense was $469 thousand, $318 thdwsa $300 thousand for the years ended Decerib@&034, 2013, 2012.

During 2014, the Company sold fully depreciate@dixassets with an original cost basis of $12 thudisaad a net book value of $10
thousand, recognizing a gain on sale of $18 thalisbime Company did not sell or dispose of any fiasslets during 2013.
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6. Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities isted of the following (in thousands):

December 31

2014 2013
Payroll and employerelated cost $ 1,066 $ 73¢
Research and development cc 1,117 32¢
Accrued professional fet 27C 303
Other 33 54
Total $ 2,486 $ 1,41¢

7. Long-term debt

In October 2011, the Company entered into a LoahSeturity Agreement with a financial institutievhich provided for up to $5.0 million
in debt financing (“2011 Term Loan”). The 2011 Tewan provided for a draw-down period on the fagithrough March 1, 2012. On March 1,
2012, the Company drew down the full $5.0 milliaaiéable under the terms of this arrangement.

From March 1, 2012 through May 1, 2012, the Compaay obligated to make interest-only paymentsagtieater of the financial
institution’s prime rate plus 5.00% or 8.00%. Thengpany began making 36 equal monthly paymentsio€ipal and accrued interest thereafter.
During the 36-month period, the Term Loan bearsregt at the greater of the financial institutigo¥sne rate plus 4.75% or 8.00%. The Company
was also obligated to pay 6.50% of the advancéefinal repayment date of the draw, which was KprR015. This final payment was accrued
the term of the debt and was recorded in accruedest payable.

In connection with the 2011 Term Loan, the Compiasyed a fully-exercisable warrant to purchase B shares of Series B Preferred
Stock. Upon completion of our IPO, these Serieségured stock warrants automatically converted imarrants exercisable for 43,465 shares of
Common Stock at an exercise price of $6.90 peresfidote 5). The 2011 Term Loan was collateralizgdlbthe assets of the Company, except for
those assets collateralized by an equipment team tlhiat was repaid as of December 31, 2013.

On September 30, 2013, the Company entered indvdaan agreement which provided up to $10.0 nmlliodebt financing (“2013 Term
Loan”). Upon the closing of the 2013 Term Loan, @@mpany drew down $3.5 million and paid off thmaéning balance under the 2011 Term
Loan. As part of the early repayment, the Compaoyrired a loss on debt extinguishment of $0.2 amilliThe 2013 Term Loan provided for a draw-
down period on the remaining facility of $6.5 noHi, which the Company drew down on December 193 20fhe Company was obligated to make
interest-only payments for the first 9 months aBa&gual payments of principal, together with acdrierest thereafter for each advance. The 2013
Term Loan bore interest at a rate of 8% per anfiim.Company was also obligated to pay 2% of theuacky on the final repayment date of each
draw. The final payment is being accrued over ¢éhmtof the debt and recorded in accrued interestlga on the balance sheet as at December 31,
2013.

In connection with the 2013 Term Loan, the Compiasyed a warrant to purchase 689,655 shares afsSerPreferred Stock at $0.58 per
share. Upon the completion of our IPO, these S&ipeseferred stock warrants automatically conveitéal warrants exercisable for 57,954 shares of
Common Stock at an exercise price of $6.90 peres{iNote 5).

On November 20 2014, the Company entered intoradod security agreement (the “Loan Agreement’hwiercules Technology Growth
Capital, Inc., (“Hercules”), which provided up t8%0 million in debt financing in three separatmntthes (“2014 Term Loan”). The first tranche of
$17.0 million is available through June 30, 2015e Becond tranche of up to $5.0 million may be dratthe Company’s option, on or prior to
December 15, 2015, subject to the Company recefaingrable data from its ongoing GEN-003 Phaseszdiptimization trial and either (i) the
commencement of the Company’s next clinical tral GEN-003 or (ii) the receipt of at least $40.0lion in net proceeds from an equity financing
and/or a strategic corporate partnership. The théndche of up to $5.0 million may be drawn, at@mnpany’s option, on or prior to December 15,
2015, subject to the Company receiving favorabta &fam its ongoing Phase 2 human challenge stodEN-004.

The 2014 Term Loan matures on July 1, 2018. Ifeligibility requirements for the second tranche e, the maturity date may be
extended to December 31, 2018 at the Company’sebettion.
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Each advance accrues interest at a floating ratarpgim equal to the greater of (i) 7.25% or (i§ sum of 7.25% plus the prime rate mi
5.0%. The 2014 Term Loan provides for interest-grdyments until December 31, 2015, which may bereded at the Compars/5ole election for
six month period if the eligibility requirements fihe second tranche are met. Thereafter, paymeéihtse made monthly in 30 equal installments of
principal and interest (subject to recalculatioomp change in prime rates). The 2014 Term Loanegyrepaid in whole or in part upon seven
business days’ prior written notice to Herculesegdyments will be subject to a charge of 3.0%ifdvance is prepaid within twelve months
following the closing date, 2.0%, if an advanceriepaid between twelve months and twenty four mofdlowing the closing date, and 1.0%
thereafter. Amounts outstanding during an evemteddult shall be payable on demand and shall adoterest at an additional rate of 5.0% per
annum on any outstanding amounts past due. The &ompust also pay an End of Term Charge of 4.95%ebalance drawn when the advances
are repaid.

The 2014 Term Loan is secured by a lien on suliathnall of the assets of the Company, other timtellectual property, provided that st
lien on substantially all assets includes any sdbtpayments and proceeds from the sale, licemsidgsposition of intellectual property. The Loan
Agreement contains non-financial covenants andesgmtations, including a financial reporting covenand limitations on dividends, indebtedness,
collateral, investments, distributions, transfengrgers or acquisitions, taxes, corporate chamggmsit accounts, and subsidiaries. There are no
financial covenants.

The Loan Agreement contains a Material AdversedEfbeovision that requires all material adversed# to be reported under the financial
reporting covenant. Loan advances are subjecteéprasentation that no event that has had or ceakbnably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect has occurred and is continuing. Wiide Loan Agreement, a Material Adverse Effect nse@ material adverse effect upon: (i) the
business, operations, properties, assets or conditnancial or otherwise) of the Company; or (i ability of the Company to perform the secured
obligations in accordance with the terms of therLAgreements, or the ability of agent or lendegnéorce any of its rights or remedies with respect
to the secured obligations; or (iii) the collatevalagent’s liens on the collateral or the priodfysuch liens. Any event that has a Material Adeer
Effect is an event of default under the Loan Agreetand repayment of amounts due under the Loaaghgent may be accelerated by the lender
under the same terms as an event of default.

Events of default under the Loan Agreement incliailare to make any payments of principal or ingtr&s due on any outstanding
indebtedness, breach of any covenant, any falsgsbeading representations or warranties, insolyemdankruptcy, any attachment or judgment on
the Company’s assets of at least $100,000, ordbercence of any material default of the Companyliving indebtedness in excess of $100,000. If
an event of default occurs, repayment of all am@doe under the Loan Agreement may be accelergtdtedender, including the applicable
Prepayment Charge.

The 2014 Term loan is automatically redeemable @pohange in control whereas the Company must prdygeoutstanding principal and
any accrued and unpaid interest through the prepaydate including any unpaid agent’s and lendegs and expenses accrued to the date of the
repayment including the End of Term Charge andafigicable Prepayment Charge. If a change in cbatmurs, repayment of amounts due under
the Loan Agreement may be accelerated by the lender

Upon closing the 2014 Term Loan, the Company drewrd$12.0 million under the first tranche of theabhoAgreement using
approximately $9.8 million of the proceeds to repfiyutstanding indebtedness under the 2013 TesamLAs a result, the Company recorded $435
thousand as a loss on extinguishment of debt whihrecorded in other income / expense on therSgatis of Operations. The loss on
extinguishment consisted of deferred debt chatbesinamortized portion of the original issue distaelated to the 2013 Term Loan and other fees
associated with extinguishing the debt.

In connection with the 2014 Term Loan Agreemerg, @mmpany issued a common stock warrant to Heramdé$ovember 20, 2014. The
warrant is exercisable for 73,725 shares of the @om's Common Stock (equal to $607,500 dividedheyexercise price of $8.24). The exercise
price and the number of shares are subject to @magud upon a merger event, reclassification ofstieres of Common Stock, subdivision or
combination of the shares of Common Stock or aedaiidends payments. The warrant is exercisabii November 20, 2019 and will be exercised
automatically on a net issuance basis if not egectprior to the expiration date and if the therrent fair market value of one share of Common
Stock is greater than the exercise price thenfecefThe warrant has been classified as equitalfgreriods it has been outstanding.

Contemporaneously with the 2014 Loan AgreementCii@pany also entered into an equity rights lettgeement on November 20, 2014
(the “Equity Rights Letter Agreement”). Pursuanttie Equity Rights Letter Agreement, the Compasyésl to Hercules 223,463 shares of the
Company’s Common Stock for an aggregate purchase of approximately $2.0 million at a price peashequal to the closing price of the
Company’s Common Stock as reported on The NASDAGb&IMarket on November 19, 2014 (the “Initial Bgunvestment”). The shares will be
subject to resale limitations and may be resolg porsuant to an effective registration statememtroexemption from registration.

Additionally, under the Equity Rights Letter Agreemt, Hercules has the right to participate in amg or more subsequent private
placement equity financings of up to $2.0 milliantbhe same terms and conditions as purchases lojlteeinvestors in each subsequent equity
financing. The Equity Rights Letter Agreement, atidights and obligations thereunder, will termtmapon the earlier of (1) such time when
Hercules has purchased $2.0 million of subsequmrityefinancing securities in the aggregate andt{g)later of (a) the repayment of all indebted
under the Loan Agreement and (b) the expiratiotenination of the exercise period for the wariiaatied in connection with the Loan Agreement.
The Company allocated $36 thousand of financingsdosadditional paid-in capital for issuance ftret were reimbursed to Hercules.

In connection with the issuance of the 2014 Terrarl,dhe Company incurred $103 thousand of financoxgs which were recorded in other
assets. The Company also reimbursed the lende6statisand for debt financing costs which has been
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recorded as a debt discount. The 2014 Term Lodnded various embedded features which were evaldateseparate accounting as derivatives
under ASC Topic No. 815, Derivatives and Hedging In accordance with Topic No. 815, it was detered that none of these embedded features
required separate accounting from the debt hose debt discount is being amortized to intereseagp over the life of the 2014 Term Loan using
the effective interest method.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company htslamding borrowings under the 2014 Term Loan1@ & million and none,
respectively. Interest expense related to the 2@t Loan was $143 thousand and $0 for the yeatsceBecember 31, 2014 and 2013, respect

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company bedamding borrowings under the 2013 Term Loanosienand $10.0 million,
respectively. Interest expense related to the 2@t Loan was $813 thousand and $124 thousantiéoydars ended December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively.

Future principal payments on the 2014 Term Loaraar®llows (in thousands):

December 31

2014
2015 $ —
2016 4,52¢
2017 4,87¢
2018 2,59t
Total $ 12,00(
8. Warrants

Warrants outstanding represent the right to acgbedollowing number of shares (in thousands):
December 31 December 31
2014 2013

Warrants to purchase Series A Preferred S — 1,08t
Warrants to purchase Series B Preferred S — 517
Warrants to purchase Series C Preferred £ — 69C
Warrants to purchase Common St 78 —
Total 78 2,29:

Hercules Warrants

In accordance with ASC Topic No. 815D¢rivatives and Hedging(Topic No. 815), the Company determined the comrsimck warrant
issued to Hercules to be equity classified. The gamy estimated the fair value of this warrant athefissuance date using a Black-Scholes option
pricing model (with a 10% discount for lack of met&bility) with the following assumptions:

November 20,

2014
Fair value of underlying instrume $ 9.0¢
Expected volatility 70.(%
Expected term (in year 5.0C
Risk-free interest rat 1.64%
Expected dividend yiel 0.C%
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The Company utilized this fair value in its alldoatof debt proceeds between debt and the warvamith was performed on a relative fair
value basis. Ultimately, the Company allocated $B@disand to the Hercules warrants and recognfde@mount in additional paid-in capital.

As of December 31, 2014, the common stock wartigateed to Hercules had not been exercised andsti#reutstanding.
Warrants to purchase redeemable securities

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had outstgnaéarrants to purchase 2,291,512 shares of reddemmaivertible preferred stock.
January 29, 2014, 21,695 warrants to purchasesSéneferred stock were exercised for cash. Omuzet 4, 2014, an additional 28,926 warrant
purchase Series A preferred stock were exercigech&h. Prior to the completion of our IPO on Fabyul0, 2014, warrants to purchase 987,840
shares of Series A preferred stock were exercizsedcashless exercise for 316,932 shares of Sepesferred stock, which automatically converted
into 26,633 shares of Common Stock upon the coimpletf our IPO. Also upon the completion of our |IR@arrants exercisable for 1,253,051 shares
of redeemable convertible preferred stock wereraatially converted into warrants exercisable f@5,297 shares of Common Stock. On
February 12, 2014, 43,465 warrants were exercisedcashless exercise for 16,593 shares of Comnoak.SOn April 23, 2014, 57,954 warrants
were exercised in a cashless exercise for 37,2&@stof Common Stock. As of December 31, 2014 8@ hese warrants remained outstanding.

In connection with the completion of our IPO, &létwarrants exercisable for redeemable convenitglferred stock were automatically
converted into warrants exercisable for Common Stagsulting in the reclassification of the relatearrant to purchase redeemable securities
liability to additional paid-in capital as the wants to purchase shares of Common Stock are a@ambfortas equity instruments. The warrant to
purchase redeemable securities liability was resureal to fair value prior to reclassification talditnal paid-in capital. As of December 31, 2014,
the Company had no outstanding warrants to purategemable securities liability.

The warrant to purchase redeemable securitieditiatvieasured at fair value as of December 31, 28 3 follows (in thousands):

Quoted Significant

prices in other Significant

active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs

Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
December 31, 201:

Warrants to purchase redeemable secul $ 65¢ $ — 3 — 3 65¢€
Total $ 65€ $ — $ — $ 65€

These warrants are considered Level 3 liabilitiesalnse their fair value measurements are baspdrtinon significant inputs not observed
in the market and reflect the Company’s assumpti@® the expected volatility of the Compankpreferred Stock. The Company determined thi
value of the warrants to purchase redeemable $iesubased on input from management and the Bddbitectors, which utilized an independent
valuation of the Company’s enterprise value, deiteechutilizing an analytical valuation model. Arsasonable changes in the assumptions used in
the valuation could materially affect the finanaiesults of the Company.

The following table sets forth a summary of charigabe fair value of the Company’s warrants toghase redeemable securities, which
represents a recurring measurement that is clegsifithin Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy wheréir value is estimated using significant
unobservable inputs (in thousands):
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Years ended December 3:

2014 2013 2012
Beginning balanc $ 65€ $ 24 $ 33¢
Warrants issue 18¢ —
Change in fair valu 72t 222 (93
Warrants exercise (329 — —
Reclassification to accumulated g-in capital (1,05%) — —
Ending balanc: $ — $ 65€ $ 24¢

These warrants are considered Level 3 liabilitiesalise their fair value measurements are baspdrtinon significant inputs not observed
in the market and reflect the Company’s assumpti@® the expected volatility of the Company’sf@med stock. At December 31, 2013, the
Company determined the fair value of the warramisurchase redeemable securities based on inpuatrfranagement and the board of directors,
which utilized an independent valuation of the Camys enterprise value, determined utilizing anlital valuation model. Any reasonable
changes in the assumptions used in the valuatiold ecoaterially affect the financial results of tBempany. At December 31, 2013, the analytical
valuation model used to calculate the fair valugvafrants to purchase redeemable securities wgbradlapproach based on an Option-Pricing
Model (“*OPM”) backsolve method and the Probablitgidhted Expected Return Model (“PWERM”). Thirty-ipercent of the value was attributed
to the OPM backsolve method and 65% was attribiatelde PWERM. After the enterprise value was deiteeah the total enterprise value was then
allocated to the various outstanding equity ins&nts, including the warrants to purchase redeensaulerities, utilizing the OPM.

The fair value of warrants to purchase 21,695 shaf&eries A preferred stock prior to exercisdanuary 29, 2014 was estimated using
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the followgi weighted-average assumptions:

January 29,
2014
Fair value of underlying instrume $ 0.65
Expected Volatility 55.5%
Expected term (in year 0.04
Risk-free interest rat 1.52%
Expected dividend yiel 0.C%

These warrants were reeasured to a fair value of $7,783, which resuheh increase in fair value of $2,142. The failuezof the warran
was reclassified to additional paid-in capital ugoercise on January 29, 2014.

The fair value of warrants to purchase 28,926 shaf&eries A preferred stock prior to exercisd-ehruary 4, 2014 was estimated using
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the follagi weighted-average assumptions:

February 4,
2014
Fair value of underlying instrume $ 0.65
Expected Volatility 55.0%%
Expected term (in year 0.0z
Risk-free interest rat 1.4€%
Expected dividend yiel 0.C%

These warrants were re-measured to a fair val$a @357, which resulted in an increase in fair gat$2,839. The fair value of the
warrants was reclassified to additional paid-ini@dppon exercise on February 4, 2014.

The fair value of warrants to purchase 987,840eshaf Series A preferred stock prior to a cashdasscise for 316,932 shares of Series A
preferred stock on February 10, 2014, which autoaly converted into 26,633 shares of Common Stqubn
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the completion of our IPO, was estimated usingBlaek-Scholes option pricing model with the follawgi weighted-average assumptions:

February 10,

2014
Fair value of underlying instrume $ 7.74
Expected Volatility 50.81%
Expected term (in year 0.00:
Risk-free interest rat 1.4%
Expected dividend yiel 0.C%

These warrants were re-measured to a fair val$8@4,423, which resulted in an increase in faingalf $46,581. The fair value of the
warrants was reclassified to additional paid-inizppon exercise on February 10, 2014.

The fair value of warrants exercisable for 1,253,6bares of redeemable convertible preferred stokich were automatically converted
into warrants exercisable for 105,297 shares of @omStock, was estimated using the Black-Scholésmopricing model with the following
weighted-average assumptions:

February 10,

2014
Fair value of underlying instrume $ 6.9¢€
Expected Volatility 92.%%
Expected term (in year 8.6€
Risk-free interest rat 2.4%
Expected dividend yiel 0.C%

The fair value of the remaining 105,297 warrantpucchase Common Stock were re-measured to adhie wf $1,058,269, which resulted
in an increase in fair value of $673,040. The Yaiue of the warrants was reclassified to additigaé-in capital upon conversion on February 10,
2014.

9. Commitments and contingencies
Significant Contracts and Agreements

In August 2006, the Company entered into an agraetodicense certain intellectual property fromeTRegents of the University of
California. The agreement calls for payments tonagle by the Company upon the occurrence of a netéaielopment milestone and a certain
commercialization milestone for each distinct pretdtovered by the licensed patents, in additiocettain royalties to be paid on marketed products
or sublicense income. The Company did not incurexpenses under this agreement for the years édeleeinber 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.

In November 2007, the Company entered into an aggaeto license certain intellectual property frbi@rvard University. The agreement
calls for payments to be made by the Company ulpemt¢currence of certain development and regulatilgstones, in addition to certain royalties
on marketed products or sublicense income. In &xigdithe Company must make annual maintenanceag@@nts, which vary depending on the 1
of products under development. The Company incuergenses of $157 thousand, $83 thousand and $88ahd in annual maintenance fees and
clinical milestones to Harvard University for theays ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, teghecThe Company notified the President
and Fellows of Harvard College of its partial temation of the license agreement with regard tdritedlectual property covering chlamydia antigens
on December 8, 2014. Effective March 8, 2015, itenke agreement with the President and Fellowtaofard College with regard to the intellec
property covering chlamydia antigens will be teratéd. The Company determined that the chlamydigemg were not relevant to the continued
development of GEN-001. The Company will continoenaintain exclusive rights to aspects of the ATL#&form covered by Harvard University
intellectual property.

In August 2009, the Company entered into an agraetodicense certain intellectual property frorndsova AB, now Novavax. The
agreement calls for payments to be made by the @oynppon the occurrence of certain developmentantmercial milestones, in addition to
certain royalties to be paid on marketed producwublicense income.
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The Company incurred expenses of $402 thousane, awod $290 thousand related to services provideddmavax for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

In January 2010, the Company entered into an agreeta license certain intellectual property frdme University of Washington. The
agreement also calls for payments to be made bgdepany upon the occurrence of certain developaetiitommercial milestones, in addition to
certain royalties on marketed products or sublieensome. In addition, the Company must make anmaéhtenance fee payments, which vary
depending on the number of years from the effectate. The Company incurred expenses of $24 thdy$d® thousand and $15 thousand relatt
this agreement for the years ended December 34, 2013, 2012, respectively. Effective OctoberZ¥14, the agreement between the Compan
the University of Washington was terminated. A®etember 31, 2014 no further rights or obligatiexrist under the terminated agreement.

In March 2014, the Company announced a joint reseeollaboration with Dana-Farber Cancer Institutd Harvard Medical School to
characterize anti-tumor T cell responses in melanpatients. This collaboration extends the usauopooprietary ATLAS platform for the rapid
discovery of T cell antigens to cancer immunothgrapproaches.

Supply agreement

In August 2009, the Company entered into a supgtgement with a third party for the manufacture smplply of antigens used in the
Company’s product candidates. The agreement aalisdyments to be made by the Company upon therecme of certain manufacturing
milestones, in addition to reimbursement of certainsumables. In June 2013, the Company entere@ivtther supply agreement with the same
vendor for the manufacture and supply of antigertsetused in the Company’s next clinical trialse Bompany incurred expenses of $791 thousand
$1.5 million, $180 thousand related to these agesgstor the years ended December 31, 2014, 20832@12, respectively.

In February 2014, the Company entered into a supgigement with FUJIFILM Diosynth BiotechnologiesSLA., Inc. (“Fuijifilm”) for the
manufacture and supply of antigens for future GEIS-6linical trials. Under the agreement, the Conygarobligated to pay Fuijifilm manufacturing
milestones, in addition to reimbursement of certaaterial production related costs. Additionallye tCompany is responsible for the payment of a
reservation fee, which will equal a percentageheféxpected production fees, to reserve manufagtsitots in the production timeframe. The
Company incurred expenses of $3.5 million, nond,rmme, under this agreement for the years endedrblger 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively.

In October 2014, the Company entered a productidewent and clinical supply agreement with Baxtieafhaceutical Solutions LLC
(“Baxter”). The product development and clinicapply agreement provides the terms and conditioneiuwhich Baxter will formulate, fill, inspect,
package, label and test our lead product, GEN-608linical supply. The Company is obligated to [Baxter for each batch of GEN-003
manufactured. Additionally, certain set-up fees agdipment purchased for the purposes of batchuptmoh will be invoiced separately by Baxter.
The Company is also responsible for the paymeatrabnthly service fee for project management sesvior the duration of the arrangement. The
Company has not any incurred expenses under tregmgnt for the years ended December 31, 2014, 204 2012.

Lease commitments

In July 2012, the Company leased office and lalooyagpace under an operating sublease (“2012 kesiBublease”) that expired in
February 2014. The Company concurrently signedpenating lease for the same space with the mastdidrd (“2012 Master Facilities Leasé¢hat
commenced in March 2014 and expires in February 201

As of December 31, 2014, the minimum future leasaents under the 2012 Master Facilities Leasasfellows (in thousands):

Operating
lease
2015 $ 97¢€
2016 1,012
2017 17C
Total minimum lease payments $ 2,15¢
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The Company recorded $803 thousand, $476 thousaddb1.1 million in rent expense for the years dridecember 31, 2014, 2013, and
2012, respectively.

Restricted cash related to facilities leases

Restricted cash related to facilities leases ctetbisf the following (in thousands):

December 31 December 31
2014 2013
2012 Facilities Subleas $ — % 157
2012 Master Facilities Lea: 31€ 15€
Total $ 31€ $ 31¢&

At December 31, 2014, the Company has an outstgneliter of credit with a financial institution egkd to a security deposit for the 2012
Master Facilities Lease, which is secured by castieaposit and expires on February 28, 2017. Therlef credit related to the 2012 Facilities
Sublease expired on April 30, 2014.

Litigation

The Company is not a party to any litigation andsinot have contingency reserves established jolitayation liabilities.
10. Redeemable convertible preferred stock

Upon the completion of our IPO on February 10, 2@14of the outstanding shares of the Compamgdeemable convertible preferred st
were converted into 11,466,479 shares of its Com8took. As of December 31, 2014, the Company dothave any redeemable convertible
preferred stock issued or outstanding.

As of December 31, 2013, the total authorized ehptock of the Company was 321,340,959 shareghwheluded 4,615,385 shares of
Seed Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value per shé&y@6B,538 shares of Series A Preferred Stock $(@0Yalue per share; 35,098,520 shares of
Series B Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value peeshad 53,275,861 shares of Series C Preferred,S26@01 par value per share. On February 10,
2014, the Company closed its IPO. In conjunctiotihhis transaction, all shares of the Companydeesnable convertible preferred stock were
converted into 11,466,479 shares of Common Stock.
11. Common stock

At December 31, 2014, the Company had authoriz&0D,000 shares of Common Stock, $0.001 par y@ushare, of which 17,869,235
shares were issued and 17,852,389 were outstanding.

General

Prior to the completion of our IPO on February 2014, the voting, dividend and liquidation righfdlee holders of shares of Common
Stock were subject to and qualified by the rightsivers and preferences of the holders of sharpeeéérred stock. The Common Stock has the
following characteristics:

Voting

The holders of shares of Common Stock are entitiexhe vote for each share of Common Stock hedd ateetings of stockholders and
written actions in lieu of meetings. The CommoncBtwlders have the right to elect one of the eigjhectors.
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Dividends

The holders of shares of Common Stock are entitiedceive dividends, if and when declared by thart of directors. Cash dividends may
not be declared or paid to holders of shares of tl@omStock until paid on each series of outstangiederred stock in accordance with their
respective terms. As of December 31, 2014, no divid have been declared or paid since the Compimtgption.

Liquidation

After payment to the holders of shares of prefestedk of their liquidation preferences, the hoddefthe Common Stock are entitled to
share ratably in the Company’s assets availabldiftribution to stockholders, in the event of ajuntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolutiom o
winding up of the Company or upon the occurrence @éemed liquidation event. As of December 314261 Company does not have any
preferred stock issued or outstanding.

Restricted stock

During 2006 and 2007, the Company’s founders aniceemployees were issued shares and entere@tot Restriction and Repurchase
Agreements with the Company. During 2013, a dineefdhe Company early exercised stock optionsraedived 31,092 shares of Common Stock
which were subject to a Stock Restriction and Relpase Agreement with the Company. Under the tefrtteecagreements, shares of Common S
issued are subject to a vesting schedule. Vestingrs periodically at specified time intervals apecified percentages. All shares of Common Stock
become fully vested within four years of the ddtgrant. As of December 31, 2013, the Company HB@15 shares of nonvested restricted stock
were subject to repurchase by the Company. As oébéer 31, 2014, the Company has issued 35,96dssbarestricted common stock of which
19,124 shares have vested and 16,840 shares getdobrepurchase by the Company.

Reserve for future issuance

The Company has reserved for future issuanceotlosving number of shares of Common Stock (in tlaogs):

December 31 December 31
2014 2013

Conversion of Seed Preferred St — 38¢
Conversion of Series A Preferred St — 2,99(
Conversion of Series B Preferred St — 3,61
Conversion of Series C Preferred St — 4,41¢
Options to purchase Common Stc 2,37: 1,82
Options to purchase Common Stock under E 18t —
Warrants to purchase Series A Preferred S — 91
Warrants to purchase Series B Preferred S — 43
Warrants to purchase Series C Preferred £ — 58
Warrants to purchase Common St 78 —

2,63¢ 13,42t

12. Stock-based compensation

The Company’s board of directors adopted the 20juiti£ Incentive Plan (the “2014 Equity Plan”), whieas approved by its stockholders
and became effective prior to the commencementiofRO. The 2014 Equity Plan replaced the 2007 t¢dacentive Plan (the “2007 Equity Plan”).

The 2014 Equity Plan provided for the grant of imoee stock options, non-qualified stock optionsl aestricted stock awards to key
employees and directors of, and consultants andadvto, the Company. The maximum number of shafr€mmon Stock that may be delivered
in satisfaction of awards under the 2014 Equityw$903,494 shares, plus 219,765 shares thatavaitable for grant under the 2007 Equity Plat
the date the 2014 Equity Plan was adopted. The EQixty Plan provides that the number of sharedabla for issuance will automatically increase
annually on each January 1, from January 1, 200&gh January 1, 2024, in amount equal to the less&€0% of the outstanding shares of the
Company’s outstanding Common Stock as of the abseisiness on the immediately preceding Decembear 3he number of shares determined the
Company’s board of directors.

Outstanding options awards granted from the 2004tiE&lan, at the time of the adoption of the 2@ty Plan, remain outstanding and
effective. The shares of Common Stock underlyingrala that are cancelled, forfeited, repurchasquirewr are
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otherwise terminated under the 2007 Equity Plaradded to the shares of Common Stock availabls$oance under the 2014 Equity Plan. As of
December 31, 2014, the number of common sharesrtimabe issued under both equity plans is 2,373aB4833,015 remain available for future
grants.

During the years ended 2014, 2013 and 2012, thep@oyngranted a total of none, 44,345 and 49,12k siptions, respectively, to
consultants and members of its Scientific AdvisBoard, which are included in the following stockiop table. The options generally vest over a
four-year period, and have a life of ten yearst&@ersenior advisors of the Company received optibat vest upon the occurrence of certain
milestones. Stock options issued to non-employeea@counted for using the fair value method obaonting, and are periodically revalued as the
options vest, and are recognized as expense aveeldited service period. The total expense retatedl nonemployee options for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $324 thou$a18,thousand and $18 thousand, respectively.

Stock Based Compensation Expense

Total stock-based compensation expense is recafjfozetock options granted to employees and nopl@yees and has been reported in
the Company’s statements of operations as follemvghpusands):

Years endedDecember 31

2014 2013 2012
Research and developme $ 1511 % 32z $ 102
General and administrati 1,39 35( 20E
Total $ 290 % 67z $ 307

Stock Options

The following table summarizes stock option acyidr employees and nonemployees (shares in thdggan

Weighted-
Weighted- Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Price Term (years) Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 157¢ $ 2.6€ 764 $ 6,68
Granted 1,068 $ 12.7¢
Exercisec (282) $ 2.4z7
Cancelec (69) $ 7.4z
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 2,29C $ 7.2¢ 8.0¢ $ 5,332
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 1,02¢ ¢ 3.3¢€ 6.8¢ $ 4,19¢
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, : 2,07¢ ¢ 6.9¢ 79¢ $ 5,12:

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012@b8, the Company granted stock options to purchasggregate of 1,064,640,
559,742 and 54,883 of its Common Stock, respegtiwveith a weighted-average grant date fair valuesl®.11, $3.41 and $1.31, respectively.

The total intrinsic value of options exercisedhe {year ended December 31, 2014 was $3.1 millidnaas de minimis in the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012. As of December 31,,20&% was $9.4 million of total unrecognized cemgation cost related to employee
nonvested stock options granted under the Compauylgy plans.

The total unrecognized compensation costs relatedn-employees in the year ended December 31, 28#1$55 thousand and was
immaterial in the years ended December 31, 20128aad.

Total unrecognized compensation cost for employelenmn-employee will be adjusted for future fordedts. The Company expects to
recognize that cost over a remaining weighted-ayeepeeriod of 3.23.
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The Company estimates the fair value of each emeplayock award on the grant date using the Blatlol8s optionpricing model based ¢
the following assumptions and the assumptions diggithe fair value of the underlying Common Stockeach measurement date:

Years ended December 3:

2014 2013 2012
Expected Volatility 86.2%-103.6% 97.1% 99.2%
Risk-free interest rat 1.75%-2.00% 0.59%-1.83% 0.99%
Expected term (in year 6.25 6.25 6.25
Expected dividend yiel 0% 0% 0%

Performance-Based Stock Options

The Company granted stock options to certain engasyexecutive officers and consultants, whichainmerformance-based vesting
criteria. Milestone events are specific to the Camyps corporate goals, which include, but are moitéd to, certain clinical development milestones,
business development agreements and capital feiniyadvents. Stock-based compensation expenseatssbwith these performance-based stock
options is recognized if the performance conditiaresconsidered probable of being achieved, usiagagement’s best estimates. During the year
ended December 31, 2014, the Company determine@@t288 options related to performance-based toibes were probable of achievement and,
accordingly, recorded $453 thousand in relatedkshased compensation expense during the year ébelseimber 31, 2014. As of December 31,
2014, there are 56,336 performance-based commok sfitions outstanding for which the probabilityamhievement was not deemed probable.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In connection with the completion of the Comparl$?® on February 10, 2014, the Company’s boardrecthrs adopted the 2014
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2014 ESPP”).20id ESPP authorizes the initial issuance of upttdal of 200,776 shares of Common Stock
to participating eligible employees. The 2014 E®R#ides for six-month option periods commencinglanuary 1 and ending June 30 and
commencing July 1 and ending December 31 of edelmdar year. The first offering under the 2014 E®B&an on July 1, 2014. During the year
ended December 31, 2014, 15,622 shares were issged the 2014 ESPP with 185,154 shares remaininfyifure issuance under the plan as of
December 31, 2014. The Company incurred $43 thalisestock-based compensation expense relate@ t80th4 ESPP for the year ended
December 31, 2014.

13. 401(k) Savings plan

In 2007, the Company established a defined-corttabisavings plan under Section 401(k) of the imi&Revenue Code (“401(k) Plan”).
The 401(k) Plan covers all employees who meet ddfiinimum age and service requirements, and alpasticipants to defer a portion of their
annual compensation on a pretax basis. The Confp@spot made any contributions to the 401(k) Rieshate.

14. Income taxes

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2018 dmpany did not record a current or deferred inetax expense or benefit. The
Company’s losses before income taxes consist sofalpmestic losses.

Deferred taxes are recognized for temporary diffees between the basis of assets and liabilitierfancial statement and income tax
purposes. The significant components of the Comatsferred tax assets are comprised of the foligwin thousands):
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December 31

2014 2013

Deferred tax asset
U.S and state net operating loss carryforwi $ 39,72 $ 27,61¢
Research and development cre 3,65t 2,74¢
Stock based compensati 77C 36¢
Purchased intangible 24E 26¢
Capitalized organizational and start up expendit 15z 17z
Accruals and other temporary differences 65¢ 47¢
Total deferred tax asse 45,20 31,65¢
Less valuation allowance (45,209 (31,654
Net deferred tax asse $ —  $ —

The Company has evaluated the positive and negaiidence bearing upon the realizability of itsetedd tax assets. Based on the
Company'’s history of operating losses, the Compgas/concluded that it is more likely than not thatbenefit of its deferred tax assets will not be
realized. Accordingly, the Company has providedlbvaluation allowance for deferred tax assetefd3ecember 31, 2014 and 2013. The valuation
allowance increased approximately $13.4 million $8d7 million during the year ended December 31428nd 2013, respectively, due primarily to
the generation of net operating losses during padiod.

A reconciliation of income tax expense computethatstatutory federal income tax rate to incomedsees reflected in the financial
statements is as follows:

Years ended December 3!

2014 2013 2012
Federal income tax expense at statutory 34.(% 34.(% 34.(%
State income tax, net of federal ben 4.6% 5.1% 6.6%
Permanent difference (2.2)% (0.9% (0.2)%
Research and development cre 1.8% 3.6% 0.C%
Other 0.1% 0.C% 0.C%
Change in valuation allowan: (38.9)% (41.6)% (40.6)%
Effective tax rate 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%

As of December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, the Cognpad U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwafdspproximately $105.0 million,
$71.4 million, and $51.7 million, respectively, whimay be available to offset future income takilifes and expire at various dates through 2034.
As of December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, the Coyngbso had U.S. state net operating loss carryfatsvaf approximately $90.5 million, $64.5
million, and $49.0 million, respectively, which mbg available to offset future income tax liabétiand expire at various dates through 2034.
Included in the federal and state net operating d@sryforwards are approximately $1.9 million, 81Bousand, and none, respectively, of deductions
related to the exercise of stock options. Theseuatsaepresent an excess tax benefit which witelaéized when it results in the reduction of cash
income tax in accordance with ASC 718.

As of December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, the Cognpad federal research and development tax cradiyforwards of approximately
$2.6 million, $1.9 million, and $1.2 million, resg#vely, available to reduce future tax liabilitiegich expire at various dates through 2034. As of
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Companythteresearch and development tax credit carryfatsvaf approximately $1.7 million, $1.3
million, and $929 thousand, respectively, availdableeduce future tax liabilities which expire arious dates through 2029.

Under the provisions of the Internal Revenue Ctuenet operating loss and tax credit carryforwargssubject to review and possible
adjustment by the Internal Revenue Service and &atauthorities. Net operating loss and tax treiyforwards may become subject to an annual
limitation in the event of certain cumulative chaadn the ownership interest of significant shaléérs over a three-year period in excess of 50
percent, as defined under Sections 382 and 38%&dhternal Revenue Code, respectively, as wallragar state provisions. This could limit the
amount of tax attributes that can be utilized afipua offset future taxable income or tax liad#éis. The amount of the annual limitation is
determined based on the value of the Company imatelgiprior to the ownership change. Subsequentostip changes may further affect the
limitation in future years. The Company has congalet
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several financings since its inception which mayehgesulted in a change in control as defined lutiGes 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue C
or could result in a change in control in the fetur

The Company will recognize interest and penal@sted to uncertain tax positions in income taxemge. As of December 31, 2014 and
2013, the Company had no accrued interest or pesattlated to uncertain tax positions and no arsolave been recognized in the Company’s
statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

For all years through December 31, 2014, the Companerated research credits but has not condacsaedy to document the qualified
activities. This study may result in an adjustmerthe Company’s research and development creditffoawards; however, until a study is
completed and any adjustment is known, no amoustbeing presented as an uncertain tax positioth&se two years. A full valuation allowance
has been provided against the Company’s reseattHearelopment credits and, if an adjustment isireduthis adjustment would be offset by an
adjustment to the deferred tax asset establishatidaesearch and development credit carryforwandsthe valuation allowance.

The Company files income tax returns in the UniB¢ates and various state jurisdictions. The fedmrdlstate income tax returns are
generally subject to tax examinations for the tearg ended December 31, 2011 through Decembef34, Zo the extent the Company has tax
attribute carryforwards, the tax years in which dkteibute was generated may still be adjusted @p@mination by the Internal Revenue Service,
state or foreign tax authorities to the extenizéd in a future period.

15. Net loss per share attributable to common stotiolders
The Company computes basic and diluted earnings)(leer share using a methodology that gives effieitte impact of outstanding
participating securities (the “two-class method3.the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 andr28lied in net losses, there is no income

allocation required under the tvatass method or dilution attributed to weightedrage shares outstanding in the calculation of @ilubss per shar

The following common stock equivalents, presente@io as converted basis, were excluded from tloellegion of net loss per share for the
periods presented, due to their anti-dilutive dffetthousands):

Years ended December 3:

2014 2013 2012
Preferred stoc — 11,40¢ 8,49¢
Warrants 78 19¢ 13t
Outstanding option 2,29( 1,57¢ 1,054
Total 2,36¢ 13,17¢ 9,68
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16. Quarterly financial information (unaudited, in thousands, except share and per share data)

Three Months Ended,

March 31, 2014 June 30, 201¢« September 30, 201 December 31, 201

Revenue $ — $ — $ — 3% 30¢
Operating expense 6,37¢ 6,90¢ 8,95¢ 11,23¢
Net loss (7,329 (7,14¢) (9,17 (11,650
Net loss per attributable to common stockholt (7,509 (7,146 (9,177 (11,650
Net loss per share attributable to common stocldre-

basic and dilute: (0.76) (0.4) (0.59) (0.66€)
Weighted-average number of common shares used in ne

loss per share attributable to common stockholders

basic and dilute: 9,85¢ 17,34¢ 17,46¢ 17,69¢

Three Months Ended,
March 31, 2013 June 30, 201: September 30, 201 December 31, 201

Revenue $ 25¢ % 228 $ 224 $ 20
Operating expense 4,79 4,977 4,69¢ 6,19(C
Net loss (4,664 (4,957 (4,839 (6,346
Net loss per attributable to common stockholt (5,059 (5,357 (5,244 (6,757
Net loss per share attributable to common stoclkdre-

basic and dilute: $ (17.09 $ (18.10) $ a7.72) $ (22.50
Weighte-average number of common shares used ii

loss per share attributable to common stockholders

basic and dilute 29€ 29€ 29€ 30C

17. Subsequent events

The Company has completed an evaluation of alleyent events after the audited balance sheebtiBecember 31, 2014 through
February 27, 2015, the date the financial statesn@pte issued, to ensure that this filing incluaiegropriate disclosure of events both recognized in
the financial statements as of December 31, 20d4esants which occurred subsequently but wereeauaignized in the financial statements. The
Company has no subsequent events to disclose.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduatp authorized on February 27, 2015.
GENOCEA BIOSCIENCES, INC

By: /s/ William Clark

William Clark
President and Chief Executive Offic

Pursuant to the requirements of the SecuritiesoA&834, this report has been signed by the folhgwiersons on behalf of the registrant in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
President and Chief Executive Officer and Dire: February 27, 201
/s/ William Clark (Principal Executive Officer
William Clark
/s/ Jonathan Poo Chief Financial Officer February 27, 2015
Jonathan Pool (Principal Financial Officer and Principal AccourgiOfficer)

/s/ Kenneth Bat
Kenneth Bate Director February 27, 201

/s/ Kevin Bittermar
Kevin Bitterman, Ph.D Director February 27, 201

/s/ Katrine Bosley
Katrine Bosley Director February 27, 2015

/s/ Michael Higgins
Michael Higgins Director February 27, 2015

/s/ Stephen J. Hoffme
Stephen J. Hoffma Director February 27, 201

/s/ George Sibe
George Siber, M.C Director February 27, 201
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10.1

10.2+

10.3+

10.4+

10.5+

10.6+

10.7

10.8

Fifth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorfiora(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1He Company’s Current
Report on Form-K, File No. 0036289, filed on February 12, 201

Amended and Restated -laws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2hte €ompan’'s Current Report on Forn-K, File
No. 002-36289, filed on February 12, 201

Form of Common Stock Certificate (incorporated &ference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Comp’s Registration Statement
Form &1, File No. 33-193043, filed on December 23, 20:

Form of Warrant to Purchase Preferred Stock, d#edary 7, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Ex4iB to the Compar's
Registration Statement on Forr-1, File No. 33-193043, filed on December 23, 20:

Preferred Stock Purchase Warrant, dated Septerfb@033, issued to Ares Capital Corporation (inooaped by reference
Exhibit 4.4 to the Compal's Registration Statement on Forr-1, File No. 33-193043, filed on December 23, 20:

Fourth Amended and Restated Registration Righteémgent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.heoCompan’s
Registration Statement on Forr-1, File No. 33-193043, filed on December 23, 20:

Warrant Agreement between the Company and Herdidelsnology Growth Capital, Inc., dated NovemberZii4
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to therpany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 002238, filed on
November 21, 201¢

Form of Director Indemnification Agreement (incorpated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the ComparBegistration Stateme
on Form &1, File No. 33-193043, filed on December 23, 20:

Amended and Restated Exclusive License Agreemewelea Childre’s Medical Center Corporation and Geno
Biosciences, Inc., dated March 23, 2012 (incoratdty reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’'giReation Statement on
Form -1, File No. 33-193043, as amended on January 13, 2

Amended and Restated License Agreement betweenc@aiiosciences, Inc. and President and Fellowtaofard College,
dated November 19, 2012 (incorporated by referémé&sxhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Registration Stegat on Form S-1, File
No. 33193043, as amended on January 13, 2

License and Collaboration Agreement between GenBaesiences, Inc. and Isconova AB, dated Augu20B9, as amended
on March 19, 2010, June 18, 2010, August 17, 20t@ber 19, 2011 and February 6, 2012 (incorporayeetference to
Exhibit 10.4 to the Compa’s Registration Statement on Fori-1, File No. 33-193043, as amended on January 13, 2

Exclusive License Agreement for Escherichia ColR2Ka Deliver Protein to the Macrophage Cytosol lestwwGenoce
Biosciences, Inc. and The Regents of the Univerditgalifornia, dated August 18, 2006 (incorporabgdeference to
Exhibit 10.5 to the Compa’s Registration Statement on Fori-1, File No. 33-193043, as amended on January 13, 2

Patent License Agreement between Genocea Biosaigime and University of Washington dated Jan2ary2010, as amend
on July 19, 2012 (incorporated by reference to EixHi0.6 to the Company’s Registration Statemerfform S-1, File No. 333-
193043, as amended on January 13, 2

Loan and Security Agreement, dated September 3,2y and between Ares Capital Corporation ancoGes
Biosciences, Inc. (incorporated by reference toilikh0.7 to the Company’s Registration StatemenEorm S-1, File No. 333-
193043, filed on December 23, 20:

Lease, dated as of July 3, 2012, between TBCI, ah@ Genocea Biosciences, Inc. (incorporated byeeée to Exhibit 10.8 to
the Compan’s Registration Statement on Fori-1, File No. 33-193043, filed on December 23, 20:
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10.9

10.10

10.11t

10.12t

10.13t

10.14t

10.15t

10.16t

10.17t

10.18+

10.19+

10.20t

10.21t

10.22t

10.23t

Agreement Regarding Sublease, dated as of Ju12,dy TBCI, LLC, FoldRx Pharmaceuticals, IncizBf Inc. and Genocea
Biosciences, Inc. (incorporated by reference toilikth0.9 to the Company’s Registration StatemenEorm S-1, File No. 333-
193043, filed on December 23, 20:

Genocea Biosciences, Inc. Amended and RestatedB2@@i#%y Incentive Plan, as amended on June 24, g@t8rporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Regi&in Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-1930i&] bn December 23,
2013)

Consulting Agreement between Genocea Biosciensesahd George Siber, dated May 16, 2007, as ardestdéune 30, 2009,
December 16, 2010, June 15, 2011 and June 5, 2@d8forated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to tleenpany’s Registration
Statement on Form-1, File No. 33-193043, filed on December 23, 20:

Amended and Restated Employment Letter Agreemewntele® William Clark and Genocea Biosciences, ldated January 1
2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1theoCompany’s Registration Statement on Form Hi&,No. 333-193043, as
amended on January 23, 20:

Amended and Restated Employment Letter Agreemenigem Seth Hetherington, M.D. and Genocea Biosenac., dated
January 16, 2014 (incorporated by reference toliixhd.13 to the Company’s Registration Statemerform S-1, File
No. 33193043, as amended on January 23, 2

Letter Agreement, dated April 7, 2014, betweenGbenpany and Jonathan Poole (incorporated by refedeto Exhibit 10.1 t
the Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K, File No. 00:-36289, filed on April 8, 2014

Genocea Biosciences, Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Rfecorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 t® @Gompan’s Registratior
Statement on Form-1, File No. 33-193043, as amended on January 13, 2

Genocea Biosciences, Inc. Cash Incentive Planrfiocated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Comy’'s Registratior
Statement on Form-1, File No. 33-193043, as amended on January 13, 2

Genocea Biosciences, Inc. Cash Bonus Program $oaFvears 2012, 2013 and 2014 (incorporated lereate to
Exhibit 10.17 to the Compa’s Registration Statement on Fori-1, File No. 33-193043, as amended on January 13, 2

Amendment No. 2 to Patent License Agreement betv@m®rocea Biosciences, Inc. and University of Wagtbim dated
September 12, 2012 (incorporated by reference hibix10.18 to the Company’s Registration StatenmenForm S-1, File
No. 33:-193043, filed on December 23, 20:

Amendment No. 3 to Patent License Agreement betv@®rocea Biosciences, Inc. and University of Wagthim datec
November 7, 2013 (incorporated by reference to lEkfAD.19 to the Compa’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File
No. 333193043, filed on December 23, 20:

Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Granted underGe@ocea Biosciences, Inc. Amended and Restatetl @ity Incentive
Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2€heoCompany’s Registration Statement on Form IS¢, No. 333-193043,
filed on December 23, 201

Form of Incentive Stock Option Granted under thadgea Biosciences, Inc. Amended and Restated 2Q0ifyHncentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to@mnpany’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,de333-193043, filed on
December 23, 201!

Form of Incentive Stock Option under the Genocamsé@iences, Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (incoaped by reference
Exhibit 10.22 to the Compa’s Registration Statement on Fori-1, File No. 33-193043, as amended on January 13, 2

Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option under the Gendgieaciences, Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (hpooated by reference
Exhibit 10.23 to the Compa’s Registration Statement on Fori-1, File No. 33-193043, as amended on January 13, 2
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10.24% Letter Agreement, dated January 9, 2014 termindktind_etter Agreement between Genocea Bioscielfrtesand Katrine
Bosley, dated February 4, 2013 (incorporated bgregfce to Exhibit 10.24 to the Company’s RegisiraStatement on
Form &1, File No. 33-193043, as amended on January 13, 2
10.25% Restricted Stock Agreement between Genocea Bioseseinc. and Katrine Bosley, dated November 73Z0fcorporate
by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Company’s Regtion Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-193@43mended on
January 13, 201«
10.26% Genocea Biosciences, Inc. 2014 Employee Stock BsecRlan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit@@2he
Compan’s Registration Statement on Forr-1, File No. 33-193043, as amended on January 23, 2
10.27% Nonstatutory Stock Option granted under the Gen8tesciences, Inc. Amended and Restated 2007 Etndgntive Plar
to Katrine Bosley, dated May 13, 2013 (incorpordigdeference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Company’s iBtegtion
Statement on Form-1, File No. 33-193043, as amended on January 13, 2
10.28% Nonstatutory Stock Option granted under the Gen8tesciences, Inc. Amended and Restated 2007 Etndgntive Plar
to Katrine Bosley, dated November 5, 2013 (incaspedt by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the CompaRggistration
Statement on Form-1, File No. 33-193043, as amended on January 13, 2
10.29+ Bioprocessing Services Agreement between the Coyngrach FUJIFILM Diosynth Biotechnologies U.S.A., Intated
February 26, 2014 (incorporated by reference taltixh0.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q, File No. 088289, filed on
May 9, 2014,
10.30 Loan and Security Agreement between the Companyancules Technology Growth Capital, Inc., dated/&ober 20
2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1hes Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, File B@1-36289, filed
on November 21, 201«
10.31 Equity Rights Letter Agreement between the Comparty Hercules Technology Growth Capital, Inc., d&edember 2(
2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2heo Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, File B@1-36289, filed
on November 21, 201«
10.32*+ Product Development and Clinical Supply Agreemetivieen the Company and Baxter Pharmaceutical $okitiLC,
dated October 23, 20:
23.1* Consent of Ernst & Young LL
31.1% Certification pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanele¥Act of 2002 by Chief Executive Offici
31.2* Certification pursuant to Section 302 of SarbanglepAct of 2002 by Chief Financial Offict
32.1*% Certification of periodic financial report pursudatSection 906 of Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 bieCExecutive Office
32.2* Certification of periodic financial report pursudatSection 906 of Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 bieCRinancial Officer
101. INS* XBRL Instance Documer
101. SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schern
101. CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkba
101. DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkba:
101. LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkba
101. PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkb.
* Filed herewith.
* Furnished herewith.
t Indicates a management contract or compensatony pla
+ Portions of this exhibit (indicated by asteriskayé been omitted pursuant to a request for confimléreatment and this exhibit has been

submitted separately to the Securities and Exch@uogemission.




Exhibit 10.32

THIS EXHIBIT HAS BEEN REDACTED AND IS THE SUBJECT O F A CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUEST. REDACTED
MATERIAL IS MARKED WITH [* * *]| AND HAS BEEN FILED = SEPARATELY WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION.

PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT
AND CLINICAL SUPPLY AGREEMENT

THIS PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT AND CLINICAL SUPPLY AGREEM ENT (this“Agreement” ) is made effective as of the 23
day of October, 2014 (tH&ffective Date” ) by and betweeBAXTER PHARMACEUTICAL SOLUTIONS LLC , a Delaware limited liability
company having a place of business at 927 Soutty®ike, Bloomington, Indiana 47403RBaxter” ), andGENOCEA BIOSCIENCE, INC ., a
Delaware corporation having a principal place dfibass at Cambridge Discovery Park, 100 Acorn Park5th Floor, Cambridge, MA, 02140
(“Client” ).

RECITALS

1. Client is engaged, directly or through partners ematractors, in the development, bulk productfonnulation, sale and
distribution of pharmaceutical products;

2. Baxter is, among other pharmaceutical activitiegjaged in the formulation, filling, inspection, &ing and packaging of
pharmaceutical products for various pharmaceuticaipanies;

3. Client and Baxter desire to have Baxter formulilejnspect, package, label, and test ProductGbent for clinical supply.

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the mutual covenants andexgents contained herein, Client and Baxter, hefteineeferred to
as“Party” or“Parties” , agree as follows:

Article 1, DEFINITIONS

1.1. As used in this Agreement, the following words ahdases shall have the following meanings:

“Affiliate” shall mean any corporation or other business editigctly or indirectly controlled by, controllingr under common control wi
a Party or its parent corporation. The term “coliitfincluding, with correlative meaning, the terfitontrolled by,” “controlling” and “under
common control with”) means the possession, diyemtiindirectly, of the power to direct or cause thirection of the management and policies of
such Party, whether through the ownership of vasiecurities, by contract or otherwise, or such otékationship as, in fact, constitutes actual
control.

CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION
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“Batch” shall mean a specific quantity of Product compgsaimumber of Units mutually agreed upon betweéenClnd Baxter, and that
(a) is intended to have uniform character and gualithin specified limits, and (b) is Produced ating to a single manufacturing order during the
same cycle of manufacture.
“Baxter SOPs” shall mean Baxter's standard operating procedyrgkcable to the Production of Product.

“Bill of Materials” or“BOM” shall mean the listing of Materials, part numbarg] relative quantities to be used in the Prodoatio
Product.

“Bulk Drug Substance” or “BDS” shall mean the active pharmaceutical ingrediensea$orth in the Development Plan and/or Projéan)
to be supplied by Client for use in the ProductiéfProduct.

“Certificate of Analysis” or “CofA” shall mean a document prepared by Baxter in a Bataedard format certifying the Batch of the
Product release tests performed by Baxter, or @e@lSubcontractors, the specifications and tesilte for each Batch, as further specified in the
Quality Agreement.

“cGMP Batch” shall mean a Batch of Product Produced from a c@kBuction run conducted in accordance with thetstaBatch
Record that is used to create Product for researdidevelopment or for clinical use.

“Claims” means any and all claims, demands, actions, syitsthird party including claims of property damadeath or personal injury fi
which the Indemnified Parties otherwise would ety liable.

“Completion,” “Completed” and correlatives shall mean the completion by Baot@ Batch or other milestone, all as definethim Projec
Plan.

“Completion Timeline” shall mean the timeline of Completion of an eventlefined in the Project Plan (as may be amendeduyal
agreement from time to time as set forth in thisefegnent).

“Components” shall mean the primary packaging components (éa§.stopper and seal) used by Baxter in the Pribaluof Product under
this Agreement. Components are listed in thediMaterials.

“Confidential Information” shall be defined as set forth in Article 18.

“Current Good Manufacturing Practices” or “cGMP” shall mean the current good manufacturing practiegsired by the FDA and set
forth in the FD&C Act or FDA regulations (includingithout limitation 21 CFR 210 and 211) as in effisom time to time.
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“Demonstration Batch” shall mean a Batch used for process demonstratidergineering of some or all of the Process Sesvémd/or
demonstration and engineering of Production in BastcGMP facility.

“Development Plan” shall mean the document containing the parameteittié Process Services which shall be developdsblsier and
Client and agreed to in writing by Client and Bax{tg each Product under this Agreement as seh farSection 2.1.

“Disposition Date” shall mean Baxter’s disposition of the ExecuteccB&ecord.
“Effective Date” shall mean the date set forth above.

“Executed Batch Record” shall mean the completed batch record (dispositidnyeBaxter as released, rejected or aborted) ssacated
deviation reports, and if applicable, a Lot QC DRtecket for each Batch of Product.

“FDA” shall mean the United States Food and Drug Admatieh or any successor entity thereto.

“FD&C Act” shall mean the United States Federal Food, DrugCarstnetic Act, as may be amended from time to time.

“Latent Defect” means any non-conformity of a Product with the BobdRequirements that could not reasonably have bepected to
have been revealed by review of the Released Be@®&#dtch Record by Client and/or testing perfortmglient during the applicable time period

for acceptance as provided for in Section 7.1 hefwit is discovered within the time period as jed for in Section 7.1.1.

“Losses” shall mean any and all liabilities, obligationspakies, claims, judgments, demands, actions, diglmoents of any kind and natu
suits, losses, damages, costs and expenses (imglwdthout limitation, reasonable attorney’s fees)

“Lot QC Data Packet” shall mean the listing of the analytical testing &roduct Specifications performed on the Prodadtthe results of
such tests and shall contain a CofA for each Bdétivered.

“Master Batch Record” or “MBR” shall mean, with respect to each Presentationadut to be Produced hereunder, a mutually agreed
formal set of instructions for the Production otledresentation of such Product. The MBR shatldeloped and maintained in Baxter’s standard
format by Baxter, using Client's master formulatemd technical support.

“Materials” as used in this Agreement shall collectively méenBDS, Components, Secondary Packaging Materal&aw Materials as
required for Production of Product.

“Materials Specifications” shall mean the specifications and testing to béopeed on the Materials, as specified in the QCMD.
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“Non-Conforming Batch” shall mean:
(1) a cGMP Batch that has not been Produced inrdanoe with the Product Requirements.
(2) A Demonstration Batch that has not been Pradlic@ccordance with the Project Plan.

“Presentation” shall mean the specific formulation and Componéortthe Product as specified in the applicable EiaBatch Record and
Product Specifications.

“Process Services’shall mean those research and development sepéciEsmed by Baxter to optimize the manufacturingcpss related
to Client’s process to Produce Product. Processc®s activities shall be identified in the Devateent Plan.

“Produce” or “Production” shall mean the formulation, filling, packaging,pesting, labeling, and testing of Product by Baxhering the
manufacture and finishing of Product in finishedalge form for research and development and/occelinise as specified in the applicable Master
Batch Record or finishing specification sheet.

“Product” shall mean product as specified in the DeveloprRéant, if applicable, and the Project Plan for usBriocess Services and/or
clinical trials.

“Product Requirements” shall mean cGMPs, Baxter SOPs, the Product Spatdits and the Master Batch Record.

“Product Specifications” shall mean, with respect to Product, the specifinatand testing to be performed for the Produad the BDS to
the extent that Baxter is required to test the B&®)/or the stability program that are set fortkhie Baxter SOPs and the Master Batch Records.
Product Specifications include all tests that Baigeequired to conduct or cause to be conductespacified in the QCMD. The Product
Specifications may be modified from time to timdydoy a written agreement of Client and Baxter.

“Production Price” shall be defined in Section 5.1.

“Project Plan” shall mean the document(s) containing the parasidisrelines, milestones, Completion and ProduetBigations for the
Production of each Presentation of Product whictl &le developed by Baxter and Client and mutuadjyeed to in writing by Client and Baxter for
each Presentation of Product under this Agreeneségforth in Section 2.2. In addition, the Peojelan may include, without limitation, the
Product, Materials, the countries where such Pripdilcbe sold, and Presentations for such Product.

“Quality Agreement” shall mean an addendum to this Agreement underhwthie Parties allocate the pharmaceutical respititisy as
further set forth in Section 2.4.
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“Quality Control Master Document” or “QCMD” shall mean a listing of the analytical testing andresponding Specifications, and the
results of such testing, to be performed on th&Bulig Substance, Raw Materials and in some ins&grieroduct and shall contain a CofA for each
Batch delivered.

“Qualified Subcontractor” shall mean a subcontractor with whom Baxter hagreed agreement, with provisions that protect Glien
Confidential Information and intellectual propedtyleast as stringent as the provisions of thiss&grent, and that has been audited and approve
supplier by Baxter’s quality assurance departmeprovide the services to be subcontracted.

“Raw Materials” shall mean all excipients, inactive ingredients atiger substances used by Baxter in the Produofi®moduct under this
Agreement with the exception of BDS, Components @@&cbndary Packaging Materials. All Raw Materalks listed in the Bill of Materials.

“Regulatory Approval” shall mean all authorizations by the appropriatguReory Authority necessary for use of Produdatlinical trials
in a jurisdiction, including without limitation, gpoval of labeling and Production.

“Regulatory Authority” shall mean those agencies or authorities respenfeibregulation of the Products in the United &aind such
other Regulatory Authorities expressly agreed uppthe Parties in the Quality Agreement. Baxtdl dve no obligation to Produce Product in
compliance with the requirements of a RegulatoryhAtity not specified in the applicable Quality Agment.

“Regulatory Plan” shall mean the document(s) containing regulatoryices and support for the development and maimienaf
regulatory submissions and supporting documentatsoset forth in Section 2.3.

“Released Executed Batch Recordshall mean the completed batch record and assd@atption reports, and Lot QC Data Packet or
QCMD created for each Batch of Product.

“Reschedule Fees’shall have the meaning given in Section 4.2.

“Secondary Packaging Materials”as used in this Agreement shall mean any mataripl@yed in the secondary packaging of the Product
(e.g. leaflet, label and folded box), but excludamny outer packaging used for transportation qraknt. All Secondary Packaging Materials are
listed in the Bill of Materials.

“Specifications” shall mean the Materials Specifications and/oRttatluct Specifications as the context requires.
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“Start Timeline” shall mean the timeline for starting a particuldlestone or Batch run set forth in the Project Rsmay be amended by
mutual agreement from time to time as set fortthis Agreement).

“Unit” shall mean an individually packaged dose of Pradocluding by way of example only, a vial or phiefil syringe, as specified in the
Project Plan.

Article 2, PLANS/QUALITY AGREEMENT

2.1 Development Plan. Prior to commencing Process Services for anyititpthe Parties shall agree in writing upon a Deyaent
Plan and/or Project Plan, as applicable. Baxtémwit be required to commence Process Servicegedoelopment of a Product, and Client will no
required to pay for services or costs, until Clieas (i) executed and returned the Developmentdtdfor Project Plan for such Process Services to
Baxter or (ii) issued to Baxter a purchase ordesomne other written approval by a Genocea Viceitkasor Genocea officer senior to a Vice
President for such services or costs. Upon exatuati the Development Plan, Baxter shall commeneeeldpment of such Product pursuant to the
timeline and otherwise in accordance with the Depelent Plan.

2.2 Project Plan/Production. For Product to be Produced hereunder, the PatiEsagree in writing upon a Project Plan. Bakies
agreed to schedule Production prior to completiwthapproval of a Project Plan. However, Baxtel mok be required to commence any Production,
and Client will not be required to pay for servicesosts, until (i) a Project Plan for such Prddwas been approved in writing by both Baxter and
Client or (ii) Client has issued to Baxter a pussharder or some other written approval by a Gemdtiee President or Genocea officer senior to a
Vice President for such services or costs. Pregpetific Master Batch Records shall be reviewedlapproved by Baxter and by Client prior to
commencement of Production. Any material changentapproved Product-specific Master Batch Recalibe reviewed and approved by Baxter
and by Client prior to said change being implementdpon execution of the Quality Agreement andabeesponding Project Plan for each Proc
Baxter shall commence Production of such Produdyant to the timeline and otherwise in accordanwitie the Project Plan. Each Batch of Product
shall be Produced by using a copy of the Mastec!BRiecord. Each copy of the Master Batch Recarddoh Batch of Product shall be assigned a
unique Batch number. Any deviation from the mantifang process specified in the Master Batch Rioaust be documented in the copy of the
Master Batch Record for that Batch. Baxter shale Client with required supporting developmant Production documentation in a form
reasonably suitable for Client’'s submission toFID&A.

2.3. Regulatory Plan. If requested by Client, Baxter shall provide fegpry services in connection with obtaining Regorga
Approval for a Product. Baxter will not be requir® conduct regulatory services for a Product, @hent will not be required to pay for services or
costs, until (i) the Regulatory Plan for such Prichas been agreed upon by the Parties or (ii)
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Client has issued to Baxter a purchase order oesmher written approval by a Genocea Vice Preside@enocea officer senior to a Vice President
for such services or costs.

2.4, Quality Agreement. The Parties will agree in writing on a Qualityr&gment. Baxter will not be required to schedulg a
Production, and Client will not be required to gayservices or costs, until (i) a Quality Agreernbas been duly signed by both Baxter and Clie
(i) with respect to payment for services or co€fient has issued to Baxter a purchase ordermaesather written approval by a Genocea Vice
President or Genocea officer senior to a Vice Beggifor such services or costs.

2.5, Amendment. This Agreement and each Development Plan, PrBject, Regulatory Plan and Quality Agreement magrbende
from time to time, only upon mutual written agreernef Client and Baxter. Upon execution of any Blepment Plan, Project Plan, Regulatory Plan
or Quality Agreement, such executed document &igatleemed to be incorporated herein by referendenaide a part of this Agreement. In the
event that the terms of any Development Plan, Btéjan, Regulatory Plan or purchase order, ackedgvhent, invoice or other standard
commercial documents are inconsistent with the $esfithis Agreement, this Agreement shall conwaless otherwise explicitly agreed to in writing
by the Parties. No Development Plan, Project FRagulatory Plan, Quality Agreement or purchaseracknowledgment, invoice or other
standard commercial documents shall be deemedeadthis Agreement. In the event of a confliciNein this Agreement and the Quality
Agreement, the Quality Agreement will prevail foatters of quality and this Agreement will prevait &ll business, legal, and financial issues.

2.6. Effect of Failure to Execute Plans. Failure to execute a Development Plan, Projesnt B Regulatory Plan with respect to the
Product will not relieve either Party of any obliga accruing with respect to services or coststah Product prior to such failure to execute
provided Client has issued to Baxter a purchaseradsome other written approval by a Genocea RPresident or Genocea officer senior to a Vice
President for such services or costs.

Article 3, PURCHASE AND SUPPLY OF MATERIALS

3.1 Client Supplied Materials. Client, at its expense (including, without lintitan, shipping costs), shall supply to Baxter, itinaely
manner, all Materials listed in the Bill of Matdsas Client supplied. On receipt of the Clienigied Materials, Baxter’'s sole obligation with
respect to evaluation of the Client supplied Matershall be to (i) review the accompanying cexdife of analysis to confirm that the Client supglie
Materials conform with the specifications, and gi@rform testing on the BDS in accordance withRhgject Plan. Client shall be liable for the
conformance of the BDS and Client supplied Materialtheir respective specifications, and Cliestldbe responsible for any liability arising out of
any such nonconformance, including without limiati Non-Conforming Batches of Product, unless Basteequired to test the Client supplied
Materials and such nonconformance was not
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detected by Baxter as a result of its negligenagiltiul misconduct. Unless specifically set fortkherwise in this Agreement, Baxter disclaims any
and all liability with respect to Client's BDS. &hesponsibility for vendor/supplier qualificatianset forth in the Quality Agreement. Baxter shal
only use Qualified Subcontractors.

3.2, Baxter Supplied Materials. Baxter will purchase, at Baxter's expense, imeely manner, all Materials listed in the Bill of
Materials as Baxter supplied. Baxter shall teshdaterials in accordance with the Quality Agreatrend QCMD. Baxter shall be liable for the
conformance of the Baxter supplied Materials tartresspective specifications if such nonconformaiscdue to Baxter's negligence or willful
misconduct as specifically set forth in this Agresm In addition, Baxter will use commercially seaable efforts to assist Client in recovering from
Baxter’s suppliers for indemnification and warranbfigations for purposes of flow through to Cliefgaxter shall control packaging materials listed
in the Bill of Materials and shall assist Clientkvevaluation and purchase of modified materiath@event that Client requests a change in
Presentation. Baxter shall not initiate any chartgeMaterials without prior written approval fradtient, in its sole discretion.

3.3. Material Delivery Delays. Timely delivery of Client supplied Materials aBdxter supplied Materials shall mean that the
respective Materials and the required cGMP-reldtBziments reach Baxter prior to the scheduled naatwing date of such Product per the timing
set forth in the Project Plan. A delay in delivefithe Client supplied Materials by the vendorlishat be considered to be a delay by Baxter. A
delay in delivery of the Baxter supplied Materibjsthe vendor shall not be considered to be a dgfa@lient. Notwithstanding anything in this
Agreement to the contrary, in the event that Bardeeives the Client supplied Materials and assediaGMP documents for the Production of
Product from Client with less time than requestethe Project Plan, but within sufficient time tm&uce such Product on such scheduled date,
Baxter shall charge Client an additional fee of f}, which shall be paid promptly to Baxter prito Production, and Baxter shall Produce such
Product as per the original schedule. Notwithstamenything in this Agreement to the contrarythiea event that Baxter receives the Client supplied
Materials for Production of Product from Client viess time than requested in the applicable Pr&jlem prior to the scheduled date of Production
of such Product, and without sufficient time to droe such Product on the scheduled date or invibrat €lient cancels or reschedules Production of
Product, Baxter shall reschedule Production of Rrclduct and shall charge Client the applicablecRedule Fee pursuant to Section 4.2.

3.4. Importer of Record. In the event any material or equipment to be Begy Client, including without limitation Cliergupplied
Materials, is imported into the United States felivkry to Baxter (Imported Goods” ), such Imported Goods shall be imported DDP
Bloomington, IN (Incoterms 2010). Client shallthe “Importer of Record” of such Imported Goodss the Importer of Record, Client shall be
responsible for all aspects of the Imported Goadkiding, without limitation (a) customs and othegulatory clearance of Imported Goods,

(b) payment of all tariffs, duties, customs, feegienses and charges payable in connection witimghertation and delivery of the Imported Goods,
and (c) keeping all records,
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documents, correspondence and tracking informagiquired by applicable laws, rules and regulatamising out of or in connection with the
importation or delivery of the Imported Goods.

Article 4, PURCHASE AND SUPPLY OF PRODUCT

4.1. Agreement to Purchase and Supply.Pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agrent, Client will purchase the Product
from Baxter, and Baxter will Produce the ProductGtient in accordance with this Agreement.

4.2. Reschedule Fees.

4.2.1 If Client unilaterally cancels or reschedules (otifan where the Parties mutually agree to resdeeltough a change
order or to extend the Start Timeline or due tabheor default by Baxter) Production of any Batehferth in a Project Plan, Client shall
pay, as liquidated damages and not as a penadtyolllowing fees (Reschedule Fees’) calculated based on the date of Baxter's readipt
Client’s notice, and payable within thirty (30) dagfter the invoice date:

(i) for cancellation or rescheduling [* * *] or more &dvance of the scheduled Start Timeline for angn@estration Batch run or
cGMP Batch run, no Reschedule Fees shall be due;

(i) acharge of [* * *] percent ([* * *]%) of the Produion Price of the Batch if the Batch is canceledescheduled [* * *] from
the scheduled Start Timeline but [* * *] from theheduled Start Timeline;

(i)  acharge of [* * *] percent ([* * *]%) of the Produion Price of the Batch if the Batch is canceledescheduled [* * *] from
the scheduled Start Timeline but [* * *] from theheduled Start Timeline;

(iv) acharge of [* * *] percent ([* * *]%) of the Prodution Price of the Batch if the Batch is canceledescheduled [* * *] from
the scheduled Start Timeline.

Such damages set forth in this Section 4.2.1 alieurof all other remedies.

4.2.2  As further set forth in the Project Plan, Baxtell tiinely provide Client with milestones, Productdaother deliverables,
including BDS testing, within the time periods sified in the Project Plan unless the Parties aggesxtend such time periods in writing.
Delays in providing Product conforming to the PraidRequirements caused by Baxter’s [* * *] will skt in liquidated damages, and not as
a penalty, as follows:

(i) for rescheduling the Start Timeline [* * *] aftdné scheduled Start Timeline or, if applicable urSection 7.2, the date Bax
receives replacement BDS from Client, [* * *] pent€[* * *]%) of the Production Price shall be deztad;

(i) for rescheduling the Start Timeline [* * *], but [**] after the scheduled Start Timeline or, if dippble under Section 7.2, the
date Baxter receives replacement BDS from Clierit,*] percent ([* * *]%) of the Production Pricetsll be deducted;
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(i) ~ for rescheduling the Start Timeline [* * *], but p**] after the scheduled Start Timeline or, if dippble under Section 7.2,
the date Baxter receives replacement BDS from €lj&ri *] percent ([* * *]%) of the Production Pde shall be deducted, and

(iv) for rescheduling the Start Timeline [* * *] aftené scheduled Start Timeline or, if applicable urfBection 7.2, the date
Baxter receives replacement BDS from the Clienffegoshall be due.

Such damages set forth in this Section 4.2.2 aagldition to all other remedies as specified inti®acr.2, including termination under
Section 8.2.

Article 5, PRICE

5.1. Product Production Price. The price to be paid by Client for the ProductidériProduct (the Production Price ") shall be set
forth in the Project Plan.

5.2. Regulatory Services Price. The price to be paid by Client for regulatorywsegs shall be set forth in the Regulatory Plan.

5.3. Process Services Price.The price to be paid by Client for Process Sexvighall be set forth in the Development Plan/Rtdiéan
Article 6, SHIPMENT AND INVOICING

6.1. Delivery Terms. Product shall be delivered to Client or its dasigg EXW (Incoterms 2010) at Baxter’s facility in

Bloomington, Indiana, freight collect, by a comnaarrier designated by Client; provided, howevertBashall be responsible for the loading of the
Product on departure and shall bear all costsaf gading. Client shall procure, at its costuir@mce covering damage or loss to the Product glurin

shipping.

6.2. Storage.

6.2.1  Product Storage. Baxter will store Product free of charge foropt [* * *] after Baxter’s release (tHf&torage
Period” ). After the Storage Period, if Baxter agreesttwesProduct longer, then Baxter may charge theageofees as set forth in the
Project Plan.

6.2.2 BDS and Material Storage. Baxter will not be required to store quantitié8®S more than required to Produce one
(1) Batch(es) of Product without the prior writtesnsent of Baxter and Client’'s agreement. |If Baatgees to store quantities of BDS in
excess of the amount set forth above, the Pariieseach written
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agreement on the terms of such storage which kaalet forth in a Project Plan, including withdatitation the cost of storage fees.

6.2.3  Storage Conditions. Baxter shall store all Materials and Productdafesand secure storage under its control in thedBax
Bloomington, Indiana facility in accordance wittettutually agreed storage guidelines.

6.2.4  Third Party Storage. Baxter shall be permitted to store Product andnCkupplied Materials in third party storage
facilities with the prior written consent of Clieimt each case, provided that Baxter shall remdlp fasponsible for compliance with its
obligations under this Agreement.

6.3. Subsequent Export. Client agrees and represents that Client is wreeo of the goods that are consigned to Baxtecdotract
manufacturing services and warrants that Cliergsponsible for any subsequent export or re-exgadtwill comply with all applicable US laws and
regulations relating to the export or re-exportjuding the prohibition against unlawful transshgnts. Further, where such goods are destined for
export or re-export, Client agrees and acceptsittigmthe Foreign Principal Party in IntereSEPPI” ) and warrants that as the FPPI, it will duly
authorize and retain a U.S. agent who will actteehalf, assuming all attendant responsibildigsociated with the export or re-export, including
obtaining any necessary export licenses, pursoath C.F. R. §758.3. The Client’s responsibilites-PPI include, but are not limited to,
cooperating with its U.S. agent in providing th&SUgovernment with a detailed description and ateuwraluation and classification of the goods,
bills of lading, and all other required documertati Client further agrees to defend Baxter againgtaction, civil or criminal, private or publicy
connection with the subsequent export or re-exXpp€lient of the goods.

6.4. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. Client acknowledges that it is not the agent akt®r and represents and warrants that it has not,
and covenants that it will not pay anything of wato any government employee in connection withstile of the Product.

6.5. Payment Terms. The following invoicing and payment terms apply:

Status Invoice Date Payment Due
[***] [* **] Invoice date + 30 days
[***] [* **] Invoice date + 30 days
[***] Monthly Invoice date + 30 days
[***] 100% [less deposit, if any] of Production Pric§*at*] Invoice date + 30 days
[***] 100% [less deposit, if any] at Bax's Completion as specified in the Project F  Invoice date + 30 days
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*All days specified above are calendar days.

Payments shall be made in U.S. dollars by chedketed to Baxter by overnight delivery with a regdoie overnight delivery service or by
wire transfer as set forth in Baxter’s invoice.cEénvoice shall be payable by Client in accordanith the terms noted above. Any payment due
under this Agreement not received within the timeted above shall incur finance charges at thetedga) the maximum rate permitted by law, or
(b) [* * *] percent ([* * *]%) per month on the ostanding balance.

6.6. Default in Payment Obligations. In addition to all other remedies available to®a in the event of a Client default, if Client
does not make payments as required hereunder afrasmtihat are not subject to a good faith dispyt€lent, Baxter may refuse to Produce any
Product until Client’s account in regard to sucklisputed payments is paid in full, suspend delegdf Product until Client provides assurance of
performance reasonably satisfactory to Baxter,artdke other reasonable means as Baxter may deterim the event Client disputes, in good
faith, an invoice amount, Client agrees to pro\Bdeter with written notification of such disputethin [* * *] from the date of the invoice and the
Parties shall use good faith efforts to resolvedispute within [* * *] from the date of the invaéc In the event the Parties are unable to resbhlve
dispute, the dispute shall be promptly elevatesetior management of each Party for resolution.

Article 7, ACCEPTANCE OF PRODUCT

7.1. Product Conformity. Within [* * *] after the manufacturing of any Bett pursuant to the Project Plan, Baxter shall ptbmp
forward to Client, or Client’s designee, sampleswéh Batch. Within [* * *] from the Receipt (agfihed below) of such samples of Product or [* *
*] from the date of Receipt of the Released Exet#atch Record, whichever is later (ttespection Period” ), Client will determine whether the
Batch of Product was Produced according to the iitodequirements and reject such Batch if suchiBatrs not Produced in accordance with the
Product Requirements (“Non-Conforming”) or accapttsBatch if such Batch was Produced in accordaiiitethe Product Requirements. If Client
believes a Batch is Non-Conforming, it shall noffsixter as set forth in Section 7.1.2. For purpadehis Section 7.1, “Receipt” shall occur on the
first business day following the date of confirmeghsmission if Baxter sends by facsimile or erail] on the second business day following the
date of delivery to the overnight delivery senvitBaxter sends by overnight delivery.

7.1.1 If Client does not notify Baxter in writing withithe Inspection Period that the Batch of Produttas-Conforming, then
such Batch will be deemed to have been accepte@het will have waived its right to revoke accapte (other than for Latent Defects, in
which case, the Inspection Period for such Prosdhall be [* * *] and the Parties shall then follalae procedures set forth in Section 7.1.2).

CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

12




THIS EXHIBIT HAS BEEN REDACTED AND IS THE SUBJECT O F A CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUEST. REDACTED
MATERIAL IS MARKED WITH [* * *] AND HAS BEEN FILED = SEPARATELY WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION.

7.1.2 If Baxter released a Batch of Product and Clieflielbes such Batch is Non-Conforming, it will proeitb Baxter a
detailed explanation of the non-conformity withiretinspection Period. Such notice of non-confgrrsiitall be confirmed in writing via
overnight delivery to Baxter. Upon receipt of sumdtice, Baxter will investigate such alleged n@mformity and, (a) if Baxter agrees such
Batch is Non-Conforming, deliver to Client a cotiee action plan within [* * *] after receipt of @nt’s written notice of non-conformity,
or such additional time as is reasonably requiretrautually agreed if such investigation or plaguiees data from sources other than C
or Baxter (the “Response Period”), or (b) if Baxdesagrees that the Batch of Product is Non-ConifognBaxter will so notify Client in
writing and provide to Client a detailed explanataf the conformity within the Response Period.

7.1.3 If the Parties dispute whether the Batch of Proikiconforming or Non-Conforming, samples of thedBawill be
submitted to a mutually acceptable laboratory erscdtant for resolution, whose determination offoomity or non-conformity, and the
cause thereof if Non-Conforming, shall be bindipgoi the Parties for purposes of determining finan@bility. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, Client cannot release a Batch of Prothatt Baxter has rejected. The costs of such &bor or consultant are to be borne by the
Party whose determination was incorrect.

7.2. Remedies for Non-Conforming Batch of Product. In the event Baxter determines or agrees thattelBof Product is a Non-
Conforming Batch as a result of Baxter’s [* * *]r such mutually acceptable laboratory or consulttérmines that such Batch of Product is a Non-
Conforming Batch as a result of Baxge[* * *], then: (i) within a reasonable time afteither such determination, Baxter will [* * *] maburse Clien
for the cost of the BDS used in such Non-Conforniadch, with such reimbursement not to exceed asuatrequal to (a) with respect to a
Demonstration Batch, [* * *] the Production Pricetbe Non-Conforming Batch, or (b) with respecatoGMP Batch, [* * *] the Production Price of
the Non-Conforming Batch; and (ii) Baxter will [** at Client’s option, (a) if Client has paid feuch Non€onforming Batch, either refund or cre
the Production Price of the Non-Conforming Batchiepiace the Non-Conforming Batch, at Baxtezkpense, within [* * *] from receipt of sufficié
BDS to be provided by Client, at Client’s experesa] in due time to carry out the Production, oriflg)lient has not paid for the Non-Conforming
Batch, Baxter will not invoice for the Non-Confommgi Batch and shall replace the Non-Conforming BadtiClients expense, within  [** *] fron
receipt of sufficient BDS to be provided by Clieat,Client’'s expense, and in due time to carrytbetProduction.

Article 8, TERM AND TERMINATION

8.1. Term. This Agreement shall commence on the Effectiveel@ad shall continue for seven (7) years unledgeeterminated in
accordance with Sections 8.2, 8.3 or 8.4 of thiss&gient (the Term 7).
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8.2. Termination for Breach. Either Party may terminate this Agreement up@nrtiaterial breach of any provision of this Agreetnen
by the other Party if such breach is not curedhgytireaching Party within [* * *] for monetary defés, and [* * *] for non-monetary defaults (or
such additional time as is reasonably necessaryrsuch non-monetary default provided that saobér period of time for cure shall in no case
exceed [* * *] after receipt by the breaching Pasfywritten notice of such default. At the optiohthe nonbreaching Party, such termination may
with respect to the entire Agreement, or only wébpect to the Product which is subject to thedirea

8.3. Termination for Financial Matters. Either Party may terminate this Agreement immiadljaby giving the other Party written
notice thereof in the event such other Party dfedbme judicially adjudged insolvent or unable dg fis debts when due, or in the event that
proceedings are commenced against, or voluntayilglch Party relating to its bankruptcy or insalegand not dismissed within [* * *].

8.4. Termination by Client. Client may terminate this Agreement at any tirfieative on notice, subject to Section 4.2.1 (Resithe
Fees) and Section 8.6 (Non-cancelable Costs andrisgg).

8.5. Additional Rights and Remedies. Subject to Section 13.1, termination under thische 8 shall be in addition to the other rights
and remedies of the terminating Party as spedifedin.

8.6. Non-cancelable Costs and Expensesn the event of the termination (but not expoajiof this Agreement, Baxter will
immediately cease performance, cancel all commitsp@md take all reasonable steps to mitigate édueikpenses, and except in the event of
termination by Client as a result of a breach bytBaunder Section 8.2 or under Section 8.3, Clelit(a) reimburse Baxter for all Materials and
equipment ordered prior to termination and not etafile at no cost to Baxter or will pay Baxter ¢imst of cancellation, and (b) pay Baxter for any
work-in-process commenced by Baxter under any antiihg approved Development Plans and/or Projeets?lIn addition, in the event of
termination or expiration for any reason, subjecéction 7.2, Client will pay the prices describedrticle 5 for all finished Product Producedqri
to expiration or termination. Within [* * *] aftethe effective date of termination or expiratiorax@er will ship such Materials, equipment, work-in-
process and Product to Client pursuant to SectibmaClient’s cost and per Client’s instructior@@ient will make payments for all expenses
described in this Section 8.6 no later than [* ¥rgm the later to occur of the shipment of suchtevials, equipment, work-in-process and Product or
the invoice date. Baxter will provide a final anating and credit any prepayments (if any) oniitalfinvoice, and refund any outstanding balance to
Client, no later than [* * *] from the effective taof termination or expiration.

8.7. Survival. Termination or expiration of this Agreement thgbuany means or for any reason shall be withojtigiee to the right:
and remedies of either Party with respect to atgcauent breach of any of the provisions of thiseggnent, subject to Article 13. The provisions of
Articles/Sections 1, 2.5, 2.6, 8, 9.2, 9.3, 9.8, 119 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 20, 21,
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24, 25, 26, 27, 29, 30 and 31 hereof shall surekration or termination of this Agreement. Temation of this Agreement for any reason shall not
relieve any Party of any obligations or affect aigyts accruing prior to such termination.

Article 9, PRODUCTION OF PRODUCT

9.1. Reprocessing, Rework or Reproduction. If reprocessing, rework or reproduction is allowmirsuant to Client’s regulatory
submissions or approved by Client, it shall begrankd in accordance with the Quality Agreement@hieint shall be responsible for and promptly
reimburse Baxter for all Client approved costs ergenses incurred in connection with such reprangssework or reproduction, unless such
reprocessing, rework or reproduction is due to f},%in which case Baxter will [* * *] pay for altosts and expenses incurred in connection with
reprocessing, rework or reproduction, which payméhtnot exceed [* * *].

9.2. Audits.

9.2.1 Quality Audits. Client shall have the right to audit Baxter’s fieis to determine compliance with (i) cGMP, (e
Project Plan, (iii) Baxter SOPs, and (iv) appliealslws and regulations. Such audits shall be sgbedt mutually agreeable times upon
reasonable advance written notice to Baxter. Augtiall be at Client's expense as detailed in tb@e Plan, if it occurs more than one
(1) time every calendar year unless required byt&axcompliance status. If Client requests addal audits which are not due to Baxter’s
compliance status and Baxter agrees to such addiésit will incur fees as set forth in the Projétan. Such fees shall be paid promptly
upon completion of such audits. In connection wighforming such audits, Client shall comply withraasonable rules and regulations
promulgated by Baxter. All information disclosedreviewed in such inspections shall be deemee: tihé property of Baxter and Baxter
Confidential Information.

9.2.2 Other Audits. Except as provided in Section 9.2.1, any auditl ¢fe at the expense of Client and the prior emitt
consent of Baxter.

9.3. Stability Testing. At Client’s expense, Client or a party selectgdCient shall perform all stability testing reged to be
performed on Product. If performed by Baxter, stagting shall be performed in accordance withptteeedures set out in the Product-specific
Baxter SOPs for the stability protocol and the &obpPlan. If Baxter is not performing stabilitgtieg, then Baxter requires at a minimum that Baxte
perform the sterility testing as part of the st&pijprogram. Such stability protocol shall contaifisting of the analytical testing and correspogd
Product Specifications, to be performed on the Bcbih connection with the stability testing progrander 21 CFR § 166.
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9.4, Permits and Licenses. Client will be responsible, at its expense, fotaining, maintaining, updating and remaining im@tiance
with all permits, licenses and other authorizatidngng the Term of this Agreement, which are neagsor required under federal, state, and local
laws, rules and regulations which are applicablia¢éouse and sale of Product Produced by Baxtewheer, in addition to any permits, licenses and
other authorizations that are specific to the Petidn of Product, if any. Baxter will be resporieitat its expense, for obtaining, maintaining,
updating and remaining in compliance with all gafigmequired permits and licenses applicable tmpction of pharmaceutical products generally
which are required for Baxter to carry out its regory and Production obligations hereunder. Bawi# have no obligation to obtain permits
relating to the sale, marketing, distribution oe w$ BDS or Product or with respect to the contéreny Product labeling.

9.5. Regulatory Requirements. Each Party promptly shall notify the other of negulatory requirements of which it becomes aware
which are relevant to the Production of Producteuritis Agreement and which are required by aniegiplle Regulatory Authority or other
applicable laws or governmental regulations, aradl glonfer with each other with respect to the lmeeains to comply with such requirements. Bz
shall notify Client of and require prior writtenoval from Client for material changes to Prodsjecific Master Batch Records and Product
Specifications prior to the Production of subseqBaiches of Product. Baxter shall have no obligeto Produce Product in compliance with the
requirements of a Regulatory Authority not exphicipecified in the Quality Agreement. Client stslpply to Baxter a copy of its license
submission prior to Baxter's Production of ProduCtient will be responsible for the final releasfeeach Batch of Product for use in clinical triats
set forth in the Quality Agreement. Baxter shallrbsponsible for compliance with all federal,estad local laws and regulations of Regulatory
Authorities (the “Regulations”) as they apply generally to production of pharmacaltproducts. Client shall be responsible for ptiance with al
Regulations as they apply specifically to all otaspects of the Production, use, and sale of Ptad®DS, which responsibility shall include,
without limitation, all contact with the FDA, andher regulatory authorities, regarding the foregoin

9.6. Changes in Manufacturing.

9.6.1  Product-Specific Changes. If facility, equipment, process or system chargesrequired of Baxter as a result of
requirements set forth by a Regulatory Authorityd guch regulatory changes apply solely to the lbah and supply of one or more
Products, then Client and Baxter will review suefuirements and agree in writing to such regulathanges, and Client shall bear [* * *]
percent ([* * *]%) of the reasonable costs thereof.

9.6.2 General Changes. If such regulatory changes apply generally to @neore Products as well as to one or more other
products produced by Baxter for itself or for thiarties, then Client shall pay a pro rata amo@ith@reasonable cost of such regulatory

changes based upon the proportion of time that f&ality is dedicated to the Production of Produelative to the production of such other
products.
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9.7. Equipment Expenses. If Baxter is required to obtain specialized equémt in order to Produce Product for Client, thiegof
such equipment shall be paid by Client. Baxtetl stttvise Client of the specialized equipment reegiiand the estimated price associated with the
purchase and installation of such equipment. €h&all be invoiced for all approved costs as df@etin the Project Plan. Baxter shall be
responsible for such equipment while at the Babaeitity.

9.8. Ownership of Equipment. Upon termination or expiration of this AgreemeBéxter upon the agreement of Client shall either
(i) transfer possession of the specialized equiprmpaid for by Client to Client, or (i) purchaseckuequipment by paying Client the then current t
value of such equipment. Depreciation of suchmmgent shall be calculated in accordance with applegenerally accepted accounting principles.

9.9. Manufacturing Compliance. Baxter shall advise Client immediately if an authed agent of any regulatory body visits Baxter’s
manufacturing facility and makes an inquiry spesifiy regarding Baxter’s Production of Product @ient. Client shall advise Baxter immediately
if an authorized agent of any regulatory body pkangisit or accompany Client on a visit to Clientacility or Baxter's manufacturing facility.

9.10. Lot QC Data Packet. At Client’s cost and expense, Baxter shall stause to be tested by third parties, in acca@avith the
Specifications, each Batch of Product Producedyauntsto this Agreement before delivery to Cliefihe Lot QC Data Packet shall contain a
certificate of analysis section for each Batchwdskd and shall set forth the items tested, Spatifins, and test results. Baxter shall also atdion
the final page of the Executed Batch Record tH&atch Production and control records have beeieweed and approved by the appropriate quality
unit. Baxter shall send, or cause to be sent, kotlQC Data Packet to Client prior to the shipmaiProduct. In the event Baxter is unable to send
the Lot QC Data Packet due to technical difficgltiBaxter may send a QCMD in lieu of a Lot QC DRaaket, which QCMD shall contain all of the
Lot QC Data Packet information.

Article 10, REGULATORY

10.1. Regulatory Approvals. Client will maintain all necessary Regulatory Apyals of marketing licenses for Product Producgd b
Baxter hereunder. As agreed upon by Client andeBax a Regulatory Plan, Baxter will provide doants and assist Client in preparation of
submissions to US and foreign Regulatory Authasitiesignated by Client in support of Client’s apgions, and Client will advise Baxter of such
document requirements in support of filings andilsinapplications required of US and foreign goveemts and agencies including amendments,
license applications, supplements and maintenainsach. All regulatory submission preparation amaintenance performed by Baxter for Client
shall be specified in the Regulatory Plan. Prosubmission to the Regulatory Authority, Clientl\wrovide Baxter with a copy of the applicable
CMC section for review and comment. A final cogytte
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applicable CMC section will be provided by ClieatBaxter upon submission to the Regulatory Autlgorit
Article 11, TRADEMARKS

11.1.  Client grants to Baxter a non-exclusive, royalgeflicense to use trademarks of Client for the potpose of allowing Baxter to
fulfill its responsibilities under any Project Pland this Agreement. Such license shall not brestemable in whole or in part.

11.2.  Client shall be solely responsible for selectirgistering and enforcing trademarks of Client useidentify the Product and,
except as set forth in Section 11.1, shall have aot exclusive rights in such trademarks of Client

Article 12, REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

12.1. Mutual Representations. Each Party hereby represents and warrants tottiee Party that (a) the person executing this
Agreement is authorized to execute this Agreem(@hthis Agreement is legal and valid and the dadiigns binding upon such Party are enforceable
by their terms; (c) the execution, delivery and@enance of this Agreement does not conflict witly agreement, instrument or understanding, oral
or written, to which such Party may be bound, riotate any law or regulation of any court, govermta¢ body or administrative or other agency
having jurisdiction over it; and (d) it is not, addring the Term of this Agreement, shall not bbatesd by any applicable governmental authority,
including without limitation under subsections 386¢r (b) of the U.S. Food, Drug and Cosmetic Aad it will not use in any capacity in the
performance of this Agreement the services of arggn or entity who is debarred by any applicableegnmental authority. Each Party shall
promptly notify the other Party in the event thairiany of its personnel becomes debarred or drduwuring the Term of this Agreement.

12.2. Baxter Warranty. Baxter represents and warrants that Product sbdlroduced in accordance with applicable cGMdsadin
other Product Requirements, including without latitin, sterility and endotoxin (with no warrantyathiProduct shall meet the Product
Specifications). Except as provided in this AgreatnBaxter makes no representation or warranty meispect to the sale, marketing, distribution or
use of the BDS, Product or to printed material<#igel by Client or its consignee. Baxter furthepresents and warrants that (a) it has the right t
give Client any information and materials providgdBaxter hereunder, and that Client has the tightse such information and materials for the
Production of Product, and (b) Baxter has no kndgéeof any (i) patents or other intellectual préyeights that would be infringed by Baxter's
Production of Product under this Agreement, orgfigprietary rights of third parties which would Welated by Baxtes performance hereunder, ¢
(c) Baxter will
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Produce the Product and perform the Process Serviaecordance with applicable laws, rules andlegipns.

12.3.  Disclaimer of Warranties. Except for those warranties set forth in Sectib®d and 12.2 of this Agreement, Baxter makes no
warranties, written, oral, express or implied, wigspect to Product or the Process Services artb€ion of Product. Except for those warrantie:
forth in Sections 12.1 and 12.4 of this Agreem@iignt makes no warranties, written, oral, expsisnplied, with respect to Product, BDS or the
sale, marketing, distribution or use of the BDSd®ict or to printed materials specified by Clienite consignee. ALL OTHER WARRANTIES,
EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION,THE IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS
FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE AND NONINFRINGEMENT HEREBARE DISCLAIMED BY BAXTER AND CLIENT. NO WARRANTIES
OF BAXTER OR CLIENT MAY BE CHANGED EXCEPT IN WRITI AND SIGNED BY A DULY AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF
BOTH PARTIES.

12.4.  Client Warranties. Client warrants that (a) it has the right to gBexter any information and materials provided bigi@
hereunder, and that Baxter has the right to usle isficrmation and materials for the Production addict, and (b) Client has no knowledge of any
(i) patents or other intellectual property rigttattwould be infringed by Baxter's Production obé&uct under this Agreement, or (ii) proprietary
rights of third parties which would be violated Bgxter's performance hereunder. Client warrarastie BDS provided to Baxter hereunder will
(1) conform to the BDS specifications and (2) netolulterated or misbranded within the meaning@fRD&C Act. Client will use and promote the
Product in accordance with its regulatory filingglapprovals.

Article 13, EXCLUSIVE REMEDIES, LIMITATION OF LIABI LITY AND RISK OF LOSS
13.1.  Exclusive Remedies. [* * *] right to recover damages, losses or exgesfrom [* * *], and [* * *] liability under thisAgreement,
is limited to the amounts and remedies set fortthénapplicable sections of this Agreement andestltp Section 13.2; [* * *]. All claims by a Pgrt

under this Agreement (except claims seeking indgmahall be brought no later than [* * *] afterdtoccurrence of the event giving rise to such
claim; otherwise, such claim shall be deemed waived

13.2. Limitation of Liability.

@) Except [* * *] to the extent recoverable under A&l& 14, [* * *] whether a claim is founded in tast contract and even if [* * *]
asserts or establishes a failure of the essentipbge of any limited remedy provided in this Agnesit, under no circumstances shall [* * *] be |
for:
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0] incidental, special, consequential, punitive, eximypor other indirect damages, including but mwited to, lost profits,
or

(ii)
(1) except as specifically set forth in Section318f this Agreement, loss, damage or destructidheMaterials, or
(2) except as specifically set forth in Sectionl1®f this Agreement, the cost of cover or recatits.
Any claims recoverable under this Section 13.2(a)sabject to Sections 13(b) and (c).
(b) Except for liability caused by Baxter’s gross nggtice or willful misconduct, [* * *] and to the etit permitted under applicable

laws: under no circumstances shall Baxter's agdeciggbility under this Agreement, including buttdionited to third party claims (except as
provided in Section 14.2), exceed an amount egu@)tthe amounts paid by Baxter to Client purstai@ection 4.2.2, if any, plus (b) the greater of:

0] [
(ii) [* **] the “Baxter Monetary Cap” ).
(©) [***].

13.3.  Risk of Loss. All Baxter supplied equipment and Baxter supphéaterials used by Baxter in the Production of Riaid
(collectively, the'Baxter Property” ) shall at all times remain the property of Baxdad Baxter assumes risk of loss for the Baxter &tgpuntil
delivery of Product to a common carrier as spetgifiader Section 6.1. Client assumes all risk s$ llor Client supplied Materials, equipment owned
by Client, and all Product (collectively, th€lient Property” ); provided, however, [* * *] loss or damage is doeBaxter’s [* * *], Baxter shall, [*
**] reimburse Client for its actual costs for rapement of the loss or damage of Client Propertwiged, however, that such costs do not exceed an
amount equal to [* * *].

13.4.  Waiver of Claims. In connection with providing Process ServicesheRarty represents only that it will use comméiscia
reasonable efforts in providing such informatiotegoas it relates to Process Services studiesjdtation, primary packaging and manufacturing
process analysis. In connection with Baxter praxgdProcess Services under this Agreement, Baxpeesents only that it will use reasonable care in
providing such Process Services, and Baxter mak&ganranties or guarantees with respect to thdtsestiany Process Services provided under this
Agreement.
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Article 14, INDEMNIFICATION
14.1.  Client Indemnification. Client shall indemnify, defend and hold harmiBsster and its Affiliates and any of their respeeti

directors, officers, governors, members, employse@scontractors and agents (collectively,theemnified Parties” ) from and against any and all
Losses to, and Claims in connection with pendinthogatened litigation or other proceedings, wlddke out of or relate to any one of the followi

@) Client’s transport, storage, promotion, labelingrketing, distribution, use or sale of Product;

(b) Baxter’s use of the BDS to Produce Product in ataoce with the Agreement;

(c) Client’s negligence or willful misconduct;

(d) Materials except to the extent Baxter supplierBafter supplied Materials are contractually reqiit@indemnify Baxter for such
Materials;

(e) Client’s breach of any covenant, representatiowamranty contained in this Agreement;

® the use of BDS or the sale, marketing or distrivutif Product by Client violates the patent, tradgancopyright or other

proprietary rights of any third party, except itbwiolation is caused by Baxter’s proprietary msses, products and equipment; or

(9) the use of BDS or Production of Product by Baxtesiécordance with this Agreement violates the pateademark, copyright or
other proprietary rights of any third party, excémuch violation is caused by Baxter’s proprigtprocesses, products and equipment,

Except [* * *] foregoing (a), (b), or (d) [* * *] mgligence or willful misconduct of Baxter. Cliesiihdemnity obligations in the case of each
of the foregoing (a) through (g) are subject tot®ecl4.2.

[* * *].
14.2.  Baxter Indemnification. Baxter shall indemnify, defend and hold harmigBent and its Affiliates and any of their respegeti
directors, officers, governors, members, employse@scontractors and agents from and against anglahdsses and Claims in connection with
pending or threatened litigation or other procegsliif* * *] Baxter’'s negligence or willful misconat. Baxters liability under this Section 14.2 sh

be subject to the Baxter Monetary Cap, exceptéattient the Loss or Claim results from Baxtertgsgrnegligence or willful misconduct; in which
case, Baxter's indemnity obligations shall not bljsct to the Baxter Monetary Cap.

14.3. Indemnitee Obligations. Any Party seeking indemnification hereunder t&llsgive prompt written notice to the other Pdthe
“Indemnifying Party” ) of any Claim for
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which indemnification is sought, (b) shall pernhietindemnifying Party to assume full responsibil@yinvestigate, prepare for and defend against the
Claim, (c) shall reasonably assist the IndemnifyRagty, at the Indemnifying Party’s request andoeable expense, in the investigation of and
preparation for the defense of such Claim, andiid)l not compromise or settle such Claim withdet indemnifying Party’s prior written consent.

Article 15, INSURANCE

15.1.  Client Insurance. Client shall procure and maintain, during theref this Agreement and for a period one (1) yesrdnd the
expiration date of Product, Commercial General litgdnsurance, including without limitation, Pradt Liability and Contractual Liability coverage
(the“Client Insurance” ). Client Insurance for Product Liability shall @amounts not less than [* * *] per occurrence agdregate and shall be
with an insurance carrier with an A.M. Best ratofgA-VII or better. Client Insurance for Produdgbility will also include umbrella liability
coverage in the amount of [* * *] per occurrencelaggregate. Baxter shall be named as an additiegwied on the Client Insurance and Client
promptly shall deliver a certificate of Client Inance and endorsement of additional insured toéBatidencing such coverage. If Client fails to
furnish such certificates or endorsements, or &@mttime during the Term of this Agreement Baxdarotified of the cancellation or lapse of Client
Insurance, and Client fails to rectify the samehimif* * *] after notice from Baxter, in additiorotall other remedies available to Baxter hereunder,
Baxter, at its option, may (i) cease all work ingess and refuse further Process Services and/duétion until Client re-establishes that Clieninis
compliance with Client Insurance requirements angijoterminate this Agreement.

15.2.  Baxter Insurance. Baxter is, and will during the Term of this Agneent remain, self-insured for the type of liabilibat could
arise under this Agreement in amounts no lesstti@ooverage amounts set forth above for Clienirbrsce.

15.3.  No Limitation. Neither Party’s liability will be limited to thathich is recoverable by insurance.
Article 16, PRODUCT RECALLS

16.1. Recalls. Inthe event Client is required to recall anyd®ict or elects to institute a voluntary recall ,e@li will be responsible for
coordinating such recall. Client will promptly ifgtBaxter of such recall and provide Baxter witb@py of all documents relating to Production by
Baxter of Product that is the subject of such teaaless Client is claiming that such recall waased by Baxter’'s negligence, in which case, Client
will provide Baxter with a copy of all such docuntenBaxter will cooperate with Client in connectiwith any recall, at Client’s request and
reasonable expense. Client will be responsiblaliarf the costs and expenses of such recall (gdhetubut not limited to costs associated with
receiving and
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administering the recalled Product and notificatiéthe recall to those persons whom Client degpopsagriate); provided that Baxter will be
responsible for all of the costs and expensesdf secall (including but not limited to costs adated with receiving and administering the recalled
Product and notification of the recall to thosespais whom Client deems appropriate) [* * *] negtige or willful misconduct of Baxter, with
Baxter’'s payment not to exceed an amount equél*td][

Article 17, INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

17.1.  Existing Intellectual Property. Except as the Parties may otherwise expressBeagrwriting, each Party shall continue to own
its existing patents, trademarks, copyrights, tiseterets and other intellectual property, withanferring any interests therein on the other Party.
Without limiting the generality of the precedinghsence, Client shall retain all right, title anderest arising under the United States Patentthet,
United States Trademark Act, the United States @gpi/Act and all other applicable laws, rules aedulations in and to all Products, BDS, labe
and trademarks associated therewith (collectiv€lient’s Intellectual Property” ). Neither Baxter nor any third party shall acqudrey right, title
or interest in Client’s Intellectual Property, eeps or implied, by virtue of this Agreement or othise, except to the extent expressly provided
herein.

17.2.  Inventions. For purposes of this Agreemetifjvention” shall mean information relating to or comprising @amvention,
innovation, improvement, development, discoverynpater program, device, trade secret, method, Kmow;- process, technigue or the like, whe
or not written or otherwise fixed in any form or digm, regardless of the media on which containebvaimether or not patentable or copyrightable.

17.3.  Ownership of Inventions. As between the Parties, ownership of Inventidral e determined such that: (i) Client shall bole
own all right, title and interest in and to any atldnventions, whether conceived, reduced to izacor created solely by Baxter Representatives,
solely by Client Representatives or jointly by amenore Client Representative(s) together with @nenore Baxter Representative(s), that materially
incorporates Client BDS, Client’s proprietary preses used in the Process Services, Product ani#at Confidential Information, or uses of the
foregoing, and any other Inventions that are comukor created solely by Client Representativesat@not Baxter Inventions‘Client
Inventions” ), and (ii) Baxter shall solely own all right, &thnd interest in and to any and all Inventionstivreconceived, reduced to practice, or
created solely by Baxter Representatives, solelglignt Representatives or jointly by one or mohe@ Representative(s) together with one or r
Baxter Representative(s), that materially incorpes@axter proprietary processes used in the Ps@®ewices, Baxter pre-existing methodology in
performing its services and/or Baxter Confidenitidbrmation, or uses of the foregoing and any otheentions that are conceived or created solely
by Baxter Representatives that are not Client Itivas (“Baxter Inventions” ), and (iii) Client and Baxter shall jointly ownl aight, title and
interest in and to any and all Inventions conceiveduced to practice or created jointly by onenore Client
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Representative(s) together with one or more BeéRegresentative(s) that are not Client InventionBantter Inventions (Joint Inventions” ).

Baxter shall promptly disclose in writing all suletventions and Joint Inventions to Client in reasdula detail to evaluate potential patent claims.
“Representatives” mean a Party’s employees and/or their respectieatadi.e., employees or agents who would be oprmgerly named as co-
inventors under the laws of the United States gnpatent application claiming such inventions).cle®arty shall have full rights to exploit its own
Inventions and Joint Inventions for its own comniedrpurposes without any obligation to the oth&he Parties shall share equally in the cost of
mutually agreed patent filings with respect taJalint Inventions. The decision to file for pateaverage on Joint Inventions shall be mutually ed
upon, and the Parties shall select a mutually aab&ppatent counsel to file and prosecute pafgpiications based on such Joint Inventions.

17.4. Disclaimer. Except as otherwise expressly provided hereithing contained in this Agreement shall be constreinterpreted,
either expressly or by implication, estoppel orevtfise, as: (i) a grant, transfer or other convegay either Party to the other of any right, fitle
license or other interest of any kind in any oflitgentions or other intellectual property, (iijgeting an obligation on the part of either Partynizke
any such grant, transfer or other conveyance ipréiguiring either Party to participate with thiner Party in any cooperative development program
or project of any kind or to continue with any symbgram or project.

17.5. Rights in Intellectual Property. The Party owning any intellectual property stalVe the worldwide right to control the drafting,
filing, prosecution and maintenance of patents dagethe Inventions relating to such intellectusdgeerty, including decisions about the countries in
which to file patent applications. Patent cossoamted with the patent activities described ia 8ection shall be borne by the sole owner. Each
Party will cooperate with the other Party in tH:§ and prosecution of patent applications. Scmbperation will include, but not be limited to,
furnishing supporting data and affidavits for thregecution of patent applications and completindj signing forms needed for the prosecution,
assignment and maintenance of patent applicatiotpatents.

17.6.  Confidentiality of Intellectual Property. Intellectual property shall be deemed to be tbefdential Information of the Party
owning such intellectual property. The protectidreach Party’s Confidential Information is desedlin Article 18. Any disclosure of information
by one Party to the other under the provisionhisf Article 17 shall be treated as the disclosiagyPs Confidential Information under this
Agreement. It shall be the responsibility of thetl? preparing a patent application to obtain thigten permission of the other Party to use or
disclose the other Party’s Confidential Informatiorihe patent application before the applicat®filed and for other disclosures made during the
prosecution of the patent application.

17.7. Permitted Use. As between Baxter and Client, Client shall atialles own Client supplied Materials, Product, 6iis Intellectua
Property and Client Inventions. Baxter shall maimany Client supplied Materials, Product, Clisrititellectual Property and Client Inventions
under its control (except as contemplated in Sedi@.4) and shall not transfer, nor permit thagfer of, any Client supplied Materials, Product,
Client’s Intellectual Property
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and/or Client Inventions to any third party notdfieally authorized in advance and in writing bligbt. Baxter and its Representatives shall net us
the Client supplied Materials, Product, Client’telfectual Property and/or Client Inventions foy gurpose other than as expressly permitted in this
Agreement.

Article 18, CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION, NONDISCLOSURE = AND PUBLICITY

18.1.  Confidentiality. Itis contemplated that in the course of the granince of this Agreement each Party may, from tortéme,
disclose Confidential Information to the other.cE#&arty agrees to take all reasonable steps temredisclosure of Confidential Information to thir
parties. No provision of this Agreement shall bastrued so as to preclude disclosure of Confidehtformation as may be reasonably necessary to
secure from any governmental agency necessary\apror licenses or, in the case of Client, to imbpatents with respect to the Product.

18.2.  Prior Confidentiality Agreement.

18.2.1 This Agreement, by reference, incorporates the idenfial Disclosure Agreement between Client angt&aeffective
April 7, 2014 (thé'Confidentiality Agreement” ), and is made a part hereof as though fully st fleerein and all terms and conditions set
forth in the Confidentiality Agreement shall conténto govern any disclosure made under the Cortfadi#yn Agreement and shall govern
any disclosure made under this Agreement afteEffective Date of this Agreement. In the evenaafonflict between this Agreement and
the Confidentiality Agreement, this Agreement sigalvern. “Confidential Information”, as used insthgreement, shall have the meaning
defined in the Confidentiality Agreement, whicthisreby amended to apply to information “relatinghte Potential Business Arrangement
and/or the performance of the Product Developmenat Blinical Supply Agreement between the Partigsdi®ctober 23, 2014.” The
Master Batch Records, Materials Specificationsc®se Services, Products Specifications, Releaseue®Batch Records and the data and
results contained in the Executed Batch Recorésaatomatically deemed the Confidential InformatéiClient.

18.2.2 All obligations of confidentiality and nonse imposed upon the Parties under this Agreenmauding the Confidentialit
Agreement), including without limitation the periofilconfidentiality and non-use as set forth in @@nfidentiality Agreement which is
hereby amended by this Section 18.2.2, shall efpieg5) years after the expiration or earliemaration of this Agreement; provided that
such obligations shall continue indefinitely ashte Executed Batch Records, Master Batch Recordtgidls Specifications, Process
Services, Products Specifications, and Releaseue@®8atch Records, until falling within an exceptin section 2 of the Confidentiality
Agreement.
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18.2.3 Section 3 of the Confidentiality Agreement is hgrelmended by this Section 18.2.3 to include usedés@osure as
reasonably required for the performance of thise&gnent.

18.2.4 The Disclosure Term is hereby amended by this &edi8.2.4 (i) to continue for the longer of the @isure Term in the
Confidentiality Agreement or until the date of #agiration or termination of this Agreement, arjit provide that neither Party may
terminate or cancel the Confidentiality Agreemeittept co-terminus with the expiration or terminataf this Agreement.

18.3.  Third Party Disclosure. Baxter will be permitted to disclose Product mi@ation to third party developmental and analytical
services providers that are Qualified Subcontradtoconnection with performance of its obligatidveseunder provided such providers shall be
subject to confidentiality agreements.

18.4.  Limitation of Disclosure. The Parties agree that, except as otherwise magduired by applicable laws, regulations, rules o
orders, including without limitation the rules aregjulations promulgated by the United States Stesitand Exchange Commission (t%&C” ),
and except as may be authorized in the Confidégtidgreement and unless otherwise agreed in tigieAment, no information concerning this
Agreement and the transactions contemplated hehaith be made public by either Party without thiempwritten consent of the other.

18.5.  Publicity and SEC Filings. The Parties agree that the public announcemeheaéxecution of this Agreement shall only be by
one or more press releases mutually agreed toebRahties. The failure of a Party to return atdvaf press release with its proposed amendme!
modifications to such press release to the othey Rathin five (5) business days of the Party’seipt of the press release shall be deemed as
approval of such press release. Each Party ativaes shall cooperate fully and in a timely manwith the other with respect to all disclosures to
the SEC or any other governmental or regulatoryeigs, including providing written notice to thdet Party and sufficient time to review and
request confidential treatment of Confidential mfiation of such other Party included in any sudtldsure. Each Party may communicate
information to its investors to the extent madeljoutyy the other Party.

18.6. Reference List. Neither Party shall be entitled to put the otRarty’s name on a reference list without the ofPeatty’s prior
written approval.

Article 19, FORCE MAJEURE

19.1.  Any delay in the performance of any of the dutiesladigations of either Party hereto (except thgnpent of money) caused by an
event outside the affected Pagtykasonable control shall not be considered abrefthis Agreement, and unless provided to thereoy herein, th
time required for performance shall be extendedfperiod equal to the period of
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such delay. Such events shall include withouttétion, acts of God; acts of public enemies; insttions; riots; terrorist actions; injunctions;
embargoes; labor disputes, including strikes, lat&gob actions, or boycotts; fires; explosionspéls; shortages of Materials or energy due to a
supplier’s event of force majeure; delays in thiivéey of Materials or energy due to a supplienget of force majeure; acts or orders of any
government or agency thereof or other unforeseazhlses beyond the reasonable control and witheuault or negligence of the Party so affec
The Party so affected shall give prompt noticehtodther Party of such cause and a good faith asiof the continuing effect of the force majeure
condition and duration of the affected Party’s renfigrmance, and shall take whatever reasonable atepappropriate to relieve the effect of such
causes as rapidly as possible. If the period opedormance by Baxter because of Baxter force m@jeonditions exceeds one hundred twenty
(120) calendar days, Client may terminate this Agrent or any Batch by written notice to Baxter withliability or penalty including without
limitation without payment of any Reschedule Fekshe period of nonperformance by Client becanfs€lient force majeure conditions exceeds
hundred twenty (120) calendar days, Baxter mayiteata this Agreement by written notice to Client.

Article 20, NOTICES

20.1.  All notices hereunder shall be delivered by fackr@onfirmed by overnight delivery), or by overhiglelivery with a reputable
overnight delivery service, to the following addyes the respective Parties:

If to Baxter: Baxter Pharmaceutical Solutions LLC
927 South Curry Pike
Bloomington, Indiana 47403
Attn: Contract Manageme

Fax No. (812) 33:-3079
Telephone No (812) 33-0887

With a copy to: Baxter Healthcare Corporation
One Baxter Parkway
Deerfield, Illinois 60015-4633
Attn: General Counst

Fax No. (224) 94+-2450
Telephone Na (224) 94+-3440

If to Client: Genocea Biosciences, Ir
Cambridge Discovery Park
100 Acorn Park Drive, 8 floor
Cambridge, MA 02140
Attn: Presiden

CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

27




THIS EXHIBIT HAS BEEN REDACTED AND IS THE SUBJECT O F A CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUEST. REDACTED
MATERIAL IS MARKED WITH [* * *] AND HAS BEEN FILED = SEPARATELY WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION.

Fax No. (617) 87t-8192
Telephone Na (617) 87¢8191

With a copy to: B. Jean Weidemier, Esq.
Cambridge Licensing Law, LLC
470 Atlantic Avenue, 4 Floor
Boston, MA 02210
Attn: B. Jean Weidemier, Es

Fax No. (617) 39-8815
Telephone No (617) 39-1239

Notices shall be effective on the day following thete of transmission if sent by facsimile, andr@second business day following the
of delivery to the overnight delivery service iédy overnight delivery. A Party may change dsli@ss listed above by notice to the other Party
given in accordance with this Section.

Article 21, APPLICABLE LAW

21.1. This Agreement is being delivered and executetderState of New York. In any action brought regagdhe validity,
construction and enforcement of this Agreemersthll be governed in all respects by the laws efState of New York, without regard to the
principles of conflicts of laws. The courts of tBtate of New York shall have personal jurisdictiver the Parties hereto in all matters arising
hereunder, and venue for such suit will be in testa federal court for the City of New York, Nevoik.

Article 22, ASSIGNMENT

22.1. Neither Party shall assign this Agreement or any lpereof or any interest herein to any third péotyin the case of Baxter use ¢
subcontractor) without the prior written approvétite other Party. The Parties shall be entitteddsign this Agreement to one of its Affiliates
without the other Party’s prior approval; providedt such Party shall remain responsible for thopmance of its obligations hereunder by such
Affiliate. No consent shall be required in theea$ a transfer to a wholly-owned subsidiary ongia@ction involving the merger, consolidation,
corporate reorganization or sale of all or subgéwptall of the assets or portion of the businekthe Party seeking such assignment or transfér an
such transaction relates to the business coverdididpgreement and the resulting entity assunlesf #he obligations under this Agreement. No
assignment shall be valid unless the permittedyassi(s) assumes all obligations of its assignoewutids Agreement. No assignment shall relieve
any
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Party of responsibility for the performance ofatsligations hereunder prior to the effective ddtassignment.

Article 23, TAXES

23.1. Client shall pay all national, state, municipabtier sales, use, excise, import, property, vatited, or other similar taxes,
assessments or tariffs assessed upon or leviedsadfa¢ sale of Product to Client pursuant to Afgiseement or the sale or distribution of Product by
Client (or at Client’s sole expense, defend agahesimposition of such taxes and expenses). Bakia@l notify Client of any such taxes that any
governmental authority is seeking to collect froaxir, and Client may assume the defense therd®dxter's name, if necessary, and Baxter agrees
to fully cooperate in such defense to the extethefcapacity of Baxter, at Client's expense. Basghall pay all national, state, municipal or othe
taxes on the income resulting from the sale by &anxt the services provided to Client under thisefggnent, including but not limited to, gross
income, adjusted gross income, supplemental netrie¢ gross receipts, excess profit taxes, or clh@tar taxes.

Article 24, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS

24.1. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shallértorthe benefit of the Parties hereto, their ss&omes and permitted assigns.
Article 25, ENTIRE AGREEMENT; INTERPRETATION

25.1.  This Agreement, including the Project Plan and @ualgreement and any other agreements specifitadigrporated by reference
(“Incorporated Agreements”), constitutes the erdigeeement between the Parties concerning theciubgter hereof and supersedes all written or
oral prior agreements or understandings with regpeceto. The headings used in this Agreemenfosireonvenience only and are not part of this
Agreement. The term “includ(ing)(e/es)” and caatiles means “includ(ing)(e/es) without limitatibfihe terms of this Agreement Articles 1
through 31 shall control in the event of a conflietween this Agreement Articles 1 through 31 amdd its Incorporated Agreements, unless
expressly provided otherwise by reference to aipeection of this Agreement Articles 1 through. 3

Article 26, SEVERABILITY

26.1. If any term or provision of this Agreement shall &my reason be held invalid, illegal or unenfolitean any respect, such
invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall mo
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affect any other term or provision hereof, and fkggeement shall be interpreted and construed susct term or provision, to the extent the same
shall have been held to be invalid, illegal or Uneceable, had never been contained herein.

Article 27, WAIVER AND MODIFICATION OF AGREEMENT

27.1.  No waiver or modification of any of the terms oisti\greement shall be valid unless in writing aighed by authorized
representatives of both Parties hereto. Failureitner Party to enforce any rights under this &gnent shall not be construed as a waiver of such
rights nor shall a waiver by either Party in onemare instances be construed as constituting ancomg waiver or as a waiver in other instances.
Article 28, INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

28.1. Both Parties shall act as an independent contrasttw the other Party in Baxter's providing theviees required hereunder and
shall not be considered an agent of, or joint vemtwith, the other Party.

Article 29, ATTORNEY'S FEES

29.1. The successful Party in any litigation or othepdig resolution proceeding to enforce the termscandlitions of this Agreement
shall be entitled to recover from the other Pagfysonable attorney’s fees and related costs ingdtveonnection with such litigation or dispute
resolution proceeding.

Article 30, COUNTERPARTS

30.1.  For convenience, this Agreement may be executedunterparts with the same force and effect aadhef the signatories had
executed the same Agreement.

Article 31, DISPUTE RESOLUTION

31.1.  Prior to initiating litigation, the Parties shalbke a good faith attempt to resolve any disputrivally by escalating it to higher
levels of management, and if such higher levelmafagement are not able to resolve the mattermjfithi *], either Party may, in its sole discretion
initiate a nonbinding mediation process. EachyPaeteby commits to attending at
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least one mediation session and participating addeith in the mediation process for a period*df ] as described below. If a Party initiates a
mediation process, the Parties shall engage irbihating mediation for a period of at least [* *t attempt to resolve any and all disputes before a
sole mediator (the Mediator ") selected from Conflict Prevention & Resolutidng. or its successorCPR” ), or if CPR is no longer able to sup
the Mediator, such Mediator shall be selected ftoenAmerican Arbitration Association, with such raibn to be held in the neutral location
determined by the Mediator. A representative ohearty with authority to resolve the dispute shaliticipate in the mediation. The Parties shall
share the costs of the Mediator and mediation gguedcept that each Party shall pay its own a#gshfees and expenses. If the representatives of
the Parties have not been able to resolve the w@isgithin such [* * *] period, the Parties shallvethe right to pursue any other remedies legally
available to resolve such dispute.

31.2.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in thisrAgment, each Party reserves the right to initiatet proceedings at any time to
seek injunctive or other temporary relief.

[SIGNATURES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Parties have caused this Agreement to bedilgy their duly authorized representatives ab®Bffective
Date.
BAXTER PHARMACEUTICAL SOLUTIONS LLC GENOCEA BIOSCIENCES, INC.
By: /s/ Marsha Proko By: /s/ William D. Clark
Name: Marsha Prokoj Name: William D. Clark
Title:  Director, Contract Manageme Title: CEO
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Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm
We consent to the incorporation by reference infétlewing Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-194@2ttaining to the Amended and Restated 2007 fdpientive Plan of Genocea
Biosciences, Inc., and

(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-19F p2rtaining to the 2014 Employee Stock Purchaaa B Genocea Biosciences, Inc.;

of our report dated February 27, 2015, with respethe financial statements of Genocea Bioscigroesincluded in this Annual Report (Form 10-
K) of Genocea Biosciences, Inc. for the year eridecember 31, 2014.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Boston, Massachusetts

February 27, 2015




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14 and 15d-14
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, William D. Clark, Chief Executive Officer, cefyithat:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fKsenocea Biosciences, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or amngitate a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances uwtieh such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and ctsWs of the registrant as of, and for, the pesipdesented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) ardriat control over financial reporting (as definedxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 158{{))
for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoias designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to tégistrant, including its consolidated subsidigrie made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period inieh this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financialcaused such internal control over financial répgrto be designed under our supervis
to provide reasonable assurance regarding théileliaof financial reporting and the preparatiohfimancial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proeeslas of the end of the period covered by thisntebased on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportifgat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrantourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabr® that has materially affected, or is reasopnéikély to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal cohweer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial reporting, teet
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee efrégistrant’s board of directors (or persons periiog the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidfgability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

/s/ WILLIAM D. CLARK
William D. Clark
President & Chief Executive Offic

Date: February 27, 201




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14 and 15d-14
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jonathan Poole, Chief Financial Officer, certiiat:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fKsenocea Biosciences, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or amngitate a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances uwtieh such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and ctsWs of the registrant as of, and for, the pesipdesented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))) atedrial control over financial reporting (as defined&xchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15
(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoias designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to tbgistrant, including its consolidated subsidigrie made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period inieh this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financialcaused such internal control over financial répgrto be designed under our supervis
to provide reasonable assurance regarding théileliaof financial reporting and the preparatiohfimancial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportifgat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrantourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabr® that has materially affected, or is reasopnéikély to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal cohweer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial reporting, teet
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee efrégistrant’s board of directors (or persons periiog the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidfgability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

/s/ JONATHAN POOLE
Jonathan Pool
Chief Financial Officel

Date: February 27, 201




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fkG@nocea Biosciences, Inc. (the “Company”) forpleeod ended December 31, 2014 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#te hereof (the “Report”), I, the undersigned,l¥fih D. Clark, as the President & Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, does hereby fieniursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoptesuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exg@Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ WILLIAM D. CLARK

William D. Clark*
President &Chief Executive Offic

Date: February 27, 201

* A signed original of this written statement reiqud by Section 906 has been provided to the Comaadywill be retained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commissidts staff upon request.

The foregoing certification is being furnished $plgursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-OxleyoA2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of
Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United St&ede) and is not being filed as part of the FofxKlor as a separate disclosure document.




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fkG@nocea Biosciences, Inc. (the “Company”) forpleeod ended December 31, 2014 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#te hereof (the “Report”), I, the undersigned.alban Poole, as the Chief Financial Officer of
the Company, do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 ©.Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to SectioroPOe Sarbane®xley Act of 2002, that to tt

best of my knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exg@Act of 1934, as amended; and
(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ JONATHAN POOLE
Jonathan Poole
Chief Financial Officel

Date: February 27, 201

*A signed original of this written statement reaadrby Section 906 has been provided to the Comaadywill be retained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commissidts staff upon request.

The foregoing certification is being furnished $plgursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-OxleyoA2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of
Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United St&ede) and is not being filed as part of the FofxKlor as a separate disclosure document.




